World Journal of *Gastroenterology*

World J Gastroenterol 2023 February 7; 29(5): 766-907





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

WJG

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Contents

Weekly Volume 29 Number 5 February 7, 2023

EDITORIAL

766 Importance of human leukocyte antigen antibodies and leukocyte antigen/killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptor genes in liver transplantation

Muro M, Legaz I

OPINION REVIEW

Management of gastro-esophageal reflux disease: Practice-oriented answers to clinical questions 773 Frazzoni L, Fuccio L, Zagari RM

REVIEW

780 Transcriptome analysis creates a new era of precision medicine for managing recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma

Chiang CC, Yeh H, Lim SN, Lin WR

800 Impact of chronic liver disease on SARS-CoV-2 infection outcomes: Roles of stage, etiology and vaccination Nevola R, Criscuolo L, Beccia D, Delle Femine A, Ruocco R, Imbriani S, Alfano M, Villani A, Russo A, Perillo P, Marfella R, Adinolfi LE, Sasso FC, Marrone A, Rinaldi L

MINIREVIEWS

815 Outcomes of COVID-19 among patients with liver disease Vujčić I

825 Bone loss in chronic liver diseases: Could healthy liver be a requirement for good bone health? Jadzic J, Djonic D

834 Liver involvement in patients with COVID-19 infection: A comprehensive overview of diagnostic imaging features

Ippolito D, Maino C, Vernuccio F, Cannella R, Inchingolo R, Dezio M, Faletti R, Bonaffini PA, Gatti M, Sironi S

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

851 Saccharomyces cerevisiae prevents postoperative recurrence of Crohn's disease modeled by ileocecal resection in HLA-B27 transgenic rats

Valibouze C, Speca S, Dubuquoy C, Mourey F, M'Ba L, Schneider L, Titecat M, Foligné B, Genin M, Neut C, Zerbib P, Desreumaux P

867 Impact of endothelial nitric oxide synthase activation on accelerated liver regeneration in a rat ALPPS model

Masuo H, Shimizu A, Motoyama H, Kubota K, Notake T, Yoshizawa T, Hosoda K, Yasukawa K, Kobayashi A, Soejima Y



Contents

Weekly Volume 29 Number 5 February 7, 2023

Retrospective Study

879 Convolutional neural network-based segmentation network applied to image recognition of angiodysplasias lesion under capsule endoscopy

Chu Y, Huang F, Gao M, Zou DW, Zhong J, Wu W, Wang Q, Shen XN, Gong TT, Li YY, Wang LF

Clinical Trials Study

890 Efficacy of dexamethasone and N-acetylcysteine combination in preventing post-embolization syndrome after transarterial chemoembolization in hepatocellular carcinoma

Simasingha N, Tanasoontrarat W, Claimon T, Sethasine S

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

904 Timing of biliary decompression for acute cholangitis

Yang J, Liu Y, Liu S



Contents

Weekly Volume 29 Number 5 February 7, 2023

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Gastroenterology, Jian-Gao Fan, PhD, Professor and Director, Center for Fatty Liver Disease, Department of Gastroenterology, Xinhua Hospital, Shanghai Jiaotong University School of Medicine; Shanghai Key Laboratory of Children's Digestion and Nutrition, Shanghai 200092, China. fattyliver2004@126.com

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Gastroenterology (WJG, World J Gastroenterol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of gastroenterology and hepatology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online. WIG mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of gastroenterology and hepatology and covering a wide range of topics including gastroenterology, hepatology, gastrointestinal endoscopy, gastrointestinal surgery, gastrointestinal oncology, and pediatric gastroenterology.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJG is now abstracted and indexed in Science Citation Index Expanded (SCIE, also known as SciSearch®), Current Contents/Clinical Medicine, Journal Citation Reports, Index Medicus, MEDLINE, PubMed, PubMed Central, Scopus, Reference Citation Analysis, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2022 edition of Journal Citation Reports® cites the 2021 impact factor (IF) for WJG as 5.374; IF without journal self cites: 5.187; 5-year IF: 5.715; Journal Citation Indicator: 0.84; Ranking: 31 among 93 journals in gastroenterology and hepatology; and Quartile category: Q2. The WJG's CiteScore for 2021 is 8.1 and Scopus CiteScore rank 2021: Gastroenterology is 18/149.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Ying-Yi Yuan; Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Jia-Ru Fan.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS
World Journal of Gastroenterology	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
October 1, 1995	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Weekly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Andrzej S Tarnawski	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
February 7, 2023	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



W J

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 February 7; 29(5): 766-772

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.766

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

EDITORIAL

Importance of human leukocyte antigen antibodies and leukocyte antigen/killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptor genes in liver transplantation

Manuel Muro, Isabel Legaz

Specialty type: Transplantation

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

P-Reviewer: Gupta R, India; Sugawara Y, Japan

Received: September 7, 2022 Peer-review started: September 7, 2022 First decision: October 19, 2022 Revised: October 25, 2022 Accepted: January 17, 2023 Article in press: January 17, 2023 Published online: February 7, 2023



Manuel Muro, Immunology Service, University Clinical Hospital Virgen de la Arrixaca-Biomedical Research Institute of Murcia (IMIB), Murcia 30120, Spain

Isabel Legaz, Department of Legal and Forensic Medicine, Biomedical Research Institute (IMIB), Regional Campus of International Excellence "Campus Mare Nostrum," Faculty of Medicine, University of Murcia, Murcia 30120, Spain

Corresponding author: Manuel Muro, PhD, Senior Researcher, Immunology Service, University Clinical Hospital Virgen de la Arrixaca-Biomedical Research Institute of Murcia (IMIB), El Palmar, Murcia 30120, Spain. manuel.muro@carm.es

Abstract

Many mechanisms have been proposed to explain the hypothetical state of hepatic tolerance, which is described by eventual imbalances or deregulation in the balance of cytokines, mediators, effectors, and regulatory cells in the complex milieu of the liver. In this section, we will comment on the importance of donorspecific anti-human leukocyte antigen (HLA) antibodies (DSA) as well as the compatibility and pairings of HLA and killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptor (KIR) genotypes in the evolution of liver transplantation. Thus, HLA compatibility, viral infections, and HLA-C/KIR combinations have all been linked to liver transplant rejection and survival. There have been reports of increased risk of acute and chronic rejection with ductopenia, faster graft fibrosis, biliary problems, poorer survival, and even de novo autoimmune hepatitis when DSAs are present in the recipient. Higher mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) values of the DSAs and smaller graft size were associated with poorer patient outcomes, implying that high-risk patients with preformed DSAs should be considered for selecting the graft placed and desensitization methods, according to the investigators. Similarly, in a combined kidney-liver transplant, a pretransplant with a visible expression of several DSAs revealed that these antibodies were resistant to treatment. The renal graft was lost owing to antibody-mediated rejection (AMR). The HLA antigens expressed by the transplanted liver graft influenced antibody elimination. Pathologists are increasingly diagnosing AMR in liver transplants, and desensitization therapy has even been employed in situations of AMR, particularly in patients with DSAs in kidney-hepatic transplants and high-class II MFI due to Luminex. In conclusion, after revealing the negative impacts of DSAs with high MFI, pretransplant virtual crossmatch techniques may be appropriate to



improve evolution; however, they may extend cold ischemia periods by requiring the donor to be typed.

Key Words: Acute rejection; Alloantibodies donor-specific antibodies-donor-specific anti-human leukocyte antigen antibodies; Chronic rejection; Human leukocyte antigen matching; Killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptor matching; Liver transplant

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: This editorial aimed to raise realities, doubts, and ambiguities in the fundamental role of alloantibodies and the compatibility and association of the proteins encoded by the human leukocyte antigen and killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptor genes in liver transplantation.

Citation: Muro M, Legaz I. Importance of human leukocyte antigen antibodies and leukocyte antigen/killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptor genes in liver transplantation. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(5): 766-772 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i5/766.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.766

INTRODUCTION

In the vast majority of transplants performed today, there is a clear demonstration of the role played by the best human leukocyte antigen (HLA) compatibility and the absence of donor-specific anti-HLA antibodies (DSA) in its positive evolution, and it is an increasingly important role. The significance of the role of compatibility and killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptor (KIR) genotypes (especially in hematopoietic stem cell transplantation) has not been demonstrated in the case of liver transplantation. This suggests that the classic concept of the liver is different and may be an "immunologically privileged" organ. Transplant (even if there is a positive pretransplant crossmatch and DSAs are known) without accounting for donor and recipient typing can lead to antibody-mediated rejection (AMR)[1]. However, there are articles where this has been re-evaluated, and new essential effects of antibodies and compatibility in acute rejection, chronic rejection (CR), fibrosis, and liver transplant survival appear.

The hypothetical state of tolerance of the liver has been explained by many causes (profusely explained in an article of its own), and is explained by eventual imbalances or deregulations in the balance of cytokines, mediator, effectors, and regulatory cells in the complex microenvironment of the liver, including increased or decreased expression of costimulatory or soluble molecules, specific genetic profiles, or even a protective role of Kupffer cells[2-9].

Here we focused on commenting on the role of DSA antibodies and the compatibility and pairings of HLA and KIR genotypes with the evolution of liver transplantation. Thus, HLA compatibility, viral infections, and HLA-C/KIR combinations have been classically related to liver transplant rejection and survival[10-13].

HLA ANTIBODIES AND HLA/KIR GENES IN LIVER TRANSPLANT IMMUNOLOGY

Regarding the existence of DSA antibodies present in the recipient, there are reports of increased risk of acute rejection and CR with ductopenia, accelerated graft fibrosis, biliary complications, worse survival, and even de novo autoimmune hepatitis[2,14]. However, some series and research groups reported different results and disparate causes (Figure 1). However, the literature on the role of DSAs and AMR is limited to clinical cases and small series[15].

Regarding preformed antibodies in the recipient before implantation, there is literature that reveals that patients with preformed DSA presented a worse graft evolution in living donor transplantation [16]. Higher mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) values of the DSAs and small graft size were associated with worse patient outcomes, suggesting to the authors that high-risk patients with preformed DSAs should be considered for selecting the graft implanted and desensitization protocols. Likewise, a pretransplant with the tangible expression of multiple DSAs^[17] in a combined kidney-liver transplant showed that these antibodies were refractory to treatment, and the renal graft was lost due to AMR. The elimination of the antibodies depended on the HLA antigens expressed by the implanted liver graft.

In this sense, pathologists diagnose AMR in liver transplants with increasing frequency, and desensitization therapy has even been used in AMR cases, especially in patients with DSAs in kidney-hepatic





DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.766 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Potential associations of donor-specific anti-human leukocyte antigen antibodies and human leukocyte antigen and/or matching with the evolution of liver transplantation. AMR: Antibody-mediated rejection; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; HLA: Human leukocyte antigen; KIR: Killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptor.

transplants with high-class II MFI due to Luminex[18-20].

Although it is daring to assert categorically that the presence of DSAs contraindicates transplantation due to the same scientific literature, which is disparate between series, authors, and transplant centers, it is not well-defined over time (studies of positive, negative, and neutral papers) and the best methods of antibody diagnosis, evaluation of biopsies, and anti-rejection treatments^[15]. In this way, regular DSApost-transplant monitoring cannot as yet be recommended in routine practice but may be helpful in selected cases.

In the case of combined kidney transplants, there is also controversy and disparity between studies and groups. Thus, pretransplant DSAs increase the risk of AMR in the kidney and liver and worsen survival[12], with no data on the case of heart and lung combined with the liver. It has also been observed that the pretransplantation presence of anti-HLA class II antibodies and especially with positive complement fixation C1q or C3d have a risk of early AMR and a worse evolution of the transplant due to association of the graft with deposits of C4d in sinusoidal endothelial cells, increased fibrosis, CR, cirrhosis, and centrilobular fibrosis[2,13,16].

Regarding the development of de novo DSA (dnDSA), it has been estimated that immunosuppression may also play a role in the development of dnDSA. Thus, the coefficient of tacrolimus variation and mean tacrolimus levels have been reported to be associated with no dnDSA generation[21].

Other authors found that patients with an immunosuppressive regimen without withdrawal calcineurin inhibitors (mTOR inhibitors and/or maintenance with mycophenolic acid) have a higher prevalence of developing dnDSA post-transplant than patients with a standard regimen[22]. However, dnDSAs with calcineurin-free immunosuppression were associated with normal graft histology. The use of rituximab induction among DSA recipients has also been considered [23]. A dose of rituximab > 300 mg/m^2 was well tolerated and achieved a lower incidence of AMR.

In addition, everolimus combined with tacrolimus was associated with negative HLA and DSA antibody status[24]. Viral etiology of liver disease, hepatocellular carcinoma, and higher degrees of graft steatosis were associated with a lower rate of HLA antibodies. The impact of HLA and DSA antibodies was associated with higher levels of transaminases and bilirubin. In addition, a significant association was detected between higher degrees of inflammation and the presence of HLA and DSA antibodies. Thus, DSA would be associated with histological and biochemical inflammation of the graft after liver transplantation, while fibrosis seems unaffected.

There are also cases in the literature of living donor liver transplants who developed acute AMR after desensitization to perform DSA and were successfully treated with bortezomib and everolimus therapy [25]. In this regard, in sensitized combined liver-kidney transplant recipients, the "delayed" kidney transplant approach was associated with a significant reduction in total and class I DSAs after liver transplantation before kidney transplantation[26], allowing therapeutic interventions such as plasmapheresis, providing optimal results similar to those of crossmatched recipients.



Finally, regarding single or triple-therapy monotherapy, it has been reported that the development of class II DSA occurs more often with immunosuppressive monotherapy and may ultimately result in chronic rejection and graft fibrosis[27].

On the other hand, Shin *et al*[21] found that patients without T-cell rejection in pediatric liver transplantation were more likely to have dnDSAs for HLA-DQ7 and less likely to have these DSAs for HLA-DQ2. Therefore, they deduced that a load of mismatched epitopes predicted the non-generation of these DSAs. At the same time, the specificity of *de novo* DSAs could determine alloimmunity.

Also, references for the location and the importance of the correct detection of these DSAs would corroborate that the existence of intragraft DSA and intragraft union reaction of C3d (using a fluorescent analysis technique of capture of immunocomplexes) harms the outcome of the transplant, unlike DSA present in serum, with no impact[28].

Finally, it has been reported that the incidence of DSA after liver transplantation is higher in children than in adults, that DSAs directed against HLA class II molecules, mainly DQ, occur more often, and that the presence of such anti-class II DSA (DQ/DR), especially of the complement-binding IgG3 subclass, may be associated with endothelial injury, T-cell-mediated rejection (TCMR), inflammation, and fibrosis[29-31].

Regarding the positive, negative, or neutral role of the compatibility of the *HLA* and/or *KIR* genes, it is a subject of almost as much debate as the subject of antibodies. Historical studies have commented on any of the possibilities[10-12,32], and at the moment, there is no consistency in all the studies reviewed in this editorial. Regarding the role of HLA incompatibility and the evolution of the liver allograft, it is not separate from promoting the development of DSAs, with the logical criterion that the more incompatibilities, the more possibilities exist to develop antibodies DSAs *de novo*. Thus, the new molecular HLA incompatibility (MM) improves the prediction of the evolution of the transplant. Thus, in a study by Ono *et al*[33] on liver transplantation from a living donor, the risk of TCMR and the development of dnDSA were evaluated using eplets. MM in HLA-DQB1 eplets was associated with TCMR. The predicted indirectly recognizable HLA epitopes II (PIRCHE-II) score for the *HLA-DQB1* gene was also significantly higher in patients with TCMR. Moreover, DQB1-EpMMs \geq 9 and DQB1-predicted indirectly recognizable HLA epitopes II score \geq 3 were predictors of dnDSA formation. Thus, MM analysis may be applied toward tailored immunosuppression based on individual risks.

In this sense, a very recent article^[34] on living donor transplants found that the more HLA incompatibilities there are, the worse the patient's survival was (for A + B + DR, A + B + C, DR + DQ, and A + B + C + DR + DQ). For HLA-B + DR mismatches, the risk of a TCMR was more pronounced in adults but not in children. It has also been reported in 1042 liver transplants and 9.38 years of follow-up that HLA-A mismatch was strongly associated with graft failure and mortality, especially with two mismatches [35].

However, other groups commented that incompatibility was not associated with acute rejection, early allograft dysfunction, or survival in living donor liver transplants^[36]. The impact of HLA-A and HLA-DR incompatibility on cytomegalovirus reactivation and sepsis were significant but with very low significance and were not conclusive.

There is very little published and consistent literature on KIR compatibility, particularly in liver transplantation[10,16,32,37-41]. From more recent authorship, we know that the incidence of acute rejection does not correlate with HLA compatibility nor with KIR alleles or genotypes of the recipient, but the frequency of C2+ donors did increase in the rejection group and was more frequent when the recipient expressed KIR2DS4[39].

In another study, grafts from donors without *HLA-C2* alleles produced more rejection than in recipients from donors with at least one *HLA-C2* allele[42], consistent with a previous study of ours[32], which showed that *HLA-C2* homozygotes receiving HLA-C1/C2 grafts had a higher risk of rejection than *HLA-C1* homozygotes. Other groups, however, did not find this association in their series[38], so the issue is still under open debate.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, after demonstrating the adverse effects of DSAs with high MFI, perhaps pretransplant virtual cross match protocols could be appropriate to improve evolution, although they could increase cold ischemia times by having to type the donor. Although today, there is no particular problem as the times of typing results have been shortened, which also allows the optimization of compatibility and *HLA* and *KIR* genotypes[15,43].

In our modest opinion, monitoring of dnDSAs should also be universally adopted in all transplant centers to avoid possible post-transplant complications as much as possible. More extensive cohort studies, including the MFI intensity of each DSA in the donor, the role of the different HLA and KIR compatibility, and particular combinations between donor and recipient, are needed to clarify their actual role in the post-transplant period.

Zaishidene® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Muro M and Legaz I equally participated in the writing and review of the manuscript.

Supported by Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness, No. PI15/01370 and P19/01194; and the European Union with the European Fund of Regional Development with the principle of "A manner to build Europe".

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors have no relevant conflicts of interest to disclose.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Spain

ORCID number: Manuel Muro 0000-0001-9987-0994; Isabel Legaz 0000-0002-1140-4313.

S-Editor: Zhang H L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Zhang H

REFERENCES

- Donaldson PT, Thomson LJ, Heads A, Underhill JA, Vaughan RW, Rolando N, Williams R. IgG donor-specific crossmatches are not associated with graft rejection or poor graft survival after liver transplantation. An assessment by cytotoxicity and flow cytometry. Transplantation 1995; 60: 1016-1023 [PMID: 7491675]
- Muro M, Moya-Quiles MR, Mrowiec A. Humoral Response in Liver Allograft Transplantation: A Review of the Role of 2 Anti-Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA) Antibodies. Curr Protein Pept Sci 2016; 17: 776-784 [PMID: 26916161 DOI: 10.2174/1389203717666160226145101]
- 3 Boix F, Mrowiec A, Muro M. Cytokine Expression Profile as Predictive Surrogate Biomarkers for Clinical Events in the Field of Solid Organ Transplantation. Curr Protein Pept Sci 2017; 18: 240-249 [PMID: 27593089 DOI: 10.2174/1389203717666160902130001]
- 4 Millán O, Rafael-Valdivia L, San Segundo D, Boix F, Castro-Panete MJ, López-Hoyos M, Muro M, Valero-Hervás D, Rimola A, Navasa M, Muñoz P, Miras M, Andrés A, Guirado L, Pascual J, Brunet M. Should IFN-γ, IL-17 and IL-2 be considered predictive biomarkers of acute rejection in liver and kidney transplant? Clin Immunol 2014; 154: 141-154 [PMID: 25088788 DOI: 10.1016/j.clim.2014.07.007]
- 5 Boix-Giner F, Millan O, San Segundo D, Muñoz-Cacho P, Mancebo E, Llorente S, Rafael-Valdivia L, Rimola A, Fábrega E, Mrowiec A, Allende L, Minguela A, Bolarín JM, Paz-Artal E, López-Hoyos M, Brunet M, Muro M. High frequency of central memory regulatory T cells allows detection of liver recipients at risk of early acute rejection within the first month after transplantation. Int Immunol 2016; 28: 55-64 [PMID: 26270267 DOI: 10.1093/intimm/dxv048]
- Boix F, Bolarín JM, Mrowiec A, Eguía J, Gonzalez-Martinez G, de la Peña J, Galian JA, Alfaro R, Moya-Quiles MR, 6 Legaz I, Campillo JA, Ramírez P, García-Alonso A, Pons JA, Sánchez-Bueno F, Minguela A, Llorente S, Muro M. CD28 biomarker quantification and expression level profiles in CD4⁺ T-lymphocytes in solid organ transplantation. Transpl Immunol 2017; 42: 9-17 [PMID: 28392336 DOI: 10.1016/j.trim.2017.04.001]
- Boix F, Millan O, San Segundo D, Mancebo E, Rimola A, Fabrega E, Fortuna V, Mrowiec A, Castro-Panete MJ, Peña Jde L, Llorente S, Minguela A, Bolarin JM, Paz-Artal E, Lopez-Hoyos M, Brunet M, Muro M. High expression of CD38, CD69, CD95 and CD154 biomarkers in cultured peripheral T lymphocytes correlates with an increased risk of acute rejection in liver allograft recipients. Immunobiology 2016; 221: 595-603 [PMID: 26850323 DOI: 10.1016/j.imbio.2016.01.008
- 8 Boix F, Trujillo C, Muro M. Cell-Mediated Immunity (CMI) as the Instrument to Assess the Response Against the Allograft: Present and Future. Curr Protein Pept Sci 2018; 19: 1092-1106 [PMID: 30062963 DOI: 10.2174/1389203719666180730164542]
- 9 Marín LA, Muro M, Moya-Quiles MR, Miras M, Minguela A, Bermejo J, Sanchez-Bueno F, Parrilla P, Alvarez-López MR. Study of Fas (CD95) and FasL (CD178) polymorphisms in liver transplant recipients. Tissue Antigens 2006; 67: 117-126 [PMID: 16441482 DOI: 10.1111/J.1399-0039.2006.00538.X]
- Moya-Quiles MR, Muro M, Torío A, Sánchez-Bueno F, Miras M, Marín L, García-Alonso AM, Parrilla P, Dausset J, 10 Alvarez-López MR. Human leukocyte antigen-C in short- and long-term liver graft acceptance. Liver Transpl 2003; 9: 218-227 [PMID: 12619017 DOI: 10.1053/jlts.2003.50043]
- 11 Legaz I, López-Álvarez MR, Campillo JA, Moya-Quiles MR, Bolarín JM, de la Peña J, Salgado G, Gimeno L, García-Alonso AM, Muro M, Miras M, Alonso C, Álvarez-López MR, Minguela A. KIR gene mismatching and KIR/C ligands in liver transplantation: consequences for short-term liver allograft injury. Transplantation 2013; 95: 1037-1044 [PMID: 23478359 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e318286486c]
- 12 Tait BD, Süsal C, Gebel HM, Nickerson PW, Zachary AA, Claas FH, Reed EF, Bray RA, Campbell P, Chapman JR,



Coates PT, Colvin RB, Cozzi E, Doxiadis II, Fuggle SV, Gill J, Glotz D, Lachmann N, Mohanakumar T, Suciu-Foca N, Sumitran-Holgersson S, Tanabe K, Taylor CJ, Tyan DB, Webster A, Zeevi A, Opelz G. Consensus guidelines on the testing and clinical management issues associated with HLA and non-HLA antibodies in transplantation. Transplantation 2013; **95**: 19-47 [PMID: 23238534 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e31827a19cc]

- Tambur AR, Herrera ND, Haarberg KM, Cusick MF, Gordon RA, Leventhal JR, Friedewald JJ, Glotz D. Assessing 13 Antibody Strength: Comparison of MFI, C1q, and Titer Information. Am J Transplant 2015; 15: 2421-2430 [PMID: 25930984 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.13295]
- Wesson RN, Etchill EW, Garonzik-Wang J. Application and interpretation of histocompatibility data in liver 14 transplantation. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2017; 22: 499-504 [PMID: 28708813 DOI: 10.1097/MOT.00000000000450]
- Legaz I, Boix F, López M, Alfaro R, Galián JA, Llorente S, Campillo JA, Botella C, Ramírez P, Sánchez-Bueno F, Pons JA, Moya-Quiles MR, Minguela A, Muro M. Influence of Preformed Antibodies in Liver Transplantation. J Clin Med 2020; 9 [PMID: 32151032 DOI: 10.3390/jcm9030708]
- Goto R, Ito M, Kawamura N, Watanabe M, Ganchiku Y, Kamiyama T, Shimamura T, Taketomi A. The impact of 16 preformed donor-specific antibodies in living donor liver transplantation according to graft volume. Immun Inflamm Dis 2022; 10: e586 [PMID: 35064772 DOI: 10.1002/iid3.586]
- 17 Ramon DS, Troop DM, Kinard TN, Jadlowiec CC, Ryan MS, Hewitt WR Jr, Olsen LG, Jaramillo A, Taner T, Heilman RL. Alloantibodies after simultaneous liver-kidney transplant: A story of primary nonfunction, retransplantation, and antibody-mediated rejection. Am J Transplant 2022; 22: 977-985 [PMID: 34882942 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.16913]
- Cuadrado A, San Segundo D, López-Hoyos M, Crespo J, Fábrega E. Clinical significance of donor-specific human 18 leukocyte antigen antibodies in liver transplantation. World J Gastroenterol 2015; 21: 11016-11026 [PMID: 26494958 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i39.11016]
- 19 Kozlowski T, Rubinas T, Nickeleit V, Woosley J, Schmitz J, Collins D, Hayashi P, Passannante A, Andreoni K. Liver allograft antibody-mediated rejection with demonstration of sinusoidal C4d staining and circulating donor-specific antibodies. Liver Transpl 2011; 17: 357-368 [PMID: 21445918 DOI: 10.1002/lt.22233]
- 20 Tambur AR, Campbell P, Claas FH, Feng S, Gebel HM, Jackson AM, Mannon RB, Reed EF, Tinckam K, Askar M, Chandraker A, Chang PP, Colvin M, Demetris AJ, Diamond JM, Dipchand AI, Fairchild RL, Ford ML, Friedewald J, Gill RG, Glotz D, Goldberg H, Hachem R, Knechtle S, Kobashigawa J, Levine DJ, Levitsky J, Mengel M, Milford E, Newell KA, O'Leary JG, Palmer S, Randhawa P, Smith J, Snyder L, Starling RC, Sweet S, Taner T, Taylor CJ, Woodle S, Zeevi A, Nickerson P. Sensitization in Transplantation: Assessment of Risk (STAR) 2017 Working Group Meeting Report. Am J Transplant 2018; 18: 1604-1614 [PMID: 29603613 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.14752]
- 21 Shin S, Lee M, Dente E, Yazigi N, Khan KM, Kaufman SS, Ahn J, Timofeeva OA, Ekong UD. Mismatch epitope load predicts de novo-DSA-free survival in pediatric liver transplantation. Pediatr Transplant 2022; 26: e14251 [PMID: 35279919 DOI: 10.1111/petr.14251]
- 22 Meszaros M, Dubois V, Congy-Jolivet N, Hamada S, Thevenin C, Faure S, Boillot O, Kamar N, Pageaux GP, Del Bello A, Dumortier J. Impact of calcineurin inhibitor-free immunosuppression on de novo donor-specific antibody formation in liver transplant recipients. Liver Int 2022; 42: 1132-1143 [PMID: 35184373 DOI: 10.1111/liv.15201]
- 23 Akamatsu N, Hasegawa K, Sakamoto S, Ohdan H, Nakagawa K, Egawa H. Rituximab Desensitization in Liver Transplant Recipients With Preformed Donor-specific HLA Antibodies: A Japanese Nationwide Survey. Transplant Direct 2021; 7: e729 [PMID: 34291151 DOI: 10.1097/TXD.000000000001180]
- 24 Gül-Klein S, Hegermann H, Röhle R, Schmelzle M, Tacke F, Schöning W, Öllinger R, Dziodzio T, Maier P, Plewe JM, Horst D, Sauer IM, Pratschke J, Lachmann N, Eurich D. Donor-Specific Antibodies Against Donor Human Leukocyte Antigen are Associated with Graft Inflammation but Not with Fibrosis Long-Term After Liver Transplantation: An Analysis of Protocol Biopsies. J Inflamm Res 2021; 14: 2697-2712 [PMID: 34188517 DOI: 10.2147/JIR.S307778]
- Komagome M, Maki A, Nagata R, Masuda W, Kogure R, Mitsui T, Ninomiya R, Akamatsu N, Hasegawa K, Beck Y. 25 Refractory Acute Antibody Mediated Rejection in Liver Transplant After Desensitization of Preformed Donor Specific Antibody-Validity of Bortezomib and Everolimus: A Case Report. Transplant Proc 2022; 54: 147-152 [PMID: 34974892 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2021.11.022]
- Goggins WC, Ekser B, Rokop Z, Lutz AJ, Mihaylov P, Mangus RS, Fridell JA, Powelson JA, Kubal CA. Combined liver-26 kidney transplantation with positive crossmatch: Role of delayed kidney transplantation. Surgery 2021; 170: 1240-1247 [PMID: 34092375 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2021.05.012]
- Sultani B, Marget M, Briem-Richter A, Herrmann J, Meisner S, Grabhorn EF, Ozga AK, Weidemann S, Herden U, Fischer 27 L, Sterneck M. Presence of donor specific HLA class 2 antibodies (DSA class 2) is associated with development of graft fibrosis more than 10 years after liver transplantation-a retrospective single center study. Clin Transplant 2021; 35: e14336 [PMID: 33949011 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.14336]
- 28 Nakamura T, Shirouzu T, Sugimoto R, Harada S, Yoshikawa M, Nobori S, Ushigome H, Kawai S. Intra-Liver Allograft C3d-Binding Donor-Specific Anti-HLA Antibodies Predict Rejection After Liver Transplantation. Transplant Proc 2022; 54: 450-453 [PMID: 35039161 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2021.08.065]
- Vionnet J, Sempoux C, Pascual M, Sánchez-Fueyo A, Colmenero J. Donor-specific antibodies in liver transplantation. 29 Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 43: 34-45 [PMID: 31810796 DOI: 10.1016/j.gastrohep.2019.09.010]
- Liu W, Wang K, Xiao YL, Liu C, Gao W, Li DH. Clinical relevance of donor-specific human leukocyte antigen antibodies 30 after pediatric liver transplantation. Exp Ther Med 2021; 22: 867 [PMID: 34194545 DOI: 10.3892/etm.2021.10299]
- 31 Götz JK, Kiene H, Goldschmidt I, Junge N, Pfister ED, Leiskau C, Brown RM, Immenschuh S, Baumann U. Current Evidence on the Clinical Relevance of Donor-specific Antibodies in Paediatric Liver Transplantation. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2021; 72: 788-793 [PMID: 33908737 DOI: 10.1097/MPG.00000000003127]
- López-Alvarez MR, Moya-Quiles MR, Minguela A, Gil J, Miras M, Campillo JA, Díaz-Alderete MA, García-Alonso AM, Sánchez-Bueno F, Vicario JL, Muro M, Alvarez-López MR. HLA-C matching and liver transplants: donor-recipient genotypes influence early outcome and CD8+KIR2D+ T-cells recuperation. Transplantation 2009; 88: S54-S61 [PMID: 19667963 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3181af7d84]



- 33 Ono K, Ide K, Tanaka Y, Ohira M, Tahara H, Tanimine N, Yamane H, Ohdan H. Molecular Mismatch Predicts T Cell-Mediated Rejection and De Novo Donor-Specific Antibody Formation After Living Donor Liver Transplantation. Liver Transpl 2021; 27: 1592-1602 [PMID: 34310028 DOI: 10.1002/lt.26238]
- Tajima T, Hata K, Kusakabe J, Miyauchi H, Yurugi K, Hishida R, Ogawa E, Okamoto T, Sonoda M, Kageyama S, Zhao 34 X, Ito T, Seo S, Okajima H, Nagao M, Haga H, Uemoto S, Hatano E. The impact of human leukocyte antigen mismatch on recipient outcomes in living-donor liver transplantation. Liver Transpl 2022; 28: 1588-1602 [PMID: 35603526 DOI: 10.1002/lt.26511]
- Bricogne C, Halliday N, Fernando R, Tsochatzis EA, Davidson BR, Harber M, Westbrook RH. Donor-recipient human 35 leukocyte antigen A mismatching is associated with hepatic artery thrombosis, sepsis, graft loss, and reduced survival after liver transplant. Liver Transpl 2022; 28: 1306-1320 [PMID: 35313059 DOI: 10.1002/LT.26458]
- 36 Mittal S, Sinha P, Sarin S, Rastogi A, Gupta E, Bajpai M, Pamecha V, Trehanpati N. Impact of human leukocyte antigen compatibility on outcomes of living donor liver transplantation: Experience from a tertiary care center. Transpl Infect Dis 2021; 23: e13644 [PMID: 33999511 DOI: 10.1111/tid.13644]
- 37 Zamir MR, Shahi A, Salehi S, Amirzargar A. Natural killer cells and killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors in solid organ transplantation: Protectors or opponents? Transplant Rev (Orlando) 2022; 36: 100723 [PMID: 35964414 DOI: 10.1016/j.trre.2022.100723
- 38 Moroso V, van der Meer A, Tilanus HW, Kazemier G, van der Laan LJ, Metselaar HJ, Joosten I, Kwekkeboom J. Donor and recipient HLA/KIR genotypes do not predict liver transplantation outcome. Transpl Int 2011; 24: 932-942 [PMID: 21672051 DOI: 10.1111/j.1432-2277.2011.01286.x]
- 39 Chen R, Yi H, Zhen J, Fan M, Xiao L, Yu Q, Yang Z, Ning L, Deng Z, Chen G. Donor with HLA-C2 is associated with acute rejection following liver transplantation in Southern Chinese. HLA 2022; 100: 133-141 [PMID: 35509131 DOI: 10.1111/tan.14651
- López-Alvarez MR, Gómez-Mateo J, Ruiz-Merino G, Campillo JA, Miras M, García-Alonso AM, Sánchez-Bueno F, 40 Parrilla P, Alvarez-López MR, Minguela A. Analysis of KIR2D receptors on peripheral blood lymphocytes from liver graft recipients. Transpl Immunol 2006; 17: 51-54 [PMID: 17157216 DOI: 10.1016/J.TRIM.2006.09.015]
- Legaz I, Navarro-Noguera E, Bolarín JM, García-Alonso AM, Luna Maldonado A, Mrowiec A, Campillo JA, Gimeno L, 41 Moya-Quiles R, Álvarez-López Mdel R, Minguela Puras A, Miras M, Sánchez-Bueno F, Muro M. Epidemiology, Evolution, and Long-Term Survival of Alcoholic Cirrhosis Patients Submitted to Liver Transplantation in Southeastern Spain. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2016; 40: 794-805 [PMID: 27012317 DOI: 10.1111/acer.13013]
- 42 Lee H, Park KH, Park HS, Ryu JH, Lim J, Kim Y, Na GH, Kim DG, Oh EJ. Human Leukocyte Antigen-C Genotype and Killer Immunoglobulin-like Receptor-Ligand Matching in Korean Living Donor Liver Transplantation. Ann Lab Med 2017; **37**: 45-52 [PMID: 27834065 DOI: 10.3343/alm.2017.37.1.45]
- 43 Muro M. The endless history or search for the true role of alloantibodies in liver transplantation. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol 2021; 45: 101544 [PMID: 33077392 DOI: 10.1016/j.clinre.2020.09.005]



WÜ

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 February 7; 29(5): 773-779

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.773

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

OPINION REVIEW

Management of gastro-esophageal reflux disease: Practice-oriented answers to clinical questions

Leonardo Frazzoni, Lorenzo Fuccio, Rocco Maurizio Zagari

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Bordin DS, Russia; Gaman MA, Romania; Nishizawa T, Japan; Wang D, China

Received: October 14, 2022 Peer-review started: October 14. 2022 First decision: November 3, 2022 Revised: December 1, 2022 Accepted: January 9, 2023 Article in press: January 9, 2023 Published online: February 7, 2023



Leonardo Frazzoni, Lorenzo Fuccio, Rocco Maurizio Zagari, Department of Digestive Diseases, IRCCS Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria di Bologna Policlinico S Orsola, Bologna 40138, Italy

Lorenzo Fuccio, Rocco Maurizio Zagari, Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences, University of Bologna, Bologna 40138, Italy

Corresponding author: Leonardo Frazzoni, MD, Academic Fellow, Medical Assistant, Department of Digestive Diseases, IRCCS Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria di Bologna Policlinico S Orsola, Via Albertoni 15, Bologna 40138, Italy. leonardo.frazzoni@gmail.com

Abstract

Gastro-esophageal reflux disease (GERD) is a condition which is frequently faced by primary care physicians and gastroenterologists. Improving management of GERD is crucial to maximise both patient care and resource utilization. In fact, the management of patients with GERD is complex and poses several questions to the clinician who faces them in clinical practice. For instance, many aspects should be considered, including the appropriateness of indication to endoscopy, the quality of the endoscopic examination, the use and interpretation of ambulatory reflux testing, and the choice and management of anti-reflux treatments, i.e., protonpump inhibitors and surgery. Aim of the present review was to provide a comprehensive update on the clinical management of patients with GERD, through a literature review on the diagnosis and management of patients with GER symptoms. In details, we provide practice-oriented concise answers to clinical questions, with the aim of optimising patient management and healthcare resource use.

Key Words: Gastro-esophageal reflux disease; Diagnosis; Management; Proton-pump inhibitor

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Gastro-esophageal reflux disease (GERD) still poses several clinical issues to be faced, from clinical and instrumental diagnosis to medical and surgical therapy. In this review we provide the most updated evidence on the management of GERD. Practice-oriented questions on GERD are answered through a concise review of current literature. The aim is to provide clinicians a practical tool to guide them through the management of patients with GERD.

Citation: Frazzoni L, Fuccio L, Zagari RM. Management of gastro-esophageal reflux disease: Practice-oriented answers to clinical questions. *World J Gastroenterol* 2023; 29(5): 773-779 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i5/773.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.773

INTRODUCTION

Gastro-esophageal reflux disease (GERD) is a complex but common condition[1] that poses several issues to the clinicians. Prompt endoscopy should be reserved only to patients with symptoms of GERD and alarm features or multiple risk factors for Barrett's esophagus. Grade A esophagitis is not sufficient to diagnose GERD, and only patients with grade C and D esophagitis should undergo endoscopic follow-up after proton-pump inhibitors (PPIs). Evidence of posterior laryngitis is not reliable for diagnosing GERD. Reliable selection of patients with PPI-refractory GERD who can benefit from anti-reflux surgery is a critical issue and relies on careful evaluation including impedance-pH monitoring. Prokinetics may be used in patients with concomitant dyspeptic symptoms, whereas potassium-competitive acid blockers (P-CABs) may be an option for erosive esophagitis.

QUESTION 1: SHOULD I PERFORM ENDOSCOPY IN ALL PATIENTS WITH GERD SYMPTOMS?

Answer: According to more recent international guidelines, a clinical response to an empiric 8-wk oncedaily PPI therapy is diagnostic for GERD in patients with heartburn or acid regurgitation[2,3]. This pragmatic approach has a sensitivity of 78% and specificity of about 54%[4], which means to avoid unnecessary endoscopy in more than half of patients with symptoms of GERD. In fact, it should be emphasised that most patients with confirmed GERD do not present endoscopic findings of erosive esophagitis[2]. On the other hand, prompt endoscopy is recommended for patients with GERD symptoms and dysphagia or other alarm features (*e.g.*, weight loss, vomiting, or signs of gastrointestinal bleeding). Endoscopy is also recommended in all patients with GERD symptoms and at least 2 of the following risks factors for Barrett's esophagus: Age \geq 50 years, male gender, Caucasian ethnicity, obesity, family history for Barrett's esophagus or esophageal adenocarcinoma, and smoking[2,5]. Indeed, the prevalence of Barrett's esophagus among patients with GERD symptoms is only about 5%-7%[6,7], therefore endoscopy should be reserved to patients with multiple risk factors for this condition.

QUESTION 2: IS EROSIVE ESOPHAGITIS SPECIFIC FOR DIAGNOSIS OF GERD?

Answer: Traditionally, endoscopic erosive esophagitis is considered specific for the diagnosis of GERD. The Los Angeles (LA) classification is currently the most used one for grading erosive esophagitis and considers 4 degrees: Grade A and B, non-confluent erosions (*i.e.*, mucosal breaks) of longitudinal extension ≤ 5 mm or > 5mm, respectively; grade C and D, confluent erosions between multiple folds affecting < 75% or \geq 75% of the circumference, respectively[8]. According to recent international guidelines, the presence of grade A erosive esophagitis is not sufficient to diagnose GERD, as it can be present in 5%-8% of healthy subjects who do not experience symptoms of GER nor present complications such as Barrett's esophagus, and can be linked to other factors such as drugs or infections[2,3]. Grade B esophagitis can be considered diagnostic of GERD in the presence of typical symptoms of GERD that respond to PPI therapy, while grade C and D esophagitis are always diagnostic for GERD [2]. Nevertheless, it should be noted that erosive esophagitis is mostly healed by PPI therapy, therefore PPIs should be stopped at least 2 wk before endoscopy[2].

QUESTION 3: WHEN TO PERFORM ESOPHAGEAL BIOPSIES IN PATIENTS WITH GERD SYMPTOMS?

Answer: Esophageal biopsies are currently not considered in patients with GERD symptoms as they are of little value for the diagnosis of GERD. Histopathological findings that are variably associated with GERD, including dilation of the intercellular spaces and inflammatory intraepithelial cells and necrosis, have been described in the literature[9], but are flawed by a suboptimal specificity[10]. In fact, esophageal biopsies should be performed to diagnose eosinophilic esophagitis. This condition might coexist when patients refer also dysphagia and food bolus impaction in the esophagus. In this case, at least 6 biopsies should be performed in multiple esophageal sites[11]. Since PPIs can mask endoscopic and histological features of eosinophilic esophagitis, PPI therapy should be stopped at least 2 wk before endoscopy.

QUESTION 4: SHOULD HIATAL HERNIA ALWAYS BE IDENTIFIED AND MEASURED?

Answer: The systematic identification and measurement of hiatal hernia is important for several reasons: (1) Hiatal hernia is a predisposing factor for GERD; (2) If present, it should be corrected during laparoscopic fundoplication when technically feasible; and (3) Measurement of hiatal hernia presupposes the correct identification of landmarks, *i.e.*, diaphragmatic hiatus and esophago-gastric and squamocolumnar junctions, in turn necessary for the correct diagnosis of Barrett's esophagus. Therefore, although some evidence suggests that endoscopy is not the test of choice for measuring hiatal hernia [12], it is important to standardise this procedure to maximise its accuracy and reliability. First, endoscopy must be performed under sedation to avoid retching that could temporarily displace the gastric fundus. Second, the measurement must be carried out between the diaphragmatic hiatus and the top of the gastric folds (*i.e.*, esophagus-gastric junction). Last, excessive insufflation should be avoided, and the measurement should be always carried out during the same phase of the examination, *i.e.*, during extubation in order to minimise the effect of gastric prolapse following intubation.

QUESTION 5: SHOULD PATIENTS WITH EROSIVE ESOPHAGITIS UNDERGO REPEAT ENDOSCOPY AFTER TREATMENT?

Answer: The rationale for repeating endoscopy after treatment in patients with erosive esophagitis is mainly linked to the possibility that inflammation could obscure the visibility of an underlying Barrett's esophagus. Secondly, in those with more severe erosive esophagitis (LA grade C or D) it is advisable to check for the healing of the lesions and possible occurrence of complications (*e.g.*, peptic stricture) after adequate therapy with PPIs. Barrett's esophagus at repeat endoscopy after PPI treatment for erosive esophagitis has been reported in up to 12% of cases[13]. However, Barrett's esophagus is mostly obscured by LA grade C and D esophagitis, with a lower incidence reported in grades A and B[13]. Therefore, guidelines currently recommend repeating endoscopy after an 8-wk course of PPI therapy only in patients with LA grade C and D erosive esophagitis[14].

QUESTION 6: IS AN INSTRUMENTAL FINDING OF LARYNGITIS A SPECIFIC SIGN OF GERD?

Answer: The extra-esophageal manifestations of GERD are various and their association with GERD cannot always be unequivocally proven. Some findings at laryngoscopy, such as erythema and oedema of the vocal cords or larynx, may be related to GERD, but the specificity of these signs for the diagnosis of GERD is as low as 40% [15]. These findings may be attributable to other conditions, such as post-nasal drip syndrome or exposure to allergens and other environmental irritants [15]. Furthermore, the response to PPI therapy in these patients is unreliable due to the large placebo effect. Therefore, the presence of laryngeal symptoms (*e.g.*, cough, hoarseness), even when associated with an instrumental finding of laryngeal inflammation, is not sufficient for the diagnosis of GERD, and patients should be referred for further diagnostic investigations to confirm this diagnosis, *e.g.*, endoscopy if not previously performed and/or impedance-pH monitoring[2].

Beishidena® WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

QUESTION 7: IS PH MONITORING ALONE INFERIOR TO IMPEDANCE-PH MONITORING **TO DIAGNOSE GERD?**

Answer: Ambulatory reflux monitoring, including pH-monitoring and impedance-pH monitoring, is the method of choice to confirm or exclude the diagnosis of GERD[2,3]. Impedance detects the movement of fluids and gas inside the esophagus independently from their acidity, thus distinguishing weakly acid from acid refluxes and reliably documenting the total number of reflux events throughout the recording period. Two additional applications need to be briefly mentioned: The post-reflux swallow-induced peristaltic waves (PSPW) index is the ratio between reflux episodes timely followed by a swallow event, and all the reflux episodes; this measure assesses esophageal chemical clearance due to the esophago-salivary reflex and has been shown to be impaired in GERD[16,17]. The mean nocturnal basal impedance (MNBI) is the mean baseline impedance value in three 10-min periods from the most distal impedance channel during nighttime recumbent period; this measure assesses the integrity of esophageal mucosa and is reduced by the chronic inflammation due to GERD[16,17].

Recent evidence has shown that pH monitoring alone, using esophageal acid exposure time (AET) > 6% according to the Lyon consensus[3] confirms the diagnosis of GERD only in 45% of patients with PPI-responsive heartburn[17]. On the other hand, impedance-pH monitoring with the evaluation of total refluxes, MNBI and PSPW index increases the diagnostic yield of about 20%, especially allowing to better characterise patients with inconclusive AET between 4% and 6% [17]. Of note, impedance-pH monitoring can identify ongoing reflux in a much higher proportion of PPI-refractory patients than pH monitoring alone, when performed on-therapy[18]. Therefore, impedance-pH monitoring should be considered the test of choice to confirm or rule out a diagnosis of GERD.

QUESTION 8: HOW SHOULD I MANAGE PPI THERAPY BEFORE IMPEDANCE-PH MONITORING?

Answer: The choice of performing impedance-pH monitoring off-PPI or on-PPI depends on the clinical goal. Impedance-pH monitoring should be performed off-PPI to demonstrate that pathological gastroesophageal reflux underlies symptoms in a patient with unproven GERD[3]: That is when, for instance, a patient with normal endoscopic findings complains of typical or extra-esophageal symptoms and requires continuous PPI for symptom control or asks for anti-reflux surgery. On the other hand, impedance-pH monitoring should be performed on-PPI to confirm or exclude that ongoing reflux is the cause of inadequate response to double-dosage PPI in a patient with documented GERD[3].

QUESTION 9: WHEN SHOULD I VERIFY PATIENT ADHERENCE TO PPI THERAPY?

Answer: Modality and timing of PPI intake are key factors in obtaining an adequate response. Proton pump inhibitors should be taken at least 30 min before the first meal, preferably in the morning before breakfast, and in case of a second dose in the evening before dinner. This allows to achieve the maximum suppression of gastric acid secretion by inhibiting proton pumps before these are activated by food[19]. However, there is evidence that a large proportion of patients with unresponsive GERD symptoms do not take PPIs 30 min before the first meal^[20]. Additionally, two studies found that only about half of patients correctly adhered to PPI therapy prescriptions for more than 80% of the time and that increasing compliance was typically related to symptom improvement[19]. Indeed, patient adherence to PPIs should be always verified in case of PPI-refractory symptoms.

QUESTION 10: WHEN DO I REFER A PATIENT WITH PPI-REFRACTORY SYMPTOMS TO ANTI-REFLUX SURGERY?

Answer: Patients with symptoms suggestive of gastro-oesophageal reflux unresponsive to PPIs should first be investigated about compliance and adherence to therapy. In case of good compliance, they should be referred for off-PPI upper gastrointestinal endoscopy and impedance-pH monitoring to confirm GERD diagnosis. Indeed, PPI therapy is so effective for typical GERD symptoms when properly administered that true PPI-refractoriness should prompt to verify the actual correlation between symptoms and reflux. On the other hand, in case of proven GERD impedance-pH monitoring should be performed on double-dosage PPI therapy started from at least 8 wk, in order to reliably link PPIrefractory symptoms to ongoing reflux and exclude reflux-unrelated symptoms. Indeed, in a recent randomised controlled trial (RCT) evaluating 366 patients referred for PPI-refractory heartburn only 21% of cases showed a clear-cut impedance-pH correlation between heartburn and gastro-esophageal reflux[21]. This highlights the importance to refer for surgical fundoplication only patients with PPI-



refractory GERD confirmed by impedance-pH monitoring. Correct selection of patients is crucial to maximise the outcome of anti-reflux surgery, which can be as high as 90% [18].

QUESTION 11: WHICH IS THE ROLE FOR PROKINETICS IN PATIENTS WITH GERD?

Answer: Dyspeptic symptoms can present in nearly half of patients with GERD, and the probability of dyspepsia in individuals with weekly GER symptoms is nearly 7-fold higher than in subjects without GERD[22]. There is a pathophysiological basis for this association, as prolonged postprandial gastric distention and increased basal intragastric pressure may lead to an increased gastro-esophageal pressure gradient, favoring reflux episodes. Therefore, prokinetics such as metoclopramide and domperidone may be beneficial when added to PPI therapy in patients with concomitant dyspeptic symptoms. However, the caveat is that their use can be limited by side effects including drowsiness, agitation, irritability, depression, dystonic reactions, and tardive dyskinesia for metoclopramide, whereas QT monitoring seems prudential for domperidone due to small risk for ventricular arrhythmia and sudden cardiac death[2].

QUESTION 12: WHICH IS THE ROLE FOR P-CABS IN PATIENTS WITH GERD?

Answer: P-CABs competitively inhibit proton pumps and have been licensed in Japan for the treatment of GERD since 2015[19]. Differently from PPIs, vonoprazan can block both inactive and active proton pumps, resulting in a higher and longer-lasting suppression of gastric acid secretion[19]. Further, its elimination is independent from CYP2C19 metabolism, probably contributing to explain its greater effect[19]. A recent meta-analysis on 19 RCTs found that vonoprazan was superior to PPIs in healing erosive esophagitis, whereas there was no difference in the improvement of GERD symptoms^[23]. However, evidence on refractory GERD is scarce, and more studies from Western countries are needed to expand knowledge on the effectiveness of this drug in the setting of erosive reflux disease.

CONCLUSION

GERD is one of the most frequent gastroenterological conditions, yielding a considerable amount of resource consumption in health services[1]. Although several guidelines have been published[2,3], the management of patients with GER symptoms is still controversial. Currently, for example, there is no gold standard for diagnosing GERD, as diagnosis relies on a combination of symptoms, response to PPI therapy, endoscopy, and ambulatory reflux monitoring. Recent evidence-based recommendations provide new insights regarding erosive esophagitis and the management of patients refractory to PPIs [2,3]. This review provides the answers to questions which were selected after collegial discussion between the authors, also taking into account the most debated issues with general practitioners and non-dedicated gastroenterologists, that may help physicians in the management of patients with GERD (see Table 1). The answers are based on the overview of current guidelines and recommendations and on recent evidence provided from systematic reviews and clinical trials.

Table 1 Practice-oriented answers to clinical questions on the management of gastro-esophageal reflux disease

No.	Question	Answer
1	Should I perform endoscopy in all patients with GERD symptoms?	Endoscopy should be reserved for patients with GERD symptoms and either alarm features or multiple risk factors for Barrett's esophagus
2	Is erosive esophagitis specific for diagnosis of GERD?	Only LA grade C and D esophagitis are always specific for GERD
3	When to perform esophageal biopsies in patients with GERD symptoms?	Esophageal biopsies should be performed only when eosinophilic esophagitis is suspected
4	Should hiatal hernia always be identified and measured?	Hiatal hernia should always be identified and measured
5	Should patients with erosive esophagitis undergo repeat endoscopy after treatment?	Only patients with LA grade C and D esophagitis should undergo repeat endoscopy after PPI therapy
6	Is an instrumental finding of laryngitis a specific sign of GERD?	Laryngoscopic findings of laryngitis are not specific signs of GERD
7	Is pH monitoring alone inferior to impedance-pH	Impedance-pH monitoring is the test of choice to confirm or rule out GERD



monitoring to diagnose GERD?

8	How should I manage PPI therapy before impedance- pH monitoring?	The choice of performing impedance-pH monitoring off-PPI or on-PPI depends on the clinical goal
9	When should I verify patient adherence to PPI therapy?	Adherence to PPI therapy should be always verified in case of PPI-refractory symptoms
10	When do I refer a patient with PPI-refractory symptoms to anti-reflux surgery?	Only patients with PPI-refractory GERD confirmed by impedance-pH monitoring should be referred to surgical fundoplication
11	Which is the role for prokinetics in patients with GERD?	Prokinetics may be used in patients with GERD and concomitant dyspeptic symptoms
12	Which is the role for P-CABs in patients with GERD?	P-CABs are promising antisecretory drugs, however more evidence is needed

GERD: Gastro-esophageal reflux disease; PPI: Proton-pump inhibitor; LA: Los Angeles; P-CABs: Potassium-competitive acid blockers.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Frazzoni L drafted the manuscript; and all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Italy

ORCID number: Leonardo Frazzoni 0000-0001-7084-6157; Lorenzo Fuccio 0000-0001-8618-2447; Rocco Maurizio Zagari 0000-0001-9949-8619.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang JJ

REFERENCES

- 1 GBD 2017 Gastro-oesophageal Reflux Disease Collaborators. The global, regional, and national burden of gastrooesophageal reflux disease in 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 5: 561-581 [PMID: 32178772 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(19)30408-X]
- 2 Katz PO, Gerson LB, Vela MF. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of gastroesophageal reflux disease. Am J Gastroenterol 2013; 108: 308-28; quiz 329 [PMID: 23419381 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2012.444]
- 3 Gyawali CP, Kahrilas PJ, Savarino E, Zerbib F, Mion F, Smout AJPM, Vaezi M, Sifrim D, Fox MR, Vela MF, Tutuian R, Tack J, Bredenoord AJ, Pandolfino J, Roman S. Modern diagnosis of GERD: the Lyon Consensus. Gut 2018; 67: 1351-1362 [PMID: 29437910 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-314722]
- Numans ME, Lau J, de Wit NJ, Bonis PA. Short-term treatment with proton-pump inhibitors as a test for gastroesophageal 4 reflux disease: a meta-analysis of diagnostic test characteristics. Ann Intern Med 2004; 140: 518-527 [PMID: 15068979 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-140-7-200404060-00011]
- Weusten B, Bisschops R, Coron E, Dinis-Ribeiro M, Dumonceau JM, Esteban JM, Hassan C, Pech O, Repici A, Bergman J, di Pietro M. Endoscopic management of Barrett's esophagus: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Position Statement. Endoscopy 2017; 49: 191-198 [PMID: 28122386 DOI: 10.1055/s-0042-122140]
- Eusebi LH, Cirota GG, Zagari RM, Ford AC. Global prevalence of Barrett's oesophagus and oesophageal cancer in individuals with gastro-oesophageal reflux: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Gut 2021; 70: 456-463 [PMID: 32732370 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-321365]
- Eusebi LH, Telese A, Cirota GG, Haidry R, Zagari RM, Bazzoli F, Ford AC. Effect of gastro-esophageal reflux symptoms on the risk of Barrett's esophagus: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 37: 1507-1516 [PMID: 35614860 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.15902]
- Armstrong D, Bennett JR, Blum AL, Dent J, De Dombal FT, Galmiche JP, Lundell L, Margulies M, Richter JE, Spechler SJ, Tytgat GN, Wallin L. The endoscopic assessment of esophagitis: a progress report on observer agreement. Gastroenterology 1996; 111: 85-92 [PMID: 8698230 DOI: 10.1053/gast.1996.v111.pm8698230]
- Savarino E, Zentilin P, Mastracci L, Dulbecco P, Marabotto E, Gemignani L, Bruzzone L, de Bortoli N, Frigo AC, Fiocca R, Savarino V. Microscopic esophagitis distinguishes patients with non-erosive reflux disease from those with functional heartburn. J Gastroenterol 2013; 48: 473-482 [PMID: 23001252 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-012-0672-2]



- 10 Zhang M, Pandolfino JE, Zhou X, Tan N, Li Y, Chen M, Xiao Y. Assessing different diagnostic tests for gastroesophageal reflux disease: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Therap Adv Gastroenterol 2019; 12: 1756284819890537 [PMID: 31803253 DOI: 10.1177/1756284819890537]
- 11 Lucendo AJ, Molina-Infante J, Arias Á, von Arnim U, Bredenoord AJ, Bussmann C, Amil Dias J, Bove M, González-Cervera J, Larsson H, Miehlke S, Papadopoulou A, Rodríguez-Sánchez J, Ravelli A, Ronkainen J, Santander C, Schoepfer AM, Storr MA, Terreehorst I, Straumann A, Attwood SE. Guidelines on eosinophilic esophagitis: evidence-based statements and recommendations for diagnosis and management in children and adults. United European Gastroenterol J 2017; 5: 335-358 [PMID: 28507746 DOI: 10.1177/2050640616689525]
- Tolone S, Savarino E, Zaninotto G, Gyawali CP, Frazzoni M, de Bortoli N, Frazzoni L, Del Genio G, Bodini G, Furnari M, 12 Savarino V, Docimo L. High-resolution manometry is superior to endoscopy and radiology in assessing and grading sliding hiatal hernia: A comparison with surgical in vivo evaluation. United European Gastroenterol J 2018; 6: 981-989 [PMID: 30228885 DOI: 10.1177/2050640618769160]
- Rodríguez-de-Santiago E, Frazzoni L, Fuccio L, van Hooft JE, Ponchon T, Hassan C, Dinis-Ribeiro M. Digestive findings 13 that do not require endoscopic surveillance - Reducing the burden of care: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Position Statement. Endoscopy 2020; 52: 491-497 [PMID: 32289855 DOI: 10.1055/a-1137-4721]
- 14 ASGE Standards of Practice Committee, Muthusamy VR, Lightdale JR, Acosta RD, Chandrasekhara V, Chathadi KV, Eloubeidi MA, Fanelli RD, Fonkalsrud L, Faulx AL, Khashab MA, Saltzman JR, Shaukat A, Wang A, Cash B, DeWitt JM. The role of endoscopy in the management of GERD. Gastrointest Endosc 2015; 81: 1305-1310 [PMID: 25863867 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2015.02.021]
- de Bortoli N, Nacci A, Savarino E, Martinucci I, Bellini M, Fattori B, Ceccarelli L, Costa F, Mumolo MG, Ricchiuti A, 15 Savarino V, Berrettini S, Marchi S. How many cases of laryngopharyngeal reflux suspected by laryngoscopy are gastroesophageal reflux disease-related? World J Gastroenterol 2012; 18: 4363-4370 [PMID: 22969200 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v18.i32.4363]
- 16 Frazzoni M, Savarino E, de Bortoli N, Martinucci I, Furnari M, Frazzoni L, Mirante VG, Bertani H, Marchi S, Conigliaro R, Savarino V. Analyses of the Post-reflux Swallow-induced Peristaltic Wave Index and Nocturnal Baseline Impedance Parameters Increase the Diagnostic Yield of Impedance-pH Monitoring of Patients With Reflux Disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016; 14: 40-46 [PMID: 26122764 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2015.06.026]
- Frazzoni L, Frazzoni M, De Bortoli N, Ribolsi M, Tolone S, Russo S, Conigliaro RL, Penagini R, Fuccio L, Zagari RM, 17 Savarino E. Application of Lyon Consensus criteria for GORD diagnosis: evaluation of conventional and new impedancepH parameters. Gut 2022; 71: 1062-1067 [PMID: 34376517 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2021-325531]
- 18 Frazzoni M, Frazzoni L, Ribolsi M, Bortoli N, Tolone S, Russo S, Conigliaro R, Penagini R, Fuccio L, Zagari RM, Savarino E. Applying Lyon Consensus criteria in the work-up of patients with proton pump inhibitory-refractory heartburn. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2022; 55: 1423-1430 [PMID: 35229321 DOI: 10.1111/apt.16838]
- Rettura F, Bronzini F, Campigotto M, Lambiase C, Pancetti A, Berti G, Marchi S, de Bortoli N, Zerbib F, Savarino E, 19 Bellini M. Refractory Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease: A Management Update. Front Med (Lausanne) 2021; 8: 765061 [PMID: 34790683 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2021.765061]
- Van Soest EM, Siersema PD, Dieleman JP, Sturkenboom MC, Kuipers EJ. Persistence and adherence to proton pump 20 inhibitors in daily clinical practice. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2006; 24: 377-385 [PMID: 16842465 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2006.02982.x]
- Spechler SJ, Hunter JG, Jones KM, Lee R, Smith BR, Mashimo H, Sanchez VM, Dunbar KB, Pham TH, Murthy UK, Kim 21 T, Jackson CS, Wallen JM, von Rosenvinge EC, Pearl JP, Laine L, Kim AW, Kaz AM, Tatum RP, Gellad ZF, Lagoo-Deenadayalan S, Rubenstein JH, Ghaferi AA, Lo WK, Fernando RS, Chan BS, Paski SC, Provenzale D, Castell DO, Lieberman D, Souza RF, Chey WD, Warren SR, Davis-Karim A, Melton SD, Genta RM, Serpi T, Biswas K, Huang GD. Randomized Trial of Medical versus Surgical Treatment for Refractory Heartburn. N Engl J Med 2019; 381: 1513-1523 [PMID: 31618539 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1811424]
- 22 Eusebi LH, Ratnakumaran R, Bazzoli F, Ford AC. Prevalence of Dyspepsia in Individuals With Gastroesophageal Reflux-Type Symptoms in the Community: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 16: 39-48.e1 [PMID: 28782675 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2017.07.041]
- Simadibrata DM, Syam AF, Lee YY. A comparison of efficacy and safety of potassium-competitive acid blocker and 23 proton pump inhibitor in gastric acid-related diseases: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 37: 2217-2228 [PMID: 36181401 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.16017]



WJG

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 February 7; 29(5): 780-799

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.780

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

REVIEW

Transcriptome analysis creates a new era of precision medicine for managing recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma

Chun-Cheng Chiang, Hsuan Yeh, Siew-Na Lim, Wey-Ran Lin

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Liu L, China; Rojas A, Chile; Yang J, China

Received: October 17, 2022 Peer-review started: October 17, 2022 First decision: November 15, 2022 Revised: November 23, 2022 Accepted: January 10, 2023

Article in press: January 10, 2023 Published online: February 7, 2023



Chun-Cheng Chiang, UPMC Hillman Cancer Center, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA 15232, United States

Hsuan Yeh, School of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA 15213, United States

Siew-Na Lim, Department of Neurology, Linkou Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taoyuan 333, Taiwan

Siew-Na Lim, Wey-Ran Lin, College of Medicine, Chang Gung University, Taoyuan 333, Taiwan

Wey-Ran Lin, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Linkou Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taoyuan 333, Taiwan

Corresponding author: Wey-Ran Lin, MD, PhD, AGAF, Professor, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Linkou Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, No. 5 Fu-Shin Street, Taoyuan 333, Taiwan. t12360@adm.cgmh.org.tw

Abstract

The high incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) recurrence negatively impacts outcomes of patients treated with curative intent despite advances in surgical techniques and other locoregional liver-targeting therapies. Over the past few decades, the emergence of transcriptome analysis tools, including real-time quantitative reverse transcription PCR, microarrays, and RNA sequencing, has not only largely contributed to our knowledge about the pathogenesis of recurrent HCC but also led to the development of outcome prediction models based on differentially expressed gene signatures. In recent years, the single-cell RNA sequencing technique has revolutionized our ability to study the complicated crosstalk between cancer cells and the immune environment, which may benefit further investigations on the role of different immune cells in HCC recurrence and the identification of potential therapeutic targets. In the present article, we summarized the major findings yielded with these transcriptome methods within the framework of a causal model consisting of three domains: primary cancer cells; carcinogenic stimuli; and tumor microenvironment. We provided a comprehensive review of the insights that transcriptome analyses have provided into diagnostics, surveillance, and treatment of HCC recurrence.

Key Words: Recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma; Microarrays; RNA sequencing; Singlecell RNA sequencing; Precision medicine; Tumor heterogeneity; Tumor microenviron-



ment

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: The high incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) recurrence seriously threatens patient outcomes. This review detailed how various transcriptome profiling methods have contributed to our understanding of recurrent HCC with respect to the carcinogenicity of primary cancer cells, carcinogenic stimuli, and tumor microenvironments, which show great promise in improving the management of HCC.

Citation: Chiang CC, Yeh H, Lim SN, Lin WR. Transcriptome analysis creates a new era of precision medicine for managing recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(5): 780-799 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i5/780.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.780

INTRODUCTION

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) accounts for 75%-85% of primary liver cancer caused by chronic liver injury[1]. The advance in surgical techniques and locoregional liver-directed therapies contributes to the prognosis of patients suffering from early HCC. However, high-relapse HCC remains a serious burden to patients treated with curative intent, as the annual recurrence rate of HCC following surgery is 50%-70% within 5 years[2-4]. Although recent progress in systemic treatments has led to the modification of treatment strategy for intermediate to advanced HCC^[5], early detection of HCC recurrence can provide patients with more treatment options. It is therefore imperative to identify susceptible patients and offer regular monitoring.

Traditionally, post-treatment surveillance of HCC utilized periodic cross-sectional imaging and tumor markers for patient follow-up[6]. The major aim of post-treatment surveillance is early identification of diseases that might be amenable to subsequent local therapy[7]. However, multiphase, contrast-enhanced computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging suffer from low per-lesion sensitivity[8], difficulty in assessing small HCCs[9], and post-locoregional therapy lesions[10,11]. Ancillary methods like alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) and des-gamma-carboxy prothrombin likewise suffer from high false positive and false negative results[12,13]. The imperfection of early HCC recurrence detection urges the need to seek a more reliable armamentarium.

In addition, owing to the inclination to the multifocal occurrence of HCC, it is often challenging to decipher whether the lesions observed after curative liver resection arise from primary HCC or multicentric origin. Differentiation of the two types of multifocal lesions is necessary since their distinct mechanisms may have different effects on the response to treatment[14,15]. Some researchers attempt to distinguish the two conditions based on temporality of tumor occurrence. Early intrahepatic recurrence (IHR), defined as recurrent tumors detected within fewer than 2 years after surgery, has been attributed to residual lesions or intrahepatic micrometastasis from the initial tumor, while late (more than 2 years after surgery) IHR is largely considered a newly developed primary lesion[16,17]. However, such a definition has limited diagnostic accuracy and has not been validated [14,18].

Early studies have analyzed the clonality of multiple HCCs by assessing DNA ploidy, hepatitis B virus (HBV) integration sites, or microsatellite aberration mainly involving loss of heterozygosity and copy number variations (CNV)[19]. The heterogeneity not only exists among multifocal tumors but has also been found within a single lesion[20]. The molecular technologies that have been utilized for these approaches, such as DNA fingerprinting and whole-exome sequencing, are beyond the scope of this review and therefore will not be discussed further. We aimed to emphasize the complexity and heterogeneity behind recurrence widely seen in clinical practice.

The incidence of IHR of HCC after curative resection may be influenced by central factors including the specifics or clonality of primary tumor cells, the microenvironment that offers a susceptible niche for tumor cells to metastasize, and the existence of distinct carcinogens^[21,22]. Reviewing past literature, we propose a model of three causations to illustrate the interplay between the factors that determine the recurrence of HCC, analogous to the well-known epidemiologic triangle for infectious disease (Figure 1). The recurrence of HCC results from interactions between primary cancer cells, the tumor microenvironment, and carcinogenic stimuli.

In recent years, transcriptome analysis emerged as a powerful tool to investigate the expression of disease phenotype and its association with genotype[23-25]. The evolution of bench work and laboratory equipment enables assays to be more efficient, enjoy higher throughput, and be more costeffective. Such advances in molecular biological technology have facilitated the investigation of three causative domains of HCC recurrence described above and yielded abundant results. In the current







review, we focused on describing the role of transcriptome analyses, including real-time quantitative reverse transcription (RT-q) PCR, microarrays, and RNA sequencing (RNA-seq), as well as the rapidly evolving single-cell transcriptome analysis, among the latest work on this topic. We summarized the major findings of studies that may provide us with a clearer picture of HCC recurrence and give us insight into potential diagnostic targets as well as therapeutic strategies.

QUANTITATIVE RT-QPCR ANALYSIS OF RECURRENT HCC

Kary Mullis invented PCR in 1984. Russel Higuchi and colleagues later exploited fluorescence technology, making it possible to monitor PCR results using fluorescent probes [26,27]. These advances, combined with reverse transcriptase, which had been discovered earlier in 1970, brought about the development of RT-qPCR[28]. Since the late 1990s, RT-qPCR has been widely utilized in the exploration of differential gene expression (DGE) in various diseases, including HCC.

Several studies have utilized RT-qPCR to analyze the DGE in HCC recurrence. To clarify the genes responsible for the hematogenous spreading of HCC cells, one study measuring the expression of matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP9) and vascular endothelial growth factor in pairs of non-tumor and tumor samples with RT-qPCR found that the expression of MMP9 in tumors was related to recurrence, while the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor was not. The same study also examined AFP mRNA in blood samples and found that the level was associated with recurrence and could serve as a predictor of recurrence or metastasis of HCC[29]. Similarly, another study reported that the mRNA level of AFP in peripheral blood samples significantly correlated with postoperative extrahepatic metastasis and disease-free survival[30].

In RT-qPCR, the quantification of complementary DNA (cDNA) from genes of interest is typically compared to that of reference genes, also called housekeeping genes, to allow the normalization of differences seen in different samples. Common reference genes include beta-actin (ACTB), beta-2microglobulin, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase 1, and TATA box binding protein[31]. A suitable reference gene must have stable expression across different conditions of samples. It is noteworthy that both ACTB and GAPDH, two commonly used reference genes, have been reported to be highly expressed in HCC when compared with nontumor tissues[32], while TATA box binding protein and hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase 1 were reported to be more suitable reference genes in HCC[33]. However, many currently available data with detection of significant DGE of HCC still used ACTB and GAPDH as reference genes[34,35], and whether the two genes are reliable for RT-qPCR normalization in HCC specimens requires more investigation.

The step of cDNA amplification endows RT-qPCR with a wide dynamic window and relatively high sensitivity to detect genes expressed with low abundance such as cytokines, and RT-qPCR is regarded as the "gold standard" of transcriptome analysis[36]. However, RT-qPCR also carries several limitations. Technically, various factors may impact the amplification and cause deviation from the ideal mathematical model of PCR, including the RNA quality, the efficiency of RNA-to-cDNA conversion, the primer quality, operator technique, as well as the "Monte Carlo" effect, an inherently and unavoidably high variance in the results from PCR reactions with a low starting template concentration [37]. In terms of its application in transcriptome analysis of clinical diseases, it is relatively low-throughput and can only

test a limited number of genes of interest with known sequences[38].

These limitations largely confine its ability to discover novel DGE of disease status. Only when researchers already know which "suspect" genes or pathways to target can RT-qPCR efficiently identify the disease-related DGE. Without predefined genes of interest and sufficient biological plausibility, it is challenging to identify novel disease-specific DGE solely with RT-qPCR. To achieve the prospective profiling of the transcriptome of HCC and recurrence, a more high-throughput technology that is capable of screening massive numbers of genes with various degrees of probability to have a diseasespecific expression in parallel is needed. Thus, in the research of HCC, RT-qPCR is mainly used as a validation tool to confirm the DGE identified by two other technologies that emerged later on: microarrays and RNA-seq. These two research tools have yielded abundant results in all three aspects of HCC recurrence in the causal model we propose (Figure 1).

MICROARRAY ANALYSIS OF RECURRENT HCC

First developed by Schena et al[39] at Stanford University in 1995, microarrays have been widely applied in medical research as a high-throughput tool to reveal gene expression in disease status[39]. Microarrays can be divided into two main categories: cDNA microarrays and oligonucleotide microarrays. The surfacing of commercial platforms, such as Human UniGene Set RZPD 1 clone set for cDNA microarrays and Affymetrix Human Genome U95Av2 array for oligonucleotide arrays, have made the technology for both types of arrays widely accessible^[40]. Additionally, the oligonucleotide microarrays have further been developed to identify single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP), named SNP arrays, in which the probes designed for harboring the SNP positions are hybridized with fragmented DNA molecules to examine the specific alleles of all SNPs[41]. The advance in microarray technology allows researchers to screen tens of thousands of RNA transcripts simultaneously and makes it possible to identify new genes with DGE related to diseases or specific pathophysiological conditions of interest. In addition to its high-throughput applicability, it has other major advantages including the wide availability of uncomplicated bioinformatics tools, more manageable data, and relatively low cost[38].

Microarray analysis has long played a central role in the field of HCC research. Iizuka *et al*[18] conducted a comprehensive review of the abundant data yielded with this revolutionizing technology [18], in which the authors classified the microarray-based approaches into three groups based on the distinct objectives of the studies, class comparison, class discovery, and class prediction, as proposed by Simon *et al*[42]. Such classification, however, was mainly according to study methodologies but hardly compared findings in the context of biological mechanisms and pathogenesis of HCC. To organize the diverse findings of microarray analyses in an integrated manner and to provide insights with pathobiological plausibility, we summarized the currently available data within the framework of our causal model of HCC, including the carcinogenic profile of primary cancer cells, carcinogenic stimuli, and the tumor microenvironment, in the following paragraphs.

Carcinogenicity of primary HCC cells

Lau et al[32] utilized cDNA microarrays to analyze the differential expression of mRNA of 4000 genes in paired HCC and noncancerous tissues[32]. They found that 211 genes were upregulated while 147 genes were downregulated, of which six genes were highly expressed and ten genes were downregulated in more than 30% of pairs. This was the first time when microarray technology was used in humans. Subsequently, either cDNA or oligonucleotide microarray studies, targeting either cell lines or patientderived samples, have been widely conducted to discover the DGE related to the carcinogenic profile of primary HCC cells. The differentially expressed genes that have been identified include those associated with cell-cell interaction[43,44], transcription factors[18,43,45,46], apoptosis[43,45,47], cytokines[43,45], growth factors and/or growth suppression signals [43,45,48,49], cell proliferation [44,45,47,49,50], the cell cycle[43,45,49], tissue-specific expression proteins related to cell differentiation and development[45, 51], metabolism[49], angiogenesis[43,45,49], and stress-related response[35,50]. With the maturity and extensive application of microarrays, researchers further exploit this powerful technology to identify genes associated with HCC progression and prognosis. For instance, one study found that the upregulation of ADAR, PSMD4, D9SVA, CCT3, GBAP, RDBP, and CSRP2 with downregulation of IL7R were associated with dedifferentiation of HCC[52]. Other studies focusing on metastasis and rapid progression of HCC identified differential expression in vimentin^[53], granulin-epithelin precursor^[54], ephrin-A1[53], and N-Myc downregulated gene 1[55].

It has also been widely known that differential expression of certain genes in primary cancer cells is associated with early recurrence. One study identified the expression profile of claudin-10, along with the pathological tumor-node-metastasis (pTNM) stage, to be independent predictors for HCC recurrence, and the results were validated with RT-qPCR[56]. Another study compared DGE of patients with recurrence vs those without, and it was found that four HLA genes (HLA-DRA, HLA-DRB1, HLA-DG, and HLA-DQA) encoding major histocompatibility complex class II antigens had significantly lower expression in the early IHR group[57]. Furthermore, while the DGE detected by microarrays and RT-



qPCR, as well as pathological tumor-node-metastasis stage and venous invasion were all found to be associated with early IHR in the univariate association study, the multivariate study only identified DGE of HLA as an independent predictor for early IHR. lizuka et al[58] compared the gene expression of tumor cells between patient groups with and without recurrence and found that cell adhesion-related genes, including *ITGA6* and *SPP1*, had higher expression levels in HCC with early IHR[58].

Given that portal vein invasion (PVI) is known as a major prognostic factor of HCC recurrence [16,59-61], many studies used microarrays to identify the DGE related to PVI. One study found that cell growth-related genes TAF4B, SLC4A7, RAB38, and RYR1 were associated with PVI[62]. Another study discovered that upregulation of MMP14 and downregulation of two cytochrome P450 enzyme (CYP) genes, ADAMTS1, and ITGA7 were associated with PVI[63,64]. Moreover, one study identified DGE of 110 sequence tags, RHOC, and two small GTPase-related genes (ARHGAP8 and ARHGEF6) to be PVIassociated [63,64]. Lastly, one of the studies listed above successfully used PVI-associated DGE data from the microarray analysis to predict recurrence after surgical resection of HCC[62]. Although not directly analyzing recurrence-associated DGE, these studies offered abundant insight into the carcinogenicity of primary cancer cells defined by PVI.

Knowledge established by microarray studies has commonly been combined and applied to predict the recurrence and outcome of HCC. A data mining study examining the DGE between patients with IHR and those without recurrence based on pre-existing microarray databases generated one set of four differentially expressed genes (STC1, FOXK2, MMP1, and LOXL2) that promoted either cell cycle advancement or histone modulation could predict the incidence of early recurrence[65]. Another study conducting microarray analysis in human primary HCC tumors developed a 172-gene molecular prediction system for early IHR and tested its performance in independent cases[66]. The value of the predictive system was found to be a significant prognostic factor according to multivariate Cox regression analysis. Thus, DGE related to early IHR can be designed to predict clinical outcomes.

In summary, identification of DGE using microarrays, either by directly comparing recurrence with non-recurrence groups or indirectly looking at surrogate predictors such as PVI, enables us to clarify the carcinogenicity and the propensity of recurrence in primary HCC.

Carcinogenic stimuli

Clinical association studies have identified various risk factors of HCC. Common risk factors for HCC include HBV and hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection, cirrhosis, alcoholic liver disease, and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Less common risk factors include exposure to environmental toxins, Wilson's disease, hereditary hemochromatosis, alpha1-antitrypsin deficiency, primary biliary cholangitis, and autoimmune hepatitis[67]. In addition to the carcinogenicity of the primary HCC cells, these carcinogenic factors also play a decisive role in the development and recurrence of HCC. Microarray studies with clustering analysis based on some of these clinicopathological features have been widely performed to provide information about how risk factors contribute to HCC at a molecular level, with the greatest proportion of data coming from studies related to viral hepatitis.

Some studies compared the DGE of HCC cells to that of noncancerous liver tissues in HBV-positive and HCV-positive groups [67,68]. One study directly used oligonucleotide microarrays to compare transcriptomes in HBV-associated vs HCV-associated HCC, finding DGE in 83 genes, of which 31 and 52 genes showed increased expression in HBV and HCV-associated HCC, respectively [69]. The genes with DGE found in HBV-positive HCC mainly involved imprinted genes and genes associated with signal transduction, transcription, and metastasis, while in HCV-positive HCC the DGE was mainly found in genes related to detoxification or immune response. Such findings highlight the distinct mechanisms of viral carcinogenesis.

Another study used cassette ligation-mediated PCR to identify the human genome sequence next to the HBV DNA integration site and then conducted a microarray experiment to directly measure the characteristic expression of the affected genes [70]. In addition to viral hepatitis, certain toxins are also known as carcinogenic in favor of HCC, and microarray technology has been utilized to predict the carcinogenicity of chemicals by analyzing changes in gene expression in animal or cell culture models [71,72]

Finally, cirrhosis of any etiology is a major risk factor in the development of HCC. One study compared the gene expression profiles between HCC in patients with cirrhosis and without cirrhosis and identified several genes related to the regulation of inflammation, growth, and invasion of precancerous cells in cirrhotic liver, including C-C motif chemokine receptor and ligand (CCR7 and CCL5), C-X-C motif chemokine ligand, and cytochrome P450 enzymes (CYP2E1, CYP2C9, and CYP2A6)[73].

In terms of recurrence, Kim et al^[74] developed a risk scoring system with DGE of 65 genes identified with microarrays analyzing primary tumor cells in HBV-positive HCC patients and validated this system in another group of patients, finding that the classifiers successfully predicted early recurrence but failed to predict late recurrence^[74]. The same author group further tried another approach by conducting a systemic analysis of gene expression from non-cancerous human liver tissue undergoing hepatic injury and regeneration. They identified a 233-gene signature that was significantly associated with late recurrence of HCC and validated the system in HBV-positive HCC patients who had received curative surgical treatment [75]. Network analysis of the gene signature identified signal transducer and activator of transcription 3/Notch signaling activation to be significantly related to late recurrence of



HCC. With prediction using microarray and multivariate logistic regression analysis, the authors scaled down the system to a four-gene (RALGDS, IER3, CEBPD, and SLC2A3) model that could successfully predict HCC recurrence. Interestingly, different models targeting cancerous or non-cancerous tissues could predict early and late recurrence of HCC, respectively, which may reflect the distinctive pathogenesis behind early and late recurrence of HCC in HBV-positive individuals.

Similarly, the recurrence of HCV-positive HCC has also been well studied. One study compared the DGE of noncancerous liver tissues from HCV-positive HCC patients with single nodular HCC recurrence and multicentric recurrence. Next, the authors developed a predictive system based on DGE in 36 genes, which was validated to successfully predict multicentric recurrence[76]. Also targeting HCV-positive HCC, another study found that the DGE profile observed in primary HCC biopsy or explant could not predict recurrence-free survival, while those yielded from noncancerous tissues could [77,78], which agreed with other studies on HBV-positive HCC[74,75]. Therefore, regardless of HBV or HCV-positive HCC, late recurrence was more likely to originate from a new clone of cells rather than the original HCC cells.

Another study focusing on genes associated with recurrence of HCC in HCV-positive patients awaiting liver transplantation identified the DGE profile of genes related to viral response as well as transcriptional network regulated by interferons, specifically interferon- α/β -inducible genes (signal transducer and activator of transcription 1, OAS1, and MX1), to be associated with recurrence-free survival^[78]. The study also found that *FAIM3*, an anti-apoptotic gene, and *USP18*, a gene encoding an enzyme of the deubiquitinating protease family, were overexpressed in patients with recurrent HCC. Collectively, these studies exemplified how microarrays contribute to our understanding of carcinogenic stimuli in HCC recurrence.

Tumor microenvironment

Compared to the other two components in our causal model of HCC recurrence, microarray-based studies focusing on the tumor microenvironment and surrounding tissue suffer from less available data. This may be due to the limited ability of microarrays, as one of the "bulk" transcriptome analysis methods, to reveal the status of an individual cell. However, we found one study using cDNA microarrays to compare the gene expression profiles of noncancerous peripheral tissue from two HCC patient groups: those with primary HCC and venous metastases or confirmed extrahepatic metastases by follow-up, termed metastasis-inclined microenvironment samples; and those with HCC without detectable metastases, termed metastasis-averse microenvironment^[79]. The authors found DGE in HLA-DPA1, HLA-DRA (antigen-presenting dendritic cells, B cells, epithelial cells), PRG1, and ANXA1 to be associated with a metastatic phenotype, reflecting a T helper 2-predominant, anti-inflammatory cytokine profile, for which CSF1 may be responsible. Interestingly, the increased expression of HLA-DRA in surrounding noncancerous tissue, as observed in this study, contrasts with one of the studies we cited above in which HLA-DRA genes showed lower expression in tumors[57]. The spatial distribution, migration of immune cells, and dynamic nature of the microenvironment may serve as plausible reasons for the discrepancy.

RNA-SEQ ANALYSIS OF RECURRENT HCC

Although microarray technology allows simultaneous measurement of numerous genes in one sample, it still has major drawbacks such as the limited dynamic range, high background noise, and an inability to detect novel transcripts. The advent of next-generation sequencing technology gave rise to a new technology, RNA-seq, that can address these limitations.

In 2008, RNA-seq was initially described by Nagalakshmi et al[80] as a new quantitative sequencebased method to map transcribed regions of the yeast genome[80]. Compared to microarray-based methods, RNA-seq enjoys higher genome coverage and better profiling of dynamic transcriptomes, providing information about alternative splicing, allele-specific expression, non-coding RNA, and SNPs. Unlike RT-qPCR and microarrays, which are largely limited by the requirement for a priori knowledge of the sequences being interrogated, RNA-seq is exclusively competent to discover novel transcripts [81]. As a result, despite disadvantages such as higher cost and large dataset generation, RNA-seq has been replacing microarrays over the past decade for transcriptome analyses in basic and translational research[82]. A comparison of RT-qPCR, microarrays, and RNA-seq are summarized in Table 1. The typical workflow for RNA-seq and microarray analysis in HCC translational research is illustrated in Figure 2.

Carcinogenicity of primary HCC Cells

RNA-seq enables us to identify specific DGE and expand our knowledge of the pathogenesis of HCC. One study performed pairwise DGE analysis between HCC and non-HCC tissues, finding upregulation of oxidative phosphorylation and higher expression of associated DNA damage-related signals in HCC compared to non-HCC samples. These findings suggest development of HCC may result from oxidative stress generated from overactive oxidative phosphorylation[83]. Another study analyzing poorly differ-



Table 1 Comparisons of real-time quantitative reverse transcription PCR, microarrays, and RNA-sequencing and their applications in hepatocellular carcinoma recurrence

	RT-qPCR	Microarrays	RNA-seq
Basic steps	RNA isolation, genome DNA removal	RNA isolation, mRNA extraction	RNA isolation, mRNA extraction
	cDNA preparation with RT	cDNA library preparation	Quality and quantity check
	Use of primers for amplification	Labeling with fluorescence	cDNA library preparation
	Data analysis	Hybridization with transcript probes on slides	Sequencing
		Scanning	Data analysis
		Image processing and data analysis	Validation
		Validation	
Throughput	Low	High	High
Dynamic range/sensitivity	Widest/high	Narrow/low	Wide (compared to microarrays)/high
Need for reference genome	No	No	Yes
Known sequences of genes of interest	Required	Required	Not required
Cost	Low	Low	High
Advantages	Low cost, simple	High throughput	Ability to detect novel differential transcripts
	Highest dynamic range	Relatively low cost	Splice junctions, SNP, non-coding RNA
	Gold standard	Good bioinformatics and statistical practices	
Downsides	Dependence on pre-existing	Difficulty to detect novel transcripts, non-	Large data storage
	interest	natures of transcriptome	High cost
	Low throughput		
		Need for designing probes	
		Low dynamic range	
Applications and main achievements in HCC recurrence-related research	Commonly used as a validation tool for confirming DGE results yielded from other high throughput analyses[56]	Providing abundant information on carcinogenicity of primary HCC cells and carcinogenic stimuli; laid the foundation for our current understanding of the pathogenesis of HCC recurrence[18]	Prospectively discovering DGE as potential novel classifiers for the carcinogenic profile of recurrent HCC cells; elucidating how HBV triggers HCC recurrence by interrupting the human genome[92,94,96]

cDNA: Complementary DNA; DGE: Differential gene expression; HBV: Hepatitis B virus; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; RNA-seq: RNA-sequencing; RT: Reverse transcription; RT-q: Real-time quantitative reverse transcription; SNP: Single nucleotide polymorphism.

> entiated, moderately differentiated, and well-differentiated HCC with RNA-seq found DGE in poorly differentiated HCC to be mostly associated with cell metabolism, cell cycle, translation, and blood coagulation, of which the upregulation of NOVA1, NSMCE2, and KIAA0196 and downregulation of AQP9 were validated with RT-qPCR[84].

> Since RNA-seq has a greater dynamic range and is more capable of detecting genes expressed with low abundance, another study analyzed blood samples taken from HCC and non-HCC patients in which the authors first identified 1578 dysregulated genes with RNA-seq and then validated them with RT-qPCR. Six genes (SELENBP1, SLC4A1, SLC26A8, HSPA8P4, CALM1, and RPL7p24) were differentially expressed, and the CALM1 expression level was found to decrease along with tumor enlargement and thus had potential as a novel biomarker for tracking HCC[85]. While RT-qPCR also has a wide dynamic window and has been used to analyze peripheral blood during diagnosis[29,30], the ability of RNA-seq to scan many genes at a whole-genome scale makes the identification of candidate biomarkers more efficient. Moreover, RNA-seq is exclusively capable of analyzing non-coding RNA and has been utilized to identify long non-coding RNA (lncRNA) as well as small nucleolar RNA host genes. For instance, SNHG4, which is involved in the regulation of ribosomal RNA synthesis, RNA processing, and surveillance pathway, was found to be closely related to the tumorigenesis of HCC[86]. These studies





DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.780 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Typical workflow of bulk transcriptome analysis in translational hepatocellular carcinoma research. The figure was created with BioRender.com. DGE: Differential gene expression; RNA-seq: RNA-sequencing; RT-q: Real-time quantitative reverse transcription.

exemplified the unique advantages of RNA-seq in discovering cancer mechanisms.

RNA-seq has also been used to analyze the carcinogenicity of HCC cells specifically related to recurrence. One study performing transcriptome analysis of 128 post-liver transplant HCC recurrence tissue samples found that the DGE was mainly found in genes involved in DNA synthesis, chromatin segregation, and mitosis, which might facilitate DNA replication and the growth of cancer cells^[87]. The authors also performed mutation analysis in this study. Interestingly, the expression of some wellknown mutations previously identified in HCC, such as p53, beta-catenin 1, and telomerase reverse transcriptase, did not appear to be significantly associated with HCC recurrence or prognosis. One explanation the authors proposed was that tumors recur after circulating HCC cells present at the time of transplantation traverse through the circulation, survive the turbulent flow environment, proceed through the pulmonary circulation, and finally seed themselves within the new liver. Another possible explanation is that recurrence is influenced by a complex interplay between primary cancer cells and "extratumoral" factors such as neurotransmitters, metabolism, or other constituents. This explanation is consistent with previous results from microarray studies finding that DGE of primary tumor cells failed to predict later recurrence [74,78].

Exploiting the merits of RNA-seq for detecting SNP and CNV, one study comparing liver gene expression in transplant patients with and without recurrence found glutathione S-transferase A2 (GSTA2) expression to be associated with early phase systemic injury and reactive oxygen species levels. Moreover, GSTA2 could serve as a predictor of recurrence. Further, the authors identified that the G335C SNP of the GSTA2 coding sequence, corresponding to an S112T amino acid substitution, was associated with HCC recurrence and survival [88]. Another study analyzing pairwise DGE analysis between primary and recurrent HCC found SNP variants of GOLGB1 and SF3B3 to be significantly related to more aggressive phenotypes[89].

Over the past decade, the popularity of high-throughput sequencing technology has not only made RNA-seq widely available but also brought about a publicly accessible comprehensive repository for genome-wide gene expression data such as the Gene Expression Omnibus and ArrayExpress. The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) collects the results of cancer-related research, and mining of these shared databases provides insights by integrating results from different studies[90]. For example, Wang et al [91] identified a 77-gene signature associated with early HCC recurrence by conducting microarray experiments and cross-referencing the results with RNA-seq data from TCGA[91]. Combining data from

an ensemble of transcriptome profiling tools enables researchers to validate and complement results.

Carcinogenic stimuli

Thanks to its ability to capture the dynamic nature of transcriptome profiles, RNA-seq offers a unique advantage in investigating how carcinogenic factors alter transcriptome patterns in HCC development. It is known that HBV DNA can be integrated into the human genome and may result in somatic mutations[92]. One study found DGE of ten matched pairs in HBV-related HCC and non-HCC tissues to be mostly related to cell growth, metabolism, and immune-related pathways, which were significantly enriched at 8q21.3-24.3[93]. Moreover, the authors found a highly upregulated exon-exon junction at the ATAD2 gene, an important protein that acts as a cofactor for Myc proteins, androgen receptor, and estrogen receptor-alpha. Also using RNA-seq, another study identified contrasting genomic and transcriptomic alterations such as HBV integration, somatic mutation, and CNV by comparing tumor with non-tumor samples[94]. For nonviral carcinogenic factors, one study identified 747 mRNAs and 8 IncRNAs with DGE between HCC and non-HCC cirrhotic tissues, narrowing down the results to 15 hub genes based on an association study with AFP levels in blood samples. Of these, SPX, AFP, and ADGRE1 were validated in an independent HCC cohort[95].

With respect to recurrence, one study performed RNA-seq in HBV-related HCC patients to compare tumor and non-tumor tissues with various degrees of fibrosis[96]. HBV host genes overlapped with pathogenic SNPs in tumor suppressor genes of non-tumor tissues. Overlap was more significant in nontumor tissues among recurrent cases, suggesting that tumor recurrence was highly associated with the integration of HBV genomes into precancerous tumor suppressor genes. Additionally, the difference in pathogenic SNP count between recurrent and non-recurrent patients was much larger in the low fibrosis group compared to the high fibrosis group, indicating that different recurrence risk models are needed for patients with low and high fibrosis. Taken together, these studies show the strength of RNA-seq in investigating the molecular genetic basis of HCC recurrence.

Tumor microenvironment

In addition to primary tumor cells and carcinogenic stimulus, researchers use this powerful tool to investigate the impacts of tumor microenvironment on recurrence. One study performing RNA-seq to analyze DGE between HCC tumors and surrounding cirrhotic tissue showed a gradual suppression of local tumor immunity coinciding with disease progression. In addition, the authors divided tumors into T cell-infiltrated and T cell-excluded based on the localization of CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes visualized by immunohistochemistry staining and performed RNA-seq to examine the DGE between two groups. Twenty-three identified genes were associated with fibrosis and potentially modulated by transforming growth factor beta, platelet-derived growth factors, sonic hedgehog protein, or Notch pathways[97]. Given the emerging evidence suggesting that lncRNAs participate in cancer immunity, another study used RNA-seq to look at immune-related lncRNAs and related mechanisms from the TCGA database, identifying nine immune-related lncRNAs associated with HCC recurrence via Cox regression analysis [98]. The authors also created a recurrence prediction model based on their findings that was validated in an independent patient cohort.

The literature reviewed above shows how RNA-seq could be used to reveal molecular features of tumor immune biology in HCC progression and recurrence. However, most of the studies are limited to the discovery of DGE in bulk tissue samples, which may not be able to reflect the highly complicated tumor milieu and immune diversity. Although one study did consider tissue compartmentalization and tried to cluster cell populations to correlate DGE results with histology and immunohistochemistry staining[97], the approach was inefficient. The advent of single-cell RNA-seq (scRNA-seq) could address this issue and has improved our understanding of transcriptomes during cell-cell interaction. ScRNAseq holds particular promise in research focusing on the tumor microenvironment, as described in the next section.

SINGLE-CELL TRANSCRIPTOME ANALYSIS OF RECURRENT HCC

Conventional bulk RNA-seq inherits the drawback of "averaging out" the data and does not have adequate resolution to delineate cell trajectory and cell-cell interactions. However, HCC is a heterogeneous disease with complex etiologies and tumor milieu [99,100]. There is thus a need to study the heterogeneity of tumoral cells and their ecosystem, particularly the immune cells.

To achieve a high resolution of cell subpopulations in malignant tissue, various single-cell isolation techniques have been developed. Generally, the isolation methods can be categorized into either cell marker-based selection or size-based selection, including fluorescence-activated cell sorting, laser microdissection, manual cell picking, serial dilution, magnetic-activated cell sorting, microfluidics, and CellSearch system[101,102]. When combining single-cell isolation with sequencing techniques, these technologies become promising tools to study intertumoral and intratumoral heterogeneity both spatially and temporally. Since mRNA transcriptome sequencing in a single cell was first reported in 2009[103], advances in sequencing techniques and single-cell selection methods have driven different



applications in the field of cancer biology. In recent years, droplet-based systems for high-throughput scRNA-seq such as inDrop, Drop-Seq, and 10X Genomics[104] have gained attention. Although previous studies used them to profile early HCC and its tumor microenvironment[105-107], studies for recurrent HCC are still limited.

Tumor heterogeneity, including intertumor and intratumor heterogeneity, is responsible for the recurrence of HCC[108]. Previously, researchers stressed the genomic profiling and molecular subclassification of intertumor heterogeneity[109-111]. Nevertheless, cancer cell adaptation, drug resistance, and tumor microenvironment are more closely related to intratumor heterogeneity [108]. To correlate the gene expression landscape of intratumor heterogeneity with HCC patient outcome, Losic et al[112] characterized a gene signature composed of 363 genes in the TCGA-HCC database[112]. The gene signature was associated with worse survival and was able to compete with other pre-existing singlebiopsy prognostic signatures. The gene signature was also correlated with early tumor recurrence in the Heptromic Cohort as well as with higher levels of the prognostic biomarker AFP. At the single-cell level, the authors found transcriptional factor heterogeneity in the gene regulatory network by analyzing cisregulatory sequence motifs from seven different locations in two HCC patients.

Another study found cellular heterogeneity in primary tumors similar to portal vein tumor thrombus and metastatic lymph nodes via scRNA-seq[113]. Additionally, authors focused on intratumoral T cells, in which they found CD8+ T cell clusters to be more enriched in HBV/HCV-related tumors compared to HBV/HCV-unrelated HCCs, concluding that chronic HBV/HCV infection may lead to CD8+ T cell exhaustion in HCC tumors. This phenomenon reflects the immune checkpoint blockade efficacy of viralassociated HCC in clinical scenarios, as the high checkpoint blockade response rate is related to CD8+ T cell density and programmed cell death protein 1 expression[114-116]. Furthermore, the authors found ligands highly expressed in protumorigenic and prometastatic hepatocytes related to inflammation (e.g., C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 10/CXCR3) and immunosuppression (e.g., macrophage-migration inhibitory factor/CD74), respectively. Distinct functions among malignant hepatocytes shape the immune microenvironment of HCC and provide hints to both tumor progression and immunotherapy.

Tumor recurrence and treatment resistance are partially determined by cancer stem-like cells (CSCs), which consist of a special subset of cells with stemness features and dictate cellular hierarchy and traits of dormancy and plasticity[117-119]. In a previous study, Zheng et al[120] combined transcriptome and functional analysis of HCC cells at the single-cell level to assess the degree of CSC heterogeneity as well as relationship to patient prognosis^[120]. Discrete CSC subpopulations identified using single-cell surface markers all had a higher self-renewal ability compared to marker-negative cells but demonstrated appreciable biological differences in cell division and response to hypoxic stress in between. In addition, the authors found a 286-gene signature linked to CD133 and epithelial cellular adhesion molecule (EpCAM) are independent predictors of HCC patient survival. Moreover, HCC CSCs display an altered pattern of self-renewal heterogeneity when cultured under normoxia or hypoxia, suggesting a biological plasticity to these cells. Another article utilized scRNA-seq to identify two main HCC populations characterized by differential EpCAM expression[121]. Notably, a CD24+CD44+enriched subclone within the EpCAM+ population exhibited a specific oncogenic expression signature and indicated the stemness of HCC. These findings were further confirmed by in vitro knockdown and in vivo tumorigenicity studies.

Sun et al[122] combined RNA-seq with single-cell profiling in paired samples from tumor and nontumor regions of primary or recurrent HCC to unveil the unique immune ecosystem of recurrent HCC. The authors observed decreased regulatory T cells (Treg) and T cell proliferation with an increased proportion of CD8+ T cells and dendritic cells[122]. In addition, the authors concluded that CD8+ T cells in primary tumor and recurrent tumor samples showed the same transition trajectories but displayed considerably different immune and transcriptional states, suggesting that different immune therapy strategies should be considered for the treatment of primary and recurrent HCC. Specifically, CD8+ T cells in recurrent tumor samples, characterized by overexpression of KLRB1, revealed an innate dysfunctional state with low cytotoxicity and immunosuppressive phenotypes, which differed from the exhaustion state observed in primary tumor samples. The authors thus provided a model in which CD8+ T cell clones reside in a low proliferative and unresponsive state in the recurrent tumor due in part to tumor selection, suggesting that those cells are unable to recognize and eliminate recurrent tumor cells displaying subclonal neoantigens. In summary, data from this study indicated that malignant cells in the recurrent tumor demonstrated strengthened immune evasion capacities and reduced immune cell proliferation. Recurrent malignant cells could impair antigen presentation in dendritic cells via the programmed death-ligand 1-CD80 and cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated protein 4-CD80 axes. Malignant cells may also recruit innate-like CD161+ CD8+ T cells via the CCL20-CCR6 axis, which could compromise anti-tumor immunity in early-relapse HCC.

Differentially expressed genes and pathway enrichment found in single-cell transcriptomes can be further applied to discover candidate drugs for the prevention of HCC recurrence as well as to the study of immune cell-cell communication. To predict the disease-free survival time and postoperative recurrence of HCC, Fu and Lei[123] constructed a risk score based on three immune cell types (effector memory CD8+ T cells, Treg cells, and follicular helper T cells) from the TCGA-HCC database called the T cell risk score[123]. Next, the authors used scRNA-seq data from 12 primary and 6 relapsed HCC samples to identify 645 genes with differential expression in three T cell types. After survival analysis,



the authors established a gene risk score by 15 prognostic genes (AP000866.1, ATIC, CAPN10, EDC3, EID3, NCKIPSD, OXLD1, PHOSPHO2, POLE2, POLR3G, SEPHS1, SRXN1, TIMM9, ZNF487, and ZSCAN9), which showed consistency with the T cell risk score in disease-free survival and immune characteristics. The results indicated these 15 hub genes may play a role in the process of immune cells affecting disease-free survival.

Subsequently, these hub genes were screened with CellMiner, a web tool based on the NCI-60 cell line set for identifying potential therapeutic drugs[124]. Pearson correlations between the 15 hub genes and the half-maximal inhibitory concentration of targeted drugs were analyzed, and the studies suggested that postoperative treatment of these drugs, such as imexon, irofulven, and nelarabine, may delay HCC recurrence. Moreover, the authors explored immune cell-cell interactions, finding the strongest communication among these three cell types was from effector memory CD8+ T cells to themselves via the granzyme A-coagulation factor 2 receptor signaling pathway as well as effector memory CD8+ T cells to follicular helper T cells and Treg cells via the CCL5-CCR4 signaling pathway. These findings illuminate crosstalk among such cell types, which is beneficial in future investigation of effector memory CD8+ T cells, Treg cells, and follicular helper T cells in disease-free survival time and recurrence prevention for patients with HCC.

LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The current healthcare system is transitioning from the time of evidence medicine towards the era of precision medicine. The omics technologies are evolving quickly and have built up tremendous results. Admittedly, there is still a gap to be bridged between the bench and bedside for translating these technologies.

First, the development of other levels of omics research (e.g., epigenetics, proteomics, and metabolomics) expands cancer research including HCC to a multitude of data. How to incorporate and harness this huge amount of information and confirm its clinical importance (and not just an association) remains a challenge. With the advancement of computing power and artificial intelligence, we have the opportunity to store data and deal with multi-omics in parallel. Researchers can thereby extract significant data, confirm it with mechanistic studies in the laboratory, and translate it into clinical trials.

Second, studies showed that physicians who had lower confidence in genomic or transcriptomic technologies would like to ask for guidelines or training support[125-127]. To popularize transcriptome analysis into clinical practice, we require more physicians who understand the concepts of both omics technologies and tumor biology to stand out. Thus, we can improve medical education, design relevant clinical trials, and formulate health guidelines and policies. In fact, it is not merely a portion of people's responsibility. Multidisciplinary networks to share the collection of patient samples, clinical data, the standard of techniques, and genetic counseling are all indispensable to making medical decisions.

Last but not least, the accessibility of these technologies, especially the cost, is still a burden to patients. We hope in the future that these technologies can be applied more widely, and the price can be affordable for people by following "Moore's law" (i.e. higher throughput and lower cost) as in the computer industry (genome.gov/sequencingcosts; accessed November 19, 2022). Meanwhile, health policymakers should recognize the need for providing patients with transparent information and protecting their privacy. Therefore, we can benefit most patients by achieving the P4 discipline (preventive, predictive, personalized, and participatory) in precision medicine[128].

CONCLUSION

The high recurrence rate of HCC remains a serious burden to patients undergoing curative treatments and a major challenge to patient outcome. Over the past few decades, the emergence and evolution of transcriptome profiling methods have benefited the discovery of disease mechanisms, diagnosis, and treatment of HCC recurrence. Our current understanding of HCC pathophysiology is largely based on the fruitful results yielded by transcriptome analysis technology. We found that these abundant studies can be categorized based on the three domains of tumorigenesis, which include carcinogenic profile of primary cancer cells, carcinogenic stimuli, and tumor microenvironment.

We herein summarized the major findings of RT-qPCR, microarray, RNA-seq, and scRNA-seq research under the framework of these three domains (Table 2) and in doing so revealed the strengths and limitations of each technique. Being low-throughput, RT-qPCR is limited in identifying new DGE and is mainly used to validate findings yielded by other high-throughput techniques. Microarrays and RNA-seq have yielded great achievements in the study of carcinogenicity among primary cancer cells and carcinogenic stimuli. Moreover, these technologies contributed largely to our current knowledge on HCC recurrence pathogenesis. To date, a workflow consisting of microarray/RNA-seq search for differential transcripts, RT-qPCR confirmation, predictive model generation, and independent patient cohort validation has become a standard approach in basic HCC science. However, current diagnostic and



Table 2 Representative transcriptomic studies in recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma

Ref.	Method	Sample comparison	Major findings	Featured research domain
Jiang et al[29], 2000	RT-qPCR	Nontumorous liver <i>vs</i> tumor samples; peripheral blood from HCC patients	<i>MMP9</i> in tumors was related to recurrence. mRNA of <i>AFP</i> in blood samples was associated with recurrence	Primary cancer cells
Morimoto <i>et al</i> [30], 2005	RT-qPCR	Peripheral blood and bone marrow samples from patients with HCC vs benign diseases	AFP mRNA level in blood, but not bone marrow, could be useful for predicting postoperative tumor recurrence	Primary cancer cells
Cheung <i>et al</i> [56], 2005	Microarray	HCC tumors from patients with post-OP recurrence <i>vs</i> without recurrence	CLDN10, along with the pTNM stage, were independent predictors for HCC recurrence	Primary cancer cells
Matoba <i>et al</i> [<mark>57</mark>], 2005	Microarray	HCC tumors from patients with <i>vs</i> without post-OP early (< 1 yr) recurrence	HLA-DRA, HLA-DRB1, HLA-DG, and HLA-DQA had significantly lower expression in the early IHR group	Primary cancer cells
lizuka et al[<mark>58</mark>], 2006	Microarray	HCC tumors from patients with post-OP IHR vs EHR	46 cell adhesion-related genes, including <i>ITGA6</i> and <i>SPP1</i> , had higher expression levels in HCC with early IHR	Primary cancer cells
Ho et al <mark>[62</mark>], 2006	Microarray	HCC tumors from patients with vs without PVI	Differential expression of 14 genes related to the human melanoma gene family, cell growth, DNA glycosylation, and thrombin inhibitors, can be used to predict recurrence	Primary cancer cells
Chen <i>et al</i> [63], 2002	Microarray	HCC tumor and corresponding nontumorous tissue with <i>vs</i> without PVI	ARHGAP8 and ARHGEF6 were PVI-associated.	Primary cancer cells
Okabe <i>et al</i> [64], 2001	Microarray	HCC tumor from patients with vs without PVI	Upregulation of <i>MMP14</i> and downregulation of two <i>CYP</i> genes, <i>ADAMTS1</i> , and <i>ITGA7</i> were associated with PVI	Primary cancer cells
Okamoto <i>et al</i> [76], 2006	Microarray	Multicentric vs single nodular recurrent HCV-related HCC	36 marker genes were associated with multicentric recurrence and were used to develop a predictive scoring system	Carcinogenic stimulants
Mas et al[78], 2007	Microarray	HCV-related HCC from patients with <i>vs</i> without disease progression	Upregulation of <i>FAIM3</i> and <i>USP18</i> , and downregulation of <i>TFP1</i> , <i>HIST1H4E</i> , and <i>NRG1</i> were related to disease-free survival after curative treatment	Carcinogenic stimulants
Nagalakshmi et al [80], 2008	Microarray	MIM vs MAM	HLA-DPA1, HLA-DRA, PRG1, and ANXA1 were associated with a metastatic phenotype (Th2-predominant), for which CSF1 may be responsible	Microenvironment
Yoshioka <i>et al</i> [66], 2009	Microarray	HCC tumors from patients with multiple early (< 2 yr) IHR vs with DFS > 3 yr	Informative gene sets including <i>PPARBP</i> , <i>RREB-1</i> , <i>BCL2</i> , <i>HDAC1</i> , and <i>BIRC5</i> were yielded and used for a predictive model, which was validated in independent cases	Primary cancer cells
Kim et al[74], 2012	Predictive model construction using microarray database	DGE in 65 genes from pre- existing databases were used for a predictive model for early HCC recurrence and validated in independent HBV-related HCC cohorts	A risk scoring system with 65 differentially expressed genes identified from microarray data successfully predicted overall survival < 3 yr post-OP	Carcinogenic stimulants
Kim et al[75], 2014	Predictive model construction using microarray database	DGE of 233 HIR-related genes from preexisting databases were used for a predictive model for late HCC recurrence and validated in independent HBV-related HCC cohorts	Genes related to STAT3/Notch signaling activation were related to late (> 1 yr) recurrence of HCC. <i>RALGDS</i> , <i>IER3</i> , <i>CEBPD</i> , and <i>SLC2A3</i> were independent predictors of recurrence.	Carcinogenic stimulants
Nakagawa et al [65], 2021	Predictive model construction using microarray database	Validation of intrahepatic metastasis risk signatures created based on a preexisting microarray database in an independent patient cohort	STC1, FOXK2, MMP1, and LOXL2 that promote either cell cycle advancement or histone modulation could predict the incidence of early recurrence	Primary cancer cells
Liu et al[<mark>87</mark>], 2022	RNA-seq	HCC tumors from patients with <i>vs</i> without recurrence	Most altered expression genes are related to DNA synthesis (<i>MCM8</i> , <i>MCM6</i> , <i>TOP2A</i> , and <i>CDC7</i>), chromatin segregation (<i>BUB1</i> and <i>CDC6</i>), and mitosis (<i>NDC80</i> and <i>PP2P3</i> (C)	Primary cancer cells



Chiang CC et al. Recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma

Ng et al[88], 2021	RNA-seq	Paired tumor tissues <i>vs</i> nontumorous tissues from HCC patients	GSTA2 expression was associated with early- phase systemic injury and reactive oxygen species levels and could serve as a predictor of recurrence	Primary cancer cells
Lachmann <i>et al</i> [<mark>90]</mark> , 2018	RNA-seq	Paired primary <i>vs</i> recurrent HCC tumor tissues	Mutations of <i>GOLGB1</i> and <i>SF3B3</i> are potential key drivers for the aggressive phenotype in recurrent HCC	Primary cancer cells
Okrah <i>et al</i> [97], 2018	RNA-seq	HBV-related HCC tumor <i>vs</i> distant nontumorous liver tissues	More HBV gene integrations correlated with a higher recurrence rate	Carcinogenic stimulants
Wang et al[98], 2021	Validation of RNA- seq database	HCC tumors vs matched cirrhotic tissues; CD8+ CTL- infiltrated vs T cell-excluded tumor tissues	Local tumor immunosuppression coincided with disease progression. Association was found between elevated fibrosis and the T cell- excluded immune phenotype	Microenvironment
Ho et al <mark>[99]</mark> , 2021	Predictive model construction using RNA-seq database	Validation of recurrence- associated lncRNAs identified by regression analysis of TCGA database	9 immune-related lncRNAs were tightly associated with recurrence	Microenvironment
Zheng <i>et al</i> [120], 2018	scRNA-seq	CSC vs non-CSC populations defined by triple+ or triple– surface expression of CD133, CD24, EpCAM	286 signature genes linked to triple+ CSC could predict tumor recurrence in 240 HCC cases with multivariable Cox regression survival risk prediction analysis	Primary cancer cells
Sun <i>et al</i> [<mark>122</mark>], 2021	scRNA-seq	Tumors from primary <i>vs</i> early- relapse HCC patients	Decreased Treg and T cell proliferation with an increased proportion of CD8+- T cells and DC were found in early-relapse tumors compared to primary tumors. CD8+ T cells with overex- pression of <i>KLRB1</i> revealed an innate dysfunc- tional state with immunosuppressive phenotypes in recurrent tumors	Microenvironment
Fu and Lei <mark>[123]</mark> , 2022	scRNA-seq	Primary <i>vs</i> early-relapsed HCC samples	ScRNA-seq analysis of primary vs relapsed HCC identified 645 genes with DGE across three T cell types. Univariate and multivariate analysis identified 15 prognostic genes (<i>AP000866.1, ATIC, CAPN10, EDC3, EID3,</i> <i>NCKIPSD, OXLD1, PHOSPHO2, POLE2,</i> <i>POLR3G, SEPHS1, SRXN1, TIMM9, ZNF487,</i> and ZSCAN9)	Microenvironment

AFP: Alpha-fetoprotein; CSC: Cancer stem cell; CTL: Cytotoxic T lymphocyte; CYP: Cytochrome P450; DC: Dendritic cell; DFS: Disease-free survival; DGE: Differential gene expression; EHR: Extrahepatic recurrence; EpCAM: Epithelial cellular adhesion molecule; GSTA2: Glutathione S-transferase A2; HBV: Hepatitis B virus; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; HIR: Hepatic injury and regeneration; IHR: Intrahepatic recurrence; lncRNA: Long non-coding RNA; MAM: Metastasis-averse microenvironment; MIM: Metastasis-inclined microenvironment; MMP9: Matrix metalloproteinase 9; post-OP: Postoperative; pTNM: Pathological tumor-node-metastasis; PVI: Portal vein invasion; RNA-sequencing; RT-qPCR: Real-time quantitative reverse transcription; scRNA-seq: Single-cell RNA sequencing; STAT3: Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3; TCGA: The Cancer Genome Atlas; Th2: T helper 2 cell; Treg: T-regulatory cell.

> monitoring guidelines are still based on conventional AFP and imaging assessments, having yet to incorporate data from transcriptome analysis.

> Whether these gene classifiers can be applied clinically to improve diagnostic accuracy and help identify high-risk patient groups needs further confirmation from population-based studies in groups more representative of the patient population than a limited research cohort. ScRNA-seq, with its remarkably high resolution, outperforms other tools in exploring cell-cell interactions and the tumor microenvironment. Although currently available studies are limited compared to other transcriptome techniques, the high resolution and high-throughput features of scRNA-seq make it a powerful tool with great potential in investigating the tumor environment. In an era when immunotherapy is rapidly advancing, the prospect of being able to decipher the cancer immune ecology serves as a continuous incentive for future scRNA-seq studies in HCC recurrence, which may help us to verify and optimize the efficacy of novel treatments as well as facilitate the inclusion of precision medicine in managing HCC recurrence.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Chiang CC and Yeh H contributed equally to this study, and both contributed to data collection and manuscript writing; Lim SN and Lin WR contributed to data collection and supervision.

Supported by Linkou Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taiwan, No. CORPG3L0271, No. CORPG3L0281, No.



CMRPG3K2292, and No. CORPG3L0301; and Ministry of Science and Technology, No. MOST111-2314-B-182A-126.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors report having no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Taiwan

ORCID number: Chun-Cheng Chiang 0000-0001-8105-2512; Hsuan Yeh 0000-0002-4926-8433; Siew-Na Lim 0000-0001-6867-8449; Wey-Ran Lin 0000-0001-6078-1396.

S-Editor: Fan JR L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Fan JR

REFERENCES

- Singal AG, Lampertico P, Nahon P. Epidemiology and surveillance for hepatocellular carcinoma: New trends. J Hepatol 2020; 72: 250-261 [PMID: 31954490 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2019.08.025]
- 2 Kokudo N, Takemura N, Hasegawa K, Takayama T, Kubo S, Shimada M, Nagano H, Hatano E, Izumi N, Kaneko S, Kudo M, Iijima H, Genda T, Tateishi R, Torimura T, Igaki H, Kobayashi S, Sakurai H, Murakami T, Watadani T, Matsuyama Y. Clinical practice guidelines for hepatocellular carcinoma: The Japan Society of Hepatology 2017 (4th JSH-HCC guidelines) 2019 update. Hepatol Res 2019; 49: 1109-1113 [PMID: 31336394 DOI: 10.1111/hepr.13411]
- 3 Zheng J, Kuk D, Gönen M, Balachandran VP, Kingham TP, Allen PJ, D'Angelica MI, Jarnagin WR, DeMatteo RP. Actual 10-Year Survivors After Resection of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Ann Surg Oncol 2017; 24: 1358-1366 [PMID: 27921192 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-016-5713-2]
- Portolani N, Coniglio A, Ghidoni S, Giovanelli M, Benetti A, Tiberio GA, Giulini SM. Early and late recurrence after 4 liver resection for hepatocellular carcinoma: prognostic and therapeutic implications. Ann Surg 2006; 243: 229-235 [PMID: 16432356 DOI: 10.1097/01.sla.0000197706.21803.a1]
- 5 Reig M, Forner A, Rimola J, Ferrer-Fàbrega J, Burrel M, Garcia-Criado Á, Kelley RK, Galle PR, Mazzaferro V, Salem R, Sangro B, Singal AG, Vogel A, Fuster J, Ayuso C, Bruix J. BCLC strategy for prognosis prediction and treatment recommendation: The 2022 update. J Hepatol 2022; 76: 681-693 [PMID: 34801630 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.11.018]
- Hatzaras I, Bischof DA, Fahy B, Cosgrove D, Pawlik TM. Treatment options and surveillance strategies after therapy for 6 hepatocellular carcinoma. Ann Surg Oncol 2014; 21: 758-766 [PMID: 24006095 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-013-3254-5]
- 7 Xu XF, Xing H, Han J, Li ZL, Lau WY, Zhou YH, Gu WM, Wang H, Chen TH, Zeng YY, Li C, Wu MC, Shen F, Yang T. Risk Factors, Patterns, and Outcomes of Late Recurrence After Liver Resection for Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Multicenter Study From China. JAMA Surg 2019; 154: 209-217 [PMID: 30422241 DOI: 10.1001/jamasurg.2018.4334]
- 8 Choi JY, Lee JM, Sirlin CB. CT and MR imaging diagnosis and staging of hepatocellular carcinoma: part II. Extracellular agents, hepatobiliary agents, and ancillary imaging features. Radiology 2014; 273: 30-50 [PMID: 25247563 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.14132362
- Wang G, Zhu S, Li X. Comparison of values of CT and MRI imaging in the diagnosis of hepatocellular carcinoma and analysis of prognostic factors. Oncol Lett 2019; 17: 1184-1188 [PMID: 30655882 DOI: 10.3892/ol.2018.9690]
- 10 Hennedige T, Venkatesh SK. Imaging of hepatocellular carcinoma: diagnosis, staging and treatment monitoring. Cancer Imaging 2013; 12: 530-547 [PMID: 23400006 DOI: 10.1102/1470-7330.2012.0044]
- 11 Takayasu K, Arii S, Matsuo N, Yoshikawa M, Ryu M, Takasaki K, Sato M, Yamanaka N, Shimamura Y, Ohto M. Comparison of CT findings with resected specimens after chemoembolization with iodized oil for hepatocellular carcinoma. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2000; 175: 699-704 [PMID: 10954453 DOI: 10.2214/ajr.175.3.1750699]
- 12 Jasirwan COM, Fahira A, Siregar L, Loho I. The alpha-fetoprotein serum is still reliable as a biomarker for the surveillance of hepatocellular carcinoma in Indonesia. BMC Gastroenterol 2020; 20: 215 [PMID: 32646378 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-020-01365-1]
- 13 De J, Shen Y, Qin J, Feng L, Wang Y, Yang L. A Systematic Review of Des-γ-Carboxy Prothrombin for the Diagnosis of Primary Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016; 95: e3448 [PMID: 27124038 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000003448
- 14 Lu LC, Hsu CH, Hsu C, Cheng AL. Tumor Heterogeneity in Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Facing the Challenges. Liver Cancer 2016; 5: 128-138 [PMID: 27386431 DOI: 10.1159/000367754]
- 15 Kim JM, Kwon CH, Joh JW, Park JB, Lee JH, Kim SJ, Paik SW, Park CK. Intrahepatic metastasis is more risky than multiple occurrence in hepatocellular carcinoma patients after curative liver resection. Hepatogastroenterology 2015; 62: 399-404 [PMID: 25916071]
- 16 Imamura H, Matsuyama Y, Tanaka E, Ohkubo T, Hasegawa K, Miyagawa S, Sugawara Y, Minagawa M, Takayama T, Kawasaki S, Makuuchi M. Risk factors contributing to early and late phase intrahepatic recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma after hepatectomy. J Hepatol 2003; 38: 200-207 [PMID: 12547409 DOI: 10.1016/s0168-8278(02)00360-4]
- 17 Li Q, Wang J, Juzi JT, Sun Y, Zheng H, Cui Y, Li H, Hao X. Clonality analysis for multicentric origin and intrahepatic



metastasis in recurrent and primary hepatocellular carcinoma. J Gastrointest Surg 2008; 12: 1540-1547 [PMID: 18629593 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-008-0591-v]

- 18 lizuka N, Hamamoto Y, Tsunedomi R, Oka M. Translational microarray systems for outcome prediction of hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Sci 2008; 99: 659-665 [PMID: 18377418 DOI: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2008.00751.x]
- 19 Xie DY, Fan HK, Ren ZG, Fan J, Gao Q. Identifying Clonal Origin of Multifocal Hepatocellular Carcinoma and Its Clinical Implications. Clin Transl Gastroenterol 2019; 10: e00006 [PMID: 30829920 DOI: 10.14309/ctg.0000000000000006
- 20 Tao Y, Ruan J, Yeh SH, Lu X, Wang Y, Zhai W, Cai J, Ling S, Gong Q, Chong Z, Qu Z, Li Q, Liu J, Yang J, Zheng C, Zeng C, Wang HY, Zhang J, Wang SH, Hao L, Dong L, Li W, Sun M, Zou W, Yu C, Li C, Liu G, Jiang L, Xu J, Huang H, Mi S, Zhang B, Chen B, Zhao W, Hu S, Zhuang SM, Shen Y, Shi S, Brown C, White KP, Chen DS, Chen PJ, Wu CI. Rapid growth of a hepatocellular carcinoma and the driving mutations revealed by cell-population genetic analysis of whole-genome data. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2011; 108: 12042-12047 [PMID: 21730188 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1108715108]
- 21 Yang P, Markowitz GJ, Wang XF. The hepatitis B virus-associated tumor microenvironment in hepatocellular carcinoma. Natl Sci Rev 2014; 1: 396-412 [PMID: 25741453 DOI: 10.1093/nsr/nwu038]
- 22 Wang G, Wang Q, Liang N, Xue H, Yang T, Chen X, Qiu Z, Zeng C, Sun T, Yuan W, Liu C, Chen Z, He X. Oncogenic driver genes and tumor microenvironment determine the type of liver cancer. Cell Death Dis 2020; 11: 313 [PMID: 32366840 DOI: 10.1038/s41419-020-2509-x]
- Tang L. High-throughput screening with transcriptomics. Nat Methods 2020; 17: 251 [PMID: 32132725 DOI: 23 10.1038/s41592-020-0785-0]
- Yang X, Kui L, Tang M, Li D, Wei K, Chen W, Miao J, Dong Y. High-Throughput Transcriptome Profiling in Drug and 24 Biomarker Discovery. Front Genet 2020; 11: 19 [PMID: 32117438 DOI: 10.3389/fgene.2020.00019]
- Soon WW, Hariharan M, Snyder MP. High-throughput sequencing for biology and medicine. Mol Syst Biol 2013; 9: 640 25 [PMID: 23340846 DOI: 10.1038/msb.2012.61]
- Deepak S, Kottapalli K, Rakwal R, Oros G, Rangappa K, Iwahashi H, Masuo Y, Agrawal G. Real-Time PCR: 26 Revolutionizing Detection and Expression Analysis of Genes. Curr Genomics 2007; 8: 234-251 [PMID: 18645596 DOI: 10.2174/138920207781386960
- 27 Adams G. A beginner's guide to RT-PCR, qPCR and RT-qPCR. The Biochemist 2020; 42: 48-53 [DOI: 10.1042/bio20200034]
- Heid CA, Stevens J, Livak KJ, Williams PM. Real time quantitative PCR. Genome Res 1996; 6: 986-994 [PMID: 28 8908518 DOI: 10.1101/gr.6.10.986]
- 29 Jiang YF, Yang ZH, Hu JQ. Recurrence or metastasis of HCC:predictors, early detection and experimental antiangiogenic therapy. World J Gastroenterol 2000; 6: 61-65 [PMID: 11819524 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v6.i1.61]
- 30 Morimoto O, Nagano H, Miyamoto A, Fujiwara Y, Kondo M, Yamamoto T, Ota H, Nakamura M, Wada H, Damdinsuren B, Marubashi S, Dono K, Umeshita K, Nakamori S, Sakon M, Monden M. Association between recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma and alpha-fetoprotein messenger RNA levels in peripheral blood. Surg Today 2005; 35: 1033-1041 [PMID: 16341483 DOI: 10.1007/s00595-005-3077-5]
- 31 Nygard AB, Jørgensen CB, Cirera S, Fredholm M. Selection of reference genes for gene expression studies in pig tissues using SYBR green qPCR. BMC Mol Biol 2007; 8: 67 [PMID: 17697375 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2199-8-67]
- Lau WY, Lai PB, Leung MF, Leung BC, Wong N, Chen G, Leung TW, Liew CT. Differential gene expression of 32 hepatocellular carcinoma using cDNA microarray analysis. Oncol Res 2000; 12: 59-69 [PMID: 11132925 DOI: 10.3727/096504001108747530
- 33 Fu LY, Jia HL, Dong QZ, Wu JC, Zhao Y, Zhou HJ, Ren N, Ye QH, Qin LX. Suitable reference genes for real-time PCR in human HBV-related hepatocellular carcinoma with different clinical prognoses. BMC Cancer 2009; 9: 49 [PMID: 19200351 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2407-9-49]
- 34 Wang K, Liu J, Yan ZL, Li J, Shi LH, Cong WM, Xia Y, Zou QF, Xi T, Shen F, Wang HY, Wu MC. Overexpression of aspartyl-(asparaginyl)-beta-hydroxylase in hepatocellular carcinoma is associated with worse surgical outcome. Hepatology 2010; 52: 164-173 [PMID: 20578260 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23650]
- 35 Chuma M, Sakamoto M, Yamazaki K, Ohta T, Ohki M, Asaka M, Hirohashi S. Expression profiling in multistage hepatocarcinogenesis: identification of HSP70 as a molecular marker of early hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 2003; 37: 198-207 [PMID: 12500205 DOI: 10.1053/jhep.2003.50022]
- Canales RD, Luo Y, Willey JC, Austermiller B, Barbacioru CC, Boysen C, Hunkapiller K, Jensen RV, Knight CR, Lee 36 KY, Ma Y, Maqsodi B, Papallo A, Peters EH, Poulter K, Ruppel PL, Samaha RR, Shi L, Yang W, Zhang L, Goodsaid FM. Evaluation of DNA microarray results with quantitative gene expression platforms. Nat Biotechnol 2006; 24: 1115-1122 [PMID: 16964225 DOI: 10.1038/nbt1236]
- 37 Bustin SA, Nolan T. Pitfalls of quantitative real-time reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction. J Biomol Tech 2004; 15: 155-166 [PMID: 15331581]
- 38 Xu S. Transcriptome Profiling in Systems Vascular Medicine. Front Pharmacol 2017; 8: 563 [PMID: 28970795 DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2017.00563]
- Schena M, Shalon D, Davis RW, Brown PO. Quantitative monitoring of gene expression patterns with a complementary 39 DNA microarray. Science 1995; 270: 467-470 [PMID: 7569999 DOI: 10.1126/science.270.5235.467]
- Wilson AS, Hobbs BG, Speed TP, Rakoczy PE. The microarray: potential applications for ophthalmic research. Mol Vis 40 2002; 8: 259-270 [PMID: 12131875]
- LaFramboise T. Single nucleotide polymorphism arrays: a decade of biological, computational and technological 41 advances. Nucleic Acids Res 2009; 37: 4181-4193 [PMID: 19570852 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkp552]
- 42 Simon R, Radmacher MD, Dobbin K, McShane LM. Pitfalls in the use of DNA microarray data for diagnostic and prognostic classification. J Natl Cancer Inst 2003; 95: 14-18 [PMID: 12509396 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/95.1.14]
- 43 Kawai HF, Kaneko S, Honda M, Shirota Y, Kobayashi K. alpha-fetoprotein-producing hepatoma cell lines share common expression profiles of genes in various categories demonstrated by cDNA microarray analysis. Hepatology 2001; 33: 676-



691 [PMID: 11230749 DOI: 10.1053/jhep.2001.22500]

- Honma N, Genda T, Matsuda Y, Yamagiwa S, Takamura M, Ichida T, Aoyagi Y. MEK/ERK signaling is a critical 44 mediator for integrin-induced cell scattering in highly metastatic hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Lab Invest 2006; 86: 687-696 [PMID: 16636681 DOI: 10.1038/Labinvest.3700427]
- 45 Shirota Y, Kaneko S, Honda M, Kawai HF, Kobayashi K. Identification of differentially expressed genes in hepatocellular carcinoma with cDNA microarrays. Hepatology 2001; 33: 832-840 [PMID: 11283847 DOI: 10.1053/jhep.2001.23003]
- Mouridsen HT. Systemic therapy of advanced breast cancer. Drugs 1992; 44 Suppl 4: 17-28; discussion 66 [PMID: 46 1283847 DOI: 10.2165/00003495-199200444-00003]
- 47 Chiba T, Kita K, Zheng YW, Yokosuka O, Saisho H, Iwama A, Nakauchi H, Taniguchi H. Side population purified from hepatocellular carcinoma cells harbors cancer stem cell-like properties. Hepatology 2006; 44: 240-251 [PMID: 16799977 DOI: 10.1002/hep.21227]
- Hanafusa T, Yumoto Y, Nouso K, Nakatsukasa H, Onishi T, Fujikawa T, Taniyama M, Nakamura S, Uemura M, 48 Takuma Y, Yumoto E, Higashi T, Tsuji T. Reduced expression of insulin-like growth factor binding protein-3 and its promoter hypermethylation in human hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Lett 2002; 176: 149-158 [PMID: 11804742 DOI: 10.1016/s0304-3835(01)00736-4]
- Xu XR, Huang J, Xu ZG, Qian BZ, Zhu ZD, Yan Q, Cai T, Zhang X, Xiao HS, Qu J, Liu F, Huang QH, Cheng ZH, Li 49 NG, Du JJ, Hu W, Shen KT, Lu G, Fu G, Zhong M, Xu SH, Gu WY, Huang W, Zhao XT, Hu GX, Gu JR, Chen Z, Han ZG. Insight into hepatocellular carcinogenesis at transcriptome level by comparing gene expression profiles of hepatocellular carcinoma with those of corresponding noncancerous liver. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001; 98: 15089-15094 [PMID: 11752456 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.241522398]
- Wang F, Wang R, Li Q, Qu X, Hao Y, Yang J, Zhao H, Wang Q, Li G, Zhang F, Zhang H, Zhou X, Peng X, Bian Y, 50 Xiao W. A transcriptome profile in hepatocellular carcinomas based on integrated analysis of microarray studies. Diagn *Pathol* 2017; **12**: 4 [PMID: 28086821 DOI: 10.1186/s13000-016-0596-x]
- 51 Naiki T, Nagaki M, Shidoji Y, Kojima H, Imose M, Kato T, Ohishi N, Yagi K, Moriwaki H. Analysis of gene expression profile induced by hepatocyte nuclear factor 4alpha in hepatoma cells using an oligonucleotide microarray. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 14011-14019 [PMID: 11834723 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M105403200]
- 52 Midorikawa Y, Tsutsumi S, Taniguchi H, Ishii M, Kobune Y, Kodama T, Makuuchi M, Aburatani H. Identification of genes associated with dedifferentiation of hepatocellular carcinoma with expression profiling analysis. Jpn J Cancer Res 2002; 93: 636-643 [PMID: 12079511 DOI: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2002.tb01301.x]
- Hu L, Lau SH, Tzang CH, Wen JM, Wang W, Xie D, Huang M, Wang Y, Wu MC, Huang JF, Zeng WF, Sham JS, Yang 53 M, Guan XY. Association of Vimentin overexpression and hepatocellular carcinoma metastasis. Oncogene 2004; 23: 298-302 [PMID: 14647434 DOI: 10.1038/sj.onc.1206483]
- 54 Cheung ST, Wong SY, Leung KL, Chen X, So S, Ng IO, Fan ST. Granulin-epithelin precursor overexpression promotes growth and invasion of hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 2004; 10: 7629-7636 [PMID: 15569995 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-0960
- Chua MS, Sun H, Cheung ST, Mason V, Higgins J, Ross DT, Fan ST, So S. Overexpression of NDRG1 is an indicator of 55 poor prognosis in hepatocellular carcinoma. Mod Pathol 2007; 20: 76-83 [PMID: 17170744 DOI: 10.1038/modpathol.3800711]
- Cheung ST, Leung KL, Ip YC, Chen X, Fong DY, Ng IO, Fan ST, So S. Claudin-10 expression level is associated with 56 recurrence of primary hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 2005; 11: 551-556 [PMID: 15701840]
- Matoba K, Iizuka N, Gondo T, Ishihara T, Yamada-Okabe H, Tamesa T, Takemoto N, Hashimoto K, Sakamoto K, 57 Miyamoto T, Uchimura S, Hamamoto Y, Oka M. Tumor HLA-DR expression linked to early intrahepatic recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma. Int J Cancer 2005; 115: 231-240 [PMID: 15688398 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.20860]
- 58 lizuka N, Tamesa T, Sakamoto K, Miyamoto T, Hamamoto Y, Oka M. Different molecular pathways determining extrahepatic and intrahepatic recurrences of hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncol Rep 2006; 16: 1137-1142 [PMID: 17016605]
- 59 Yamanaka J, Yamanaka N, Nakasho K, Tanaka T, Ando T, Yasui C, Kuroda N, Takata M, Maeda S, Matsushita K, Uematsu K, Okamoto E. Clinicopathologic analysis of stage II-III hepatocellular carcinoma showing early massive recurrence after liver resection. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2000; 15: 1192-1198 [PMID: 11106101 DOI: 10.1046/j.1440-1746.2000.02323.x]
- 60 Hanazaki K, Kajikawa S, Koide N, Adachi W, Amano J. Prognostic factors after hepatic resection for hepatocellular carcinoma with hepatitis C viral infection: univariate and multivariate analysis. Am J Gastroenterol 2001; 96: 1243-1250 [PMID: 11316177 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2001.03634.x]
- Kim YS, Lim HK, Rhim H, Lee WJ, Joh JW, Park CK. Recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma after liver transplantation: 61 patterns and prognostic factors based on clinical and radiologic features. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2007; 189: 352-358 [PMID: 17646461 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.07.2088]
- Ho MC, Lin JJ, Chen CN, Chen CC, Lee H, Yang CY, Ni YH, Chang KJ, Hsu HC, Hsieh FJ, Lee PH. A gene expression 62 profile for vascular invasion can predict the recurrence after resection of hepatocellular carcinoma: a microarray approach. Ann Surg Oncol 2006; 13: 1474-1484 [PMID: 17009164 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-006-9057-1]
- 63 Chen X, Cheung ST, So S, Fan ST, Barry C, Higgins J, Lai KM, Ji J, Dudoit S, Ng IO, Van De Rijn M, Botstein D, Brown PO. Gene expression patterns in human liver cancers. Mol Biol Cell 2002; 13: 1929-1939 [PMID: 12058060 DOI: 10.1091/mbc.02-02-0023]
- Okabe H, Satoh S, Kato T, Kitahara O, Yanagawa R, Yamaoka Y, Tsunoda T, Furukawa Y, Nakamura Y. Genome-wide analysis of gene expression in human hepatocellular carcinomas using cDNA microarray: identification of genes involved in viral carcinogenesis and tumor progression. Cancer Res 2001; 61: 2129-2137 [PMID: 11280777]
- Nakagawa S, Yamashita YI, Umezaki N, Yamao T, Kaida T, Hiyoshi Y, Mima K, Okabe H, Hayashi H, Imai K, 65 Chikamoto A, Baba H, Four gene intrahepatic metastasis-risk signature predicts hepatocellular carcinoma malignant potential and early recurrence from intrahepatic metastasis. Surgery 2021; 169: 903-910 [PMID: 33160638 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2020.09.032]



- Yoshioka S, Takemasa I, Nagano H, Kittaka N, Noda T, Wada H, Kobayashi S, Marubashi S, Takeda Y, Umeshita K, 66 Dono K, Matsubara K, Monden M. Molecular prediction of early recurrence after resection of hepatocellular carcinoma. Eur J Cancer 2009; 45: 881-889 [PMID: 19167881 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejca.2008.12.019]
- 67 El-Serag HB, Rudolph KL. Hepatocellular carcinoma: epidemiology and molecular carcinogenesis. Gastroenterology 2007; 132: 2557-2576 [PMID: 17570226 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.04.061]
- Zheng S, Tansey WP, Hiebert SW, Zhao Z. Integrative network analysis identifies key genes and pathways in the 68 progression of hepatitis C virus induced hepatocellular carcinoma. BMC Med Genomics 2011; 4: 62 [PMID: 21824427 DOI: 10.1186/1755-8794-4-62]
- Iizuka N, Oka M, Yamada-Okabe H, Mori N, Tamesa T, Okada T, Takemoto N, Tangoku A, Hamada K, Nakayama H, 69 Miyamoto T, Uchimura S, Hamamoto Y. Comparison of gene expression profiles between hepatitis B virus- and hepatitis C virus-infected hepatocellular carcinoma by oligonucleotide microarray data on the basis of a supervised learning method. Cancer Res 2002; 62: 3939-3944 [PMID: 12124323]
- 70 Tamori A, Yamanishi Y, Kawashima S, Kanehisa M, Enomoto M, Tanaka H, Kubo S, Shiomi S, Nishiguchi S. Alteration of gene expression in human hepatocellular carcinoma with integrated hepatitis B virus DNA. Clin Cancer Res 2005; 11: 5821-5826 [PMID: 16115921 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-2055]
- Hokaiwado N, Asamoto M, Tsujimura K, Hirota T, Ichihara T, Satoh T, Shirai T. Rapid analysis of gene expression 71 changes caused by liver carcinogens and chemopreventive agents using a newly developed three-dimensional microarray system. Cancer Sci 2004; 95: 123-130 [PMID: 14965361 DOI: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2004.tb03192.x]
- 72 Mathijs K, Brauers KJ, Jennen DG, Boorsma A, van Herwijnen MH, Gottschalk RW, Kleinjans JC, van Delft JH. Discrimination for genotoxic and nongenotoxic carcinogens by gene expression profiling in primary mouse hepatocytes improves with exposure time. Toxicol Sci 2009; 112: 374-384 [PMID: 19770486 DOI: 10.1093/toxsci/kfp229]
- 73 Fan W, Ye G. Microarray analysis for the identification of specific proteins and functional modules involved in the process of hepatocellular carcinoma originating from cirrhotic liver. Mol Med Rep 2018; 17: 5619-5626 [PMID: 29436633 DOI: 10.3892/mmr.2018.8555]
- Kim SM, Leem SH, Chu IS, Park YY, Kim SC, Kim SB, Park ES, Lim JY, Heo J, Kim YJ, Kim DG, Kaseb A, Park YN, 74 Wang XW, Thorgeirsson SS, Lee JS. Sixty-five gene-based risk score classifier predicts overall survival in hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 2012; 55: 1443-1452 [PMID: 22105560 DOI: 10.1002/hep.24813]
- Kim JH, Sohn BH, Lee HS, Kim SB, Yoo JE, Park YY, Jeong W, Lee SS, Park ES, Kaseb A, Kim BH, Kim WB, Yeon 75 JE, Byun KS, Chu IS, Kim SS, Wang XW, Thorgeirsson SS, Luk JM, Kang KJ, Heo J, Park YN, Lee JS. Genomic predictors for recurrence patterns of hepatocellular carcinoma: model derivation and validation. PLoS Med 2014; 11: e1001770 [PMID: 25536056 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001770]
- 76 Okamoto M, Utsunomiya T, Wakiyama S, Hashimoto M, Fukuzawa K, Ezaki T, Hanai T, Inoue H, Mori M. Specific gene-expression profiles of noncancerous liver tissue predict the risk for multicentric occurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma in hepatitis C virus-positive patients. Ann Surg Oncol 2006; 13: 947-954 [PMID: 16788756 DOI: 10.1245/ASO.2006.07.018
- 77 Tsuchiya M, Parker JS, Kono H, Matsuda M, Fujii H, Rusyn I. Gene expression in nontumoral liver tissue and recurrence-free survival in hepatitis C virus-positive hepatocellular carcinoma. Mol Cancer 2010; 9: 74 [PMID: 20380719 DOI: 10.1186/1476-4598-9-741
- Mas VR, Fisher RA, Archer KJ, Yanek KC, Williams B, Dumur CI, Maluf DG. Genes associated with progression and 78 recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma in hepatitis C patients waiting and undergoing liver transplantation: preliminary results. Transplantation 2007; 83: 973-981 [PMID: 17460570 DOI: 10.1097/01.tp.0000258643.05294.0b]
- Budhu A, Forgues M, Ye QH, Jia HL, He P, Zanetti KA, Kammula US, Chen Y, Qin LX, Tang ZY, Wang XW. 79 Prediction of venous metastases, recurrence, and prognosis in hepatocellular carcinoma based on a unique immune response signature of the liver microenvironment. Cancer Cell 2006; 10: 99-111 [PMID: 16904609 DOI: 10.1016/i.ccr.2006.06.016
- Nagalakshmi U, Wang Z, Waern K, Shou C, Raha D, Gerstein M, Snyder M. The transcriptional landscape of the yeast 80 genome defined by RNA sequencing. Science 2008; 320: 1344-1349 [PMID: 18451266 DOI: 10.1126/science.1158441]
- Kukurba KR, Montgomery SB. RNA Sequencing and Analysis. Cold Spring Harb Protoc 2015; 2015: 951-969 [PMID: 81 25870306 DOI: 10.1101/pdb.top084970]
- Musunuru K, Ingelsson E, Fornage M, Liu P, Murphy AM, Newby LK, Newton-Cheh C, Perez MV, Voora D, Woo D; 82 American Heart Association Committee on Molecular Determinants of Cardiovascular Health of the Council on Functional Genomics and Translational Biology and Council on Epidemiology and Prevention; Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young; Council on Cardiovascular and Stroke Nursing; Council on Cardiovascular Surgery and Anesthesia; Council on Clinical Cardiology; and Stroke Council. The Expressed Genome in Cardiovascular Diseases and Stroke: Refinement, Diagnosis, and Prediction: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 2017; 10 [PMID: 28760750 DOI: 10.1161/HCG.000000000000037]
- Liu Y, Al-Adra DP, Lan R, Jung G, Li H, Yeh MM, Liu YZ. RNA sequencing analysis of hepatocellular carcinoma 83 identified oxidative phosphorylation as a major pathologic feature. Hepatol Commun 2022; 6: 2170-2181 [PMID: 35344307 DOI: 10.1002/hep4.1945]
- Huang Y, Pan J, Chen D, Zheng J, Qiu F, Li F, Wu Y, Wu W, Huang X, Qian J. Identification and functional analysis of 84 differentially expressed genes in poorly differentiated hepatocellular carcinoma using RNA-seq. Oncotarget 2017; 8: 35973-35983 [PMID: 28415592 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.16415]
- 85 Han Z, Feng W, Hu R, Ge Q, Ma W, Zhang W, Xu S, Zhan B, Zhang L, Sun X, Zhou X. RNA-seq profiling reveals PBMC RNA as a potential biomarker for hepatocellular carcinoma. Sci Rep 2021; 11: 17797 [PMID: 34493740 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-021-96952-x]
- 86 Cao J, Xiao C, Fong CTH, Gong J, Li D, Li X, Jie Y, Chong Y. Expression and Regulatory Network Analysis of Function of Small Nucleolar RNA Host Gene 4 in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2022; 10: 297-307 [PMID: 35528985 DOI: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00175]
- 87 Liu S, Nalesnik MA, Singhi A, Wood-Trageser MA, Randhawa P, Ren BG, Humar A, Liu P, Yu YP, Tseng GC,



Michalopoulos G, Luo JH. Transcriptome and Exome Analyses of Hepatocellular Carcinoma Reveal Patterns to Predict Cancer Recurrence in Liver Transplant Patients. Hepatol Commun 2022; 6: 710-727 [PMID: 34725972 DOI: 10.1002/hep4.1846]

- 88 Ng KT, Yeung OW, Lam YF, Liu J, Liu H, Pang L, Yang XX, Zhu J, Zhang W, Lau MYH, Qiu WQ, Shiu HC, Lai MK, Lo CM, Man K. Glutathione S-transferase A2 promotes hepatocellular carcinoma recurrence after liver transplantation through modulating reactive oxygen species metabolism. Cell Death Discov 2021; 7: 188 [PMID: 34290233 DOI: 10.1038/s41420-021-00569-y]
- Choi JH, Kim MJ, Park YK, Im JY, Kwon SM, Kim HC, Woo HG, Wang HJ. Mutations acquired by hepatocellular 89 carcinoma recurrence give rise to an aggressive phenotype. Oncotarget 2017; 8: 22903-22916 [PMID: 28038442 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.14248]
- Lachmann A, Torre D, Keenan AB, Jagodnik KM, Lee HJ, Wang L, Silverstein MC, Ma'ayan A. Massive mining of publicly available RNA-seq data from human and mouse. Nat Commun 2018; 9: 1366 [PMID: 29636450 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-018-03751-6
- Wang Y, Tan PY, Handoko YA, Sekar K, Shi M, Xie C, Jiang XD, Dong QZ, Goh BKP, Ooi LL, Gao Z, Hui KM. NUF2 is a valuable prognostic biomarker to predict early recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma after surgical resection. Int J Cancer 2019; 145: 662-670 [PMID: 30653265 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.32134]
- 92 Tang KW, Alaei-Mahabadi B, Samuelsson T, Lindh M, Larsson E. The landscape of viral expression and host gene fusion and adaptation in human cancer. Nat Commun 2013; 4: 2513 [PMID: 24085110 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms3513]
- 93 Huang Q, Lin B, Liu H, Ma X, Mo F, Yu W, Li L, Li H, Tian T, Wu D, Shen F, Xing J, Chen ZN. RNA-Seq analyses generate comprehensive transcriptomic landscape and reveal complex transcript patterns in hepatocellular carcinoma. PLoS One 2011; 6: e26168 [PMID: 22043308 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0026168]
- Miao R, Luo H, Zhou H, Li G, Bu D, Yang X, Zhao X, Zhang H, Liu S, Zhong Y, Zou Z, Zhao Y, Yu K, He L, Sang X, 94 Zhong S, Huang J, Wu Y, Miksad RA, Robson SC, Jiang C, Zhao H. Identification of prognostic biomarkers in hepatitis B virus-related hepatocellular carcinoma and stratification by integrative multi-omics analysis. J Hepatol 2014; 61: 840-849 [PMID: 24859455 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2014.05.025]
- Pan Q, Long X, Song L, Zhao D, Li X, Li D, Li M, Zhou J, Tang X, Ren H, Ding K. Transcriptome sequencing identified 95 hub genes for hepatocellular carcinoma by weighted-gene co-expression analysis. Oncotarget 2016; 7: 38487-38499 [PMID: 27220887 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.9555]
- 96 Yoo S, Wang W, Wang Q, Fiel MI, Lee E, Hiotis SP, Zhu J. A pilot systematic genomic comparison of recurrence risks of hepatitis B virus-associated hepatocellular carcinoma with low- and high-degree liver fibrosis. BMC Med 2017; 15: 214 [PMID: 29212479 DOI: 10.1186/s12916-017-0973-7]
- Okrah K, Tarighat S, Liu B, Koeppen H, Wagle MC, Cheng G, Sun C, Dey A, Chang MT, Sumiyoshi T, Mounir Z, 97 Cummings C, Hampton G, Amler L, Fridlyand J, Hegde PS, Turley SJ, Lackner MR, Huang SM. Transcriptomic analysis of hepatocellular carcinoma reveals molecular features of disease progression and tumor immune biology. NPJ Precis Oncol 2018; 2: 25 [PMID: 30456308 DOI: 10.1038/s41698-018-0068-8]
- 98 Wang XX, Wu LH, Ai L, Pan W, Ren JY, Zhang Q, Zhang HM. Construction of an HCC recurrence model basedon the investigation of immune-relatedlncRNAs and related mechanisms. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 2021; 26: 1387-1400 [PMID: 34900397 DOI: 10.1016/j.omtn.2021.11.006]
- Ho DW, Tsui YM, Chan LK, Sze KM, Zhang X, Cheu JW, Chiu YT, Lee JM, Chan AC, Cheung ET, Yau DT, Chia NH, Lo IL, Sham PC, Cheung TT, Wong CC, Ng IO. Single-cell RNA sequencing shows the immunosuppressive landscape and tumor heterogeneity of HBV-associated hepatocellular carcinoma. Nat Commun 2021; 12: 3684 [PMID: 34140495 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-021-24010-1]
- 100 Nguyen PHD, Ma S, Phua CZJ, Kaya NA, Lai HLH, Lim CJ, Lim JQ, Wasser M, Lai L, Tam WL, Lim TKH, Wan WK, Loh T, Leow WQ, Pang YH, Chan CY, Lee SY, Cheow PC, Toh HC, Ginhoux F, Iyer S, Kow AWC, Young Dan Y, Chung A, Bonney GK, Goh BKP, Albani S, Chow PKH, Zhai W, Chew V. Intratumoural immune heterogeneity as a hallmark of tumour evolution and progression in hepatocellular carcinoma. Nat Commun 2021; 12: 227 [PMID: 33431814 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-020-20171-7]
- 101 Tian B, Li Q. Single-Cell Sequencing and Its Applications in Liver Cancer. Front Oncol 2022; 12: 857037 [PMID: 35574365 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2022.857037]
- 102 Gross A, Schoendube J, Zimmermann S, Steeb M, Zengerle R, Koltay P. Technologies for Single-Cell Isolation. Int J Mol Sci 2015; 16: 16897-16919 [PMID: 26213926 DOI: 10.3390/ijms160816897]
- 103 Tang F, Barbacioru C, Wang Y, Nordman E, Lee C, Xu N, Wang X, Bodeau J, Tuch BB, Siddiqui A, Lao K, Surani MA. mRNA-Seq whole-transcriptome analysis of a single cell. Nat Methods 2009; 6: 377-382 [PMID: 19349980 DOI: 10.1038/nmeth.1315
- Zhang X, Li T, Liu F, Chen Y, Yao J, Li Z, Huang Y, Wang J. Comparative Analysis of Droplet-Based Ultra-High-104 Throughput Single-Cell RNA-Seq Systems. Mol Cell 2019; 73: 130-142.e5 [PMID: 30472192 DOI: 10.1016/j.molcel.2018.10.020]
- Zheng B, Wang D, Qiu X, Luo G, Wu T, Yang S, Li Z, Zhu Y, Wang S, Wu R, Sui C, Gu Z, Shen S, Jeong S, Wu X, Gu 105 J, Wang H, Chen L. Trajectory and Functional Analysis of PD-1(high) CD4(+)CD8(+) T Cells in Hepatocellular Carcinoma by Single-Cell Cytometry and Transcriptome Sequencing. Adv Sci (Weinh) 2020; 7: 2000224 [PMID: 32670760 DOI: 10.1002/advs.202000224]
- 106 Zhang Q, He Y, Luo N, Patel SJ, Han Y, Gao R, Modak M, Carotta S, Haslinger C, Kind D, Peet GW, Zhong G, Lu S, Zhu W, Mao Y, Xiao M, Bergmann M, Hu X, Kerkar SP, Vogt AB, Pflanz S, Liu K, Peng J, Ren X, Zhang Z. Landscape and Dynamics of Single Immune Cells in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Cell 2019; 179: 829-845.e20 [PMID: 31675496 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.10.003]
- 107 Ma L, Hernandez MO, Zhao Y, Mehta M, Tran B, Kelly M, Rae Z, Hernandez JM, Davis JL, Martin SP, Kleiner DE, Hewitt SM, Ylaya K, Wood BJ, Greten TF, Wang XW. Tumor Cell Biodiversity Drives Microenvironmental Reprogramming in Liver Cancer. Cancer Cell 2019; 36: 418-430.e6 [PMID: 31588021 DOI: 10.1016/j.ccell.2019.08.007]
- 108 Liu J, Dang H, Wang XW. The significance of intertumor and intratumor heterogeneity in liver cancer. Exp Mol Med


2018; 50: e416 [PMID: 29303512 DOI: 10.1038/emm.2017.165]

- 109 Totoki Y, Tatsuno K, Covington KR, Ueda H, Creighton CJ, Kato M, Tsuji S, Donehower LA, Slagle BL, Nakamura H, Yamamoto S, Shinbrot E, Hama N, Lehmkuhl M, Hosoda F, Arai Y, Walker K, Dahdouli M, Gotoh K, Nagae G, Gingras MC, Muzny DM, Ojima H, Shimada K, Midorikawa Y, Goss JA, Cotton R, Hayashi A, Shibahara J, Ishikawa S, Guiteau J, Tanaka M, Urushidate T, Ohashi S, Okada N, Doddapaneni H, Wang M, Zhu Y, Dinh H, Okusaka T, Kokudo N, Kosuge T, Takayama T, Fukayama M, Gibbs RA, Wheeler DA, Aburatani H, Shibata T. Trans-ancestry mutational landscape of hepatocellular carcinoma genomes. Nat Genet 2014; 46: 1267-1273 [PMID: 25362482 DOI: 10.1038/ng.3126]
- 110 Lee JS, Chu IS, Heo J, Calvisi DF, Sun Z, Roskams T, Durnez A, Demetris AJ, Thorgeirsson SS. Classification and prediction of survival in hepatocellular carcinoma by gene expression profiling. Hepatology 2004; 40: 667-676 [PMID: 15349906 DOI: 10.1002/hep.20375]
- 111 Ye QH, Qin LX, Forgues M, He P, Kim JW, Peng AC, Simon R, Li Y, Robles AI, Chen Y, Ma ZC, Wu ZQ, Ye SL, Liu YK, Tang ZY, Wang XW. Predicting hepatitis B virus-positive metastatic hepatocellular carcinomas using gene expression profiling and supervised machine learning. Nat Med 2003; 9: 416-423 [PMID: 12640447 DOI: 10.1038/nm843]
- Losic B, Craig AJ, Villacorta-Martin C, Martins-Filho SN, Akers N, Chen X, Ahsen ME, von Felden J, Labgaa I, D'Avola 112 D, Allette K, Lira SA, Furtado GC, Garcia-Lezana T, Restrepo P, Stueck A, Ward SC, Fiel MI, Hiotis SP, Gunasekaran G, Sia D, Schadt EE, Sebra R, Schwartz M, Llovet JM, Thung S, Stolovitzky G, Villanueva A. Intratumoral heterogeneity and clonal evolution in liver cancer. Nat Commun 2020; 11: 291 [PMID: 31941899 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-019-14050-z]
- Lu Y, Yang A, Quan C, Pan Y, Zhang H, Li Y, Gao C, Lu H, Wang X, Cao P, Chen H, Lu S, Zhou G. A single-cell atlas 113 of the multicellular ecosystem of primary and metastatic hepatocellular carcinoma. Nat Commun 2022; 13: 4594 [PMID: 35933472 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-022-32283-31
- 114 Pfister D, Núñez NG, Pinyol R, Govaere O, Pinter M, Szydlowska M, Gupta R, Qiu M, Deczkowska A, Weiner A, Müller F, Sinha A, Friebel E, Engleitner T, Lenggenhager D, Moncsek A, Heide D, Stirm K, Kosla J, Kotsiliti E, Leone V, Dudek M, Yousuf S, Inverso D, Singh I, Teijeiro A, Castet F, Montironi C, Haber PK, Tiniakos D, Bedossa P, Cockell S, Younes R, Vacca M, Marra F, Schattenberg JM, Allison M, Bugianesi E, Ratziu V, Pressiani T, D'Alessio A, Personeni N, Rimassa L, Daly AK, Scheiner B, Pomej K, Kirstein MM, Vogel A, Peck-Radosavljevic M, Hucke F, Finkelmeier F, Waidmann O, Trojan J, Schulze K, Wege H, Koch S, Weinmann A, Bueter M, Rössler F, Siebenhüner A, De Dosso S, Mallm JP, Umansky V, Jugold M, Luedde T, Schietinger A, Schirmacher P, Emu B, Augustin HG, Billeter A, Müller-Stich B, Kikuchi H, Duda DG, Kütting F, Waldschmidt DT, Ebert MP, Rahbari N, Mei HE, Schulz AR, Ringelhan M, Malek N, Spahn S, Bitzer M, Ruiz de Galarreta M, Lujambio A, Dufour JF, Marron TU, Kaseb A, Kudo M, Huang YH, Djouder N, Wolter K, Zender L, Marche PN, Decaens T, Pinato DJ, Rad R, Mertens JC, Weber A, Unger K, Meissner F, Roth S, Jilkova ZM, Claassen M, Anstee QM, Amit I, Knolle P, Becher B, Llovet JM, Heikenwalder M. NASH limits anti-tumour surveillance in immunotherapy-treated HCC. Nature 2021; 592: 450-456 [PMID: 33762733 DOI: 10.1038/s41586-021-03362-0]
- Topalian SL, Taube JM, Anders RA, Pardoll DM. Mechanism-driven biomarkers to guide immune checkpoint blockade 115 in cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 2016; 16: 275-287 [PMID: 27079802 DOI: 10.1038/nrc.2016.36]
- Taube JM, Klein A, Brahmer JR, Xu H, Pan X, Kim JH, Chen L, Pardoll DM, Topalian SL, Anders RA. Association of 116 PD-1, PD-1 ligands, and other features of the tumor immune microenvironment with response to anti-PD-1 therapy. Clin Cancer Res 2014; 20: 5064-5074 [PMID: 24714771 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-3271]
- 117 Lee TK, Guan XY, Ma S. Cancer stem cells in hepatocellular carcinoma - from origin to clinical implications. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 19: 26-44 [PMID: 34504325 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-021-00508-3]
- 118 Marzagalli M, Fontana F, Raimondi M, Limonta P. Cancer Stem Cells-Key Players in Tumor Relapse. Cancers (Basel) 2021; 13 [PMID: 33498502 DOI: 10.3390/cancers13030376]
- 119 Chang JC. Cancer stem cells: Role in tumor growth, recurrence, metastasis, and treatment resistance. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016; 95: S20-S25 [PMID: 27611935 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000004766]
- 120 Zheng H, Pomyen Y, Hernandez MO, Li C, Livak F, Tang W, Dang H, Greten TF, Davis JL, Zhao Y, Mehta M, Levin Y, Shetty J, Tran B, Budhu A, Wang XW. Single-cell analysis reveals cancer stem cell heterogeneity in hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 2018; 68: 127-140 [PMID: 29315726 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29778]
- 121 Ho DW, Tsui YM, Sze KM, Chan LK, Cheung TT, Lee E, Sham PC, Tsui SK, Lee TK, Ng IO. Single-cell transcriptomics reveals the landscape of intra-tumoral heterogeneity and stemness-related subpopulations in liver cancer. Cancer Lett 2019; 459: 176-185 [PMID: 31195060 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2019.06.002]
- Sun Y, Wu L, Zhong Y, Zhou K, Hou Y, Wang Z, Zhang Z, Xie J, Wang C, Chen D, Huang Y, Wei X, Shi Y, Zhao Z, Li 122 Y, Guo Z, Yu Q, Xu L, Volpe G, Qiu S, Zhou J, Ward C, Sun H, Yin Y, Xu X, Wang X, Esteban MA, Yang H, Wang J, Dean M, Zhang Y, Liu S, Yang X, Fan J. Single-cell landscape of the ecosystem in early-relapse hepatocellular carcinoma. Cell 2021; 184: 404-421.e16 [PMID: 33357445 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.11.041]
- Fu J, Lei X. Identification of the Immune Subtype of Hepatocellular Carcinoma for the Prediction of Disease-Free 123 Survival Time and Prevention of Recurrence by Integrated Analysis of Bulk- and Single-Cell RNA Sequencing Data. Front Immunol 2022; 13: 868325 [PMID: 35734185 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.868325]
- 124 Reinhold WC, Varma S, Sunshine M, Elloumi F, Ofori-Atta K, Lee S, Trepel JB, Meltzer PS, Doroshow JH, Pommier Y. RNA Sequencing of the NCI-60: Integration into CellMiner and CellMiner CDB. Cancer Res 2019; 79: 3514-3524 [PMID: 31113817 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-2047]
- 125 Anderson EC, Hinton AC, Lary CW, Fenton ATHR, Antov A, Edelman E, Helbig P, Reed K, Miesfeldt S, Thomas CA, Hall MJ, Roberts JS, Rueter J, Han PKJ; MCGI Working Group. Community oncologists' perceptions and utilization of large-panel genomic tumor testing. BMC Cancer 2021; 21: 1273 [PMID: 34823486 DOI: 10.1186/s12885-021-08985-0]
- Gray SW, Hicks-Courant K, Cronin A, Rollins BJ, Weeks JC. Physicians' attitudes about multiplex tumor genomic 126 testing. J Clin Oncol 2014; 32: 1317-1323 [PMID: 24663044 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2013.52.4298]
- Miller FA, Hayeems RZ, Bytautas JP, Bedard PL, Ernst S, Hirte H, Hotte S, Oza A, Razak A, Welch S, Winquist E, 127 Dancey J, Siu LL. Testing personalized medicine: patient and physician expectations of next-generation genomic



sequencing in late-stage cancer care. Eur J Hum Genet 2014; 22: 391-395 [PMID: 23860039 DOI: 10.1038/ejhg.2013.158]

128 Hood L, Friend SH. Predictive, personalized, preventive, participatory (P4) cancer medicine. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2011; 8: 184-187 [PMID: 21364692 DOI: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2010.227]



WU

World Journal of *Gastroenterology*

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 February 7; 29(5): 800-814

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.800

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

REVIEW

Impact of chronic liver disease on SARS-CoV-2 infection outcomes: Roles of stage, etiology and vaccination

Riccardo Nevola, Livio Criscuolo, Domenico Beccia, Augusto Delle Femine, Rachele Ruocco, Simona Imbriani, Maria Alfano, Angela Villani, Antonio Russo, Pasquale Perillo, Raffaele Marfella, Luigi Elio Adinolfi, Ferdinando Carlo Sasso, Aldo Marrone, Luca Rinaldi

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Barve P, United States; Velikova TV, Bulgaria

Received: November 22, 2022 Peer-review started: November 22, 2022 First decision: December 10, 2022 Revised: December 12, 2022 Accepted: January 18, 2023 Article in press: January 18, 2023 Published online: February 7, 2023



Riccardo Nevola, Livio Criscuolo, Domenico Beccia, Augusto Delle Femine, Rachele Ruocco, Simona Imbriani, Maria Alfano, Angela Villani, Raffaele Marfella, Luigi Elio Adinolfi, Ferdinando Carlo Sasso, Aldo Marrone, Luca Rinaldi, Department of Advanced Medical and Surgical Sciences, University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Naples 80138, Italy

Riccardo Nevola, Pasquale Perillo, Internal Medicine and Hepatology Unit, Ospedale Evangelico Betania, Naples 80147, Italy

Antonio Russo, Department of Mental Health and Public Medicine, University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Naples 80138, Italy

Corresponding author: Riccardo Nevola, MD, PhD, Doctor, Department of Advanced Medical and Surgical Sciences, University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Miraglia Place, Naples 80138, Italy. riccardo.nevola@unicampania.it

Abstract

Since the first identification in December of 2019 and the fast spread of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection, it has represented a dramatic global public health concern. Though affecting mainly the respiratory system, SARS-CoV-2 disease, defined as coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), may have a systemic involvement leading to multiple organ dysfunction. Experimental evidence about the SARS-CoV-2 tropism for the liver and the increasing of hepatic cytolysis enzymes during infection support the presence of a pathophysiological relationship between liver and SARS-CoV-2. On the other side, patients with chronic liver disease have been demonstrated to have a poor prognosis with COVID-19. In particular, patients with liver cirrhosis appear extremely vulnerable to infection. Moreover, the etiology of liver disease and the vaccination status could affect the COVID-19 outcomes. This review analyzes the impact of the disease stage and the related causes on morbidity and mortality, clinical outcomes during SARS-CoV-2 infection, as well as the efficacy of vaccination in patients with chronic liver disease.

Key Words: SARS-CoV-2 infection; COVID-19; Chronic liver disease; Cirrhosis; Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; Liver injury

Zaishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: It has been observed, since the early months of the pandemic, that pre-existing liver disease was associated with a worsening of clinical outcomes in severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 infection. A correlation exists between severity of liver disease and coronavirus disease 2019-related adverse outcomes. The etiology of liver disease could significantly affect mortality rates, as well as vaccination status.

Citation: Nevola R, Criscuolo L, Beccia D, Delle Femine A, Ruocco R, Imbriani S, Alfano M, Villani A, Russo A, Perillo P, Marfella R, Adinolfi LE, Sasso FC, Marrone A, Rinaldi L. Impact of chronic liver disease on SARS-CoV-2 infection outcomes: Roles of stage, etiology and vaccination. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(5): 800-814 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i5/800.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.800

INTRODUCTION

From December 2019, the fast spread of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), a new virus belonging to the Coronavirus family of respiratory pathogens, has represented a major public health problem worldwide, leading to the declaration of a pandemic status in March 2020 by the World Health Organization (WHO)[1]. Despite the enormous efforts by health personnel and organizations, coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) has caused more than 6.5 million deaths worldwide to date [2]. While the new virus variants show a milder clinical picture with predominant involvement of the upper respiratory tract, the most severe form of SARS-CoV-2 infection characterized by acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) still represents an important cause of morbidity and mortality[3-5]. As observed since the first pandemic phases, organ involvement in COVID-19 is not limited to the respiratory tract, but can result in systemic disease with cardiovascular, renal, neurological and, last but not least, hepatic involvement. In particular, increases in the indices of hepatic cytolysis or cholestasis [mean as an increase of aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), total bilirubin (TBIL), gamma-glutamyl transferase (GGT) and alkaline phosphatase (ALP) upper range value] or a more severe acute liver injury (ALI) [defined as ALT and/or AST over 3 × upper limit of normal (ULN) or ALP, GGT, and/or TBIL over 2 × ULN] can be found in 14%-53% of SARS-CoV-2 infection[6]. The mechanism of COVID-19-associated ALI is probably multifactorial, given the combination of direct viral cytopathic effect, cytokine-induced inflammatory damage, hypoxic and drug induced liver injury [7]. ALI has been demonstrated to be a predictor of unfavorable SARS-CoV-2 infection course[8,9]. High levels of AST and TBIL at hospital admission are associated with an increased risk of COVID-19 progression[10]. The coexistence of previous liver disease worsens the outcomes of COVID-19. In fact, if on one hand SARS-CoV-2 infection can determine liver injury[6], on the other hand chronic liver diseases (CLDs) are associated to immune system and hemostasis alterations[11] that are able to accelerate some pathogenetic mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2, as cytokine storm and prothrombotic state, affecting the outcomes significantly [12,13]. In particular, patients with liver cirrhosis are at a high risk of an unfavorable SARS-CoV-2 infection course, with significantly higher mortality rates than the general population [14,15]. The occurrence of ALI during COVID-19 in this population is an additional predictor of all-cause mortality[16]. The risk of adverse outcomes in patients with chronic hepatitis is still poorly understood. Moreover, the etiology of CLD, the disease stage, potential concomitant therapies (e.g., immunosuppressive) and vaccination status could significantly impact the outcomes of COVID-19.

The aim of this review is to describe the role of liver disease during COVID-19, analyzing if and how much the stage of the disease and the related etiology can affect the SARS-CoV-2 infection outcomes and examine what is known on the clinical efficacy of vaccination in patients with CLD to date.

COVID-19 OUTCOMES AND LIVER DISEASE

Despite the prevalence of a pre-existing liver disease in COVID-19 patients appearing low (between 0.6% and 3.4%)[17-19] and not significantly related to the risk of contracting SARS-CoV-2 infection[20], the first studies showed that the presence of CLD was associated with an increase in both hospitalization rate and overall mortality[14]. In this regard, Singh et al[14] reported a relative risk (RR) for death in patients with pre-existing liver disease of 2.8 (95% CI: 1.9-4.0). Similarly, also Williamson et al [19] and Galiero *et al*[21] found a significant association between liver disease and COVID-19 mortality. A meta-analysis including about 25000 patients confirmed that CLDs were significantly associated with



more severe COVID-19 course [odds ratio (OR): 1.48; 95%CI: 1.17-1.87] and overall mortality (OR: 1.78; 95% CI: 1.09-2.93)[20]. Other studies instead did not show this association [22,23]. For example, Simon et al^[22] reported that patients with CLD show an increased risk of hospitalization for COVID-19 but not an increased mortality. Furthermore, in a recent retrospective case-control study, patients with CLD did not show more need for invasive mechanical ventilation, as well as admission to intensive care unit (ICU) and overall mortality, compared to patients without liver disease^[23].

Therefore, data on the association between liver disease and increase of mortality rates related to COVID-19 are conflicting. However, the spectrum of CLDs is very heterogeneous both for etiology and for stage disease. In fact, the risk appears directly related to the latter. Studies that evaluated all liver disease stages could have been affected by different mortality rates in patients with CLD, greater in cirrhosis stage, particularly if in decompensation. In this regard, Mallet et al[15] more recently reported, on a large French cohort, a significant increase in the need for mechanical ventilation (OR: 1.54; 95% CI: 1.44-1.64) and mortality rate (OR: 1.79; 95% CI: 1.71-1.87) in patients with CLD. However, when stratified by disease severity, authors observed that patients with decompensated liver cirrhosis showed a significantly higher mortality rate whereas patients with mild liver disease or compensated cirrhosis were not at increased risk of COVID-19-related mortality[15]. These data have been confirmed by metaanalysis of Middleton *et al*[24], in which liver cirrhosis has been shown to be associated to an increased risk of all-cause mortality in COVID-19 compared to non-cirrhotic patients. Current evidences on the role of disease stage, etiology, and vaccination on COVID-19 outcomes are summarized in Figure 1.

LIVER CIRRHOSIS AND COVID-19 CLINICAL OUTCOMES

Regardless of the etiology, the stage of liver cirrhosis is characterized by a high degree of patient frailty. The impairment of immune system, the concurrent increase of both thrombotic and hemorrhagic risk and the protein-calorie malnutrition make the patient suffering from cirrhosis vulnerable to various kinds of injuries. The frailty of the cirrhotic patient in the setting of COVID-19 is expressed by an excess of mortality and hospitalization rate compared to patients without CLD[14,15,19]. Extracting data of the subgroup of cirrhotic patients, Singh *et al*[14] had already reported that the risk of death in these patients was a 4.6-fold increase compared to ones without liver disease. As already mentioned, the mortality rate appears higher in patients with cirrhosis not only compared to patients without CLD but also when compared to patients with CLD but without cirrhosis (32% vs 8%, respectively; P < 0.001) [25]. In particular, compared to cirrhotic/SARS-CoV-2 negative patients and to non-cirrhotic/SARS-CoV-2 positive patients, those with liver cirrhosis and COVID-19 had a 2.38- and 3.31-times adjusted hazard ratio of 30-d death, respectively[26]. Similar results were found by Ioannou et al[27]. Overall, the 30-d COVID-19-related mortality rate in patients with cirrhosis is very high, ranging from 32% to 47% of cases[25,28,29]. In fact, liver cirrhosis has been proven to be an independent risk factor for COVID-19 related mortality (OR: 3.1)[29]. However, no updated mortality data are available for the new viral variants, with an apparently lower lethality rate than the wild type. Although most studies consider liver cirrhosis as an independent predictor of the risk of COVID-19-related death[15,24,26,29,30], some data would indicate that the high mortality rates in patients with cirrhosis and COVID-19 result from cirrhosis-associated comorbidities and extrahepatic organ failure rather than the liver disease itself[31]. After propensity score matching for age, sex, and extra-hepatic comorbidities, mortality rate during COVID-19 appears to be similar between patients with and without cirrhosis (28.8% vs 26.1%, respectively; P = 0.644). These results still could have been affected by the typology of matching and the methodology of data collection through registers. Among patients with liver cirrhosis, the coexistence of obesity and diabetes would further worsen the outcomes[16].

Similarly, to what was recently reported for kidney failure[32], COVID-19-related mortality risk was strongly associated with the stage of liver impairment. Overall, the 30-d mortality risk is significantly increased in patients with decompensated liver cirrhosis hospitalized for COVID-19[15,30]. Mortality rates increased according to Child-Pugh (CP) class, raising from 19% of class A (OR: 1.90), to 35% of class B (OR: 4.14) up to 51% of class C (OR: 9.32)[25]. In particular a CP score \geq 9 at hospital admission would be predictive of high mortality[16]. Compared to patients without liver disease, a CP class B and C cirrhosis would bring an additional mortality rate of +20% and +38.1%, respectively [25]. In this regard, it seems that the Chronic Liver Failure Consortium had better performance in predicting 28-d mortality than CP score and model for end-stage liver disease-Na in patients with cirrhosis and COVID-19[29]. Moreover, in cirrhotic patients, an increasing trend of bilirubin and AST/ALT ratio[16] or the occurrence of liver injury[10,21] would be predictive of mortality.

The most frequent cause of mortality in patients with liver cirrhosis and COVID-19 remains the respiratory failure (71%)[25]. However, acute liver decompensation occurred in up to 46% of patients, even without respiratory symptoms. Liver related complications increased according to stage of liver disease^[16]. It is known that infections (bacterial more than viral) may lead to liver decompensation, hepatorenal syndrome and portosystemic encephalopathy, and are one of the most frequent causes of acute-on-chronic liver failure (ACLF) and death in patients with cirrhosis. Conclusive data on the comparison between the SARS-CoV-2 infection outcomes and those of other infectious precipitants are





DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.800 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Impact of chronic liver disease on severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 infection outcomes: role of stage, etiology and vaccination. ALD: Alcohol-related liver disease; CLD: Chronic liver disease; COVID-19: Coronavirus disease 2019; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; NAFLD: Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; SARS-CoV-2: Severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus 2.

> currently not available. However, some data indicate that in-hospital mortality rates would be significantly higher in cirrhotic patients with COVID-19 than in those with other bacterial infections [28]. Overall, about 45% of patients with CLD develop ACLF[16]. Higher rates are reported for patients with liver cirrhosis. Moreover, cirrhotic patients with diabetes or obesity had higher ACLF rates than non-diabetic or normal weight patients (OR: 2.1 and 8.9, respectively)[16]. Similarly, to other viral infections, ACLF during COVID-19 could result from an immune-mediated response to viral antigens in the context of a cytokine storm[33], as well as a direct cytopathic effect or iatrogenic injury. Multi-organ damage caused by SARS-CoV-2 is significantly more frequent in immunocompromised patients[34]. The impairment of the immune system in the case of liver cirrhosis due to bone marrow suppression, lower protein synthesis and cirrhosis associated immune dysfunction syndrome, could explain the high rates of ACLF and the severe course in cirrhotic patients.

> If in-hospital, COVID-19-related mortality was significantly increased in patients with liver cirrhosis and little is known about post-acute outcomes. Recently, Vaishnav et al[35] analyzed the post-discharge mortality of cirrhotic patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection. The data indicate that mortality rates within 2 mo of discharge among COVID-19 survivors are comparable between patients with liver cirrhosis and those without.

Hepatocellular carcinoma

Little data is currently available on SARS-CoV-2 infection clinical course and outcomes in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Indeed, in studies performed during the first pandemic phase on COVID-19-related outcomes in cancer patients, those with HCC were underrepresented [36,37].

Although data are not univocal^[25], several studies include the presence of HCC among the independent predictors of COVID-19-related mortality[15,30,38]. Among patients with CLD and COVID-19, HCC patients had 3.31 times the hazard of death for all causes, regardless of the presence of liver cirrhosis[30]. Beyond the association with mortality, according to Mallet *et al*[15] the presence of HCC is also predictive of a severe course of COVID-19 and a greater need for mechanical ventilation. Muñoz-Martínez et al[38] evaluated the SARS-CoV-2 infection course in 250 patients with primary liver cancer (218 with HCC and 32 with intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma). In patients with HCC, a 30-d mortality rate of 18.4% was observed, with a statistically significant trend according to the stage of cirrhosis (assessed by CP) and tumor [assessed by Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer (BCLC)]. In particular, the mortality rates increased from 6.10% for BCLC-0/A, to 11.76% for BCLC-B, to 20.69% for BCLC-C and 34.52% for BCLC-D[38].

The high COVID-19 related mortality in patients with HCC could result from the link between viral infection and the impairment of the immune-system secondary to active neoplasm, antineoplastic therapy and the frequent coexistence of liver cirrhosis.

Liver transplant recipients

In the analysis of the correlation between SARS-CoV-2 infection and CLD, patients who have undergone liver transplant (LT) represent a separate group due to the effects of chronic immunosuppressive therapy. The hypothesis that this therapy could increase the susceptibility to SARS-CoV-2 has been



suggested from some population studies [39-41]. Observational studies on western populations have reported a mortality of 16%-22% in hepatotransplant patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection[42,43] in livertransplant patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection, finding an increased survival in the short-term LT recipients (< 2 years), usually treated with full doses of immunosuppressants. This data support the hypothesis that, more than the immunosuppressive effect itself, the main cause of death in these patients is represented by the long-term cardio-metabolic effects induced by immunosuppressive drugs [44].

The study of the correlation between the type of immunosuppressive drug and COVID-19 outcomes in patients who have undergone LT has led to non-univocal results. During the first pandemic wave, Colmenero et al[39] reported that mycophenolate mofetil therapy in liver-transplant patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection was associated with an increased risk of a severe course of COVID-19 (RR 3.94, P =0.003)[39]. Therapies with calcineurin inhibitors or everolimus, instead, have been shown to not be associated with an increased likelihood of adverse outcome. Furthermore, discontinuation of immunosuppressive therapy did not show benefits [39]. On the contrary, Webb et al [45] did not find any correlation between the type of immunosuppressant and mortality rate in patient with previous LT and SARS-CoV-2 infection. They highlighted that LT seems to not significantly increase the COVID-19related mortality rate. These data are supported by the results of a meta-analysis including the main studies performed on LT patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection[46]. In these patients the 30-d mortality was comparable to the mortality rate found in the general population (OR: 0.90, 95% CI: 0.55-1.47). In light of unavailability of univocal data, the European Association for the Study of the Liver suggests to personalize immunosuppressive therapy changes based on patient's medical history, disease severity and the type of ongoing immunosuppressive therapy [47].

CHRONIC HEPATITIS AND COVID-19 CLINICAL OUTCOMES

As mentioned above, if liver cirrhosis is associated with high rates of COVID-19-related mortality, several data indicate that patients with chronic hepatitis do not show an increased risk[15]. However, in addition to the stage of the disease, the different etiology could also affect the COVID-19 outcomes (Figure 1).

Alcohol-related liver disease

During the pandemic, the relationship between alcohol and SARS-CoV-2 infection has been shown to be bidirectional. On one hand, the isolation and socio-economic uncertainties resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic have led to an increase in alcohol consumption[48], already on the rise in the last 20 years [49]. On the other hand, several studies reported that alcohol-related liver disease (ALD) seems to be associated with a poorer prognosis for COVID-19 than the other etiologies [15,25,30,50]. In this regard, Marjot *et al*[25] showed ALD to be an independent risk factor for death from COVID-19 (OR: 1.79; 95% CI: 1.03-3.13). Similar results have been obtained from Mallet *et al*[15] and Kim *et al*[30]. Recently Bailey et al^[50] confirmed that alcohol use disorders (AUDs) worsen the COVID-19 course and are associated with an increased hospitalization rate and all-cause mortality compared to patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection but without AUDs.

AUDs are already known as a risk factor for ARDS and ARDS-related multiorgan failure[51]. In fact, chronic alcohol consumption has been demonstrated to cause significative alterations in epithelial and endothelial cell function, surfactant synthesis and secretion, lung matrix composition and alveolarcapillary barrier function. Such alterations could increase susceptibility to respiratory pathogens, like SARS-CoV-2, leading to higher ARDS rates and adverse outcomes compared to patients without AUDs. Furthermore, ethanol exposure could stimulate the activity of key inflammatory mediators with a proinflammatory response further exacerbated by SARS-CoV-2 infection, resulting in a more severe course of COVID-19[52].

Chronic viral hepatitis

Several studies analyzed the mutual interaction between chronic hepatitis B virus (HBV) and SARS-CoV-2 infection, investigating whether the underlying viral disease could determine a worse prognosis during the COVID-19 course. Numerous data suggest that patients with chronic HBV infection have similar characteristics to HBV-negative patients in prevalence of laboratory abnormalities (changes in cytolysis and cholestasis liver markers), severity of the COVID-19 course and mortality[53-55]. The absence of a significant correlation between COVID-19-related outcomes and chronic viral hepatitis is confirmed by meta-analysis of Sarkar et al[56], in which the Authors found no significant impact on overall mortality during SARS-CoV-2 infection. Neither the degree of HBV replicative activity seems to affect the SARS-CoV-2 infection outcomes; inactive carriers or patients with previous infection have ALI and mortality rates comparable to patients with active hepatitis[57,58]. As further demonstration of the absence of correlation between HBV replicative activity and COVID-19-related outcomes, antiviral therapy for HBV is not able to determine a significant impact on mortality, need for admission to the ICU and hospitalization length[59]. Apparently, conflicting with these data, Yang et al[60] showed that



the HBeAg-positive chronic HBV hepatitis are associated with a higher rate of hospitalization in ICU and mortality. However, the Authors did not stratify the study cohort in relation to disease stage and the impact of the presence of liver cirrhosis and organ failure on these results is unknown. Finally, the role and safety of immunosuppressive therapies (*e.g.*, corticosteroids, IL-6 pathway inhibitors such as tocilizumab) used in cases of SARS-CoV-2-related ARDS were evaluated for the risk of HBV reactivation in patients with biohumoral signs of previous infection (HBsAg-negative, HBcAb-positive). In these patients, the risk of HBV reactivation following immunosuppressive treatment for COVID-19 appears negligible and not influenced by any antiviral prophylaxis[61].

Little data are available to date on the association between the severity of COVID-19 course and chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection. Some studies report an increase of mortality for patients with chronic HCV infection[62]. However, also in this case, the proportion of patients with liver cirrhosis and the related impact on outcomes is unknown. Butt *et al*[63] showed similar COVID-19-related mortality rates among HCV-positive patients compared to HCV-negatives, despite a higher hospitalization rate. However, in the study population, HCV patients show a higher prevalence of liver cirrhosis than those not with HCV (8.1% *vs* 1.4%, respectively; P < 0.0001). Lastly, Cerbu *et al*[64] investigated the differences in outcomes between patients with active HCV infection and those who were under treatment or achieved sustained virological response. They found that patients with active infection showed an overall worse prognosis in terms of hospitalization, severe COVID-19 course, ICU admission and all-cause mortality compared to non-viremic patients. Regarding this, the early treatment with sofosbuvir/velpatasvir combination (used for HCV infection) in patients with COVID-19 has been shown to be effective in speeding up the clearance of SARS-CoV-2 and preventing disease progression [65].

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is currently the most frequent etiology of liver disease worldwide, affecting approximately 32.5% of the global population[66]. It is closely associated to metabolic comorbidities such as obesity, diabetes mellitus, arterial hypertension and chronic kidney failure[67]. Such comorbidities related to NAFLD have been shown to play a predictive role for adverse outcomes in COVID-19, being associated with higher rates of hospitalization, mechanical ventilation and mortality [19,68]. For these reasons, great attention has been paid to determine whether NAFLD itself could represent an independent prognostic factor in COVID-19. However, studies in this setting are affected by the variability in the definition of NALFD patients, using for this purpose clinicalanamnestic or radiological (by ultrasound or computed tomography) criteria or score [hepatic steatosis index (HSI)] in different ways. Data currently available are not univocal. In one of the very first reports, Ji *et al*[69] showed that, net of comorbidities, NAFLD (diagnosed by ultrasound or by a value > 36 of the sums of HSI and body mass index) was an independent predictor of COVID-19 progression (OR: 6.4; 95% CI: 1.5-31.2). Furthermore, NAFLD was associated with higher prevalence of ALI during hospital stay and a slower viral clearance compared to the control group without NAFLD. Mahamid *et al*^[70] later confirmed these data, despite the small cohort size. Conversely, in a recent case control study, NAFLD was not found to be associated with higher in-hospital mortality rates, need for ventilatory support, ICU admission, or overall length of hospital stay^[71]. Similar results have been obtained by Marjot et al[25] and Kim et al[30]. Also, in the study by Vrsaljko et al[72], NAFLD is not shown to be independently correlated to a severe course of COVID-19 and to mortality rates in the multivariate analysis, while it appears significantly related to the hospitalization length and the incidence of pulmonary thrombosis.

Moreover, the nomenclature of NALFD recently has been changed to metabolic associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD)[73]. At the same time, the diagnostic criteria have been redefined and the results do not overlap with the previous ones. These new criteria have also been recently applied in the setting of patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection, showing conflicting data in this case as well. In this regard, Vá zquez-Medina et al^[74] reported that patients with MAFLD, but not those with NAFLD, have higher mortality rates (55.0% vs 38.3%; P = 0.02) than the control group not MAFLD/not NAFLD, whereas both MAFLD and NAFLD are associated with a higher rate of orotracheal intubation. Gao et al[75] confirmed that MAFLD increases by 4 times the risk of a severe course of COVID-19 and the association remains even after adjusting for age, sex, and comorbidities. Surprisingly, some preliminary data would indicate that the correlation between MAFLD and severity of COVID-19 course is more significant in patients under 60[76]. In contrast to the above-mentioned studies, Campos-Murguía et al[77] observed that fibrosis rather than MAFLD is associated with a severe course of COVID-19 (increased need for mechanical ventilation, increased incidence of acute kidney injury), and higher mortality. However, in most of these studies enrolled patients were not evaluated for the possible presence of liver cirrhosis. This could represent a significant bias with a potential impact on the results. As expected, the presence of intermediate or advanced liver fibrosis in patients with MAFLD is indeed associated with a higher risk of severe COVID-19[78]. In this regard, advanced fibrosis has been shown to determine a significant increase in mortality risk both in patients diagnosed with MAFLD and in those diagnosed with NAFLD compared to patients without CLD[74] and patients with mild or moderate liver fibrosis[79].

Zaishidene® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Recently, a large-scale 2-sample Mendelian randomization analysis had been carried out in order to provide possible conclusive data on the association between NAFLD and the COVID-19 course[80]. Although NAFLD is associated with a severe course of SARS-CoV-2 infection in univariate analysis, this association disappears after adjustment for age, sex, and comorbidities. Therefore, the Authors conclude that there is no evidence supporting that NAFLD is a causal risk factor for severe COVID-19. The results favoring this association are probably attributable to the correlation between NAFLD and obesity.

Autoimmune liver disease

The incidence of COVID-19 in patients with autoimmune hepatitis (AIH) is comparable to that of the general population[81,82]. Despite that available data are limited, the main studies agree that patients with AIH do not present significant differences in hospitalization rates, disease severity and mortality during SARS-CoV-2 infection compared to patients with non-AIH CLD and the general population[83, 84]. However, steroid treatment during COVID-19, when not indicated, can cause a more severe course of the disease. While steroids represent a cornerstone in the therapy of SARS-CoV-2-related ARDS[85, 86], particularly when associated to antiviral drugs[87], their use is not recommended in the absence of respiratory failure due to lack of benefit and potential worsening of outcomes[85,86]. In this regard, Efe et al[88]recently highlighted that the use of corticosteroids or azathioprine for AIH therapy is associated with a significant increase in the risk of severe form of COVID-19 (OR: 4.73; 95% CI: 1.12-25.89), even after adjusting for demographic characteristics, comorbidities and presence of liver cirrhosis. However, in the absence of conclusive data, any remodulation of immunosuppressive therapy during SARS-CoV-2 infection should be personalized after a careful assessment of the risks and benefits [47].

Role and efficacy of vaccination in patients with CLD and liver cirrhosis

The global availability of anti-SARS-CoV-2 vaccines in the last months of 2020 has resulted in a reduction of hospitalization and mortality rates from COVID-19 despite the succession of different viral variants[89]. Given their vulnerability profile in cases of SARS-CoV-2 infection, such vaccines have been strictly recommended in LT recipients and patients with CLD, with priority to cirrhotic patients and those with HCC or ALD (Figure 1)[90-92]. In this setting, vaccines have found to be generally safe[93-95], although sporadic cases of post-vaccinal ALI are reported, with predominantly hepatocellular and immune-mediated injury due to a probable aberrant response of the immune system after vaccine stimulation[96].

Despite the strong indication, patients with CLD (particularly those with liver cirrhosis) appear underrepresented in phase III trials of anti-SARS-CoV-2 vaccines, both for mRNA and viral vector ones [97-99]. In fact, CLD and in particular the presence of significant liver fibrosis could negatively affect the production of innate immunity proteins and the count and performance of B and T lymphocytes[100]. For this reason, in the last 2 years, a growing number of clinical studies have investigated the efficacy of anti-SARS-CoV-2 vaccines in patients with CLD. Anti-SARS-CoV-2 vaccines are able to determine both a T-cell and a humoral response, stimulating the production of antibodies directed against the Spike protein (seroconversion) and neutralizing antibodies[101,102]. Prospective studies compared the immunological response induced by a full course of mRNA vaccines and/or viral vector vaccines in patients with liver cirrhosis and controls[93-95]. Almost all patients with liver cirrhosis showed production of anti-Spike antibodies and a neutralizing antibody activity, similar to patients without liver cirrhosis[93]. A recent meta-analysis confirmed comparable seroconversion rates between cirrhotic patients and patients with CLD without cirrhosis[100]. Despite comparable seroconversion rates, Iavarone *et al*^[95] reported a statistically significant difference in the antibody titer developed by patients with liver cirrhosis after vaccination compared to controls (1751 U/mL vs 4523 U/mL; P = 0.012). In particular, CP classes B and C and the presence of HCC would appear to be independently associated with low levels of antibody titer. We hypothesize that this suboptimal vaccine response could potentially indicate partial protection against SARS-CoV-2 infection and a reduction in its duration, particularly in patients with decompensated cirrhosis. Furthermore, with regard to the cellular response induced by the vaccine, the production of interferon-gamma after spike-specific stimulation of T lymphocytes is detectable only in 65.4% of patients with liver cirrhosis, against 100% of controls[94].

Beyond humoral response, little data are available on clinical efficacy of anti-SARS-CoV-2 vaccines in patients with CLD. The most important knowledge on this issue have been acquired from Veterans Outcomes and Costs Associated with Liver Disease cohort[103] and National COVID Cohort Collaborative registers[104]. In the first study, John et al[103] compared overall and COVID-19-related mortality 60 d after SARS-CoV-2 infection in cirrhotic patients receiving mRNA vaccine and cirrhotic patients not previously vaccinated. Unequivocally, postvaccination COVID-19 was associated with reduced mortality rates (HR: 0.21; 95% CI: 0.11-0.42) compared to unvaccinated patients with liver cirrhosis, with an overall reduction in the risk of death of approximately 80%. The benefit of vaccination is also statistically significant in patients with decompensated cirrhosis and in those who have not completed the vaccination course[103]. Similar results have been reported also by Ge et al[104], whose study is available only in "pre-print" version to date. This study, carried out during SARS-CoV-2 alpha and delta variants predominance, describes a 66% reduction in 30-d mortality in vaccinated cirrhotic patients compared to unvaccinated patients with liver cirrhosis. Furthermore, the administration of the third dose of mRNA vaccine in cirrhotic patients seems to lead to an 80% reduction in cases of SARS-



CoV-2 infection (symptomatic or asymptomatic) and a 100% reduction in the severe forms of COVID-19 and related death compared to the administration of two doses, overcoming the hyporesponsiveness to vaccines in these patients^[105]. The impact of the third vaccine dose appears stronger among patients with compensated rather than decompensated cirrhosis.

If patients with liver cirrhosis show overall suboptimal but effective seroconversion rates on protection against risk of death and a severe COVID-19 course, data obtained from LT recipients appear less encouraging. In fact, LT recipients show lower vaccine response [94,100,106]. Seroconversion rates in these patients range from 47.5% and 65%, significantly lower than controls [94,107]. Overall, 28% of patients undergoing LT did neither develop a T-cell nor a humoral response after vaccination[94]. An optimal humoral response is developed in only one third of liver transplant patients[107]. Among the factors associated with vaccine response rate in this setting, studies agree in identifying advanced age, alcoholic etiology of liver disease, and immunosuppressive therapy as independent predictors of reduced antibody response [93,106,108]. Conclusive data on the correlation with the specific immunosuppressive regimen are not available to date. Some studies would indicate that the reduced antibody response is particularly significant for patients treated with mycophenolate mofetil[106,108] or high doses of steroids[106]. Other manuscripts reported instead a negative correlation with calcineurin inhibitors compared to other immunosuppressive drugs[94]. Thuluvath et al[107] highlights that the use of ≥ 2 immunosuppression drugs is associated with poor immune response.

Finally, at the moment, few data are available about the influence of CLD etiology on vaccineinduced immune responses. Among the various etiologies, despite the high seroconversion rates, AIH patients show a significantly lower antibody titer than both patients with autoimmune cholestatic liver disease and controls, independently from the presence of liver cirrhosis and the ongoing immunosuppressive therapy[109]. Despite this, the clinical benefit of vaccination appears consistently in AIH patients, showing a significative reduction in hospitalization, severe course and COVID-19-related mortality rates (adjusted OR: 0.20)[110].

CONCLUSION

Patients with CLD are more vulnerable to SARS-CoV-2 infection. In particular, patients with liver cirrhosis show higher hospitalization rates, severe COVID-19 course and mortality than the general population. Mortality rates increase according to stage of cirrhosis. Among etiologies, ALD is the most frequently associated to adverse outcomes. Patients with NAFLD have high mortality rates and severe COVID-19 course in relation to the high burden of comorbidities. Anti-SARS-CoV-2 vaccination is safe and effective in patients with CLD: in particular, patients with liver cirrhosis benefit from a complete vaccination course. Patients who have undergone liver transplant show higher mortality rates and a reduced humoral response to vaccination. In any case, vaccination should be encouraged in all patients with CLD, particularly for those at higher risk due to disease stage and related etiology.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Nevola R and Criscuolo L contributed to the study conception and design; Criscuolo L, Nevola R, Beccia D, Delle Femine A, Imbriani S, Alfano M, Ruocco R, Villani A, Russo A and Perillo P reviewed the literature; The first draft of the manuscript was written by Criscuolo L and Nevola R; Claar E, Marfella R, Adinolfi LE, Sasso FC, Marrone A and Rinaldi L edited the draft and revised the manuscript for important intellectual content; All authors commented on previous versions of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Italy

ORCID number: Riccardo Nevola 0000-0003-3320-3878; Antonio Russo 0000-0002-4224-5343; Raffaele Marfella 0000-0003-3960-9270; Luigi Elio Adinolfi 0000-0001-8453-4912; Ferdinando Carlo Sasso 0000-0002-9142-7848; Aldo Marrone 0000-0001-7329-4159; Luca Rinaldi 0000-0002-6541-3821.

S-Editor: Zhang H L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Zhang H



REFERENCES

- Cucinotta D, Vanelli M. WHO Declares COVID-19 a Pandemic. Acta Biomed 2020; 91: 157-160 [PMID: 32191675 1 DOI: 10.23750/abm.v91i1.9397]
- 2 WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard. [cited 22 November 2022]. Available from: https://covid19.who.int
- Fan Y, Li X, Zhang L, Wan S, Zhou F. SARS-CoV-2 Omicron variant: recent progress and future perspectives. Signal 3 Transduct Target Ther 2022; 7: 141 [PMID: 35484110 DOI: 10.1038/s41392-022-00997-x]
- 4 Le TTB, Vasanthakumaran T, Thi Hien HN, Hung IC, Luu MN, Khan ZA, An NT, Tran VP, Lee WJ, Abdul Aziz JM, Ali T, Dumre SP, Huy NT. SARS-CoV-2 Omicron and its current known unknowns: A narrative review. Rev Med Virol 2022; e2398 [PMID: 36150052 DOI: 10.1002/rmv.2398]
- 5 Lewnard JA, Hong VX, Patel MM, Kahn R, Lipsitch M, Tartof SY. Clinical outcomes associated with SARS-CoV-2 Omicron (B.1.1.529) variant and BA.1/BA.1.1 or BA.2 subvariant infection in Southern California. Nat Med 2022; 28: 1933-1943 [PMID: 35675841 DOI: 10.1038/s41591-022-01887-z]
- Jothimani D, Venugopal R, Abedin MF, Kaliamoorthy I, Rela M. COVID-19 and the liver. J Hepatol 2020; 73: 1231-6 1240 [PMID: 32553666 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.06.006]
- 7 Yu D, Du Q, Yan S, Guo XG, He Y, Zhu G, Zhao K, Ouyang S. Liver injury in COVID-19: clinical features and treatment management. Virol J 2021; 18: 121 [PMID: 34108015 DOI: 10.1186/s12985-021-01593-1]
- 8 Sharma A, Jaiswal P, Kerakhan Y, Saravanan L, Murtaza Z, Zergham A, Honganur NS, Akbar A, Deol A, Francis B, Patel S, Mehta D, Jaiswal R, Singh J, Patel U, Malik P. Liver disease and outcomes among COVID-19 hospitalized patients - A systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Hepatol 2021; 21: 100273 [PMID: 33075578 DOI: 10.1016/j.aohep.2020.10.001]
- Yadav DK, Singh A, Zhang Q, Bai X, Zhang W, Yadav RK, Zhiwei L, Adhikari VP, Liang T. Involvement of liver in COVID-19: systematic review and meta-analysis. Gut 2021; 70: 807-809 [PMID: 32669289 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-322072]
- 10 Russo A, Pisaturo M, Palladino R, Maggi P, Numis FG, Gentile I, Sangiovanni V, Esposito V, Punzi R, Calabria G, Rescigno C, Salomone Megna A, Masullo A, Manzillo E, Russo G, Parrella R, Dell'Aquila G, Gambardella M, Ponticiello A, Coppola N; On Behalf Of CoviCam Group. Prognostic Value of Transaminases and Bilirubin Levels at Admission to Hospital on Disease Progression and Mortality in Patients with COVID-19-An Observational Retrospective Study. Pathogens 2022; 11 [PMID: 35745506 DOI: 10.3390/pathogens11060652]
- 11 Albillos A, Lario M, Álvarez-Mon M. Cirrhosis-associated immune dysfunction: distinctive features and clinical relevance. J Hepatol 2014; 61: 1385-1396 [PMID: 25135860 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2014.08.010]
- Zhang C, Shi L, Wang FS. Liver injury in COVID-19: management and challenges. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 12 **5**: 428-430 [PMID: 32145190 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(20)30057-1]
- Sonzogni A, Previtali G, Seghezzi M, Grazia Alessio M, Gianatti A, Licini L, Morotti D, Zerbi P, Carsana L, Rossi R, 13 Lauri E, Pellegrinelli A, Nebuloni M. Liver histopathology in severe COVID 19 respiratory failure is suggestive of vascular alterations. Liver Int 2020; 40: 2110-2116 [PMID: 32654359 DOI: 10.1111/liv.14601]
- 14 Singh S, Khan A. Clinical Characteristics and Outcomes of Coronavirus Disease 2019 Among Patients With Preexisting Liver Disease in the United States: A Multicenter Research Network Study. Gastroenterology 2020; 159: 768-771.e3 [PMID: 32376408 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.04.064]
- 15 Mallet V, Beeker N, Bouam S, Sogni P, Pol S; Demosthenes research group. Prognosis of French COVID-19 patients with chronic liver disease: A national retrospective cohort study for 2020. J Hepatol 2021; 75: 848-855 [PMID: 33992699 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.04.052]
- Sarin SK, Choudhury A, Lau GK, Zheng MH, Ji D, Abd-Elsalam S, Hwang J, Qi X, Cua IH, Suh JI, Park JG, Putcharoen 16 O, Kaewdech A, Piratvisuth T, Treeprasertsuk S, Park S, Wejnaruemarn S, Payawal DA, Baatarkhuu O, Ahn SH, Yeo CD, Alonzo UR, Chinbayar T, Loho IM, Yokosuka O, Jafri W, Tan S, Soo LI, Tanwandee T, Gani R, Anand L, Esmail ES, Khalaf M, Alam S, Lin CY, Chuang WL, Soin AS, Garg HK, Kalista K, Batsukh B, Purnomo HD, Dara VP, Rathi P, Al Mahtab M, Shukla A, Sharma MK, Omata M; APASL COVID Task Force, APASL COVID Liver Injury Spectrum Study (APCOLIS Study-NCT 04345640). Pre-existing liver disease is associated with poor outcome in patients with SARS CoV2 infection; The APCOLIS Study (APASL COVID-19 Liver Injury Spectrum Study). Hepatol Int 2020; 14: 690-700 [PMID: 32623632 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-020-10072-8]
- 17 Mantovani A, Beatrice G, Dalbeni A. Coronavirus disease 2019 and prevalence of chronic liver disease: A meta-analysis. Liver Int 2020; 40: 1316-1320 [PMID: 32329563 DOI: 10.1111/liv.14465]
- 18 Docherty AB, Harrison EM, Green CA, Hardwick HE, Pius R, Norman L, Holden KA, Read JM, Dondelinger F, Carson G, Merson L, Lee J, Plotkin D, Sigfrid L, Halpin S, Jackson C, Gamble C, Horby PW, Nguyen-Van-Tam JS, Ho A, Russell CD, Dunning J, Openshaw PJ, Baillie JK, Semple MG; ISARIC4C investigators. Features of 20 133 UK patients in hospital with covid-19 using the ISARIC WHO Clinical Characterisation Protocol: prospective observational cohort study. BMJ 2020; 369: m1985 [PMID: 32444460 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.m1985]
- 19 Williamson EJ, Walker AJ, Bhaskaran K, Bacon S, Bates C, Morton CE, Curtis HJ, Mehrkar A, Evans D, Inglesby P, Cockburn J, McDonald HI, MacKenna B, Tomlinson L, Douglas IJ, Rentsch CT, Mathur R, Wong AYS, Grieve R, Harrison D, Forbes H, Schultze A, Croker R, Parry J, Hester F, Harper S, Perera R, Evans SJW, Smeeth L, Goldacre B. Factors associated with COVID-19-related death using OpenSAFELY. Nature 2020; 584: 430-436 [PMID: 32640463 DOI: 10.1038/s41586-020-2521-4]
- 20 Kovalic AJ, Satapathy SK, Thuluvath PJ. Prevalence of chronic liver disease in patients with COVID-19 and their clinical outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepatol Int 2020; 14: 612-620 [PMID: 32725453 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-020-10078-2]
- 21 Galiero R, Pafundi PC, Simeon V, Rinaldi L, Perrella A, Vetrano E, Caturano A, Alfano M, Beccia D, Nevola R, Marfella R, Sardu C, Coppola C, Scarano F, Maggi P, De Lucia Sposito P, Vocciante L, Rescigno C, Sbreglia C, Fraganza F, Parrella R, Romano A, Calabria G, Polverino B, Pagano A, Bologna C, Amitrano M, Esposito V, Coppola N, Maturo N, Adinolfi LE, Chiodini P, Sasso FC; COVOCA Study Group. Impact of chronic liver disease upon admission on



COVID-19 in-hospital mortality: Findings from COVOCA study. PLoS One 2020; 15: e0243700 [PMID: 33301529 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0243700]

- Simon TG, Hagström H, Sharma R, Söderling J, Roelstraete B, Larsson E, Ludvigsson JF. Risk of severe COVID-19 and 22 mortality in patients with established chronic liver disease: a nationwide matched cohort study. BMC Gastroenterol 2021; 21: 439 [PMID: 34814851 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-021-02017-8]
- Ferreira AI, Sarmento MH, Cotter J. Predictors of clinical outcomes of hospitalized patients with Covid-19: focusing on 23 pre-existing liver disease. Intern Emerg Med 2022; 17: 2209-2217 [PMID: 35904701 DOI: 10.1007/s11739-022-03044-3]
- 24 Middleton P, Hsu C, Lythgoe MP. Clinical outcomes in COVID-19 and cirrhosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. BMJ Open Gastroenterol 2021; 8 [PMID: 34675033 DOI: 10.1136/bmjgast-2021-000739]
- 25 Marjot T, Moon AM, Cook JA, Abd-Elsalam S, Aloman C, Armstrong MJ, Pose E, Brenner EJ, Cargill T, Catana MA, Dhanasekaran R, Eshraghian A, García-Juárez I, Gill US, Jones PD, Kennedy J, Marshall A, Matthews C, Mells G, Mercer C, Perumalswami PV, Avitabile E, Qi X, Su F, Ufere NN, Wong YJ, Zheng MH, Barnes E, Barritt AS 4th, Webb GJ. Outcomes following SARS-CoV-2 infection in patients with chronic liver disease: An international registry study. J Hepatol 2021; 74: 567-577 [PMID: 33035628 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.09.024]
- Ge J, Pletcher MJ, Lai JC; N3C Consortium. Outcomes of SARS-CoV-2 Infection in Patients With Chronic Liver Disease 26 and Cirrhosis: A National COVID Cohort Collaborative Study. Gastroenterology 2021; 161: 1487-1501.e5 [PMID: 34284037 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2021.07.010]
- 27 Ioannou GN, Liang PS, Locke E, Green P, Berry K, O'Hare AM, Shah JA, Crothers K, Eastment MC, Fan VS, Dominitz JA. Cirrhosis and Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 Infection in US Veterans: Risk of Infection, Hospitalization, Ventilation, and Mortality. Hepatology 2021; 74: 322-335 [PMID: 33219546 DOI: 10.1002/hep.31649]
- Iavarone M, D'Ambrosio R, Soria A, Triolo M, Pugliese N, Del Poggio P, Perricone G, Massironi S, Spinetti A, 28 Buscarini E, Viganò M, Carriero C, Fagiuoli S, Aghemo A, Belli LS, Lucà M, Pedaci M, Rimondi A, Rumi MG, Invernizzi P, Bonfanti P, Lampertico P. High rates of 30-day mortality in patients with cirrhosis and COVID-19. J Hepatol 2020; 73: 1063-1071 [PMID: 32526252 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.06.001]
- 29 Mendizabal M, Ridruejo E, Piñero F, Anders M, Padilla M, Toro LG, Torre A, Montes P, Urzúa A, Gonzalez Ballerga E, Silveyra MD, Michelato D, Díaz J, Peralta M, Pages J, García SR, Gutierrez Lozano I, Macias Y, Cocozzella D, Chavez-Tapia N, Tagle M, Dominguez A, Varón A, Vera Pozo E, Higuera-de la Tijera F, Bustios C, Conte D, Escajadillo N, Gómez AJ, Tenorio L, Castillo Barradas M, Schinoni MI, Bessone F, Contreras F, Nazal L, Sanchez A, García M, Brutti J, Cabrera MC, Miranda-Zazueta G, Rojas G, Cattaneo M, Castro-Narro G, Rubinstein F, Silva MO. Comparison of different prognostic scores for patients with cirrhosis hospitalized with SARS-CoV-2 infection. Ann Hepatol 2021; 25: 100350 [PMID: 33864948 DOI: 10.1016/j.aohep.2021.100350]
- Kim D, Adeniji N, Latt N, Kumar S, Bloom PP, Aby ES, Perumalswami P, Roytman M, Li M, Vogel AS, Catana AM, 30 Wegermann K, Carr RM, Aloman C, Chen VL, Rabiee A, Sadowski B, Nguyen V, Dunn W, Chavin KD, Zhou K, Lizaola-Mayo B, Moghe A, Debes J, Lee TH, Branch AD, Viveiros K, Chan W, Chascsa DM, Kwo P, Dhanasekaran R. Predictors of Outcomes of COVID-19 in Patients With Chronic Liver Disease: US Multi-center Study. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 19: 1469-1479.e19 [PMID: 32950749 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2020.09.027]
- Brozat JF, Hanses F, Haelberger M, Stecher M, Dreher M, Tometten L, Ruethrich MM, Vehreschild JJ, Trautwein C, 31 Borgmann S, Vehreschild MJGT, Jakob CEM, Stallmach A, Wille K, Hellwig K, Isberner N, Reuken PA, Geisler F, Nattermann J, Bruns T; LEOSS study group. COVID-19 mortality in cirrhosis is determined by cirrhosis-associated comorbidities and extrahepatic organ failure: Results from the multinational LEOSS registry. United European Gastroenterol J 2022; 10: 409-424 [PMID: 35482663 DOI: 10.1002/ueg2.12232]
- 32 Galiero R. Simeon V. Loffredo G. Caturano A. Rinaldi L. Vetrano E. Medicamento G. Alfano M. Beccia D. Brin C. Colantuoni S, Di Salvo J, Epifani R, Nevola R, Marfella R, Sardu C, Coppola C, Scarano F, Maggi P, Calabrese C, De Lucia Sposito P, Rescigno C, Sbreglia C, Fraganza F, Parrella R, Romano A, Calabria G, Polverino B, Pagano A, Numis FG, Bologna C, Nunziata M, Esposito V, Coppola N, Maturo N, Nasti R, Di Micco P, Perrella A, Lettieri M, Adinolfi LE, Chiodini P, Sasso FC; On Behalf Of Covoca Study Group. Association between Renal Function at Admission and COVID-19 in-Hospital Mortality in Southern Italy: Findings from the Prospective Multicenter Italian COVOCA Study. J Clin Med 2022; 11 [PMID: 36294442 DOI: 10.3390/jcm11206121]
- Adams DH, Hubscher SG. Systemic viral infections and collateral damage in the liver. Am J Pathol 2006; 168: 1057-33 1059 [PMID: 16565481 DOI: 10.2353/ajpath.2006.051296]
- D'Antiga L. Coronaviruses and Immunosuppressed Patients: The Facts During the Third Epidemic. Liver Transpl 2020; 34 26: 832-834 [PMID: 32196933 DOI: 10.1002/lt.25756]
- 35 Vaishnav M, Elhence A, Biswas S, Pathak P, Anand A, Sheikh S, Singh V, Maitra S, Goel A, Shalimar. The Outcome in Cirrhosis after Hospital Discharge is Not Worsened with COVID-19 Infection: A Propensity Score-matched Analysis. J Clin Exp Hepatol 2022; 12: 830-840 [PMID: 34840484 DOI: 10.1016/j.jceh.2021.11.009]
- 36 Zhang L, Zhu F, Xie L, Wang C, Wang J, Chen R, Jia P, Guan HQ, Peng L, Chen Y, Peng P, Zhang P, Chu Q, Shen Q, Wang Y, Xu SY, Zhao JP, Zhou M. Clinical characteristics of COVID-19-infected cancer patients: a retrospective case study in three hospitals within Wuhan, China. Ann Oncol 2020; 31: 894-901 [PMID: 32224151 DOI: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.03.296]
- 37 Mehta V, Goel S, Kabarriti R, Cole D, Goldfinger M, Acuna-Villaorduna A, Pradhan K, Thota R, Reissman S, Sparano JA, Gartrell BA, Smith RV, Ohri N, Garg M, Racine AD, Kalnicki S, Perez-Soler R, Halmos B, Verma A. Case Fatality Rate of Cancer Patients with COVID-19 in a New York Hospital System. Cancer Discov 2020; 10: 935-941 [PMID: 32357994 DOI: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-20-0516]
- Muñoz-Martínez S, Sapena V, Forner A, Bruix J, Sanduzzi-Zamparelli M, Ríos J, Bouattour M, El-Kassas M, Leal CRG, 38 Mocan T, Nault JC, Alves RCP, Reeves HL, da Fonseca L, García-Juárez I, Pinato DJ, Varela M, Alqahtani SA, Alvaresda-Silva MR, Bandi JC, Rimassa L, Lozano M, González Santiago JM, Tacke F, Sala M, Anders M, Lachenmayer A, Piñero F, França A, Guarino M, Elvevi A, Cabibbo G, Peck-Radosavljevic M, Rojas Á, Vergara M, Braconi C, Pascual S, Perelló C, Mello V, Rodríguez-Lope C, Acevedo J, Villani R, Hollande C, Vilgrain V, Tawheed A, Ferguson Theodoro C, Sparchez Z, Blaise L, Viera-Alves DE, Watson R, Carrilho FJ, Moctezuma-Velázquez C, D'Alessio A, Iavarone M, Reig



M. Outcome of liver cancer patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection: An International, Multicentre, Cohort Study. Liver Int 2022; 42: 1891-1901 [PMID: 35608939 DOI: 10.1111/liv.15320]

- 39 Colmenero J, Rodríguez-Perálvarez M, Salcedo M, Arias-Milla A, Muñoz-Serrano A, Graus J, Nuño J, Gastaca M, Bustamante-Schneider J, Cachero A, Lladó L, Caballero A, Fernández-Yunquera A, Loinaz C, Fernández I, Fondevila C, Navasa M, Iñarrairaegui M, Castells L, Pascual S, Ramírez P, Vinaixa C, González-Dieguez ML, González-Grande R, Hierro L, Nogueras F, Otero A, Álamo JM, Blanco-Fernández G, Fábrega E, García-Pajares F, Montero JL, Tomé S, De la Rosa G, Pons JA. Epidemiological pattern, incidence, and outcomes of COVID-19 in liver transplant patients. J Hepatol 2021; 74: 148-155 [PMID: 32750442 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.07.040]
- 40 Ravanan R, Callaghan CJ, Mumford L, Ushiro-Lumb I, Thorburn D, Casey J, Friend P, Parameshwar J, Currie I, Burnapp L, Baker R, Dudley J, Oniscu GC, Berman M, Asher J, Harvey D, Manara A, Manas D, Gardiner D, Forsythe JLR. SARS-CoV-2 infection and early mortality of waitlisted and solid organ transplant recipients in England: A national cohort study. Am J Transplant 2020; 20: 3008-3018 [PMID: 32780493 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.16247]
- Trapani S, Masiero L, Puoti F, Rota MC, Del Manso M, Lombardini L, Riccardo F, Amoroso A, Pezzotti P, Grossi PA, 41 Brusaferro S, Cardillo M; Italian Network of Regional Transplant Coordinating Centers Collaborating group; Italian Surveillance System of Covid-19, Italian Society for Organ Transplantation (SITO), The Italian Board of Experts in Liver Transplantation (I-BELT) Study Group, Italian Association for the Study of the Liver (AISF), Italian Society of Nephrology (SIN), SIN-SITO Study Group. Incidence and outcome of SARS-CoV-2 infection on solid organ transplantation recipients: A nationwide population-based study. Am J Transplant 2021; 21: 2509-2521 [PMID: 33278850 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.16428]
- Belli LS, Duvoux C, Karam V, Adam R, Cuervas-Mons V, Pasulo L, Loinaz C, Invernizzi F, Patrono D, Bhoori S, 42 Ciccarelli O, Morelli MC, Castells L, Lopez-Lopez V, Conti S, Fondevila C, Polak W. COVID-19 in liver transplant recipients: preliminary data from the ELITA/ELTR registry. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 5: 724-725 [PMID: 32505228 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(20)30183-7]
- Rabiee A, Sadowski B, Adeniji N, Perumalswami PV, Nguyen V, Moghe A, Latt NL, Kumar S, Aloman C, Catana AM, 43 Bloom PP, Chavin KD, Carr RM, Dunn W, Chen VL, Aby ES, Debes JD, Dhanasekaran R; COLD Consortium. Liver Injury in Liver Transplant Recipients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): U.S. Multicenter Experience. Hepatology 2020; 72: 1900-1911 [PMID: 32964510 DOI: 10.1002/hep.31574]
- Bhoori S, Rossi RE, Citterio D, Mazzaferro V. COVID-19 in long-term liver transplant patients: preliminary experience 44 from an Italian transplant centre in Lombardy. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 5: 532-533 [PMID: 32278366 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(20)30116-3]
- 45 Webb GJ, Marjot T, Cook JA, Aloman C, Armstrong MJ, Brenner EJ, Catana MA, Cargill T, Dhanasekaran R, García-Juárez I, Hagström H, Kennedy JM, Marshall A, Masson S, Mercer CJ, Perumalswami PV, Ruiz I, Thaker S, Ufere NN, Barnes E, Barritt AS 4th, Moon AM. Outcomes following SARS-CoV-2 infection in liver transplant recipients: an international registry study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 5: 1008-1016 [PMID: 32866433 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(20)30271-5]
- Gatti M, Rinaldi M, Bussini L, Bonazzetti C, Pascale R, Pasquini Z, Faní F, Pinho Guedes MN, Azzini AM, Carrara E, 46 Palacios-Baena ZR, Caponcello G, Reyna-Villasmil E, Tacconelli E, Rodríguez-Baño J, Viale P, Giannella M; ORCHESTRA study group; Infectious Diseases Unit; Department of Integrated Management of Infectious Risk; IRCCS Policlinico Sant'Orsola; Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences; University of Bologna in Bologna, Italy; Division of Infectious Diseases; Department of Diagnostics and Public Health, University of Verona in Verona, Italy; Infectious Diseases and Microbiology Unit; Hospital Universitario Virgen Macarena; Department of Medicine, University of Sevilla/Biomedicines Institute of Sevilla in Sevilla, Spain. Clinical outcome in solid organ transplant recipients affected by COVID-19 compared to general population: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Microbiol Infect 2022; 28: 1057-1065 [PMID: 35289294 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmi.2022.02.039]
- 47 Marjot T, Eberhardt CS, Boettler T, Belli LS, Berenguer M, Buti M, Jalan R, Mondelli MU, Moreau R, Shouval D, Berg T, Cornberg M. Impact of COVID-19 on the liver and on the care of patients with chronic liver disease, hepatobiliary cancer, and liver transplantation: An updated EASL position paper. J Hepatol 2022; 77: 1161-1197 [PMID: 35868584 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2022.07.008]
- Lee BP, Dodge JL, Leventhal A, Terrault NA. Retail Alcohol and Tobacco Sales During COVID-19. Ann Intern Med 48 2021; 174: 1027-1029 [PMID: 33646843 DOI: 10.7326/M20-7271]
- 49 Grant BF, Chou SP, Saha TD, Pickering RP, Kerridge BT, Ruan WJ, Huang B, Jung J, Zhang H, Fan A, Hasin DS. Prevalence of 12-Month Alcohol Use, High-Risk Drinking, and DSM-IV Alcohol Use Disorder in the United States, 2001-2002 to 2012-2013: Results From the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. JAMA Psychiatry 2017; 74: 911-923 [PMID: 28793133 DOI: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.2161]
- Bailey KL, Sayles H, Campbell J, Khalid N, Anglim M, Ponce J, Wyatt TA, McClay JC, Burnham EL, Anzalone A, 50 Hanson C. COVID-19 patients with documented alcohol use disorder or alcohol-related complications are more likely to be hospitalized and have higher all-cause mortality. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2022; 46: 1023-1035 [PMID: 35429004 DOI: 10.1111/acer.14838]
- 51 Moss M, Burnham EL. Chronic alcohol abuse, acute respiratory distress syndrome, and multiple organ dysfunction. Crit Care Med 2003; 31: S207-S212 [PMID: 12682442 DOI: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000057845.77458.25]
- Huang W, Zhou H, Hodgkinson C, Montero A, Goldman D, Chang SL. Network Meta-Analysis on the Mechanisms 52 Underlying Alcohol Augmentation of COVID-19 Pathologies. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2021; 45: 675-688 [PMID: 33583045 DOI: 10.1111/acer.14573]
- 53 Liu J, Wang T, Cai Q, Sun L, Huang D, Zhou G, He Q, Wang FS, Liu L, Chen J. Longitudinal changes of liver function and hepatitis B reactivation in COVID-19 patients with pre-existing chronic hepatitis B virus infection. Hepatol Res 2020; **50**: 1211-1221 [PMID: 32761993 DOI: 10.1111/hepr.13553]
- Ding ZY, Li GX, Chen L, Shu C, Song J, Wang W, Wang YW, Chen Q, Jin GN, Liu TT, Liang JN, Zhu P, Zhu W, Li Y, 54 Zhang BH, Feng H, Zhang WG, Yin ZY, Yu WK, Yang Y, Zhang HQ, Tang ZP, Wang H, Hu JB, Liu JH, Yin P, Chen XP, Zhang B; Tongji Multidisciplinary Team for Treating COVID-19 (TTTC). Association of liver abnormalities with in-



hospital mortality in patients with COVID-19. J Hepatol 2021; 74: 1295-1302 [PMID: 33347952 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.12.012]

- Zhang B, Huang W, Zhang S. Clinical Features and Outcomes of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Patients With 55 Chronic Hepatitis B Virus Infection. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 18: 2633-2637 [PMID: 32553905 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2020.06.011]
- 56 Sarkar S, Khanna P, Singh AK. Impact of COVID-19 in patients with concurrent co-infections: A systematic review and meta-analyses. J Med Virol 2021; 93: 2385-2395 [PMID: 33331656 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.26740]
- Chen L, Huang S, Yang J, Cheng X, Shang Z, Lu H, Cheng J. Clinical characteristics in patients with SARS-CoV-2/HBV 57 co-infection. J Viral Hepat 2020; 27: 1504-1507 [PMID: 32668494 DOI: 10.1111/jvh.13362]
- 58 Yip TC, Wong VW, Lui GC, Chow VC, Tse YK, Hui VW, Liang LY, Chan HL, Hui DS, Wong GL. Current and Past Infections of HBV Do Not Increase Mortality in Patients With COVID-19. Hepatology 2021; 74: 1750-1765 [PMID: 33961298 DOI: 10.1002/hep.31890]
- Choe JW, Jung YK, Yim HJ, Seo GH. Clinical Effect of Hepatitis B Virus on COVID-19 Infected Patients: A Nationwide 59 Population-Based Study Using the Health Insurance Review & Assessment Service Database. J Korean Med Sci 2022; **37**: e29 [PMID: 35075828 DOI: 10.3346/jkms.2022.37.e29]
- Yang S, Wang S, Du M, Liu M, Liu Y, He Y. Patients with COVID-19 and HBV Coinfection are at Risk of Poor 60 Prognosis. Infect Dis Ther 2022; 11: 1229-1242 [PMID: 35471766 DOI: 10.1007/s40121-022-00638-4]
- Boettler T, Marjot T, Newsome PN, Mondelli MU, Maticic M, Cordero E, Jalan R, Moreau R, Cornberg M, Berg T. 61 Impact of COVID-19 on the care of patients with liver disease: EASL-ESCMID position paper after 6 months of the pandemic. JHEP Rep 2020; 2: 100169 [PMID: 32835190 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhepr.2020.100169]
- Ronderos D, Omar AMS, Abbas H, Makker J, Baiomi A, Sun H, Mantri N, Choi Y, Fortuzi K, Shin D, Patel H, Chilimuri S. Chronic hepatitis-C infection in COVID-19 patients is associated with in-hospital mortality. World J Clin Cases 2021; 9: 8749-8762 [PMID: 34734053 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v9.i29.8749]
- Butt AA, Yan P, Chotani RA, Shaikh OS. Mortality is not increased in SARS-CoV-2 infected persons with hepatitis C 63 virus infection. Liver Int 2021; 41: 1824-1831 [PMID: 33534931 DOI: 10.1111/liv.14804]
- Cerbu B, Pantea S, Bratosin F, Vidican I, Turaiche M, Frent S, Borsi E, Marincu I. Liver Impairment and Hematological 64 Changes in Patients with Chronic Hepatitis C and COVID-19: A Retrospective Study after One Year of Pandemic. Medicina (Kaunas) 2021; 57 [PMID: 34200570 DOI: 10.3390/medicina57060597]
- Messina V, Nevola R, Izzi A, De Lucia Sposito P, Marrone A, Rega R, Fusco R, Lumino P, Rinaldi L, Gaglione P, 65 Simeone F, Sasso FC, Maggi P, Adinolfi LE. Efficacy and safety of the sofosbuvir/velpatasvir combination for the treatment of patients with early mild to moderate COVID-19. Sci Rep 2022; 12: 5771 [PMID: 35388092 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-022-09741-51
- 66 Riazi K, Azhari H, Charette JH, Underwood FE, King JA, Afshar EE, Swain MG, Congly SE, Kaplan GG, Shaheen AA. The prevalence and incidence of NAFLD worldwide: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 7: 851-861 [PMID: 35798021 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(22)00165-0]
- Acierno C, Caturano A, Pafundi PC, Nevola R, Adinolfi LE, Sasso FC. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and type 2 67 diabetes: pathophysiological mechanisms shared between the two faces of the same coin. Explor Med 2020; 1: 287-306 [DOI: 10.37349/emed.2020.00019]
- Nevola R, Marrone A, Cozzolino D, Cuomo G, Romano CP, Rinaldi L, Aprea C, Padula A, Ranieri R, Gjeloshi K, 68 Ricozzi C, Ruosi C, Imbriani S, Meo LA, Sellitto A, Cinone F, Carusone C, Abitabile M, Nappo F, Signoriello G, Adinolfi LE. Predictors of in-hospital mortality of COVID-19 patients and the role of telemetry in an internal medicine ward during the third phase of the pandemic. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2022; 26: 1777-1785 [PMID: 35302231 DOI: 10.26355/eurrev 202203 28249
- 69 Ji D, Qin E, Xu J, Zhang D, Cheng G, Wang Y, Lau G. Non-alcoholic fatty liver diseases in patients with COVID-19: A retrospective study. J Hepatol 2020; 73: 451-453 [PMID: 32278005 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.03.044]
- 70 Mahamid M, Nseir W, Khoury T, Mahamid B, Nubania A, Sub-Laban K, Schifter J, Mari A, Sbeit W, Goldin E. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease is associated with COVID-19 severity independently of metabolic syndrome: a retrospective case-control study. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 33: 1578-1581 [PMID: 32868652 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.000000000001902
- Madan K, Rastogi R, Bhargava R, Dagar V, Singla V, Sahu A, Singh P, Garg P, Aggarwal B, Singh RK. Is Fatty Liver 71 Associated with Increased Mortality and Morbidity in Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Pneumonia? J Clin Exp Hepatol 2022; 12: 1320-1327 [PMID: 35469129 DOI: 10.1016/j.jceh.2022.04.013]
- Vrsaljko N, Samadan L, Viskovic K, Mehmedović A, Budimir J, Vince A, Papic N. Association of Nonalcoholic Fatty 72 Liver Disease With COVID-19 Severity and Pulmonary Thrombosis: CovidFAT, a Prospective, Observational Cohort Study. Open Forum Infect Dis 2022; 9: ofac073 [PMID: 35287335 DOI: 10.1093/ofid/ofac073]
- 73 Eslam M, Newsome PN, Sarin SK, Anstee QM, Targher G, Romero-Gomez M, Zelber-Sagi S, Wai-Sun Wong V, Dufour JF, Schattenberg JM, Kawaguchi T, Arrese M, Valenti L, Shiha G, Tiribelli C, Yki-Järvinen H, Fan JG, Grønbæk H, Yilmaz Y, Cortez-Pinto H, Oliveira CP, Bedossa P, Adams LA, Zheng MH, Fouad Y, Chan WK, Mendez-Sanchez N, Ahn SH, Castera L, Bugianesi E, Ratziu V, George J. A new definition for metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease: An international expert consensus statement. J Hepatol 2020; 73: 202-209 [PMID: 32278004 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.03.039]
- Vázquez-Medina MU, Cerda-Reyes E, Galeana-Pavón A, López-Luna CE, Ramírez-Portillo PM, Ibañez-Cervantes G, Torres-Vázquez J, Vargas-De-León C. Interaction of metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease with advanced fibrosis in the death and intubation of patients hospitalized with coronavirus disease 2019. Hepatol Commun 2022; 6: 2000-2010 [PMID: 35438253 DOI: 10.1002/hep4.1957]
- Gao F, Zheng KI, Wang XB, Yan HD, Sun QF, Pan KH, Wang TY, Chen YP, George J, Zheng MH. Metabolic associated 75 fatty liver disease increases coronavirus disease 2019 disease severity in nondiabetic patients. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 36: 204-207 [PMID: 32436622 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.15112]
- Zhou YJ, Zheng KI, Wang XB, Yan HD, Sun QF, Pan KH, Wang TY, Ma HL, Chen YP, George J, Zheng MH. Younger 76



patients with MAFLD are at increased risk of severe COVID-19 illness: A multicenter preliminary analysis. J Hepatol 2020; 73: 719-721 [PMID: 32348790 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.04.027]

- 77 Campos-Murguía A, Román-Calleja BM, Toledo-Coronado IV, González-Regueiro JA, Solís-Ortega AA, Kúsulas-Delint D, Cruz-Contreras M, Cruz-Yedra N, Cubero FJ, Nevzorova YA, Martínez-Cabrera CF, Moreno-Guillén P, Lozano-Cruz OA, Chapa-Ibargüengoitia M, Gulías-Herrero A, Aguilar-Salinas CA, Ruiz-Margáin A, Macías-Rodríguez RU. Liver fibrosis in patients with metabolic associated fatty liver disease is a risk factor for adverse outcomes in COVID-19. Dig Liver Dis 2021; 53: 525-533 [PMID: 33551355 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2021.01.019]
- Targher G, Mantovani A, Byrne CD, Wang XB, Yan HD, Sun QF, Pan KH, Zheng KI, Chen YP, Eslam M, George J, 78 Zheng MH. Risk of severe illness from COVID-19 in patients with metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease and increased fibrosis scores. Gut 2020; 69: 1545-1547 [PMID: 32414813 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-321611]
- 79 Elfeki MA, Robles J, Akhtar Z, Ullah F, Ganapathiraju I, Tran C, Inman C, Collin SM, Rosa R. Impact of Fibrosis-4 Index Prior to COVID-19 on Outcomes in Patients at Risk of Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Dig Dis Sci 2022; 67: 3333-3339 [PMID: 34173917 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-021-07120-0]
- Li J, Tian A, Zhu H, Chen L, Wen J, Liu W, Chen P. Mendelian Randomization Analysis Reveals No Causal Relationship 80 Between Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease and Severe COVID-19. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 20: 1553-1560.e78 [PMID: 35124268 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2022.01.045]
- 81 Di Giorgio A, Nicastro E, Speziani C, De Giorgio M, Pasulo L, Magro B, Fagiuoli S, D' Antiga L. Health status of patients with autoimmune liver disease during SARS-CoV-2 outbreak in northern Italy. J Hepatol 2020; 73: 702-705 [PMID: 32413378 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.05.008]
- 82 Zecher BF, Buescher G, Willemse J, Walmsley M, Taylor A, Leburgue A, Schramm C, Lohse AW, Sebode M. Prevalence of COVID-19 in patients with autoimmune liver disease in Europe: A patient-oriented online survey. United European Gastroenterol J 2021; 9: 797-808 [PMID: 34105883 DOI: 10.1002/ueg2.12100]
- Marjot T, Buescher G, Sebode M, Barnes E, Barritt AS 4th, Armstrong MJ, Baldelli L, Kennedy J, Mercer C, Ozga AK, 83 Casar C, Schramm C; contributing Members and Collaborators of ERN RARE-LIVER/COVID-Hep/SECURE-Cirrhosis, Moon AM, Webb GJ, Lohse AW. SARS-CoV-2 infection in patients with autoimmune hepatitis. J Hepatol 2021; 74: 1335-1343 [PMID: 33508378 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.01.021]
- 84 Efe C, Dhanasekaran R, Lammert C, Ebik B, Higuera-de la Tijera F, Aloman C, Rıza Calışkan A, Peralta M, Gerussi A, Massoumi H, Catana AM, Torgutalp M, Purnak T, Rigamonti C, Gomez Aldana AJ, Khakoo N, Kacmaz H, Nazal L, Frager S, Demir N, Irak K, Ellik ZM, Balaban Y, Atay K, Eren F, Cristoferi L, Batıbay E, Urzua Á, Snijders R, Kıyıcı M, Akyıldız M, Ekin N, Carr RM, Harputluoğlu M, Hatemi I, Mendizabal M, Silva M, Idilman R, Silveira M, Drenth JPH, Assis DN, Björnsson E, Boyer JL, Invernizzi P, Levy C, Schiano TD, Ridruejo E, Wahlin S. Outcome of COVID-19 in Patients With Autoimmune Hepatitis: An International Multicenter Study. Hepatology 2021; 73: 2099-2109 [PMID: 33713486 DOI: 10.1002/hep.31797]
- Bassetti M, Giacobbe DR, Bruzzi P, Barisione E, Centanni S, Castaldo N, Corcione S, De Rosa FG, Di Marco F, Gori A, 85 Gramegna A, Granata G, Gratarola A, Maraolo AE, Mikulska M, Lombardi A, Pea F, Petrosillo N, Radovanovic D, Santus P, Signori A, Sozio E, Tagliabue E, Tascini C, Vancheri C, Vena A, Viale P, Blasi F; Italian Society of Antiinfective Therapy (SITA) and the Italian Society of Pulmonology (SIP). Clinical Management of Adult Patients with COVID-19 Outside Intensive Care Units: Guidelines from the Italian Society of Anti-Infective Therapy (SITA) and the Italian Society of Pulmonology (SIP). Infect Dis Ther 2021; 10: 1837-1885 [PMID: 34328629 DOI: 10.1007/s40121-021-00487-7]
- 86 COVID-19 Treatment Guidelines Panel. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Treatment Guidelines. [cited 22 November 2022]. In: National Institutes of Health. Available at https://www.covid19treatmentguidelines.nih.gov/
- Marrone A, Nevola R, Sellitto A, Cozzolino D, Romano C, Cuomo G, Aprea C, Schwartzbaum MXP, Ricozzi C, 87 Imbriani S, Rinaldi L, Gjeloshi K, Padula A, Ranieri R, Ruosi C, Meo LA, Abitabile M, Cinone F, Carusone C, Adinolfi LE. Remdesivir Plus Dexamethasone Versus Dexamethasone Alone for the Treatment of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Patients Requiring Supplemental O2 Therapy: A Prospective Controlled Nonrandomized Study. Clin Infect Dis 2022; 75: e403-e409 [PMID: 35084022 DOI: 10.1093/cid/ciac014]
- 88 Efe C, Lammert C, Taşçılar K, Dhanasekaran R, Ebik B, Higuera-de la Tijera F, Calışkan AR, Peralta M, Gerussi A, Massoumi H, Catana AM, Purnak T, Rigamonti C, Aldana AJG, Khakoo N, Nazal L, Frager S, Demir N, Irak K, Melekoğlu-Ellik Z, Kacmaz H, Balaban Y, Atay K, Eren F, Alvares-da-Silva MR, Cristoferi L, Urzua Á, Eşkazan T, Magro B, Snijders R, Barutçu S, Lytvyak E, Zazueta GM, Demirezer-Bolat A, Aydın M, Heurgue-Berlot A, De Martin E, Ekin N, Yıldırım S, Yavuz A, Bıyık M, Narro GC, Kıyıcı M, Akyıldız M, Kahramanoğlu-Aksoy E, Vincent M, Carr RM, Günşar F, Reyes EC, Harputluoğlu M, Aloman C, Gatselis NK, Üstündağ Y, Brahm J, Vargas NCE, Güzelbulut F, Garcia SR, Aguirre J, Anders M, Ratusnu N, Hatemi I, Mendizabal M, Floreani A, Fagiuoli S, Silva M, Idilman R, Satapathy SK, Silveira M, Drenth JPH, Dalekos GN, N Assis D, Björnsson E, Boyer JL, Yoshida EM, Invernizzi P, Levy C, Montano-Loza AJ, Schiano TD, Ridruejo E, Wahlin S. Effects of immunosuppressive drugs on COVID-19 severity in patients with autoimmune hepatitis. Liver Int 2022; 42: 607-614 [PMID: 34846800 DOI: 10.1111/liv.15121]
- Zheng C, Shao W, Chen X, Zhang B, Wang G, Zhang W. Real-world effectiveness of COVID-19 vaccines: a literature 89 review and meta-analysis. Int J Infect Dis 2022; 114: 252-260 [PMID: 34800687 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijid.2021.11.009]
- Fix OK, Blumberg EA, Chang KM, Chu J, Chung RT, Goacher EK, Hameed B, Kaul DR, Kulik LM, Kwok RM, 90 McGuire BM, Mulligan DC, Price JC, Reau NS, Reddy KR, Reynolds A, Rosen HR, Russo MW, Schilsky ML, Verna EC, Ward JW, Fontana RJ; AASLD COVID-19 Vaccine Working Group. American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases Expert Panel Consensus Statement: Vaccines to Prevent Coronavirus Disease 2019 Infection in Patients With Liver Disease. Hepatology 2021; 74: 1049-1064 [PMID: 33577086 DOI: 10.1002/hep.31751]
- 91 Cornberg M, Buti M, Eberhardt CS, Grossi PA, Shouval D. EASL position paper on the use of COVID-19 vaccines in patients with chronic liver diseases, hepatobiliary cancer and liver transplant recipients. J Hepatol 2021; 74: 944-951 [PMID: 33563499 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.01.032]
- 92 Russo FP, Piano S, Bruno R, Burra P, Puoti M, Masarone M, Montagnese S, Ponziani FR, Petta S, Aghemo A; Italian Association for the Study of the Liver. Italian association for the study of the liver position statement on SARS-CoV2



vaccination. Dig Liver Dis 2021; 53: 677-681 [PMID: 33941488 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2021.03.013]

- Bakasis AD, Bitzogli K, Mouziouras D, Pouliakis A, Roumpoutsou M, Goules AV, Androutsakos T. Antibody Responses 93 after SARS-CoV-2 Vaccination in Patients with Liver Diseases. Viruses 2022; 14 [PMID: 35215801 DOI: 10.3390/v14020207
- 94 Ruether DF, Schaub GM, Duengelhoef PM, Haag F, Brehm TT, Fathi A, Wehmeyer M, Jahnke-Triankowski J, Mayer L, Hoffmann A, Fischer L, Addo MM, Lütgehetmann M, Lohse AW, Schulze Zur Wiesch J, Sterneck M. SARS-CoV2specific Humoral and T-cell Immune Response After Second Vaccination in Liver Cirrhosis and Transplant Patients. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 20: 162-172.e9 [PMID: 34509643 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2021.09.003]
- 95 Iavarone M, Tosetti G, Facchetti F, Topa M, Er JM, Hang SK, Licari D, Lombardi A, D'Ambrosio R, Degasperi E, Loglio A, Oggioni C, Perbellini R, Caccia R, Bandera A, Gori A, Ceriotti F, Scudeller L, Bertoletti A, Lampertico P. Spike-specific humoral and cellular immune responses after COVID-19 mRNA vaccination in patients with cirrhosis: A prospective single center study. Dig Liver Dis 2022 [PMID: 36266209 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2022.09.010]
- Shroff H, Satapathy SK, Crawford JM, Todd NJ, VanWagner LB. Liver injury following SARS-CoV-2 vaccination: A 96 multicenter case series. J Hepatol 2022; 76: 211-214 [PMID: 34339763 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.07.024]
- Baden LR, El Sahly HM, Essink B, Kotloff K, Frey S, Novak R, Diemert D, Spector SA, Rouphael N, Creech CB, 97 McGettigan J, Khetan S, Segall N, Solis J, Brosz A, Fierro C, Schwartz H, Neuzil K, Corey L, Gilbert P, Janes H, Follmann D, Marovich M, Mascola J, Polakowski L, Ledgerwood J, Graham BS, Bennett H, Pajon R, Knightly C, Leav B, Deng W, Zhou H, Han S, Ivarsson M, Miller J, Zaks T; COVE Study Group. Efficacy and Safety of the mRNA-1273 SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine. N Engl J Med 2021; 384: 403-416 [PMID: 33378609 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2035389]
- 98 Polack FP, Thomas SJ, Kitchin N, Absalon J, Gurtman A, Lockhart S, Perez JL, Pérez Marc G, Moreira ED, Zerbini C, Bailey R, Swanson KA, Roychoudhury S, Koury K, Li P, Kalina WV, Cooper D, Frenck RW Jr, Hammitt LL, Türeci Ö, Nell H, Schaefer A, Ünal S, Tresnan DB, Mather S, Dormitzer PR, Şahin U, Jansen KU, Gruber WC; C4591001 Clinical Trial Group. Safety and Efficacy of the BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 Vaccine. N Engl J Med 2020; 383: 2603-2615 [PMID: 33301246 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2034577]
- 99 Falsey AR, Sobieszczyk ME, Hirsch I, Sproule S, Robb ML, Corey L, Neuzil KM, Hahn W, Hunt J, Mulligan MJ, McEvoy C, DeJesus E, Hassman M, Little SJ, Pahud BA, Durbin A, Pickrell P, Daar ES, Bush L, Solis J, Carr QO, Oyedele T, Buchbinder S, Cowden J, Vargas SL, Guerreros Benavides A, Call R, Keefer MC, Kirkpatrick BD, Pullman J, Tong T, Brewinski Isaacs M, Benkeser D, Janes HE, Nason MC, Green JA, Kelly EJ, Maaske J, Mueller N, Shoemaker K, Takas T, Marshall RP, Pangalos MN, Villafana T, Gonzalez-Lopez A; AstraZeneca AZD1222 Clinical Study Group. Phase 3 Safety and Efficacy of AZD1222 (ChAdOx1 nCoV-19) Covid-19 Vaccine. N Engl J Med 2021; 385: 2348-2360 [PMID: 34587382 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2105290]
- 100 Cheung KS, Mok CH, Mao X, Zhang R, Hung IF, Seto WK, Yuen MF. COVID-19 vaccine immunogenicity among chronic liver disease patients and liver transplant recipients: A meta-analysis. Clin Mol Hepatol 2022; 28: 890-911 [PMID: 36263669 DOI: 10.3350/cmh.2022.0087]
- Koch T, Mellinghoff SC, Shamsrizi P, Addo MM, Dahlke C. Correlates of Vaccine-Induced Protection against SARS-101 CoV-2. Vaccines (Basel) 2021; 9 [PMID: 33801831 DOI: 10.3390/vaccines9030238]
- 102 Skelly DT, Harding AC, Gilbert-Jaramillo J, Knight ML, Longet S, Brown A, Adele S, Adland E, Brown H; Medawar Laboratory Team, Tipton T, Stafford L, Mentzer AJ, Johnson SA, Amini A; OPTIC (Oxford Protective T cell Immunology for COVID-19) Clinical Group, Tan TK, Schimanski L, Huang KA, Rijal P; PITCH (Protective Immunity T cells in Health Care Worker) Study Group; C-MORE/PHOSP-C Group, Frater J, Goulder P, Conlon CP, Jeffery K, Dold C, Pollard AJ, Sigal A, de Oliveira T, Townsend AR, Klenerman P, Dunachie SJ, Barnes E, Carroll MW, James WS. Two doses of SARS-CoV-2 vaccination induce robust immune responses to emerging SARS-CoV-2 variants of concern. Nat Commun 2021; 12: 5061 [PMID: 34404775 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-021-25167-5]
- 103 John BV, Deng Y, Schwartz KB, Taddei TH, Kaplan DE, Martin P, Chao HH, Dahman B. Postvaccination COVID-19 infection is associated with reduced mortality in patients with cirrhosis. Hepatology 2022; 76: 126-138 [PMID: 35023206 DOI: 10.1002/hep.32337]
- 104 Ge J, Digitale JC, Pletcher MJ, Lai JC; N3C Consortium. Breakthrough SARS-CoV-2 Infection Outcomes in Vaccinated Patients with Chronic Liver Disease and Cirrhosis: A National COVID Cohort Collaborative Study. medRxiv 2022 [PMID: 35821984 DOI: 10.1101/2022.02.25.22271490]
- 105 John BV, Ferreira RD, Doshi A, Kaplan DE, Taddei TH, Spector SA, Paulus E, Deng Y, Bastaich D, Dahman B. Third dose of COVID-19 mRNA vaccine appears to overcome vaccine hyporesponsiveness in patients with cirrhosis. J Hepatol 2022; 77: 1349-1358 [PMID: 36181987 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2022.07.036]
- 106 Rabinowich L, Grupper A, Baruch R, Ben-Yehoyada M, Halperin T, Turner D, Katchman E, Levi S, Houri I, Lubezky N, Shibolet O, Katchman H. Low immunogenicity to SARS-CoV-2 vaccination among liver transplant recipients. J Hepatol 2021; 75: 435-438 [PMID: 33892006 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.04.020]
- 107 Thuluvath PJ, Robarts P, Chauhan M. Analysis of antibody responses after COVID-19 vaccination in liver transplant recipients and those with chronic liver diseases. J Hepatol 2021; 75: 1434-1439 [PMID: 34454993 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.08.008]
- Timmermann L, Globke B, Lurje G, Schmelzle M, Schöning W, Öllinger R, Pratschke J, Eberspächer B, Drosten C, 108 Hofmann J, Eurich D. Humoral Immune Response following SARS-CoV-2 Vaccination in Liver Transplant Recipients. Vaccines (Basel) 2021; 9 [PMID: 34960168 DOI: 10.3390/vaccines9121422]
- 109 Duengelhoef P, Hartl J, Rüther D, Steinmann S, Brehm TT, Weltzsch JP, Glaser F, Schaub GM, Sterneck M, Sebode M, Weiler-Normann C, Addo MM, Lütgehetmann M, Haag F, Schramm C, Schulze Zur Wiesch J, Lohse AW. SARS-CoV-2 vaccination response in patients with autoimmune hepatitis and autoimmune cholestatic liver disease. United European Gastroenterol J 2022; 10: 319-329 [PMID: 35289983 DOI: 10.1002/ueg2.12218]
- 110 Efe C, Taşçılar K, Gerussi A, Bolis F, Lammert C, Ebik B, Stättermayer AF, Cengiz M, Gökçe DT, Cristoferi L, Peralta M, Massoumi H, Montes P, Cerda E, Rigamonti C, Yapalı S, Adali G, Çalışkan AR, Balaban Y, Eren F, Eşkazan T, Barutçu S, Lytvyak E, Zazueta GM, Kayhan MA, Heurgue-Berlot A, De Martin E, Yavuz A, Bıyık M, Narro GC, Duman S, Hernandez N, Gatselis NK, Aguirre J, Idilman R, Silva M, Mendizabal M, Atay K, Güzelbulut F, Dhanasekaran R,



Montano-Loza AJ, Dalekos GN, Ridruejo E, Invernizzi P, Wahlin S. SARS-CoV-2 vaccination and risk of severe COVID-19 outcomes in patients with autoimmune hepatitis. J Autoimmun 2022; 132: 102906 [PMID: 36088883 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaut.2022.102906]



WU

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 February 7; 29(5): 815-824

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.815

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Outcomes of COVID-19 among patients with liver disease

Isidora Vujčić

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Ariyachet C, Thailand; El-Gendy HA, Egypt; Sitkin S, Russia

Received: September 17, 2022 Peer-review started: September 17, 2022 First decision: November 15, 2022

Revised: December 25, 2022 Accepted: January 20, 2023 Article in press: January 20, 2023 Published online: February 7, 2023



Isidora Vujčić, Institute of Epidemiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Belgrade, Belgrade 11000, Belgrade, Serbia

Corresponding author: Isidora Vujčić, MD, PhD, Associate Professor, Institute of Epidemiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Belgrade, Visegradska 26a, Belgrade 11000, Belgrade, Serbia. isidora.vujcic@med.bg.ac.rs

Abstract

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is primarily a respiratory disease with multi-organ involvement, including impaired liver function. It has been noticed that a significant proportion of COVID-19 patients have liver dysfunction, especially those with a more severe disease course. The coronavirus causes direct damage to the liver using the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2, a cell-surface receptor for cellular entry, that is expressed in the liver. According to previous research, liver enzyme abnormalities were observed in a considerable proportion of COVID-19 patients, and elevated liver transaminases were found in about 20% of these patients, alkaline phosphatase in 6.1%, and gamma-glutamyl transferase in 21.1%. COVID-19 might trigger a deterioration of liver function in patients with pre-existing chronic liver diseases (CLDs) and also in those without previous liver disorders. The majority of COVID-19 patients who develop liver injury are men, the elderly, and those with a higher body mass index. Compared to the general population, COVID-19 is associated with significant morbidity and mortality in patients with liver disease (cirrhosis and liver transplantation recipients). However, some studies indicate that CLDs have a lesser role in determining patient progression towards higher disease severity.

Key Words: Liver disease; COVID-19; Mortality; Prognosis; Liver function

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: Drastic lifestyle changes during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic have led to an increase in the incidence of liver disease. Liver damage in COVID-19 infection occurs during disease progression in patients with or without previous liver disorders and represents a risk factor for developing severe illness and death. The prognosis of COVID-19 infection depends predominantly on the patients' characteristics, present comorbidities, severity of clinical symptoms, laboratory parameters, and imaging features. It is important to examine prognostic factors in COVID-19 disease patients with liver disease because it may improve the outcome.

Citation: Vujčić I. Outcomes of COVID-19 among patients with liver disease. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(5): 815-824

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i5/815.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.815

INTRODUCTION

The coronavirus disease (COVID-19) originated in late 2019 in China and spread with alarming rapidity across the globe[1]. The illness is caused by a novel severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), and during the pandemic, more than 600 million cases and more than 6 million deaths were reported worldwide^[2]. COVID-19 clinical manifestations vary, and the disease's wide clinical spectrum ranges from mild, self-limiting pulmonary tract infection to progressive severe pneumonia with high mortality rates^[3]. Drastic lifestyle changes during the COVID-19 pandemic have led to an increase in the incidence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), decompensated cirrhosis, acute alcoholic hepatitis, viral hepatitis, and mortality from liver diseases[4]. Liver dysfunction in COVID-19 patients is a risk factor for severe illness and death^[5], and significantly higher morbidity and mortality rates were observed among patients with liver disease and COVID-19, compared to the general population[6]. About 2%-11% of COVID-19 patients had already been diagnosed with chronic liver disease (CLD)[7]. However, liver dysfunction includes a variety of etiologies and heterogeneous groups of patients^[8]. In addition, COVID-19 can induce liver injury, especially in those patients with severe forms of the disease[7,9].

GLOBAL BURDEN OF LIVER DISEASES

Globally, two million deaths are attributed to liver diseases, including 1 million due to cirrhosis and 1 million due to viral hepatitis and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC)[10]. Over the past two decades, the prevalence of CLD has been increasing[11]. CLD includes NAFLD, alcohol-related liver disease (ALD), and chronic viral hepatitis B and C[12], and it can progress to fibrosis, cirrhosis, and HCC[13]. NAFLD, or the recently defined metabolic-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD), are the most common CLDs, which affect about a quarter of the world's adult population^[14]. The global prevalence of MFALD/ NAFLD has been rapidly increasing in tandem with the rise in diabetes and obesity prevalence, both of which have been associated with increased mortality in COVID-19[15,16]. Hepatitis B and C are still a major cause of liver disease burden globally, especially in low-income countries in Asia and sub-Saharan Africa, despite the availability of effective preventive measures and treatment[10,17].

LIVER INJURY IN CORONAVIRUS INFECTED PATIENTS

Although coronavirus can cause the worst damage to the lungs, it can also influence the digestive, cardiac, and endocrine systems[18]. Multifactorial causes of liver damage during COVID-19 infection include direct virus cytopathogenic effect, abnormal immune response associated with the cytokine storm, vascular changes due to coagulopathy, hepatic ischemia/hypoxia reperfusion injury, and druginduced liver injury [19,20]. The coronavirus causes direct liver injury using the angiotensin converting enzyme 2 receptor for cellular entry, which is expressed mainly in the cholangiocytes and less frequently in the hepatocytes^[21]. Certain hepatotoxic medications, such as antibiotics (macrolides, quinolones), antivirals (ribavirin), steroids, and other drugs used to treat patients with COVID-19, are connected with drug-induced liver injury and were found in 10.9% of COVID-19 patients[22-24]. However, in COVID-19 patients, liver damage is primarily secondary to ischemic, hypercoagulable, and hyperinflammatory states, which are independent predictors of death rather than liver injury per se [21]. A cytokine storm and a massive acute-phase response are defined by the acute overproduction and uncontrolled release of the proinflammatory cytokines, tumor necrosis factor (TNF), interleukin 1 (IL-1),



and IL-6 paralleled by excessive secretion of C-reactive protein (CRP) and ferritin[25]. Coagulation dysfunction indicates a poor outcome in critically ill COVID-19 patients with hepatic injury, including a significant role of neutrophils and monocytes in amplifying blood clotting[20]. Hepatic apoptosis and elevated liver enzymes are caused by ischemia and reperfusion injury[20].

PROGNOSTIC FACTORS IN COVID-19 PATIENTS WITH LIVER DISEASE

Advanced age and being male are well-established risk factors for severe COVID-19 outcomes[26]. Various medical underlying conditions, such as cardiovascular disease, lung disease, cancer, diabetes, and obesity have also been associated with increased risk[27-29]. However, the prognostic factors in COVID-19 patients with previous liver diseases are not well-defined[9]. In a multicenter cohort study conducted in the United States, comorbidities such as diabetes, hypertension, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, current smoking and increasing age in patients with ALD, liver cirrhosis decompensation, and HCC predicted a higher mortality when infected with COVID-19[11]. In another study from the United States conducted among CLD patients, it was reported that older age and preexisting comorbidities were associated with severe COVID-19[30]. Shen et al[31] found that COVID-19 patients with liver injury had a significantly poorer prognosis than patients without liver dysfunction, and that male sex and elevated CRP were independent prognostic factors in these patients[31]. Preliminary results of a systematic review and meta-analysis involving 88 studies and 6653207 cases of COVID-19 in Europe showed that liver disease was associated with hospital admission and mortality, after adjustment for age and sex[32]. Liver dysfunction during COVID-19 has been associated with increased disease severity, prolonged hospital stays, ventilatory support and mortality[33].

Liver injury, laboratory findings, and prognosis

The prognosis of the COVID-19 infection depends primarily on the patients' characteristics, present comorbidities, severity of clinical symptoms, laboratory parameters, and imaging features[34] (Figure 1). Liver injury occurs in patients with or without pre-existing liver disorders[24]. The incidence of liver injury manifesting as abnormal levels of liver enzymes ranges from 14.8% to 53.0%[18]. The degree of liver injury is generally mild, and those with digestive symptoms were more likely to present hepatocellular injury[3,35,36]. COVID-19 patients who develop liver injury are more likely to be men, older, and have a higher body mass index (BMI)[37]. Liver enzyme abnormalities are frequent in patients with COVID-19 infection, and they are associated with disease severity [18,38]. The most frequently reported mild to moderate elevations were in aspartate aminotransferase (ALT), alanine aminotransferase (AST), and total bilirubin (tBIL) levels[35], but abnormal gamma-glutamyl transferase (GGT), alkaline phosphatase (ALP), and albumin levels have been found in patients with COVID-19 as well[18,22,39]. Liver damage in COVID-19 is usually temporary, and therefore, the enzyme levels of most patients usually return to normal after recovery [18,40]. The systematic review and meta-analysis that included 36 studies and 20724 patients found a 46.9% prevalence of at least one abnormal liver function test, and elevated levels of ALT, AST, and tBIL were independent predictors of COVID-19 severity and in-hospital mortality^[41]. A meta-analysis of observational studies revealed that acute liver injury and elevated liver enzymes in COVID-19 patients were significantly associated with disease severity[42]. A study conducted in Hong Kong reported that, ALT/AST elevation at two times the upper normal limit and acute liver injury in patients with COVID-19, were independently associated with poor prognosis, after controlling for diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and albumin level[43]. A systematic review that included 30 articles observed a significantly higher mortality in patients with impaired liver function than in patients with normal function[36]. Wagner et al[44] reported that hypoalbuminemia and abnormalities in liver function tests may be prognostic factors for higher COVID-19 severity. Although, there remains controversy in the scientific literature over whether or not liver enzyme abnormalities are associated with worse clinical outcomes, their alteration probably reflects the systemic involvement of the virus and the potential appearance of severe liver complications^[45]. However, patients with severe COVID-19 may show a higher risk of post-COVID cholangiopathy, and liver tests in these patients continue to show abnormal results[46].

COVID-19 IN PATIENTS WITH PRE-EXISTING LIVER DISEASE

A number of studies have investigated the impact of CLD on the outcome of COVID-19[8]. COVID-19 patients with CLD account for less than 1% of the reported cases [47]. CLD includes different etiologies and can manifest from mild asymptomatic disease to severe decompensated cirrhosis, so it could be challenging to generalize results from different studies and countries[11,17]. In China, the main cirrhosis etiology was chronic hepatitis B virus (HBV)[48]. Patients with viral hepatitis, ALD, NFALD, liver cirrhosis, and HCC had a higher risk of developing severe COVID-19 and up to a 10-fold higher mortality rate compared to those without any reported comorbidity^[49]. Data collected from 13 Asian





DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.815 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Prognostic factors in COVID-19 patients with liver disease. BMI: Body mass index; HBV: Hepatitis B virus; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; NAFLD: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; MAFLD: Metabolic-associated fatty liver disease.

countries identified that COVID-19 infection induced significant liver damage in CLD patients, and these patients had a higher risk of getting acute liver injury, hepatic decompensation, or acute-onchronic liver failure (ACLF)[50]. A Danish prospective, population-based cohort study reported that patients with CLD, particularly those with cirrhosis, were at a major risk of severe COVID-19 outcomes and higher mortality[51]. A Swedish nationwide matched cohort study showed that patients with CLD had a higher risk of hospitalization for COVID-19 compared to the general population[52]. However, there was no evidence that these patients were at a higher risk of developing a severe COVID-19 disease course[52]. A study conducted in China reported that COVID-19 patients with CLD showed a prolonged length of stay, slight liver injuries, and higher mortality rates compared to COVID-19 patients without CLD, and that the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio was an indicator of adverse clinical outcomes in this population[53]. A meta-analysis that included fifty studies revealed that pre-existing liver diseases or acute liver injury associated with severe COVID-19 infection were key factors in the prediction of mortality[54]. According to a study conducted in Massachusetts, United States, CLD in patients with COVID-19 was independently associated with higher rates of intensive care unit (ICU) admission, and a need for mechanical ventilation after controlling for comorbidities[12]. Krishnan et al [30] found that CLD patients with elevated AST and tBIL levels had a significantly higher risk fora more severe COVID-19 disease course and also reported that ALD was the most important factor associated with the need for mechanical ventilation. A systematic review including 40 studies, mainly from China, reported that CLD was significantly associated with COVID-19 severity and mortality [55]. The risk of getting more severe COVID-19 was 2.44 times higher among patients with CLD compared to those without CLD, and the presence of NAFLD was the most strongly associated with higher COVID-19 severity, followed by MAFLD and cirrhosis. In addition, COVID-19 patients with viral hepatitis were not at higher risk of getting a severe form of COVID-19[55]. After COVID-19 infection, approximately 20% of CLD patients develop progressive cholestasis, particularly patients with NAFLD/non-alcoholic steatohepatitis and metabolic risk factors[56].

COVID-19 and viral hepatitis

There is still insufficient evidence for an association between previous hepatitis B and C infection and COVID-19 outcome, and several studies indicated that these patients were not at increased risk for severe COVID-19[57-59]. Most studies that have examined the influence of HBV on COVID-19 prognosis have been conducted in China due to the high prevalence of HBV in the country[60]. Yu *et al* [61] reported higher in-hospital mortality, more severe disease, and liver function abnormalities in COVID-19 patients infected with HBV compared to COVID-19 patients without HBV. However, the presence of COVID-19 infection or treatment with tocilizumab or corticosteroids could reactivate hepatitis B infection[49,62]. A study conducted in the United States reported that chronic hepatitis C in COVID-19 patients was associated with in-hospital mortality regardless of baseline comorbidities, admission values of laboratory tests, or liver damage induced by COVID-19[63]. The Korean nationwide population-based cohort study reported that after adjusting for age, sex, cirrhosis, and comorbidities, HBV infection itself appears not to influence the prognosis of COVID-19 patients[64].



COVID-19 and NAFLD

The prevalence of NAFLD, or the recently renamed MAFLD, in COVID-19 patients is 31%, which is higher than the prevalence in the general population[65]. Patients with NAFLD had a higher risk of COVID-19 progression, a higher likelihood of liver dysfunction, and a longer viral shedding time than the patients without NAFLD[66]. Mahamid et al[16] found an independent association between the COVID-19 severity and NAFLD irrespective of the metabolic syndrome, indicating that NAFLD had a significant impact even in the absence of obesity and/or metabolic syndrome. A systematic review and meta-analysis showed that the proportion of patients with MAFLD and NAFLD ranged from 28% to 50% and from 6% to 38%, respectively, and found that the presence of MAFLD and NAFLD was associated with worse clinical outcomes for COVID-19[67]. Although several studies also showed significant associations between MAFLD and NAFLD and severe COVID-19 outcomes[13,68], there is still no strong evidence that the presence of MAFLD affects its prognosis[65].

COVID-19 and ALD

The COVID-19 pandemic probably had the biggest effect on patients with ALD due to substantially increased alcohol consumption provoked by adverse economic effects, disruptions in work and education, and social isolation[69]. Patients with alcohol use disorders are more likely to develop acute respiratory distress syndrome and have additional comorbidities such as metabolic syndrome, chronic kidney disease, and smoking, all of which are independent predictors of COVID-19 severity[69]. Several studies have identified that ALD is independently associated with COVID-19 mortality after adjustment for important cofactors such as liver disease severity[11,70].

COVID-19 and cirrhosis

COVID-19 patients with cirrhosis are at a greater risk of adverse outcomes than the background population[26,71,72]. Cirrhotic patients have significantly higher all-cause mortality in COVID-19 infection than non-cirrhotic patients, and mortality is probably higher in those with more advanced cirrhosis[8]. A significantly higher COVID-19 related morbidity and mortality had been observed in patients with decompensated cirrhosis compared to those with compensated cirrhosis[6]. Studies conducted in the United States and Europe reported that patients with CLD who had acquired COVID-19 had high rates of hospitalization and mortality [71,73,74]. Marjot et al [70] reported that patients with cirrhosis had a higher risk of dying from COVID-19 and that mortality was especially high among patients with more advanced cirrhosis and those with ALD. Hashemi et al[12] demonstrated that the presence of cirrhosis was independently associated with COVID-19-related mortality. Similar results were obtained from the United States study, reporting that the presence of decompensated cirrhosis was an independent predictor of mortality in COVID-19 patients[30]. Jeon et al[75] reported that the COVID-19 infection in patients with cirrhosis was more likely to cause severe complications in comparison with the cirrhotic patients not infected with COVID-19. Satapathy et al [76] found that the development of ACLF was the most important predictor of higher in-hospital mortality in COVID-19 patients with cirrhosis. However, it is still unknown whether the presence of liver disease influences the natural history of COVID-19 infection in cirrhotic patients^[21].

COVID-19 and hepatocellular carcinoma

The presence of HCC in patients with CLD and COVID-19 infection was associated with a poor prognosis, including a higher risk of all-cause and COVID-19-related mortality[11]. Most HCC patients have concomitant cirrhosis, and that could potentially increase their risk for severe COVID-19[77]. An international, multicenter, retrospective, cross-sectional study, including two hundred fifty patients from 38 centers, reported that 18.4% of patients with HCC died within the first 30 d from the onset of COVID-19 symptoms, and that the mortality rate in that period was 20.25% in patients with HCC history and 12.96% in those with de novo HCC[78]. COVID-19 in HCC patients tends to be more severe and leads to exacerbation of the liver disease [79]. HCC patients infected with COVID-19 are at a higher risk of complications, ICU admission, and death than the patients without cancer[80].

COVID-19 and autoimmune liver disease

Autoimmune liver disease (AILD) includes primary sclerosing cholangitis, primary biliary cholangitis (PBC), autoimmune hepatitis (AIH), and overlapping syndromes referring to the coexistence of two autoimmune diseases[81]. COVID-19 outcomes in patients with AILD were investigated in international registry studies and retrospective case studies[82]. Combined data from three multinational registries showed that despite the use of immunosuppressive treatment, AIH patients did not seem to have a higher risk of lethal outcomes with COVID-19 compared to patients without liver disease and those with other forms of liver disease^[83]. A retrospective study from 34 centers in Europe and the Americas indicated that patients with AIH did not have an increased risk for poor prognosis with COVID-19 than other causes of CLD and that cirrhosis was the most important predictor for high COVID-19 severity in this group of patients[84]. Zecher et al [85] indicated that patients with AILD were not at elevated risk for COVID-19. A Spanish nationwide study reported that cumulative incidences of hospitalization and COVID-19 related mortality were greater in patients with PBC than in the general Spanish population,



although the results were not adjusted for other comorbidities[86].

Severity and mortality of COVID-19 among CLD patients

Although the presence of COVID-19 infection in CLD patients is associated with a poor prognosis, including severity and mortality, these results should be interpreted with caution and need to be evaluated in large future studies. Such findings could be explained by overlapping risk factors, therapeutic effort limitations, different etiologies, and the disease spectrum of CLD, which ranges from mild asymptomatic disease to severe decompensated cirrhosis. Cirrhosis severity and older age are the most important predictors of mortality[21]. A French national retrospective cohort study found no increased COVID-19 severity in patients with CLD, alcohol use disorders, cirrhosis, or primary liver cancer, indicating that the COVID-19 outcome in these patients may be more associated with therapeutic effort such as mechanical ventilation and less with liver disease progression or ethanol toxicity [87]. This group of patients was at an elevated risk for mortality from COVID-19 within 30 d after admission but was less likely to need mechanical ventilation[87] in comparison with patients with mild liver diseases, compensated cirrhosis, chronic viral hepatitis, non-viral, non-alcoholic causes of CLD, acquired immunodeficiency syndrome, and liver transplantation, who were not at a higher risk of dying from COVID-19 but were more likely to receive mechanical ventilation [87]. As mentioned earlier, the Swedish nationwide cohort study also did not find an increased risk of getting severe COVID-19 in CLD patients, although they had an increased risk of hospitalization than the background population [52]. The pooled analysis of six studies found that CLD was not related to an elevated risk of a more severe COVID-19 disease course or mortality[88]. Similar results were reported from a nationwide Korean cohort study indicating that LC was not an independent predictor of severe complications, including mortality, in COVID-19 patients and depended on age, hypertension, cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and a higher Charlson comorbidity index[75]. After adjustment for age, sex, BMI, cardiac disease, hypertension, diabetes, and respiratory disorders, CLD, and NAFLD were independently associated with ICU admission and the need for mechanical ventilation, but not death [12].

CONCLUSION

Due to the era of the COVID-19 pandemic and the large number of patients with liver disease, it is very important to study the impact of liver damage on the prognosis of patients with COVID-19 and the predictors that may affect the outcome. Identifying predictors of mortality could allow for risk stratification of patients and help improve healthcare delivery[11]. Therefore, it is necessary to improve the understanding of host genetics, behavior, and pre-existing comorbidities and adequately follow-up liver disease patients[17]. Patients with CLD, especially those with cirrhosis or advanced liver damage, should be prioritized for COVID-19 vaccination[89].

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Isidora Vujcic wrote the manuscript and performed the literature search.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The author states there is no conflict of interest to disclose.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Serbia

ORCID number: Isidora Vujčić 0000-0003-3442-7400.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Chen YL

REFERENCES

1 European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. COVID-19. [cited 3 December 2022]. Available from:



https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en

- 2 World Health Organization. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19). [cited 3 December 2022]. Available from: https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019
- 3 Garrido M, Pereira Guedes T, Alves Silva J, Falcão D, Novo I, Archer S, Rocha M, Maia L, Sarmento-Castro R, Pedroto I. Impact of Liver Test Abnormalities and Chronic Liver Disease on the Clinical Outcomes of Patients Hospitalized with COVID-19. GE Port J Gastroenterol 2021; 158: 1-12 [PMID: 34192127 DOI: 10.1159/000513593]
- 4 Mikolasevic I, Bozic D, Pavić T, Ruzic A, Hauser G, Radic M, Radic-Kristo D, Razov-Radas M, Puljiz Z, Milic S. Liver disease in the era of COVID-19: Is the worst yet to come? World J Gastroenterol 2021; 27: 6039-6052 [PMID: 34629818 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v27.i36.6039]
- Jaiswal V, Naz S, Ishak A, Batra N, Quinonez J, Mukherjee D, Pokhrel NB. A rare case of pediatric pancreatic pseudocyst. 5 *Clin Case Rep* 2022; **10**: e05879 [PMID: 35600019 DOI: 10.1002/ccr3.5879]
- Choudhary NS, Dhampalwar S, Saraf N, Soin AS. Outcomes of COVID-19 in Patients with Cirrhosis or Liver 6 Transplantation. J Clin Exp Hepatol 2021; 11: 713-719 [PMID: 33994708 DOI: 10.1016/j.jceh.2021.05.003]
- 7 Jothimani D, Venugopal R, Abedin MF, Kaliamoorthy I, Rela M. COVID-19 and the liver. J Hepatol 2020; 73: 1231-1240 [PMID: 32553666 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.06.006]
- 8 Middleton P, Hsu C, Lythgoe MP. Clinical outcomes in COVID-19 and cirrhosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. BMJ Open Gastroenterol 2021; 8 [PMID: 34675033 DOI: 10.1136/bmjgast-2021-000739]
- 9 Bahardoust M, Heiat M, Khodabandeh M, Karbasi A, Bagheri-Hosseinabadi Z, Ataee MH, Seidalian N, Babazadeh A, Agah S, Abyazi MA. Predictors for the severe coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infection in patients with underlying liver disease: a retrospective analytical study in Iran. Sci Rep 2021; 11: 3066 [PMID: 33542426 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-021-82721-3
- Asrani SK, Devarbhavi H, Eaton J, Kamath PS. Burden of liver diseases in the world. J Hepatol 2019; 70: 151-171 [DOI: 10 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.09.014]
- Kim D, Adeniji N, Latt N, Kumar S, Bloom PP, Aby ES, Perumalswami P, Roytman M, Li M, Vogel AS, Catana AM, 11 Wegermann K, Carr RM, Aloman C, Chen VL, Rabiee A, Sadowski B, Nguyen V, Dunn W, Chavin KD, Zhou K, Lizaola-Mayo B, Moghe A, Debes J, Lee TH, Branch AD, Viveiros K, Chan W, Chascsa DM, Kwo P, Dhanasekaran R. Predictors of Outcomes of COVID-19 in Patients With Chronic Liver Disease: US Multi-center Study. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 19: 1469-1479.e19 [PMID: 32950749 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2020.09.027]
- Hashemi N, Viveiros K, Redd WD, Zhou JC, McCarty TR, Bazarbashi AN, Hathorn KE, Wong D, Njie C, Shen L, Chan 12 WW. Impact of chronic liver disease on outcomes of hospitalized patients with COVID-19: A multicentre United States experience. Liver Int 2020; 40: 2515-2521 [PMID: 32585065 DOI: 10.1111/liv.14583]
- Hayat U, Ashfaq MZ, Johnson L, Ford R, Wuthnow C, Kadado K, El Jurdi K, Okut H, Kilgore WR, Assi M, Siddiqui AA. 13 The Association of Metabolic-Associated Fatty Liver Disease with Clinical Outcomes of COVID-19: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Kans J Med 2022; 15: 241-246 [PMID: 35899064 DOI: 10.17161/kjm.vol15.16522]
- 14 Eslam M, Sanyal AJ, George J; International Consensus Panel. MAFLD: A Consensus-Driven Proposed Nomenclature for Metabolic Associated Fatty Liver Disease. Gastroenterology 2020; 158: 1999-2014.e1 [PMID: 32044314 DOI: 10.1053/i.gastro.2019.11.312
- Testino G. Covid-19 infection, liver injury and prognosis: a suggestion. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 33: 451-452 15 [PMID: 32558696 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.000000000001809]
- Mahamid M, Nseir W, Khoury T, Mahamid B, Nubania A, Sub-Laban K, Schifter J, Mari A, Sbeit W, Goldin E. 16 Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease is associated with COVID-19 severity independently of metabolic syndrome: a retrospective case-control study. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 33: 1578-1581 [PMID: 32868652 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.000000000001902
- 17 Fierro NA. COVID-19 and the liver: What do we know after six months of the pandemic? Ann Hepatol 2020; 19: 590-591 [PMID: 32956871 DOI: 10.1016/j.aohep.2020.09.001]
- Wang X, Lei J, Li Z, Yan L. Potential Effects of Coronaviruses on the Liver: An Update. Front Med (Lausanne) 2021; 8: 18 651658 [PMID: 34646834 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2021.651658]
- Ozkurt Z, Cinar Tanriverdi E. COVID-19: Gastrointestinal manifestations, liver injury and recommendations. World J Clin 19 Cases 2022; 10: 1140-1163 [PMID: 35211548 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v10.i4.1140]
- 20 Elghannam MT, Hassanien MH, Ameen YA, ELattar GM, ELRay AA, Turky EA, ELTalkawy MD. COVID-19 and liver diseases. Egypt Liver J 2022; 12: 43 [PMID: 35880136 DOI: 10.1186/s43066-022-00202-2]
- 21 Russo FP, Burra P, Zanetto A. COVID-19 and liver disease: where are we now? Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 19: 277-278 [PMID: 35301465 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-022-00607-9]
- Taneva G, Dimitrov D, Velikova T. Liver dysfunction as a cytokine storm manifestation and prognostic factor for severe 22 COVID-19. World J Hepatol 2021; 13: 2005-2012 [PMID: 35070004 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v13.i12.2005]
- Wu J, Song S, Cao HC, Li LJ. Liver diseases in COVID-19: Etiology, treatment and prognosis. World J Gastroenterol 23 2020; 26: 2286-2293 [PMID: 32476793 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v26.i19.2286]
- 24 Kanda T, Sasaki-Tanaka R, Ishii T, Abe H, Ogawa M, Enomoto H. Acute Liver Failure and Acute-on-Chronic Liver Failure in COVID-19 Era. J Clin Med 2022; 11 [PMID: 35888013 DOI: 10.3390/jcm11144249]
- Dufour JF, Marjot T, Becchetti C, Tilg H. COVID-19 and liver disease. Gut 2022; 71: 2350-2362 [PMID: 35701093 DOI: 25 10.1136/gutjnl-2021-3267921
- Williamson EJ, Walker AJ, Bhaskaran K, Bacon S, Bates C, Morton CE, Curtis HJ, Mehrkar A, Evans D, Inglesby P, 26 Cockburn J, McDonald HI, MacKenna B, Tomlinson L, Douglas IJ, Rentsch CT, Mathur R, Wong AYS, Grieve R, Harrison D, Forbes H, Schultze A, Croker R, Parry J, Hester F, Harper S, Perera R, Evans SJW, Smeeth L, Goldacre B. Factors associated with COVID-19-related death using OpenSAFELY. Nature 2020; 584: 430-436 [PMID: 32640463 DOI: 10.1038/s41586-020-2521-4]
- Deng G, Yin M, Chen X, Zeng F. Clinical determinants for fatality of 44,672 patients with COVID-19. Crit Care 2020; 24: 179 [PMID: 32345311 DOI: 10.1186/s13054-020-02902-w]
- 28 Figliozzi S, Masci PG, Ahmadi N, Tondi L, Koutli E, Aimo A, Stamatelopoulos K, Dimopoulos MA, Caforio ALP,



Georgiopoulos G. Predictors of adverse prognosis in COVID-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Clin Invest 2020; **50**: e13362 [PMID: 32726868 DOI: 10.1111/eci.13362]

- 29 Yang J, Tian C, Chen Y, Zhu C, Chi H, Li J. Obesity aggravates COVID-19: An updated systematic review and metaanalysis. J Med Virol 2021; 93: 2662-2674 [PMID: 33200825 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.26677]
- Krishnan A, Prichett L, Liu Y, Ting PS, Alqahtani SA, Kim AK, Ma M, Hamilton JP, Woreta TA, Chen PH. Risk of Severe Illness and Risk Factors of Outcomes of COVID-19 in Hospitalized Patients with Chronic Liver Disease in a Major U. S. Hospital Network. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 2022: 8407990 [PMID: 36387036 DOI: 10.1155/2022/8407990
- 31 Shen JX, Zhuang ZH, Zhang QX, Huang JF, Chen GP, Fang YY, Cheng AG. Risk Factors and Prognosis in Patients with COVID-19 and Liver Injury: A Retrospective Analysis. J Multidiscip Healthc 2021; 14: 629-637 [PMID: 33731999 DOI: 10.2147/JMDH.S293378
- Vardavas CI, Mathioudakis AG, Nikitara K, Stamatelopoulos K, Georgiopoulos G, Phalkey R, Leonardi-Bee J, Fernandez 32 E, Carnicer-Pont D, Vestbo J, Semenza JC, Deogan C, Suk JE, Kramarz P, Lamb F, Penttinen P. Prognostic factors for mortality, intensive care unit and hospital admission due to SARS-CoV-2: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies in Europe. Eur Respir Rev 2022; 31 [PMID: 36323422 DOI: 10.1183/16000617.0098-2022]
- Ortega-Quiroz RJ. COVID-19 and Liver Disease: A panorama that is being clarified. Rev Colomb Gastroenterol 2022; 33 37: 131-135 [DOI: 10.22516/]
- Besteiro B, Coutinho D, Gomes F, Almeida M. Almeida J. Review of the Prognosis Factors of COVID-19 Infection. Adv 34 Infec Dis 2021; 11: 196-215 [DOI: 10.4236/aid.2021.112019]
- Kariyawasam JC, Jayarajah U, Abeysuriya V, Riza R, Seneviratne SL. Involvement of the Liver in COVID-19: A 35 Systematic Review. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2022; 106: 1026-1041 [PMID: 35203056 DOI: 10.4269/ajtmh.21-1240]
- Almeida-Costa T, Cunha-Lima MA, Kniess I, Marques-Vieira L, Delmondes-Freitas LD. Changes in liver function tests 36 caused by COVID-19 and impact on patient outcome: a systematic review. Rev Colomb Gastroenterol 2021; 36: 302-312 [DOI: 10.22516/25007440.713]
- 37 Cichoż-Lach H, Michalak A. Liver injury in the era of COVID-19. World J Gastroenterol 2021; 27: 377-390 [PMID: 33584070 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v27.i5.377]
- 38 Wu Y, Li H, Guo X, Yoshida EM, Mendez-Sanchez N, Levi Sandri GB, Teschke R, Romeiro FG, Shukla A, Qi X. Incidence, risk factors, and prognosis of abnormal liver biochemical tests in COVID-19 patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepatol Int 2020; 14: 621-637 [PMID: 32710250 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-020-10074-6]
- 39 Tokarczyk U, Kaliszewski K, Kopszak A, Nowak Ł, Sutkowska-Stępień K, Sroczyński M, Sępek M, Dudek A, Diakowska D, Trocha M, Gajecki D, Gawryś J, Matys T, Maciejiczek J, Kozub V, Szalast R, Madziarski M, Zubkiewicz-Zarębska A, Letachowicz K, Kiliś-Pstrusińska K, Matera-Witkiewicz A, Pomorski M, Protasiewicz M, Sokołowski J, Adamik B, Kujawa K, Doroszko A, Madziarska K, Jankowska EA. Liver Function Tests in COVID-19: Assessment of the Actual Prognostic Value. J Clin Med 2022; 11 [PMID: 35956107 DOI: 10.3390/jcm11154490]
- 40 Liao X, Li D, Ma Z, Zhang L, Zheng B, Li Z, Li G, Liu L, Zhang Z. 12-Month Post-Discharge Liver Function Test Abnormalities Among Patients With COVID-19: A Single-Center Prospective Cohort Study. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2022; 12: 864933 [PMID: 35493732 DOI: 10.3389/fcimb.2022.864933]
- Del Zompo F, De Siena M, Ianiro G, Gasbarrini A, Pompili M, Ponziani FR. Prevalence of liver injury and correlation with 41 clinical outcomes in patients with COVID-19: systematic review with meta-analysis. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2020; 24: 13072-13088 [PMID: 33378061 DOI: 10.26355/eurrev 202012 24215]
- Sharma A, Jaiswal P, Kerakhan Y, Saravanan L, Murtaza Z, Zergham A, Honganur NS, Akbar A, Deol A, Francis B, Patel 42 S, Mehta D, Jaiswal R, Singh J, Patel U, Malik P. Liver disease and outcomes among COVID-19 hospitalized patients - A systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Hepatol 2021; 21: 100273 [PMID: 33075578 DOI: 10.1016/j.aohep.2020.10.001]
- Yip TC, Lui GC, Wong VW, Chow VC, Ho TH, Li TC, Tse YK, Hui DS, Chan HL, Wong GL. Liver injury is 43 independently associated with adverse clinical outcomes in patients with COVID-19. Gut 2021; 70: 733-742 [PMID: 32641471 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-321726]
- Wagner J, Garcia-Rodriguez V, Yu A, Dutra B, Larson S, Cash B, DuPont A, Farooq A. Elevated transaminases and hypoalbuminemia in Covid-19 are prognostic factors for disease severity. Sci Rep 2021; 11: 10308 [PMID: 33986318 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-021-89340-y
- 45 Quintero-Marzola ID, Fontalvo-Mendoza MF, Cárdenas-Gómez JC, Quintana-Pájaro LJ, Ramos-Villegas Y, Manzur-Jattin F, Yepes IJ, Sibaja-Pérez AE. Liver and SARS-CoV-2: Literature key aspects. Rev Colomb Gastroenterol 2021; 36: 485-493 [DOI: 10.22516/25007440.619]
- 46 Rojas M, Rodríguez Y, Zapata E, Hernández JC, Anaya JM. Cholangiopathy as part of post-COVID syndrome. J Transl Autoimmun 2021; 4: 100116 [PMID: 34485887 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtauto.2021.100116]
- Elghannam MT, Hassanien MH, Abdelrahman Y, ALattar GM, Turky EA, EL Ray AA, EL Talkawy MD. (2021) COVID-47 19 and Chronic Viral Liver Diseases. J Biosci Med 2021; 9: 138-146 [DOI: 10.4236/jbm.2021.99012]
- 48 Qi X, Liu Y, Wang J, Fallowfield JA, Li X, Shi J, Pan H, Zou S, Zhang H, Chen Z, Li F, Luo Y, Mei M, Liu H, Wang Z, Li J, Yang H, Xiang H, Liu T, Zheng MH, Liu C, Huang Y, Xu D, Kang N, He Q, Gu Y, Zhang G, Shao C, Liu D, Zhang L, Kawada N, Jiang Z, Wang F, Xiong B, Takehara T, Rockey DC; COVID-Cirrhosis-CHESS Group. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of COVID-19 patients with pre-existing cirrhosis: a multicentre cohort study. Gut 2021; 70: 433-436 [PMID: 32434831 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-321666]
- Taye BW, Valery PC, Clark PJ. Protecting persons at-risk of viral hepatitis and alcohol-related liver disease during the pandemic and beyond: mitigating the impact of coronavirus disease 2019 on liver health. J Glob Health Rep 2021; 5: e2021060 [DOI: 10.29392/001c.24940]
- 50 Sarin SK, Choudhury A, Lau GK, Zheng MH, Ji D, Abd-Elsalam S, Hwang J, Qi X, Cua IH, Suh JI, Park JG, Putcharoen O, Kaewdech A, Piratvisuth T, Treeprasertsuk S, Park S, Wejnaruemarn S, Payawal DA, Baatarkhuu O, Ahn SH, Yeo CD, Alonzo UR, Chinbayar T, Loho IM, Yokosuka O, Jafri W, Tan S, Soo LI, Tanwandee T, Gani R, Anand L, Esmail ES, Khalaf M, Alam S, Lin CY, Chuang WL, Soin AS, Garg HK, Kalista K, Batsukh B, Purnomo HD, Dara VP, Rathi P, Al Mahtab M, Shukla A, Sharma MK, Omata M; APASL COVID Task Force, APASL COVID Liver Injury Spectrum Study



(APCOLIS Study-NCT 04345640). Pre-existing liver disease is associated with poor outcome in patients with SARS CoV2 infection; The APCOLIS Study (APASL COVID-19 Liver Injury Spectrum Study). Hepatol Int 2020; 14: 690-700 [PMID: 32623632 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-020-10072-8]

- 51 Dahlin P, Nagras ZG, Attauabi M, Burisch J, Bendtsen F, Kimer N. Outcomes of COVID-19 among Patients with Chronic Liver Disease: A Danish Prospective, Population-Based Cohort Study. GastroHep 2022; 2022 [DOI: 10.1155/2022/8081932
- 52 Simon TG, Hagström H, Sharma R, Söderling J, Roelstraete B, Larsson E, Ludvigsson JF. Risk of severe COVID-19 and mortality in patients with established chronic liver disease: a nationwide matched cohort study. BMC Gastroenterol 2021; 21: 439 [PMID: 34814851 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-021-02017-8]
- 53 Li C, Chen Q, Wang J, Lin H, Lin Y, Lin J, Peng F, Chen J, Yang Z. Clinical characteristics of chronic liver disease with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a cohort study in Wuhan, China. Aging (Albany NY) 2020; 12: 15938-15945 [PMID: 32855361 DOI: 10.18632/aging.103632]
- 54 Váncsa S, Hegyi PJ, Zádori N, Szakó L, Vörhendi N, Ocskay K, Földi M, Dembrovszky F, Dömötör ZR, Jánosi K, Rakonczay Z Jr, Hartmann P, Horváth T, Erőss B, Kiss S, Szakács Z, Németh D, Hegyi P, Pár G. Pre-existing Liver Diseases and On-Admission Liver-Related Laboratory Tests in COVID-19: A Prognostic Accuracy Meta-Analysis With Systematic Review. Front Med (Lausanne) 2020; 7: 572115 [PMID: 33282888 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2020.572115]
- Nagarajan R, Krishnamoorthy Y, Rajaa S, Hariharan VS. COVID-19 Severity and Mortality Among Chronic Liver 55 Disease Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Prev Chronic Dis 2022; 19: E53 [PMID: 36007255 DOI: 10.5888/pcd19.210228]
- Hartl L, Haslinger K, Angerer M, Semmler G, Schneeweiss-Gleixner M, Jachs M, Simbrunner B, Bauer DJM, Eigenbauer 56 E, Strassl R, Breuer M, Kimberger O, Laxar D, Lampichler K, Halilbasic E, Stättermayer AF, Ba-Ssalamah A, Mandorfer M, Scheiner B, Reiberger T, Trauner M. Progressive cholestasis and associated sclerosing cholangitis are frequent complications of COVID-19 in patients with chronic liver disease. Hepatology 2022; 76: 1563-1575 [PMID: 35596929 DOI: 10.1002/hep.32582]
- 57 Mani I, Alexopoulou A. Recent challenges facing patients with preexisting chronic liver disease in the era of the COVID-19 pandemic. Ann Gastroenterol 2021; 34: 625-633 [PMID: 34475732 DOI: 10.20524/aog.2021.0628]
- 58 Zhang B, Huang W, Zhang S. Clinical Features and Outcomes of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Patients With Chronic Hepatitis B Virus Infection. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 18: 2633-2637 [PMID: 32553905 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2020.06.011]
- 59 Liu R, Zhao L, Cheng X, Han H, Li C, Li D, Liu A, Gao G, Zhou F, Liu F, Jiang Y, Zhu C, Xia Y. Clinical characteristics of COVID-19 patients with hepatitis B virus infection - a retrospective study. Liver Int 2021; 41: 720-730 [PMID: 33351265 DOI: 10.1111/liv.14774]
- 60 Kang SH, Cho DH, Choi J, Baik SK, Gwon JG, Kim MY. Association between chronic hepatitis B infection and COVID-19 outcomes: A Korean nationwide cohort study. PLoS One 2021; 16: e0258229 [PMID: 34610052 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0258229
- 61 Yu Y, Li X, Wan T. Effects of Hepatitis B Virus Infection on Patients with COVID-19: A Meta-Analysis. Dig Dis Sci 2022; 1-17 [PMID: 36085229 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-022-07687-2]
- Algahtani SA, Buti M. COVID-19 and hepatitis B infection. Antivir Ther 2020; 25: 389-397 [PMID: 33616549 DOI: 62 10.3851/IMP3382
- 63 Ronderos D, Omar AMS, Abbas H, Makker J, Baiomi A, Sun H, Mantri N, Choi Y, Fortuzi K, Shin D, Patel H, Chilimuri S. Chronic hepatitis-C infection in COVID-19 patients is associated with in-hospital mortality. World J Clin Cases 2021; 9: 8749-8762 [PMID: 34734053 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v9.i29.8749]
- 64 Choe JW, Jung YK, Yim HJ, Seo GH. Clinical Effect of Hepatitis B Virus on COVID-19 Infected Patients: A Nationwide Population-Based Study Using the Health Insurance Review & amp; Assessment Service Database. J Korean Med Sci 2022; 37: e29 [PMID: 35075828 DOI: 10.3346/jkms.2022.37.e29]
- 65 Xu Y, Yang X, Bian H, Xia M. Metabolic dysfunction associated fatty liver disease and coronavirus disease 2019: clinical relationship and current management. Lipids Health Dis 2021; 20: 126 [PMID: 34602072 DOI: 10.1186/s12944-021-01564-z]
- 66 Ji D, Qin E, Xu J, Zhang D, Cheng G, Wang Y, Lau G. Non-alcoholic fatty liver diseases in patients with COVID-19: A retrospective study. J Hepatol 2020; 73: 451-453 [PMID: 32278005 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.03.044]
- Hegyi PJ, Váncsa S, Ocskay K, Dembrovszky F, Kiss S, Farkas N, Erőss B, Szakács Z, Hegyi P, Pár G. Metabolic 67 Associated Fatty Liver Disease Is Associated With an Increased Risk of Severe COVID-19: A Systematic Review With Meta-Analysis. Front Med (Lausanne) 2021; 8: 626425 [PMID: 33777974 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2021.626425]
- Vrsaljko N, Samadan L, Viskovic K, Mehmedović A, Budimir J, Vince A, Papic N. Association of Nonalcoholic Fatty 68 Liver Disease With COVID-19 Severity and Pulmonary Thrombosis: CovidFAT, a Prospective, Observational Cohort Study. Open Forum Infect Dis 2022; 9: ofac073 [PMID: 35287335 DOI: 10.1093/ofid/ofac073]
- Moon AM, Curtis B, Mandrekar P, Singal AK, Verna EC, Fix OK. Alcohol-Associated Liver Disease Before and After COVID-19-An Overview and Call for Ongoing Investigation. Hepatol Commun 2021; 5: 1616-1621 [PMID: 34510833 DOI: 10.1002/hep4.1747]
- 70 Marjot T, Moon AM, Cook JA, Abd-Elsalam S, Aloman C, Armstrong MJ, Pose E, Brenner EJ, Cargill T, Catana MA, Dhanasekaran R, Eshraghian A, García-Juárez I, Gill US, Jones PD, Kennedy J, Marshall A, Matthews C, Mells G, Mercer C, Perumalswami PV, Avitabile E, Qi X, Su F, Ufere NN, Wong YJ, Zheng MH, Barnes E, Barritt AS 4th, Webb GJ. Outcomes following SARS-CoV-2 infection in patients with chronic liver disease: An international registry study. J Hepatol 2021; 74: 567-577 [PMID: 33035628 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.09.024]
- 71 Singh S, Khan A. Clinical Characteristics and Outcomes of Coronavirus Disease 2019 Among Patients With Preexisting Liver Disease in the United States: A Multicenter Research Network Study. Gastroenterology 2020; 159: 768-771.e3 [PMID: 32376408 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.04.064]
- Nawghare P, Jain S, Chandnani S, Bansal S, Patel S, Debnath P, Rane S, Deshmukh R, Rathi P, Contractor Q. Predictors of Severity and Mortality in Chronic Liver Disease Patients With COVID-19 During the Second Wave of the Pandemic in



India. Cureus 2022; 14: e20891 [PMID: 35145796 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.20891]

- 73 Iavarone M, D'Ambrosio R, Soria A, Triolo M, Pugliese N, Del Poggio P, Perricone G, Massironi S, Spinetti A, Buscarini E, Viganò M, Carriero C, Fagiuoli S, Aghemo A, Belli LS, Lucà M, Pedaci M, Rimondi A, Rumi MG, Invernizzi P, Bonfanti P, Lampertico P. High rates of 30-day mortality in patients with cirrhosis and COVID-19. *J Hepatol* 2020; 73: 1063-1071 [PMID: 32526252 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.06.001]
- 74 Moon AM, Webb GJ, Aloman C, Armstrong MJ, Cargill T, Dhanasekaran R, Genescà J, Gill US, James TW, Jones PD, Marshall A, Mells G, Perumalswami PV, Qi X, Su F, Ufere NN, Barnes E, Barritt AS, Marjot T. High mortality rates for SARS-CoV-2 infection in patients with pre-existing chronic liver disease and cirrhosis: Preliminary results from an international registry. *J Hepatol* 2020; 73: 705-708 [PMID: 32446714 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.05.013]
- 75 Jeon D, Son M, Choi J. Impact of liver cirrhosis on the clinical outcomes of patients with COVID-19: a nationwide cohort study of Korea. *Korean J Intern Med* 2021; **36**: 1092-1101 [PMID: 34399573 DOI: 10.3904/kjim.2020.486]
- 76 Satapathy SK, Roth NC, Kvasnovsky C, Hirsch JS, Trindade AJ, Molmenti E, Barish M, Hirschwerk D, Da BL, Bernstein D; Northwell Health COVID-19 Research Consortium. Risk factors and outcomes for acute-on-chronic liver failure in COVID-19: a large multi-center observational cohort study. *Hepatol Int* 2021; 15: 766-779 [PMID: 33826042 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-021-10181-y]
- 77 Chagas AL, Fonseca LGD, Coelho FF, Saud LRDC, Abdala E, Andraus W, Fiore L, Moreira AM, Menezes MR, Carnevale FC, Tani CM, Alencar RSSM, D'Albuquerque LAC, Herman P, Carrilho FJ. Management of Hepatocellular Carcinoma during the COVID-19 Pandemic - São Paulo Clínicas Liver Cancer Group Multidisciplinary Consensus Statement. *Clinics (Sao Paulo)* 2020; **75**: e2192 [PMID: 33146360 DOI: 10.6061/clinics/2020/e2192]
- 78 Muñoz-Martínez S, Sapena V, Forner A, Bruix J, Sanduzzi-Zamparelli M, Ríos J, Bouattour M, El-Kassas M, Leal CRG, Mocan T, Nault JC, Alves RCP, Reeves HL, da Fonseca L, García-Juárez I, Pinato DJ, Varela M, Alqahtani SA, Alvaresda-Silva MR, Bandi JC, Rimassa L, Lozano M, González Santiago JM, Tacke F, Sala M, Anders M, Lachenmayer A, Piñero F, França A, Guarino M, Elvevi A, Cabibbo G, Peck-Radosavljevic M, Rojas Á, Vergara M, Braconi C, Pascual S, Perelló C, Mello V, Rodríguez-Lope C, Acevedo J, Villani R, Hollande C, Vilgrain V, Tawheed A, Ferguson Theodoro C, Sparchez Z, Blaise L, Viera-Alves DE, Watson R, Carrilho FJ, Moctezuma-Velázquez C, D'Alessio A, Iavarone M, Reig M. Outcome of liver cancer patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection: An International, Multicentre, Cohort Study. *Liver Int* 2022; 42: 1891-1901 [PMID: 35608939 DOI: 10.1111/liv.15320]
- 79 Pazgan-Simon M, Kucharska M, Górka-Dynysiewicz J, Simon K. Impact of SARS CoV-2 /COVID-19 infection on the course of advanced chronic liver disease and hepatocellular carcinoma. *Pharmacol Rep* 2022; 74: 1306-1314 [PMID: 36394820 DOI: 10.1007/s43440-022-00434-4]
- 80 Guarino M, Cossiga V, Capasso M, Mazzarelli C, Pelizzaro F, Sacco R, Russo FP, Vitale A, Trevisani F, Cabibbo G; The Associazione Italiana Per Lo Studio Del Fegato AISF HCC Special Interest Group. Impact of SARS-CoV-2 Pandemic on the Management of Patients with Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *J Clin Med* 2022; **11** [PMID: 35956091 DOI: 10.3390/jcm11154475]
- 81 Li P, Liu Y, Cheng Z, Yu X, Li Y. COVID-19-associated liver injury: Clinical characteristics, pathophysiological mechanisms and treatment management. *Biomed Pharmacother* 2022; 154: 113568 [PMID: 36029543 DOI: 10.1016/j.biopha.2022.113568]
- 82 Floreani A, De Martin S. COVID-19 and Autoimmune Liver Diseases. J Clin Med 2022; 11 [PMID: 35628807 DOI: 10.3390/jcm11102681]
- 83 Marjot T, Buescher G, Sebode M, Barnes E, Barritt AS 4th, Armstrong MJ, Baldelli L, Kennedy J, Mercer C, Ozga AK, Casar C, Schramm C; contributing Members and Collaborators of ERN RARE-LIVER/COVID-Hep/SECURE-Cirrhosis, Moon AM, Webb GJ, Lohse AW. SARS-CoV-2 infection in patients with autoimmune hepatitis. *J Hepatol* 2021; 74: 1335-1343 [PMID: 33508378 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.01.021]
- 84 Efe C, Dhanasekaran R, Lammert C, Ebik B, Higuera-de la Tijera F, Aloman C, Rıza Calışkan A, Peralta M, Gerussi A, Massoumi H, Catana AM, Torgutalp M, Purnak T, Rigamonti C, Gomez Aldana AJ, Khakoo N, Kacmaz H, Nazal L, Frager S, Demir N, Irak K, Ellik ZM, Balaban Y, Atay K, Eren F, Cristoferi L, Batıbay E, Urzua Á, Snijders R, Kıyıcı M, Akyıldız M, Ekin N, Carr RM, Harputluoğlu M, Hatemi I, Mendizabal M, Silva M, Idilman R, Silveira M, Drenth JPH, Assis DN, Björnsson E, Boyer JL, Invernizzi P, Levy C, Schiano TD, Ridruejo E, Wahlin S. Outcome of COVID-19 in Patients With Autoimmune Hepatitis: An International Multicenter Study. *Hepatology* 2021; 73: 2099-2109 [PMID: 33713486 DOI: 10.1002/hep.31797]
- 85 Zecher BF, Buescher G, Willemse J, Walmsley M, Taylor A, Leburgue A, Schramm C, Lohse AW, Sebode M. Prevalence of COVID-19 in patients with autoimmune liver disease in Europe: A patient-oriented online survey. *United European Gastroenterol J* 2021; 9: 797-808 [PMID: 34105883 DOI: 10.1002/ueg2.12100]
- 86 Ampuero J, Lucena A, Hernández-Guerra M, Moreno-Moraleda I, Arenas J, Conde I, Muñoz L, Canillas L, Fernandez E, Quiñones R, Simon MA, Gómez-Dominguez E, Gutierrez ML, Fernandez-Rodriguez C, Domper-Arnal MJ, Jorquera F, Garcia-Buey ML, Garcia-Retortillo M, Morillas R, Berenguer M, Casado M, Morales-Arraez D, Sousa JM, Molina E. Primary biliary cholangitis and SARS-CoV-2 infection: incidence, susceptibility and outcomes. *Gut* 2021 [PMID: 34876479 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2021-325700]
- 87 Mallet V, Beeker N, Bouam S, Sogni P, Pol S; Demosthenes research group. Prognosis of French COVID-19 patients with chronic liver disease: A national retrospective cohort study for 2020. *J Hepatol* 2021; 75: 848-855 [PMID: 33992699 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.04.052]
- 88 Lippi G, de Oliveira MHS, Henry BM. Chronic liver disease is not associated with severity or mortality in Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a pooled analysis. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2021; 33: 114-115 [PMID: 32282549 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.00000000001742]
- 89 Martinez MA, Franco S. Impact of COVID-19 in Liver Disease Progression. Hepatol Commun 2021; 5: 1138-1150 [PMID: 34533001 DOI: 10.1002/hep4.1745]

Zaishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

WŰ

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 February 7; 29(5): 825-833

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.825

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Bone loss in chronic liver diseases: Could healthy liver be a requirement for good bone health?

Jelena Jadzic, Danijela Djonic

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Chuang W, Taiwan; Ferraioli G, Italy; Hakim GD, Turkey

Received: September 27, 2022 Peer-review started: September 27, 2022 First decision: October 20, 2022 Revised: October 29, 2022 Accepted: January 11, 2023 Article in press: January 11, 2023 Published online: February 7, 2023



Jelena Jadzic, Danijela Djonic, Center of Bone Biology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Belgrade, Belgrade 11000, Serbia

Corresponding author: Danijela Djonic, MD, PhD, Professor, Center of Bone Biology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Belgrade, Dr. Subotica 4/2, Belgrade 11000, Serbia. ddjonic@yahoo.com

Abstract

Given that the liver is involved in many metabolic mechanisms, it is not surprising that chronic liver disease (CLD) could have numerous complications. Secondary osteoporosis and increased bone fragility are frequently overlooked complications in CLD patients. Previous studies implied that up to one-third of these individuals meet diagnostic criteria for osteopenia or osteoporosis. Recent publications indicated that CLD-induced bone fragility depends on the etiology, duration, and stage of liver disease. Therefore, the increased fracture risk in CLD patients puts a severe socioeconomic burden on the health system and urgently requires more effective prevention, diagnosis, and treatment measures. The pathogenesis of CLD-induced bone loss is multifactorial and still insufficiently understood, especially considering the relative impact of increased bone resorption and reduced bone formation in these individuals. It is essential to note that inconsistent findings regarding bone mineral density measurement were previously reported in these individuals. Bone mineral density is widely used as the "golden standard" in the clinical assessment of bone fragility although it is not adequate to predict individual fracture risk. Therefore, microscale bone alterations (bone microstructure, mechanical properties, and cellular indices) were analyzed in CLD individuals. These studies further support the thesis that bone strength could be compromised in CLD individuals, implying that an individualized approach to fracture risk assessment and subsequent therapy is necessary for CLD patients. However, more well-designed studies are required to solve the bone fragility puzzle in CLD patients.

Key Words: Chronic liver disease; Fracture risk; Hepatic osteodystrophy; Osteoporosis; Bone strength

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: Secondary osteoporosis and increased bone fragility are frequently overlooked complications in patients with chronic liver disease (CLD). Recent publications agree that CLD-induced bone fragility depends on the etiology, duration, and stage of liver disease, but certain ambiguities are still present. Importantly, etiopathogenetic mechanisms leading to CLD-induced bone loss are still insufficiently clarified. Given that available clinical tools for fracture risk assessment are not entirely reliable, evaluating small-length structural bone properties could improve understanding of the multifactorial nature of bone fragility in CLD patients, which could set a base for the development of more effective preventive and therapeutic strategies.

Citation: Jadzic J, Djonic D. Bone loss in chronic liver diseases: Could healthy liver be a requirement for good bone health? World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(5): 825-833

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i5/825.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.825

INTRODUCTION

The importance of a wide range of liver functions in the human body becomes the most visible in chronic liver disease (CLD). The most commonly known CLD complications are portal hypertension, hepatic encephalopathy, ascites, hepatorenal syndrome, variceal bleeding, and hepatocellular carcinoma [1,2]. However, CLD is also associated with changes in the skeleton, previously known as hepatic osteodystrophy[3,4]. Among CLD patients, substantial heterogeneity of skeletal changes was noted depending on the etiology, duration, and stage of the liver disorder[5,6]. Namely, osteoporosis was initially described as a complication of primary biliary cholangitis and primary biliary cirrhosis (cholestatic liver diseases)[7], while skeletal changes were later described in other (non-cholestatic) hepatic disorders as well[8,9]. It has been reported that approximately every second patient with viral hepatitis, hemochromatosis, and Wilson's disease has osteoporosis or osteopenia[10-12], while up to 55% of patients with alcoholic liver cirrhosis have osteoporotic bone changes [3,13,14]. Interestingly, bone alterations in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease or nonalcoholic steatohepatitis have recently drawn researchers' attention, revealing that up to one-third of these individuals could develop bone alterations [15,16].

Consequently, CLD individuals are at substantial risk for non-traumatic bone fractures [17-19], with a prevalence between 7% and 35% [20]. Recent data suggest that fracture incidence is two to three times higher in end-stage CLD patients compared to healthy controls[19,21], while others reported an eightfold increase in the risk of bone fractures in these patients[22]. Regarding fracture localization, data suggest that vertebral fractures are most common in patients with end-stage CLD[19,23-26], given that more than one-third of these individuals experienced at least one vertebral fracture during their lifetime [8,23,27]. Moreover, CLD contributes to the age-associated increase in the risk of femoral fracture and subsequently its life-threatening complications^[22]. It is important to emphasize that end-stage CLD patients are experiencing fragility fractures at a significantly younger age than most osteoporotic patients^[22], considering that the cumulative fracture risk in CLD patients younger than 45 years corresponds to the risk of healthy controls over 75 years of age[22]. It is important to emphasize that CLD likely changes the sex distribution of fracture risk in the aged population, considering that CLD is more frequent in male patients^[28], while osteoporosis and osteoporosis-related bone fractures are more likely to develop in older women[29].

Despite the significant number of studies that have assessed various characteristics of bone deterioration in CLD individuals, many unknowns should be elucidated to understand this topic entirely.

OSTEODENSITOMETRY FINDINGS IN CLD PATIENTS

Most studies dealing with bone changes in CLD patients used dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry as the most valuable tool in the clinical assessment of fracture risk[30]. Interestingly, opposite results were yielded. Namely, dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry assessment revealed significantly lower bone mineral density (BMD) in patients with viral, autoimmune, and primary biliary cirrhosis[31-33]. At the same time, other authors failed to show a significant BMD decrease in CLD of the same etiology [34,35]. Multiple studies showed reduced dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry-obtained BMD values, suggesting osteopenia or osteoporotic changes of the lumbar spine and femoral neck in patients with alcoholinduced CLDs[36-38], while other research teams failed to show these bone alterations in individuals prone to chronic alcohol abuse [17,39,40]. Given that the primary source of these contradictory data could be in the study design (cross-sectional study design), selection criteria, and the number of participants included in the study, future well-designed prospective studies are required to fully



understand BMD alterations in CLD patients.

BONE TURNOVER BIOMARKERS IN PATIENTS WITH CLD

As a non-invasive and cost-effective tool for indirect assessment of bone remodeling dynamics, bone turnover biomarkers (BTMs) are a complementary method in the clinical management and follow-up of the treatment effects in patients with osteoporosis and osteoporosis-related bone fragility[41]. Automated or manual immunoassays using blood or urine samples are utilized to measure a specific combination of these protein or protein-derivative biomarkers[42], which are considered indicative of the dynamic relationship between osteoblast activity (bone formation markers) and osteoclast activity (bone resorption markers)[41,43]. The most frequently investigated bone formation markers are osteocalcin, bone alkaline phosphatase, and N-propeptide of type I collagen[41]. On the other side, commonly interpreted bone resorption markers are C-terminal and N-terminal telopeptides of type I collagen, deoxypyridinoline, and tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase isoform 5b[41] (Figure 1).

The interpretation of BTM levels has been of clinical utility in age-related osteoporosis[43], while its role in the clinical management of CLD-induced bone loss is still modest. Some data suggest that serum levels of osteocalcin and bone alkaline phosphatase are decreased in individuals with CLD[25,36,44], while others failed to show significant differences between individuals with CLD and the control group [45,46]. Moreover, contradictory data regarding the level of β -CTX and deoxypyridinoline were noted in CLD patients[36,45,47,48]. It is important to note that liver dysfunction could affect serum concentrations of BTMs, which reveals excessive bone matrix degradation, indicating that its assessment allows only limited conclusions in CLD individuals[10,49]. Multiple limitations of BTM assessment are among the reasons why CLD-induced bone changes are recognized and treated after a patient experiences non-traumatic fracture[10], suggesting that further investigation is required to elucidate the role of BTMs in developing novel, adequate preventive and treatment strategies.

ASSESSMENTS OF MICROSCALE BONE PROPERTIES IN CLD INDIVIDUALS

The World Health Organization recommended BMD as the primary parameter for the diagnosis of osteopenia and osteoporosis and for clinical fracture risk assessment[50]. However, considering that the occurrence of fragility fractures primarily requires the action of several bone strength determinants and their mutual interaction, it is evident that increased bone fragility could not be solely explained by BMD decrease[51,52]. In other words, low BMD should only be considered an applicable and non-invasive clinical surrogate marker of bone fragility[52,53]. Namely, it has been known that only up to one-third of non-traumatic fractures are attributable to low BMD values, indicating that many individuals with bone fractures have BMD in the referent range[54].

Moreover, various bone properties are recognized as important determinants affecting bone strength (ability to resist fracture)[55]. Thus, current studies suggested that multiscale analysis of various bone properties (with respect to the hierarchical structure of the bone, Figure 2) could contribute to a better understanding of increased bone fragility in elderly individuals with chronic comorbidities, including a variety of CLDs[56]. The importance of assessing these bone properties is highlighted by the fact that some pharmaceutical agents were proven to improve bone strength and reduce fracture risk without increasing BMD[57,58], indicating the potential for developing new and effective treatment strategies [52].

Initially, histomorphometry studies using optic microscopy assessment of iliac bone biopsies showed deteriorated trabecular bone architecture in CLD patients[59,60]. In addition, some novel clinical studies confirmed these results on the tibia and radius of CLD patients, using a newer methodology called peripheral quantitative computed tomography[33,61,62]. Since osteoporosis is not uniform throughout the skeleton[63] it was crucial to assess CLD-induced microstructural decline in lumbar vertebrae and proximal femora[38,64]. Similarly to previous findings, our research group used microcomputed tomography with an isotropic resolution of 10 μ m to observe impaired microarchitectural integrity of lumbar vertebrae and proximal femora collected from CLD individuals[9,38,64]. On the trace of altered trabecular and cortical microarchitecture, we demonstrated reduced mechanical bone competence in these individuals[38,65], indicating that altered bone matrix content could be involved in CLD-induced bone fragility.

Future state-of-the-art studies should focus on a precise nanoscale morphostructural estimate of the inorganic (mineral) and organic component of the bone extracellular matrix (collagen fibers) to elucidate its role in increased bone fragility among CLD individuals (Figure 2). Finally, the long-term benefit of small-length bone studies could develop a specific diagnostic algorithm that will help to reliably predict bone strength based on the information available in the clinical context of each patient.

Zaishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.825 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Schematic representation of the most frequently analyzed bone turnover markers. The emphasis is placed on the difference between bone turnover markers released by catabolic osteoclast activity (bone resorption markers) and anabolic osteoblast activity (bone formation markers).



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.825 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Multiscale approach in the assessment of bone strength determinants. The importance of the various bone properties that contributes to increased bone fragility, and up-to-date methodologies are used to assess these bone strength determinants. The emphasis is placed on the difference between factors that were previously assessed and those factors that require further investigation in patients with chronic liver disease. CLD: Chronic liver disease.

THE MOLECULAR MECHANISMS INVOLVED IN ETIOPATHOGENESIS OF CLD-INDUCED BONE LOSS

Bone loss in CLD patients is commonly described as a consequence of bone remodeling disturbance^[8], but the particular contribution of increased bone resorption and decreased bone formation still needs to be thoroughly explained. Nowadays, a common understanding is that the etiopathogenetic mechanisms of bone loss are dependable on the etiology of liver disease[3,8]. Previous data revealed that osteoblast dysfunction and decreased bone formation play a central role in the etiopathogenesis of bone loss in patients with cholestatic liver disease, Wilson's disease, and hemochromatosis [7,12,48,66]. Conversely, viral CLD displays a more dominant effect on increased osteoclast activity, inducing high-turnover osteoporosis[21,32,67]

On a molecular level, low-turnover osteoporosis in CLD patients is commonly associated with toxic effects of biliary stasis and copper/iron accumulation on differentiation, maturation, and proliferation of osteoblasts (Figure 3)[68-70]. Also, previous studies suggested that osteoblast dysfunction in patients with cholestatic forms of CLD could be mediated by insulin growth factor-1 or oncofetal fibronectin[66, 70,71], while direct toxic effects of alcohol on osteoblastic function contribute to bone loss among patients within alcohol-induced CLD[72,73]. During the process of bone formation, osteoblasts become





DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.825 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Schematic representation of possible pathophysiological mechanisms leading to bone loss in chronic liver disease patients. The role of multiple factors leading to bone loss and osteoporosis in individuals with chronic liver disease places an emphasis on the difference between factors that cause osteoblast dysfunction (reduced bone formation) and factors that stimulate osteoclast activity (increased bone resorption). Green arrows indicate an activating effect, while red arrows indicate a deactivating effect. c-fms: Colony-stimulating factor-1 receptor; Cx43: Connexin 43; IGF-1: Insulin-like growth factor 1; IL: Interleukin; LRP5/6: Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5/6; M-CSF1: Macrophage colony-stimulating factor 1; MMPs: Matrix metalloproteinases; OC: Osteocalcin; OPG: Osteoprotegerin; PTH: Parathyroid hormone; RANK: Receptor activator for nuclear factor kappa B; RANKL: Receptor activator for nuclear factor kappa B ligand; TNF: Tumor necrosis factor.

embedded within the bone matrix, continuing to function as bone remodeling orchestrators or osteocytes[74]. Osteocytes form a global network throughout the bone tissue by intercellular channels (gap junctions), most frequently formed by connexin 43[75]. Reduction in osteocytic expression levels of connexin 43 and minor disruptions in the osteocyte lacunar network was noted in CLD individuals (Figure 3), suggesting that the mechanosensing potential and molecular transduction might be defective in those patients with CLD[65,76]. In addition, increased bone expression levels of sclerostin (an osteocyte-derived negative regulator of bone formation) were noted in CLD individuals[65,76], which was in accordance with previous clinical studies[77,78]. These data indicate that treatment targeting sclerostin may be an interesting strategy to fight osteoporosis in CLD patients[10]. Still, possible therapeutical utilities in CLD patients are yet to be thoroughly investigated in the years ahead.

Previous studies revealed that bone loss in CLD individuals could be explained by a strong link between systemic hyperproduction of inflammatory mediators and increased bone resorption (Figure 3) [21,32,67]. Most commonly, it is understood that tumor necrosis factor- α , interleukin (IL)-1, IL-6, IL-7, IL-11, IL-13, IL-15, and IL-17, produced by immune cells, could directly activate osteoclast precursors or display an indirect effect by osteoblasts[8,10,72]. Namely, increased secretion of receptor activator for nuclear factor kappa B ligand (RANKL), the disturbed ratio between RANKL and osteoprotegerin, matrix metalloproteinases activity, and cathepsin K are described as contributing factors in CLD-induced bone loss *via* increased bone resorption (Figure 3)[10,79-81]. The recent recommendation for therapy targeting RANKL advocates the importance of the RANK-RANKL-osteoprotegerin system in bone loss among CLD patients[20,82]. In addition, increased circulating macrophage colony-stimulating factor 1 in CLD patients could promote bone resorption due to its role in priming a larger number of monocytes to form osteoclasts in these patients[6].

Lastly, low vitamin D levels, unbalanced diet (low calcium and protein intake), malabsorption, disruption in the homeostasis of the intestinal microbiome, coupled with a variety of hormonal and metabolic disruptions (such as increased levels of parathyroid hormone, hypogonadism, and hypercorticism) were identified as factors that contribute to bone loss in CLD individuals[20,72,83]. Based on these data, new nutritional support guidelines were recently introduced by the European Association for the Study of the Liver[20,84]. However, given that bone changes in CLD patients are undoubtedly present, it is vital to further investigate more direct etiopathogenetic mechanisms involved in the relationship between liver and bone disorders.

CONCLUSION

Bone alterations are a common complication in patients with CLD, especially in those with liver cirrhosis. Over the previous period, numerous studies have contributed to understanding bone fragility in CLD patients. However, numerous ambiguities are still present due to the modest reliability of clinical diagnostic methods, which could lead clinicians to doubt whether or when it is necessary to start treating CLD-induced skeletal alterations. Thus, evaluating small-length structural bone properties could improve understanding of the multifactorial nature of bone fragility in CLD patients. All these data could set a base for developing a patient-specific diagnostic algorithm that will reliably predict bone strength based on the information available in a clinical context. Additionally, specific clinical guidelines for preventing, diagnosing, and treating skeletal disorders in patients with CLD need to be established in the near future.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Jadzic J and Djonic D contributed to conceptualization; Jadzic J contributed to data acquisition, writing the original draft, and data visualization; Djonic D contributed to reviewing and editing and supervision; All authors approved the submitted version of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Serbia

ORCID number: Jelena Jadzic 0000-0002-3124-1400; Danijela Djonic 0000-0003-1043-1077.

S-Editor: Liu GL L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Liu GL

REFERENCES

- Rahimi RS, Rockey DC. Complications and outcomes in chronic liver disease. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2011; 27: 204-209 1 [PMID: 21451410 DOI: 10.1097/MOG.0b013e3283460c7d]
- 2 Tarao K, Nozaki A, Ikeda T, Sato A, Komatsu H, Komatsu T, Taguri M, Tanaka K. Real impact of liver cirrhosis on the development of hepatocellular carcinoma in various liver diseases-meta-analytic assessment. Cancer Med 2019; 8: 1054-1065 [PMID: 30791221 DOI: 10.1002/cam4.1998]
- 3 López-Larramona G, Lucendo AJ, González-Castillo S, Tenias JM. Hepatic osteodystrophy: An important matter for consideration in chronic liver disease. World J Hepatol 2011; 3: 300-307 [PMID: 22216370 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v3.i12.300]
- 4 Barbu EC, Chitu-Tişu CE, Lazăr M, Olariu C, Bojincă M, Ionescu RA, Ion DA, Bădărău IA. Hepatic Osteodystrophy: A Global (Re)View of the Problem. Acta Clin Croat 2017; 56: 512-525 [PMID: 29479918 DOI: 10.20471/acc.2017.56.03.19]
- Crawford BA, Kam C, Donaghy AJ, McCaughan GW. The heterogeneity of bone disease in cirrhosis: a multivariate 5 analysis. Osteoporos Int 2003; 14: 987-994 [PMID: 14504696 DOI: 10.1007/s00198-003-1495-z]
- 6 Nakchbandi IA, van der Merwe SW. Current understanding of osteoporosis associated with liver disease. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009; 6: 660-670 [PMID: 19881518 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2009.166]
- Parés A, Guañabens N. Primary biliary cholangitis and bone disease. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2018; 34-35: 63-70 [PMID: 30343712 DOI: 10.1016/j.bpg.2018.06.005]
- Guañabens N, Parés A. Osteoporosis in chronic liver disease. Liver Int 2018; 38: 776-785 [PMID: 29479832 DOI: 10.1111/liv.13730]
- Jadzic J, Cvetkovic D, Tomanovic N, Zivkovic V, Nikolic S, Milovanovic P, Djuric M, Djonic D. The severity of hepatic disorder is related to vertebral microstructure deterioration in cadaveric donors with liver cirrhosis. Microsc Res Tech 2021; 84: 840-849 [PMID: 33170963 DOI: 10.1002/jemt.23642]
- 10 Ehnert S, Aspera-Werz RH, Ruoß M, Dooley S, Hengstler JG, Nadalin S, Relja B, Badke A, Nussler AK. Hepatic Osteodystrophy-Molecular Mechanisms Proposed to Favor Its Development. Int J Mol Sci 2019; 20 [PMID: 31137669 DOI: 10.3390/ijms20102555]
- Weiss KH, Van de Moortele M, Gotthardt DN, Pfeiffenberger J, Seessle J, Ullrich E, Gielen E, Borghs H, Adriaens E, 11 Stremmel W, Meersseman W, Boonen S, Cassiman D. Bone demineralisation in a large cohort of Wilson disease patients. J Inherit Metab Dis 2015; 38: 949-956 [PMID: 25663473 DOI: 10.1007/s10545-015-9815-y]
- 12 Valenti L, Varenna M, Fracanzani AL, Rossi V, Fargion S, Sinigaglia L. Association between iron overload and



osteoporosis in patients with hereditary hemochromatosis. Osteoporos Int 2009; 20: 549-555 [PMID: 18661088 DOI: 10.1007/s00198-008-0701-4]

- Bang UC, Benfield T, Bendtsen F, Hyldstrup L, Beck Jensen JE. The risk of fractures among patients with cirrhosis or 13 chronic pancreatitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014; 12: 320-326 [PMID: 23644391 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2013.04.031]
- 14 López-Larramona G, Lucendo AJ, González-Delgado L. Alcoholic liver disease and changes in bone mineral density. Rev Esp Enferm Dig 2013; 105: 609-621 [PMID: 24641458 DOI: 10.4321/s1130-01082013001000006]
- 15 Lee SH, Yun JM, Kim SH, Seo YG, Min H, Chung E, Bae YS, Ryou IS, Cho B. Association between bone mineral density and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in Korean adults. J Endocrinol Invest 2016; 39: 1329-1336 [PMID: 27561910 DOI: 10.1007/s40618-016-0528-3]
- 16 Chen DZ, Xu QM, Wu XX, Cai C, Zhang LJ, Shi KQ, Shi HY, Li LJ. The Combined Effect of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease and Metabolic Syndrome on Osteoporosis in Postmenopausal Females in Eastern China. Int J Endocrinol 2018; 2018: 2314769 [PMID: 30151008 DOI: 10.1155/2018/2314769]
- Bang CS, Shin IS, Lee SW, Kim JB, Baik GH, Suk KT, Yoon JH, Kim YS, Kim DJ. Osteoporosis and bone fractures in 17 alcoholic liver disease: a meta-analysis. World J Gastroenterol 2015; 21: 4038-4047 [PMID: 25852292 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i13.4038]
- Asoudeh F, Salari-Moghaddam A, Larijani B, Esmaillzadeh A. A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective 18 cohort studies on the association between alcohol intake and risk of fracture. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 2022; 62: 5623-5637 [PMID: 33596741 DOI: 10.1080/10408398.2021.1888691]
- Liang J, Meng WD, Yang JM, Li SL, Zhong MN, Hou XX, Wang R, Long YY, Bao LX, Bao M. The association between liver cirrhosis and fracture risk: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2018; 89: 408-413 [PMID: 29885255 DOI: 10.1111/cen.13762]
- 20 Jeong HM, Kim DJ. Bone Diseases in Patients with Chronic Liver Disease. Int J Mol Sci 2019; 20 [PMID: 31480433 DOI: 10.3390/ijms20174270]
- 21 Nakchbandi IA. Osteoporosis and fractures in liver disease: relevance, pathogenesis and therapeutic implications. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 9427-9438 [PMID: 25071337 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i28.9427]
- Otete H, Deleuran T, Fleming KM, Card T, Aithal GP, Jepsen P, West J. Hip fracture risk in patients with alcoholic 22 cirrhosis: A population-based study using English and Danish data. J Hepatol 2018; 69: 697-704 [PMID: 29673756 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.04.002]
- 23 Wibaux C, Legroux-Gerot I, Dharancy S, Boleslawski E, Declerck N, Canva V, Mathurin P, Pruvot FR, Cortet B. Assessing bone status in patients awaiting liver transplantation. Joint Bone Spine 2011; 78: 387-391 [PMID: 21565541 DOI: 10.1016/j.jbspin.2011.03.001]
- Ninkovic M, Love SA, Tom B, Alexander GJ, Compston JE. High prevalence of osteoporosis in patients with chronic liver 24 disease prior to liver transplantation. Calcif Tissue Int 2001; 69: 321-326 [PMID: 11800228 DOI: 10.1007/s00223-001-2028-4]
- 25 Culafić Dj, Djonic D, Culafic-Vojinovic V, Ignjatovic S, Soldatovic I, Vasic J, Beck TJ, Djuric M. Evidence of degraded BMD and geometry at the proximal femora in male patients with alcoholic liver cirrhosis. Osteoporos Int 2015; 26: 253-259 [PMID: 25172381 DOI: 10.1007/s00198-014-2849-4]
- Chen TL, Lin CS, Shih CC, Huang YF, Yeh CC, Wu CH, Cherng YG, Liao CC. Risk and adverse outcomes of fractures in patients with liver cirrhosis: two nationwide retrospective cohort studies. BMJ Open 2017; 7: e017342 [PMID: 28993387 DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017342]
- 27 Peris P, Guañabens N, Parés A, Pons F, del Rio L, Monegal A, Surís X, Caballería J, Rodés J, Muñoz-Gómez J. Vertebral fractures and osteopenia in chronic alcoholic patients. Calcif Tissue Int 1995; 57: 111-114 [PMID: 7584870 DOI: 10.1007/BF00298430
- 28 Sagnelli E, Stroffolini T, Sagnelli C, Pirisi M, Babudieri S, Colloredo G, Russello M, Coppola N, Gaeta GB, Cacopardo B, De Luca M, Almasio PL; EPACRON study group. Gender differences in chronic liver diseases in two cohorts of 2001 and 2014 in Italy. Infection 2018; 46: 93-101 [PMID: 29150796 DOI: 10.1007/s15010-017-1101-5]
- 29 Djonic D, Milovanovic P, Nikolic S, Ivovic M, Marinkovic J, Beck T, Djuric M. Inter-sex differences in structural properties of aging femora: implications on differential bone fragility: a cadaver study. J Bone Miner Metab 2011; 29: 449-457 [PMID: 21127922 DOI: 10.1007/s00774-010-0240-x]
- Eastell R, Vittinghoff E, Lui LY, McCulloch CE, Pavo I, Chines A, Khosla S, Cauley JA, Mitlak B, Bauer DC, Bouxsein 30 M, Black DM. Validation of the Surrogate Threshold Effect for Change in Bone Mineral Density as a Surrogate Endpoint for Fracture Outcomes: The FNIH-ASBMR SABRE Project. J Bone Miner Res 2022; 37: 29-35 [PMID: 34490915 DOI: 10.1002/jbmr.4433
- Mounach A, Ouzzif Z, Wariaghli G, Achemlal L, Benbaghdadi I, Aouragh A, Bezza A, El Maghraoui A. Primary biliary 31 cirrhosis and osteoporosis: a case-control study. J Bone Miner Metab 2008; 26: 379-384 [PMID: 18600405 DOI: 10.1007/s00774-007-0833-1]
- Gallego-Rojo FJ, Gonzalez-Calvin JL, Muñoz-Torres M, Mundi JL, Fernandez-Perez R, Rodrigo-Moreno D. Bone mineral density, serum insulin-like growth factor I, and bone turnover markers in viral cirrhosis. Hepatology 1998; 28: 695-699 [PMID: 9731561 DOI: 10.1002/hep.510280315]
- 33 Wakolbinger R, Muschitz C, Scheriau G, Bodlaj G, Kocijan R, Feichtinger X, Schanda JE, Haschka J, Resch H, Pietschmann P. Bone microarchitecture and bone turnover in hepatic cirrhosis. Osteoporos Int 2019; 30: 1195-1204 [PMID: 30788527 DOI: 10.1007/s00198-019-04870-6]
- González-Calvin JL, Mundi JL, Casado-Caballero FJ, Abadia AC, Martin-Ibañez JJ. Bone mineral density and serum 34 levels of soluble tumor necrosis factors, estradiol, and osteoprotegerin in postmenopausal women with cirrhosis after viral hepatitis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2009; 94: 4844-4850 [PMID: 19897681 DOI: 10.1210/jc.2009-0835]
- Campbell MS, Lichtenstein GR, Rhim AD, Pazianas M, Faust T. Severity of liver disease does not predict osteopenia or 35 low bone mineral density in primary sclerosing cholangitis. Liver Int 2005; 25: 311-316 [PMID: 15780055 DOI: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2005.01075.x
- 36 Díez-Ruiz A, García-Saura PL, García-Ruiz P, González-Calvin JL, Gallego-Rojo F, Fuchs D. Bone mineral density, bone



turnover markers and cytokines in alcohol-induced cirrhosis. Alcohol Alcohol 2010; 45: 427-430 [PMID: 20807717 DOI: 10.1093/alcalc/agq037]

- 37 Mahmoudi A, Sellier N, Reboul-Marty J, Chalès G, Lalatonne Y, Bourcier V, Grando V, Barget N, Beaugrand M, Trinchet JC, Ganne-Carrié N. Bone mineral density assessed by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry in patients with viral or alcoholic compensated cirrhosis. A prospective study. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol 2011; 35: 731-737 [PMID: 21873139 DOI: 10.1016/j.clinre.2011.07.009]
- Jadzie J, Milovanovic P, Cvetkovic D, Ivovic M, Tomanovic N, Bracanovic M, Zivkovic V, Nikolie S, Djuric M, Djonic 38 D. Mechano-structural alteration in proximal femora of individuals with alcoholic liver disease: Implications for increased bone fragility. Bone 2021; 150: 116020 [PMID: 34044170 DOI: 10.1016/j.bone.2021.116020]
- 39 Laitinen K, Lamberg-Allardt C, Tunninen R, Härkönen M, Välimäki M. Bone mineral density and abstention-induced changes in bone and mineral metabolism in noncirrhotic male alcoholics. Am J Med 1992; 93: 642-650 [PMID: 1466360 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9343(92)90197-j]
- Kanis JA, Johansson H, Johnell O, Oden A, De Laet C, Eisman JA, Pols H, Tenenhouse A. Alcohol intake as a risk factor for fracture. Osteoporos Int 2005; 16: 737-742 [PMID: 15455194 DOI: 10.1007/s00198-004-1734-y]
- Eastell R, Pigott T, Gossiel F, Naylor KE, Walsh JS, Peel NFA. DIAGNOSIS OF ENDOCRINE DISEASE: Bone turnover 41 markers: are they clinically useful? Eur J Endocrinol 2018; 178: R19-R31 [PMID: 29046326 DOI: 10.1530/EJE-17-0585]
- Wheater G, Elshahaly M, Tuck SP, Datta HK, van Laar JM. The clinical utility of bone marker measurements in 42 osteoporosis. J Transl Med 2013; 11: 201 [PMID: 23984630 DOI: 10.1186/1479-5876-11-201]
- Greenblatt MB, Tsai JN, Wein MN. Bone Turnover Markers in the Diagnosis and Monitoring of Metabolic Bone Disease. 43 *Clin Chem* 2017; **63**: 464-474 [PMID: 27940448 DOI: 10.1373/clinchem.2016.259085]
- Malik P, Gasser RW, Moncayo R, Kemmler G, Wolfgang Fleischhacker W. Markers of bone resorption and formation during abstinence in male alcoholic patients. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2012; 36: 2059-2064 [PMID: 22978478 DOI: 10.1111/i.1530-0277.2012.01834.x
- 45 Uretmen S, Gol M, Cimrin D, Irmak E. Effects of chronic liver disease on bone mineral density and bone metabolism markers in postmenopausal women. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2005; 123: 67-71 [PMID: 16051419 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2005.06.025]
- George J, Ganesh HK, Acharya S, Bandgar TR, Shivane V, Karvat A, Bhatia SJ, Shah S, Menon PS, Shah N. Bone 46 mineral density and disorders of mineral metabolism in chronic liver disease. World J Gastroenterol 2009; 15: 3516-3522 [PMID: 19630107 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.15.3516]
- 47 Wariaghli G, Mounach A, Achemlal L, Benbaghdadi I, Aouragh A, Bezza A, El Maghraoui A. Osteoporosis in chronic liver disease: a case-control study. Rheumatol Int 2010; 30: 893-899 [PMID: 19636560 DOI: 10.1007/s00296-009-1071-8]
- 48 Hegedus D, Ferencz V, Lakatos PL, Meszaros S, Lakatos P, Horvath C, Szalay F. Decreased bone density, elevated serum osteoprotegerin, and beta-cross-laps in Wilson disease. J Bone Miner Res 2002; 17: 1961-1967 [PMID: 12412803 DOI: 10.1359/jbmr.2002.17.11.1961]
- Liu T, Wang X, Karsdal MA, Leeming DJ, Genovese F. Molecular serum markers of liver fibrosis. Biomark Insights 2012; 49 7: 105-117 [PMID: 22872786 DOI: 10.4137/BMI.S10009]
- 50 Jeon YK, Kim BH, Kim IJ. The diagnosis of osteoporosis. J Korean Med Assoc 2016; 59: 842-846 [DOI: 10.5124/jkma.2016.59.11.842]
- Ott SM. Bone strength: more than just bone density. Kidney Int 2016; 89: 16-19 [PMID: 26759040 DOI: 51 10.1016/j.kint.2015.11.004]
- 52 Fonseca H, Moreira-Gonçalves D, Coriolano HJ, Duarte JA. Bone quality: the determinants of bone strength and fragility. Sports Med 2014; 44: 37-53 [PMID: 24092631 DOI: 10.1007/s40279-013-0100-7]
- 53 Djonić D, Milovanović P, Djurić M. Basis of bone strength vs. bone fragility: a review of determinants of age-related hip fracture risk. Srp Arh Celok Lek 2013; 141: 548-552 [PMID: 24073567 DOI: 10.2298/sarh1308548d]
- 54 Stone KL, Seeley DG, Lui LY, Cauley JA, Ensrud K, Browner WS, Nevitt MC, Cummings SR; Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. BMD at multiple sites and risk of fracture of multiple types: long-term results from the Study of Osteoporotic Fractures. J Bone Miner Res 2003; 18: 1947-1954 [PMID: 14606506 DOI: 10.1359/jbmr.2003.18.11.1947]
- Ammann P, Rizzoli R. Bone strength and its determinants. Osteoporos Int 2003; 14 Suppl 3: S13-S18 [PMID: 12730800 55 DOI: 10.1007/s00198-002-1345-4]
- 56 Osterhoff G, Morgan EF, Shefelbine SJ, Karim L, McNamara LM, Augat P. Bone mechanical properties and changes with osteoporosis. Injury 2016; 47 Suppl 2: S11-S20 [PMID: 27338221 DOI: 10.1016/S0020-1383(16)47003-8]
- Bjarnason NH, Sarkar S, Duong T, Mitlak B, Delmas PD, Christiansen C. Six and twelve month changes in bone turnover 57 are related to reduction in vertebral fracture risk during 3 years of raloxifene treatment in postmenopausal osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int 2001; 12: 922-930 [PMID: 11808544 DOI: 10.1007/s001980170020]
- Sarkar S, Mitlak BH, Wong M, Stock JL, Black DM, Harper KD. Relationships between bone mineral density and incident 58 vertebral fracture risk with raloxifene therapy. J Bone Miner Res 2002; 17: 1-10 [PMID: 11771654 DOI: 10.1359/jbmr.2002.17.1.1]
- 59 Guichelaar MM, Malinchoc M, Sibonga J, Clarke BL, Hay JE. Bone metabolism in advanced cholestatic liver disease: analysis by bone histomorphometry. Hepatology 2002; 36: 895-903 [PMID: 12297836 DOI: 10.1053/jhep.2002.36357]
- 60 Jorge-Hernandez JA, Gonzalez-Reimers CE, Torres-Ramirez A, Santolaria-Fernandez F, Gonzalez-Garcia C, Batista-Lopez JN, Pestana-Pestana M, Hernandez-Nieto L. Bone changes in alcoholic liver cirrhosis. A histomorphometrical analysis of 52 cases. Dig Dis Sci 1988; 33: 1089-1095 [PMID: 3044713 DOI: 10.1007/BF01535783]
- Schmidt T, Schmidt C, Schmidt FN, Butscheidt S, Mussawy H, Hubert J, Hawellek T, Oehler N, Barvencik F, Lohse AW, Schinke T, Schramm C, Amling M, Rolvien T. Disease Duration and Stage Influence Bone Microstructure in Patients With Primary Biliary Cholangitis. J Bone Miner Res 2018; 33: 1011-1019 [PMID: 29470841 DOI: 10.1002/jbmr.3410]
- 62 Jandl NM, Rolvien T, Schmidt T, Mussawy H, Nielsen P, Oheim R, Amling M, Barvencik F. Impaired Bone Microarchitecture in Patients with Hereditary Hemochromatosis and Skeletal Complications. Calcif Tissue Int 2020; 106: 465-475 [PMID: 31989186 DOI: 10.1007/s00223-020-00658-7]
- Choksi P, Jepsen KJ, Clines GA. The challenges of diagnosing osteoporosis and the limitations of currently available tools.



Clin Diabetes Endocrinol 2018; 4: 12 [PMID: 29862042 DOI: 10.1186/s40842-018-0062-7]

- Jadzic J, Cvetkovic D, Milovanovic P, Tomanovic N, Zivkovic V, Nikolic S, Djuric M, Djonic D. The micro-structural 64 analysis of lumbar vertebrae in alcoholic liver cirrhosis. Osteoporos Int 2020; 31: 2209-2217 [PMID: 32577771 DOI: 10.1007/s00198-020-05509-7]
- 65 Jadzic J, Tomanovic N, Djukic D, Zivkovic V, Nikolic S, Djuric M, Milovanovic P, Djonic D. Micro-scale assessment of bone quality changes in adult cadaveric men with congestive hepatopathy. Histochem Cell Biol 2022; 158: 583-593 [PMID: 35849203 DOI: 10.1007/s00418-022-02128-7]
- Kawelke N, Bentmann A, Hackl N, Hager HD, Feick P, Geursen A, Singer MV, Nakchbandi IA. Isoform of fibronectin 66 mediates bone loss in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis by suppressing bone formation. J Bone Miner Res 2008; 23: 1278-1286 [PMID: 18348696 DOI: 10.1359/jbmr.080313]
- 67 Corazza GR, Trevisani F, Di Stefano M, De Notariis S, Veneto G, Cecchetti L, Minguzzi L, Gasbarrini G, Bernardi M. Early increase of bone resorption in patients with liver cirrhosis secondary to viral hepatitis. Dig Dis Sci 2000; 45: 1392-1399 [PMID: 10961720 DOI: 10.1023/a:1005568406664]
- Mitchell R, McDermid J, Ma MM, Chik CL. MELD score, insulin-like growth factor 1 and cytokines on bone density in 68 end-stage liver disease. World J Hepatol 2011; 3: 157-163 [PMID: 21860675 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v3.i6.157]
- 69 Santori C, Ceccanti M, Diacinti D, Attilia ML, Toppo L, D'Erasmo E, Romagnoli E, Mascia ML, Cipriani C, Prastaro A, Carnevale V, Minisola S. Skeletal turnover, bone mineral density, and fractures in male chronic abusers of alcohol. J Endocrinol Invest 2008; 31: 321-326 [PMID: 18475050 DOI: 10.1007/BF03346365]
- 70 Sens C, Altrock E, Rau K, Klemis V, von Au A, Pettera S, Uebel S, Damm T, Tiwari S, Moser M, Nakchbandi IA. An O-Glycosylation of Fibronectin Mediates Hepatic Osteodystrophy Through α4β1 Integrin. J Bone Miner Res 2017; 32: 70-81 [PMID: 27427791 DOI: 10.1002/jbmr.2916]
- Danford CJ, Trivedi HD, Papamichael K, Tapper EB, Bonder A. Osteoporosis in primary biliary cholangitis. World J 71 Gastroenterol 2018; 24: 3513-3520 [PMID: 30131657 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i31.3513]
- Luo Z, Liu Y, Chen H, Shi S. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of alcohol-induced osteopenia. Cell Mol Life Sci 2017; 72 74: 4443-4453 [PMID: 28674727 DOI: 10.1007/s00018-017-2585-y]
- 73 Chakkalakal DA. Alcohol-induced bone loss and deficient bone repair. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2005; 29: 2077-2090 [PMID: 16385177 DOI: 10.1097/01.alc.0000192039.21305.55]
- Bonewald LF. The amazing osteocyte. J Bone Miner Res 2011; 26: 229-238 [PMID: 21254230 DOI: 10.1002/jbmr.320] 74
- Stains JP, Fontana F, Civitelli R. Intercellular junctions and cell-cell communication in the skeletal system. Principles of 75 Bone Biology (Fourth Edition) 2020; 423-442 [DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-814841-9.00018-X]
- 76 Jadzic J, Milovanovic PD, Cvetkovic D, Zivkovic V, Nikolic S, Tomanovic N, Djuric MP, Djonic D. The altered osteocytic expression of connexin 43 and sclerostin in human cadaveric donors with alcoholic liver cirrhosis: Potential treatment targets. J Anat 2022; 240: 1162-1173 [PMID: 34978341 DOI: 10.1111/joa.13621]
- 77 Wakolbinger R, Muschitz C, Wallwitz J, Bodlaj G, Feichtinger X, Schanda JE, Resch H, Baierl A, Pietschmann P. Serum levels of sclerostin reflect altered bone microarchitecture in patients with hepatic cirrhosis. Wien Klin Wochenschr 2020; 132: 19-26 [PMID: 31912287 DOI: 10.1007/s00508-019-01595-8]
- Guañabens N, Ruiz-Gaspà S, Gifre L, Miquel R, Peris P, Monegal A, Dubrueil M, Arias A, Parés A. Sclerostin Expression 78 in Bile Ducts of Patients With Chronic Cholestasis May Influence the Bone Disease in Primary Biliary Cirrhosis. J Bone Miner Res 2016; 31: 1725-1733 [PMID: 27019303 DOI: 10.1002/jbmr.2845]
- 79 Khalifa YH, Mourad GM, Stephanos WM, Omar SA, Mehanna RA. Bone Marrow-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cell Potential Regression of Dysplasia Associating Experimental Liver Fibrosis in Albino Rats. Biomed Res Int 2019; 2019: 5376165 [PMID: 31781620 DOI: 10.1155/2019/5376165]
- Liang HPH, Xu J, Xue M, Jackson C. Matrix metalloproteinases in bone development and pathology: current knowledge 80 and potential clinical utility. Met Med 2016; 3: 93-102 [DOI: 10.2147/mnm.s92187]
- 81 Hardy E, Fernandez-Patron C. Destroy to Rebuild: The Connection Between Bone Tissue Remodeling and Matrix Metalloproteinases. Front Physiol 2020; 11: 47 [PMID: 32116759 DOI: 10.3389/fphys.2020.00047]
- Camacho PM, Petak SM, Binkley N, Clarke BL, Harris ST, Hurley DL, Kleerekoper M, Lewiecki EM, Miller PD, Narula 82 HS, Pessah-Pollack R, Tangpricha V, Wimalawansa SJ, Watts NB. AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF CLINICAL ENDOCRINOLOGISTS AND AMERICAN COLLEGE OF ENDOCRINOLOGY CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINES FOR THE DIAGNOSIS AND TREATMENT OF POSTMENOPAUSAL OSTEOPOROSIS - 2016--EXECUTIVE SUMMARY. Endocr Pract 2016; 22: 1111-1118 [PMID: 27643923 DOI: 10.4158/EP161435.ESGL]
- 83 Alvisa-Negrín J, González-Reimers E, Santolaria-Fernández F, García-Valdecasas-Campelo E, Valls MR, Pelazas-González R, Durán-Castellón MC, de Los Angeles Gómez-Rodríguez M. Osteopenia in alcoholics: effect of alcohol abstinence. Alcohol Alcohol 2009; 44: 468-475 [PMID: 19535494 DOI: 10.1093/alcalc/agp038]
- 84 European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines on nutrition in chronic liver disease. J Hepatol 2019; 70: 172-193 [PMID: 30144956 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.06.024]


WJG

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 February 7; 29(5): 834-850

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.834

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Liver involvement in patients with COVID-19 infection: A comprehensive overview of diagnostic imaging features

Davide Ippolito, Cesare Maino, Federica Vernuccio, Roberto Cannella, Riccardo Inchingolo, Michele Dezio, Riccardo Faletti, Pietro Andrea Bonaffini, Marco Gatti, Sandro Sironi

Specialty type: Radiology, nuclear medicine and medical imaging

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Ao WQ, China; Gupta MK, Germany; Jiang L, China

Received: October 3, 2022 Peer-review started: October 3, 2022 First decision: November 26, 2022 Revised: December 6, 2022 Accepted: January 20, 2023 Article in press: January 20, 2023 Published online: February 7, 2023



Davide Ippolito, Pietro Andrea Bonaffini, Sandro Sironi, Milano Bicocca School of Medicine and Surgery, Milano 20126, Italy

Davide Ippolito, Cesare Maino, Fondazione IRCCS San Gerardo dei Tintori, Monza 20900, Italy

Federica Vernuccio, Institute of Radiology (DIMED), University Hospital of Padova, Padova 35128, Italy

Roberto Cannella, Section of Radiology-Department of Biomedicine, Neuroscience and Advanced Diagnostics (BiND), University of Palermo, Palermo 90127, Italy

Roberto Cannella, Department of Health Promotion, Mother and Child Care, Internal Medicine and Medical Specialties (PROMISE), University of Palermo, Palermo 90127, Italy

Riccardo Inchingolo, Michele Dezio, Division of Interventional Radiology, Department of Radiology, Madonna delle Grazie Hospital, Matera 75100, Italy

Riccardo Faletti, Department of Surgical Sciences, University of Turin, Turin 10126, Italy

Pietro Andrea Bonaffini, Sandro Sironi, Department of Diagnostic Radiology, Papa Giovanni XXIII Hospital, Bergamo 24127, Italy

Marco Gatti, Department of Diagnostic Radiology, University of Turin, Turin 10126, Italy

Corresponding author: Davide Ippolito, MD, Associate Professor, Doctor, Milano Bicocca School of Medicine and Surgery, Piazza dell'Ateneo Nuovo, 1, Milano 20126, Italy. davide.atena@tiscali.it

Abstract

During the first wave of the pandemic, coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infection has been considered mainly as a pulmonary infection. However, different clinical and radiological manifestations were observed over time, including involvement of abdominal organs. Nowadays, the liver is considered one of the main affected abdominal organs. Hepatic involvement may be caused by either a direct damage by the virus or an indirect damage related to COVID-19 induced thrombosis or to the use of different drugs. After clinical assessment, radiology plays a key role in the evaluation of liver involvement. Ultrasonography (US), computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) may be used to evaluate liver involvement. US is widely available and it is



considered the first-line technique to assess liver involvement in COVID-19 infection, in particular liver steatosis and portal-vein thrombosis. CT and MRI are used as second- and third-line techniques, respectively, considering their higher sensitivity and specificity compared to US for assessment of both parenchyma and vascularization. This review aims to the spectrum of COVID-19 liver involvement and the most common imaging features of COVID-19 liver damage.

Key Words: Liver; Fatty liver; Hepatomegaly; Hepatic infarction; Liver diseases; Liver failure; Biliary tract diseases; COVID-19; SARS-CoV-2; Infection; X-Ray computed tomography; Magnetic resonance imaging; Ultrasonography; Adults; Pediatrics

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infection has an impact not only on lung involvement but also in other systems, in particular the gastrointestinal one, with a special focus on the liver. Hepatocytes express the receptor of angiotensin-converting enzyme which is the main door of the entrance of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2. Consequently, different mechanisms can lead to different hepatic scenarios, such as hepatomegaly, steatosis, steatohepatitis, and drug-induced liver injury. As for lung involvement, the infection can lead to hepatic vascular involvement, especially portal vein thrombosis. Finally, it has been demonstrated a possible biliary involvement in COVID-19 patients.

Citation: Ippolito D, Maino C, Vernuccio F, Cannella R, Inchingolo R, Dezio M, Faletti R, Bonaffini PA, Gatti M, Sironi S. Liver involvement in patients with COVID-19 infection: A comprehensive overview of diagnostic imaging features. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(5): 834-850 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i5/834.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.834

INTRODUCTION

Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection, named coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), represents an epoch-making global healthcare crisis, with 603711760 confirmed cases and 6484136 deaths caused to date worldwide[1].

Although the lung represents the most affected organ, COVID-19 may present as a multiorgan disease. Clinical manifestations may vary from flu-like symptoms, such as fever, dry cough, myalgia, and fatigue, often coupled with hypo-/anosmia and ageusia[2-4], to more severe conditions with dyspnea and respiratory impairment requiring admission to the intensive care unit (ICU) and advanced respiratory assistance[5]. A severe course of the disease has been reported in 5%-22 % of COVID-19 patients [3,5].

In this scenario, we focused our attention on hepatic manifestations of COVID-19 infection. Hepatic involvement in patients with COVID-19 infection is not negligible. Liver damage can occur in different ways, ranging from hepatomegaly, acute hepatitis, steatosis and steatohepatitis, portal vein thrombosis (PVT) and liver infarction, biliary and gallbladder involvement, up to drug-induced liver injury (DILI), with chronic liver disease that needs further long-term studies to be understood (Figure 1).

In this review, we aim to describe the spectrum of COVID-19 liver involvement and the most common imaging features of COVID-19 liver damage with a descriptive correlation to the underlying pathogenesis.

IMAGING TECHNIQUES

The standard radiological approach for liver assessment (i.e. anatomy, focal liver lesions, or diffuse diseases) has been widely described and does acknowledge the use of ultrasound (US), computed tomography (CT), and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Technical advances in liver imaging have also been conducted over the last decades, with lots of research on quantitative and functional assessments in different liver pathologies[6].

US

Brightness-mode (B-mode) transabdominal US generally represents the first-line approach in patients with suspected liver disease[7]. US is widely available, non-invasive, low cost, safe, ionizing radiationfree[6] and can be performed at the bedside, particularly in ICU or isolated patients. Anatomical and



vascular imaging and lesion detection are feasible, although limited by the field of view and are dependent on operator experience[7].

During the last decades, different US developments have been introduced, including elastography, contrast-enhanced US (CEUS), and novel doppler techniques[6-9].

Moreover, an advanced multiparametric US approach for the evaluation of the liver could be an option, particularly for long-term follow-up of COVID-19 patients. The multiparametric US includes elastography, share wave dispersion, and attenuation imaging. The evaluation by the 2D-shear wave elastography technique allows quantification of the increase in liver stiffness related to the evolution toward fibrosis, but it can be altered in the inflammatory early stages (e.g., steatohepatitis)[10]. Shearwave dispersion is a measure of liver viscosity that is changed during inflammatory processes in the liver. Finally, hepatic attenuation imaging is a useful tool for quantifying steatosis.

Elastography enables the assessment of liver fibrosis[6]. Usually, a quantitative assessment of liver stiffness is obtained by applying an external force by means either of a US-induced focused impulse (point shear wave elastography) or a mechanically induced impulse (transient elastography)[7]. More recent developments of US elastography include a volumetric assessment of liver stiffness and its realtime variations. Clinical use of US elastography is mainly limited by cutoff values for fibrosis staging that vary across US systems from different vendors[6].

CEUS is accepted as a second-line imaging modality for the characterization of focal liver lesions after inconclusive baseline US, and its cost-effectiveness is higher compared to CT or MRI[6,7,11]. CEUS interpretation is similar to CT and MRI, relying on the similar post-contrast phases (arterial, portalvenous, delayed), vascular architecture, and phase-specific enhancement of the lesion compared with the adjacent liver parenchyma[7]. CEUS is useful for lesion detection and characterization in several clinical settings, without the use of ionizing radiations and with higher temporal resolution compared to CT or MRI[6]. It can be useful in non-oncologic, non-cirrhotic patients[6,9], for the assessment of incidental focal lesions, in cirrhotic patients, allowing characterization of contrast enhancement patterns of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) with good sensitivity and specificity[6], and in oncologic patients, providing higher sensitivity compared to the standard US for liver metastases detection and indeterminate CT or MRI lesions characterization[12]. CEUS can also be used to guide, in real-time, both focal lesions procedures[7,8] and locoregional ablative therapies, as well as for treatment response assessment[13,14]. According to the latest guidelines[14], US contrast agents can be safely administered in various applications, with minimal risks to patients. The reported rate of anaphylactoid-type reactions is extremely rare (0.014%).

Among novel third-generation doppler developments, US manufacturers have introduced techniques such as superb microvascular imaging (SMI) that has improved the sensitivity and accuracy of Doppler US in the assessment of hepatic vascular anatomy [9] and the detection of liver tumors vascularity with a safe, inexpensive, and readily available modality[6]. SMI is based on an adaptive algorithm that separates low flow signals from overlaying tissue motion artifacts; thereby SMI allows visualization of microscopic vessels (either native or within lesions), with no need for contrast agents injection[9].

СТ

CT represents the mainstay technique for liver imaging, with the majority of acquisitions performed with multiphase acquisition protocols, and standardized assessment based on size and density measurements. Due to its wide availability, CT is generally preferred to MRI in daily clinical practice, despite its overall lower sensitivity. Moreover, reproducibility and high temporal and spatial resolutions allow its employment in both standard and emergency settings[6,15-17].

Contrast-enhanced CT allows the characterization of liver lesions deemed indeterminate on US in non-oncologic and non-cirrhotic patients. In cirrhosis, while the US remains the standard technique for follow-up, contrast-enhanced CT and MRI are the currently recommended techniques for the characterization of US-detected nodules, diagnosis and post-treatment follow-up of HCC[6,18]. In oncologic patients, CT is generally used for staging and follow-up. Accurate timing of image acquisition during the various dynamic phases is critical to enable a correct determination of liver lesion characteristics and enhancement features [11]. In these scenarios, CT acquired during the portal-venous phase is the most common performed study in oncologic patients^[6], but its main limitation is the detection and characterization of small hypoattenuating lesions and lesion detection in the background of liver steatosis [6,19]. On the other hand, multiphase scans (arterial, portal-venous, and delayed phases) are generally used in cirrhotic patients, for focal liver lesions characterization, and in trauma patients [6,8].

More advanced and emerging techniques include perfusion CT, dual-energy CT (DECT) and photoncounting detector CT (PCD-CT)[6,17].

DECT is based on CT data acquisition by using X-rays generated at two different energy spectra; therefore, allowing for superior materials discrimination and characterization. Images are obtained either with dual-source, ultra-fast kV switching, or sandwich detector[6,16]. Then, DECT data postprocessing generates several types of images: monochromatic image reconstructions, useful to improve iodine contrast visualization; attenuation maps of different elements according to their atomic number, including iodine, calcium, and water[6]. Moreover, the possibility of generating virtual unenhanced (VUE) images may help reduce radiation dose exposure. DECT improves the delineation of hypo- and hypervascular liver lesions by increasing the lesion to parenchyma contrast. Given the possibility of



material decomposition, DECT can also allow distinguishing contrast from calcifications, and noninvasively quantifying fat, iron, and other moieties, compensating for the high cost and examination time length of MRI and invasiveness of biopsy[6,16,17]. However, DECT is affected by some shortcomings, including technical limitations (limited field-of-view, reduced spectral separation depending on vendor or scanner) and software challenges (lack of enough research comparing vendors and scanners' variability on VUE and iodine attenuation values)[16].

PCD-CT is the most recent promising technique but nowadays is still mainly limited to preclinical or small in vivo studies in volunteers. More clinical and validation research is therefore needed over a longer time[6].

MRI

MRI is fundamental in the workup of patients with liver disease[6,17,20] and has been addressed as the preferred imaging modality for the characterization of equivocal focal lesions detected by other imaging modalities[17]. Along with appropriate clinical information, MRI can also allow a definitive diagnosis, avoiding in most cases invasive procedures such as biopsy[21].

A properly dedicated MRI liver protocol requires it to be short, comprehensive, standardized, and reproducible[6,17,21]. Pre-contrast MRI, given its higher contrast resolution compared to CT, provides information about tissue and lesion composition (i.e. solid or liquid; iron, fat, glycogen, blood products) and lesions cellularity, either neoplastic or inflammatory[6,11,17,22]. Diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) has been reported to improve the detection and characterization of focal liver lesions, also allowing differentiation of cysts from solid masses. Moreover, by combining hyperintensity on high b-value DWI (hypercellular lesions) with dynamic multiphasic studies, improvement in lesions detection and characterization (in particular for tumors < 2 cm) can be achieved[11].

Contrast-enhanced MRI represents a relevant component of any liver MRI protocol. It provides reliable information about focal lesions characterization, vascular and biliary anatomy, and more recently organ function[17,20,21]. Both gadolinium-based extracellular (ECA) and hepatobiliary (HBA) contrast agents can be used for multiphase imaging[6,17,21]. Morphologic and vascular-related information are obtained with ECA and HBA through the dynamic study[21].

Moreover, HBA provides the ability to acquire images in the hepatobiliary phase (HBP), offering information about hepatocytes uptake and excretion in the biliary system[6,11,20,21]. Therefore, HBP may provide functional information^[21]. Indeed, lesions, or abnormalities without hepatocytes or with non-functioning hepatocytes, appear as hypointense compared to the surrounding liver parenchyma [20]. Among reported HBA advantages, it is worth mentioning higher lesion conspicuity with increased sensitivity in lesion detection, and improved lesion characterization with increased ability in the differential diagnosis.

One of the most used advanced MRI techniques useful to detect and characterize focal or diffuse liver disease is DWI. Highly cellular tissues or those with cellular swelling exhibit lower diffusion coefficients, and these aspects can be useful for the evaluation of liver diseases^[22].

The evaluation of the biliary tree can be easily made using highly weighted T2 sequences in different planes. In this setting, magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography (MRCP) is nowadays considered the reference standard for noninvasive biliary evaluation. Thanks to the improvement of MRI techniques, it is now possible to acquire 3D images that can be reformatted in every plane of space by post-processing techniques[23].

LIVER DISEASE INVOLVEMENT

COVID-19 liver injury is defined as any liver involvement that occurs during the course of COVID-19, whether there is a known history of liver disease or not[24]. The presence of liver damage from a laboratory point of view is very common: an increase in liver enzymes is described in around 40% of patients[24], it is greater with severe COVID-19 and at the same time a predictor of adverse events[25, 26].

SARS-CoV-2 primarily infects respiratory epithelial cells via angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2). ACE2 is also expressed at high levels in the endothelium layer of tiny blood arteries, cholangiocytes and in hepatocytes. Furthermore, the SARS-CoV-2 virus may use the gut-liver route via the hepatic reticular system to reach the liver[25]. Finally, other organ systems and drugs have a significant influence on the liver. As a result, the causative mechanisms of liver damage in COVID-19 infection are many, including direct cytotoxicity caused by active SARS-CoV-2 replication, immune-mediated liver injury, vascular impairment caused by coagulopathy, endothelium, or cardiac congestion, hypoxic changes caused by respiratory failure, DILI, and exacerbation of the underlying chronic liver disease^[25] (Figure 1 and Table 1).

Hepatomegaly and steatosis

COVID-19 causes twice as much liver damage at the cellular level. First, hepatocellular damage occurs, resulting in mild steatosis, lobular and portal inflammation, and areas of apoptosis and necrosis. This



Table 1 Summary of the most common findings in liver involvement due to coronavirus disease 2019 infection				
Liver involvement	Ultrasound	Computed tomography	Magnetic resonance	
Hepatomegaly	Qualitative criteria: The right lol	be extends inferiorly over the lower pole of the rig	th kidney; Rounding of the hepatic inferior border	
	Quantitative criterion: Length of the right liver lobe > 16.5 cm			
Steatosis	Hyperechoic liver in comparison to the spleen or neighboring kidney; Absence of the normal echogenic walls of the portal and hepatic veins; Poor visualization of deep portions of the liver	Unenhanced: Relative hypoattenuation: liver attenuation more than 10 HU less than that of spleen; Absolute low attenuation: liver attenuation lower than 40 HU; C+: Does not add information	IP/OOP imaging: Signal drop out on OOP; T2W: Isointense; T1: Isointense; T1 C+: Does not add significant information	
Acute hepatitis	Hepatomegaly; Reduced echogenicity; Steatosis; Peri- portal edema; Reduced Doppler signal in the hepatic artery; Thickening of the gallbladder wall	Hepatomegaly; Homogeneous/heterogeneous hypoattenuation (steatosis); Peri-portal edema; Thickening of the gallbladder wall; Periportal/hepatoduodenal enlarged nodes	IP/OOP imaging: Steatosis can be present; T2W: Diffuse mild increase in signal; Increased signal around the portal system (periportal edema); T1 C+: Periportal enhancement; Thickening of the gallbladder wall; Hilar enlarged nodes	
DILI	Nonspecific findings: Hepatomegaly, steatosis, and peri-portal edema can be present			
Portal vein thrombosis	Absent or reduced flow in the portal vein on Color Doppler; Presence of heterogeneous material (focal or diffuse) in the portal vein lumen	Unenhanced: Higher attenuation into the portal vein lumen; Dilation of the portal trunk; C+: Hypoattenuating material into the lumen; Enhancement of vein walls	T2W: Iso- to hyperintense clot according to the phase (acute or subacute); T1: Hyperintense clot; T1 C+: Hypointense material into the lumen; Enhancement of vein walls	
Biliary involvement	Focal or diffuse bile duct dilatation (with/without intrahepatic or extrahepatic stones)	Unenhanced: Does not add information; C+: Focal or diffuse bile duct dilatation (with/without intrahepatic or extrahepatic stones); Heterogeneous enhancement of parenchyma; Peri-portal edema	MRCP: Focal or diffuse bile duct dilatation with/without intrahepatic or extrahepatic stones; Stone(s) in the biliary lumen (hypointense); Multifocal biliary strictures alternated with dilated tracts (beaded appearance); T2W: Hypointense stone; Increased T2 signal around the portal system (periportal edema); T1: Hyperintense stone; T1 C+: Heterogeneous enhancement of peri-biliary parenchyma	
Acute cholecystitis	Gallbladder wall thickening (> 3 mm); Pericholecystic fluid; Gallbladder distension; Possible sludge	Unenhanced: Gallbladder distension; Possible sludge (hyperattenuating); Pericholecystic fluid; C+: Gallbladder wall thickening (> 3 mm); Inhomogeneous gallbladder wall; Mural or mucosal hyperenhancement	MRCP: May show an impacted stone in the gallbladder neck or cystic duct; T2W: Gallbladder wall thickening (> 3 mm); Inhomogeneous gallbladder wall due to edema; T1: Sludge (hyperattenuating); T1 C+: Inhomogeneous gallbladder wall; Mural or mucosal hyperenhancement	

HU: Hounsfield unit; IP: In-phase; OOP: Out-of-phase; C+: Contrast-enhanced; DILI: Drug-induced liver injury; MRCP: Magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography.

> type of damage raises aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and alanine transaminase (ALT) levels. Later on, the damage is direct to cholangiocytes, with bile duct damage and increase in gamma-glutamyl transferase (GGT) and bilirubin[27].

> When there is a clinical suspicion of liver involvement in COVID-19, bedside US is the first imaging technique used in the diagnostic workup. A quick and targeted bedside US may be critical in referring selected patients to second-level imaging techniques, to reduce unnecessary exams and diagnostic delays. US can detect morphological or structural changes in the liver: the most encountered findings in COVID-19 patients are hepatomegaly^[28,29] and steatosis^[29,30].

> According to Abdelmohsen et al[28], the most common morphological change in the liver in critically ill COVID-19 patients is hepatomegaly (about 55% of patients), which is also consistent with autopsies in COVID-19 patients[29-31]. Spogis et al[29] found hepatomegaly associated with gallbladder wall thickening and decreased echogenicity (i.e. signs of acute hepatitis) in 33% of COVID-19 patients with elevated liver cytolysis indices (> 10-fold). Hepatomegaly is usually identified subjectively during imaging: the "qualitative criteria" include the inferior extension of the right lobe to the lower pole of the right kidney and the rounding of the hepatic inferior border. Otherwise, the quantitative criteria are based on the length of the right liver lobe, with a cutoff of 16.5 cm[31].

> On the other side, the most common liver structural change associated with COVID-19 is the presence of hepatic steatosis [28,29] (Figure 2). Coagulation activation can produce hepatic steatosis, and this could be a unique mechanism that leads to both thrombosis and steatosis that are common findings in COVID-19 patients[32]. US B-mode is the most used technique for diagnosing and classifying hepatic steatosis^[33], particularly in the moderate or severely affected liver. It has an overall sensitivity and specificity of 85% and 93%, respectively [33]. However, the detection of a moderate degree of steatosis remains poor, with about 60% sensitivity[34]. B-mode US imaging is mostly used to analyze the liver





Figure 1 Graphical summary of the most common hepatic pathological findings in coronavirus disease 2019. SARS-CoV-2: Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2.



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.834 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 A 45-year-old woman with coronavirus disease 2019 infection underwent abdominal ultrasonography due to elevated liver enzymes. A: As shown on ultrasonography, the liver is hyperechoic in comparison to the renal parenchyma, suggesting marked steatosis; B-E: The patient underwent contrast-enhanced computed tomography; B and C: On unenhanced images, the liver is diffusely hypoattenuating while its main vessels (i.e. portal vein and hepatic veins) appear brighter than the parenchyma due to a marked hepatic fatty infiltration; D and E: On post-contrast images, the liver is homogeneous without any focal lesion; C and E: The gallbladder is filled by sludge, with normal wall thickness. Finally, the combination of clinical and radiological findings allowed the final diagnosis of steatohepatitis.

> qualitatively, searching for characteristic markers of steatosis (i.e. hyperechoic liver in comparison to the spleen or neighboring kidney)[29]. US findings can be confirmed on abdominal CT. According to Lei et al[35], the most common CT abnormalities in COVID-19 patients include diffuse hypoattenuation of the liver (26%) - more common in severe patients (59%) - and the CT-quantified liver/spleen attenuation that can predict prognosis in COVID-19 patients [35,36]. Furthermore, because the liver is partially included in every chest CT, liver data from chest CT scans performed in many COVID-19 patients can be easily retrieved.

> Using a multiparametric US approach, Radzina et al[30] evaluated 90 patients affected with COVID-19 in the previous 3-9 mo demonstrating how liver elasticity, viscosity, and steatosis are altered after COVID-19 and that these alterations well correlate with liver enzyme abnormalities, even better than CT or MRI findings.



Other consequences of chronic liver disease, such as nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), must be considered in addition to COVID-19-induced liver damage[37]. Obesity and other components of metabolic syndrome have been linked to COVID-19 severity. The impact of NAFLD in COVID-19 patients is controversial in the literature[37]. In a meta-analysis of 1851 patients, Singh et al[38] found that, while there was an increase in the course severity of COVID-19 with a 2.60 odds ratio (OR), the adjusted OR (aOR) for mortality risk was 1.01; however, these data should be considered with caution due to the significant heterogeneity among the included studies. Interestingly, Ghoneim et al [39] analyzed 8885 patients with common comorbidities known to be linked with COVID-19 and found out that the cumulative incidence of disease was higher if metabolic syndrome was the primary diagnosis (OR 7.0). COVID-19 patients who were African Americans (aOR 7.45), hypertensive (aOR 2.53), obese (aOR 2.20), diabetic (aOR 1.41), hyperlipidemic (aOR 1.70) or had non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) (aOR 4.93) had higher aORs. These findings demonstrated that, among all concomitant metabolic disorders, NASH had the strongest connection with COVID-19. In support of these data, Roca-Ferná ndez et al[40] analyzed 41791 people who underwent MRI for assessment of liver fat, liver fibro-inflammatory disease, and liver iron with proton density fat fraction calculation before February 2020 and found that people with fatty liver (> 10%) had a higher likelihood of testing positive (OR 1.35), and people with obesity and fatty liver had a 5.14 times higher risk of hospitalization. Obese people who did not have a fatty liver can have an increased risk (OR 1.75). According to the findings, obese people with fatty liver disease are at a higher risk of COVID-19 infection and hospitalization.

To summarize, COVID-19 patients have a remarkable risk of liver damage, with the main morphologic and structural changes being hepatomegaly and steatosis, which have a significant impact on patients' prognosis and can be easily studied with US (Table 1). Epidemiologically, people with NAFLD/NASH appear to be at a higher risk of severe COVID-19 infection. However, it is unclear how much of this rise is due to hepatic steatosis or the presence of overlapping risk factors and comorbidities.

Acute hepatitis in COVID-19

Liver test abnormalities are frequently encountered in COVID-19 patients at admission, and their increase is associated with the severity of the disease[41,42]. In the majority of cases, COVID-19-induced hepatitis occurs as benign new transient hepatitis with gradual onset, elevated AST and ALT levels, and lack of any radiological changes[29,42,43]. Occasionally, COVID-19-induced hepatitis may occur in otherwise asymptomatic patients as the sole manifestation of COVID-19 infection[44]. Liver damage in COVID-19-induced hepatitis may be the result of viral infection of hepatocytes or cholangiocytes, hypercoagulability with both microangiopathy and local thrombus formation, immune-mediated damage, systemic inflammation, or hypoxic hepatitis due to the respiratory disease[45-49]. Regarding the first mechanism, the virus enters the hepatocytes, and then viral replication results in rupture of cells, generating elevated serum liver enzymes [48,50]. Thrombotic complications in COVID-19 patients are likely to occur due to a pro-coagulant effect or a progressive endothelial thrombo-inflammatory syndrome^[49]. Interestingly, in a systematic review of pathology studies, hemodynamic compromise and thromboembolic disease in the liver were demonstrated in 48.3% and 39.4%, respectively, while liver microthrombi were not identified [48].

Radiological hallmarks of acute hepatitis in COVID-19 patients are encountered in approximately 8% of patients with mild-to-moderated liver test abnormalities, and the occurrence increases in patients with severe elevation of liver enzymes. Radiological hallmarks of COVID-19-induced hepatitis - particularly in the most severe cases - include thickening of the gallbladder wall, hepatomegaly, reduced echogenicity of the liver on the US or homogeneous/heterogeneous liver hypoattenuation on CT, and reduced Doppler signal in the hepatic artery [29,35,51]. Liver hypoattenuation is significantly more common in the most severe cases, with the decrease of the liver to spleen CT attenuation ratio being significantly correlated with the severity of pulmonary lesions and the overall COVID-19 severity^[35] (Figure 3). A pathology-radiology correlation study demonstrated that the histological features in patients with sonographic changes included macrophage activation, centroacinar necrosis, granulocytic and histiocytic infiltrate, endothelial damage, and severe cholestasis^[29,52]. Among these, macrophage activation was particularly interesting as it may represent the histopathologic correlate of a hyperinflammatory syndrome^[29]. In a case of COVID-19-induced hepatitis being the sole symptom and without any other cause for liver damage, pathology demonstrated periportal and interstitial inflammation with predominantly lymphocytes, rare plasma cells, and neutrophils, hepatocyte rosette formation, apoptotic bodies, centrilobular congestion, and mildly increased portal and pericellular fibrosis[52] (Table 1).

DILI

DILI is a liver dysfunction caused by drugs used as a treatment for COVID-19 disease. Therapeutic choices for COVID-19 have rapidly expanded and changed over time with the increased understanding of the virus and the disease^[53]. The various therapeutic treatments used over time included antiviral drugs, antibiotics, antimalarials, immunomodulator agents, antipyretic agents, adjunctive treatments, and several investigational treatments including convalescent plasma administration from COVID-19 recovered patients[54]. Different studies reported that liver injury in patients with COVID-19 infection





DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.834 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 A 33-year-old woman with coronavirus disease 2019 infection underwent contrast-enhanced computed tomography due to a suspicion of portal vein thrombosis. A: On unenhanced phase liver is enlarged, homogeneous and without any focal lesion; B: On the portal venous phase the liver enhancement is slight inhomogeneous associated with peri-portal edema, a typical finding of acute hepatitis; C and D: These aspects can be clearly observed also on the coronal reconstruction acquired on the portal venous phase (D) and the delayed phase (C).

> could be a direct consequence of the administration of different drugs, such as antivirals and monoclonal antibodies, with most patients showing elevation of AST and ALT levels, and some also of bilirubin, lactate dehydrogenase, and C-reactive protein[55-59]. However, in most cases, elevated levels of AST and ALT do not lead to severe liver injury and the outcome is favorable[59].

> The mechanisms underlying DILI in COVID-19 patients are not yet fully understood and they seem to vary depending on drug type[59,60]. A hepatocellular injury has been more often reported than cholestatic or mixed injury in COVID-19 patients with DILI[59]. On one hand, the drug-induced injury may lead to microvesicular steatosis as a result of drug interference with β -oxidation of fatty acids, mitochondrial respiration, or both which leads to the accumulation of non-esterified fatty acids which are subsequently converted into triglycerides[61,62]. On the other hand, there could be a downregulation of cytochromes p450 or CYPs family enzymes involved in oxidative biotransformation of many drugs, thus altering the metabolism of several COVID-19 drugs[60,61]. DILI could be enhanced by the production of reactive oxygen species by inflammatory cells, in addition to immune mechanisms shown in a small subset of DILI cases[63,64].

> The radiological manifestations of DILI in COVID-19 patients are non-specific. One of the most frequent radiological signs of DILI is hepatic steatosis[65]. Hepatic steatosis is seen in the US as a bright liver echo pattern with the markedly increased liver to kidney contrast, and on CT as a reduction of liver attenuation below 40 UH as an absolute value or liver attenuation reduced of more than 10 HU compared to the spleen[66]. MRI is the gold standard for detection and quantification of liver steatosis: new quantitative techniques are now available, and others are still being investigated in US and CT[6]. DILI may occasionally lead to acute hepatitis and, therefore, radiological signs in these cases include hepatomegaly with decreased parenchymal enhancement, periportal edema, gallbladder wall thickening, and ascites^[29]. However, the role of traditional and new quantitative techniques for assessing hepatic steatosis and liver injury occurring as a manifestation of DILI in COVID-19 is poorly investigated, and it seems quite difficult to analyze: COVID-19 patients may have more commonly hepatic steatosis and liver injury not related to DILI and there are not specific signs allowing us to differentiate between steatosis and liver injury caused by drugs or by other causes (e.g., steatohepatitis, viral infection)[30] (Table 1).

PVT

The pandemic taught us the great impact of COVID-19 infection on the development of coagulation disorders, especially disseminated intravascular coagulation-like massive intravascular clot formation [67]. In this setting, it has been partially explained that the cytokines' cascade and endothelial damage can lead to the development of intravascular coagulation in the whole body, as reported by Cui et al[68]: critically ill patients showed a significantly higher incidence of thrombosis, up to 25%.

One of the most important visceral districts to consider in a setting of an altered vascular and endothelial environment is the portal vein, considering its importance in blood drainage from the





DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.834 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 4 A 40-year-old men with coronavirus disease 2019 infection and marked respiratory symptoms, underwent contrast-enhanced computed tomography due to elevated liver and biliary enzymes. A and B: On unenhanced phase (A) the liver is within normal limits. After the injection of contrast agent, on arterial phase (B) liver parenchyma shows inhomogeneous enhancement, with hypervascularization of the left liver lobe, as in case of transient hepatic attenuation differences; C: On the portal venous phase, the arterial hypervascularization fades to homogeneous enhancement and diffuse thrombosis of the left branch of the portal vein is demonstrated; D: After 6 mo the patient underwent contrast-enhanced computed tomography that demonstrated persistent portal vein thrombosis without venous collaterals.

gastrointestinal tract.

In non-cirrhotic patients, acute PVT may present with pain, even though the majority are found incidentally[69] (Figure 4). Different causes have been demonstrated as key roles in the development of PVT, with infection and inflammation being the most common. Rajani et al[70], reported that gastrointestinal inflammation accounts for about 14% of all causes of PVT. As for other viral and bacterial infections, COVID-19 can manifest with different gastrointestinal manifestations, including diarrhea, nausea, vomiting, and abdominal pain, which typically present after the respiratory symptoms (9 d vs 7.3 d)[71].

Even if it is well known that the inflammatory environment can lead to the development of microand macro-thrombosis, the current literature has not been focused on the impact of PVT in COVID-19 patients. In fact, by searching medical databases, few studies were published regarding this topic, the majority being case reports.

A meta-analysis published in 2020 [72] included 18 studies and reported that all COVID-19 patients were over 15-years-old, and the majority were male (62%). The authors found a pooled prevalence of vascular thrombosis of 29.4%, one of the most representative signs in the autoptic series. Similarly, Kheyrandish et al[73] (2021) reviewed all cases of PVT published in the literature, confirming the higher incidence in males during infection and in females after vaccination. Thrombocytopenia was the most common laboratory finding, followed by high D-Dimer values, and abnormal coagulation tests.

Radiology plays a key role in the diagnosis of PVT. The first imaging technique useful to determine portal vein patency is US, which can be performed at bedside, especially in critically ill or isolated patients. Acute PVT can manifest as the presence of heterogenous material in the portal vein lumen, which can be partial or complete^[74]. Occasionally, the portal vein thrombus can be iso- or hypoechoic on US; in this setting, the use of color doppler can support the final diagnosis, showing the lack of flow in all or some parts of the portal vein lumen[75]. Nowadays, CT is the reference standard imaging technique to evaluate PVT and its extension, both intra-hepatic and into the whole mesenteric venous system. On the unenhanced images, a higher attenuation into the portal vein lumen, due to the fresh clot, can be appreciated. The injection of an intravenous iodinated contrast agent is necessary to evaluate the lack of enhancement in the lumen, more evident in the portal-venous phase. Liver enhancement can be inhomogeneous due to areas of hypervascularization during the arterial phase, then becoming homogenous in the portal-venous and delayed phases[74]. The portal trunk can be dilated, and, sometimes, it is possible to appreciate the enhancement of vein walls due to inflammatory response[76].

Due to the different imaging spectrum of COVID-19 infection, patients may undergo MRI of the upper abdomen. In these settings, acute PVT is represented by an inhomogeneous intraluminal area(s) both on T1- and T2-weighted sequences. On T1-weighted sequences, PVT can manifest as hyperintense to the muscle if it is recent (acute), while isointense if subacute. On T2-weighted sequences PVT can





DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.834 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 5 A 62-year-old woman with acute portal vein thrombosis after coronavirus disease 2019 infection. A-C: Computed tomography (CT) images show acute thrombosis with hyperintense thrombus on unenhanced phase (A, arrow), heterogeneous enhancement of the liver parenchyma on hepatic arterial phase (B), and complete portal vein thrombosis on portal venous phase (C, arrow); D: Contrast-enhanced CT at 6-mo follow-up demonstrates chronic findings of portal cavernoma with multiple collateral vessels at the hepatic hilum (arrow).

> manifest with different grades of hyperintense signal according to the phase (acute or subacute). If MRI is performed also after intravenous injection of contrast agents, the appearance is superimposable to the above-mentioned CT scan (Table 1).

> If the PVT is not treated, cavernous transformation can occur (Figure 5): the main portal venous trunk is not appreciable and the development of periportal venous collaterals can help the drainage of venous flow from the gastrointestinal tract to the liver. Considering that chronic PVT is not reported in any patients with COVID19 infection, its findings are out of the scope of the present review.

Biliary and gallbladder involvement

The development of biliary injury in patients with COVID-19 represents an important complication, associated with poor prognosis and clinical outcome[77]. Biliary involvement in patients with COVID-19 often demonstrates clinical and biochemical features similar to sclerosing cholangitis in critically ill patients (SSC-CIP), manifesting as increased cholestasis indexes (GGT and total bilirubin) in patients with prolonged admission to the ICU and no history of biliary or liver disease nor signs of mechanical obstruction [77,78]. Severe cholestasis has been reported in up to 27% of patients with COVID-19 admitted to the ICU^[79]. The mechanism of the cholestatic injury in patients with COVID-19 is not completely understood and it is likely multifactorial, with direct viral damage due to the expression of ACE2 on cholangiocytes, immune or inflammatory damage associated with liver injury, toxic bile injury, and ischemic or hypoxic injury of the biliary epithelium [80]. Cholangiopathy has also been observed after chronic exposure to ketamine, a general anesthetic used for sedation of patients with COVID-19 and acute respiratory distress syndrome [81]. The prognosis of patients with SSC-CIP is poor, with mortality in up to 50% of cases due to the development of biliary complications and worsening of liver function[82]. Particularly, patients with pre-existing chronic liver disease have an increased risk of SSC-CIP and higher mortality during COVID-19 infection[83].

Imaging is important to guide the diagnosis of cholangiopathy in patients with COVID-19 in conjunction with laboratory markers and to exclude other causes of biliary obstruction. US and CT can be performed as first-line imaging examinations and can reveal the presence of bile duct dilatation with intrahepatic stones^[84] (Figures 6 and 7). Heterogeneous enhancement of the liver parenchyma with periportal edema can also be observed on contrast-enhanced CT[85]. MRI with MRCP should be performed in patients with persistent cholestasis and elevated liver function tests to assess the extension of biliary damage. MRCP can demonstrate features of secondary sclerosing cholangitis characterized by multifocal biliary strictures alternated with dilated tracts, with a "beaded" appearance [79,85]. Biliary strictures can be complicated by biliary cast, presenting as intraductal filling detects on MRCP and T2weighted images with corresponding linear hyperintensity on unenhanced T1W images. In a recent study by Ghafoor et al[86], MRCP findings associated with COVID-19 cholangiopathy included intrahepatic bile duct strictures associated with upstream dilatation in 58% of patients and the presence of biliary casts in 11.8% of cases (Figure 8). Peribiliary changes characterized by hyperintensity on T2W





DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.834 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 6 A 66-year-old men with coronavirus disease 2019 infection, associated with abdominal pain in the upper quadrants. A-C: Contrastenhanced computed tomography showed diffuse thickening of the gallbladder walls (A), with homogeneous contrast enhancement (B), better appreciable on the sagittal reconstruction (C). The gallbladder lumen is filled with biliary sludge (A) without calcified stones. The final diagnosis was acute acalculous cholecystitis.



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.834 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 7 A 53-year-old woman with coronavirus disease 2019 infection and markedly elevated biliary enzymes and C reactive protein levels. A and B: Ultrasonography demonstrates diffuse thickening of the gallbladder wall, associated with multiple small anechoic components into the walls, as in case of intramural abscesses. No stone is appreciated. The final diagnosis was acute acalculous cholecystitis.



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.834 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 8 A 44-year-old woman with coronavirus disease 2019 infection underwent magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography due to elevated biliary enzymes with negative findings on ultrasonography and contrast-enhanced computed tomography. A and B: In-phase (A) and out-of-phase (B) imaging demonstrates hepatic homogeneous parenchyma without areas of fatty infiltration; C: On the T2-weighted image liver inflammation, especially in the right lobe, is characterized by areas of slight hyperenhancement, located nearby the biliary ducts; D: Finally, magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography allows the evaluation of the biliary tree, showing multiple and diffuse focal biliary stenosis, in particular in the right lobe, with upstream dilation of small biliary ducts. This radiological aspect is typical of sclerosing cholangitis and the final diagnosis was a biliary involvement due to severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2.

Baisbideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

images and DWI restriction were reported in 70.6% of patients, while peribiliary enhancement was observed in 23.1% of cases[86]. Extrahepatic bile duct involvement is rare[86]. Other complications include sepsis with the possible development of hepatic abscesses and progressive liver disease with morphologic features of biliary cirrhosis. Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography can be performed to confirm the diagnosis of biliary strictures and stones in selected cases and allow treatment of biliary obstruction.

Acalculous cholecystitis has been reported as the most common gallbladder involvement in patients with COVID-19[87,88]. Despite the pathogenesis of acalculous cholecystitis in COVID-19 is still under investigation, the presence of SARS-Cov-2 virus was demonstrated in samples from the gallbladder wall, probably due to the presence of ACE2 receptors in the gallbladder[87]. Other possible causes include mechanical ventilation and prolonged total parenteral nutrition[89]. The US is the first-line imaging modality in patients with suspected acalculous cholecystitis and it may reveal thickened gallbladder wall with peri-cholecystic fluid collection and gallbladder distension, in the absence of gallstones. Contrast-enhanced CT may be performed in case of suspected complications, such as gallbladder perforation, fistula, or necrosis (i.e. gangrenous cholecystitis)[90]. CT findings include distended gallbladder with wall thickening, hyperenhancement of the gallbladder wall during postcontrast phases, and pericholecystic fluid[91] (Table 1).

Chronic findings

The current literature is lacking studies evaluating the chronic findings of COVID-19 on liver imaging. The type of hepatic chronic findings should be related to the sequelae of acute liver damage during COVID-19 infection after recovering from the acute disease. Severe liver cholestatic injury can progress into chronic liver disease with the development of cirrhosis, manifesting as abnormal liver morphology with associated imaging features of portal hypertension and ascites. On US, a prospective multiparametric assessment of post-COVID-19 patients observed increased liver stiffness and steatosis at 3-9 mo after COVID-19 compared to normal controls[30]. Complete PVT can progress to portal vein cavernoma if not promptly recanalized and resulting in chronic findings of noncirrhotic portal hypertension and risk of variceal bleeding[49].

Further studies are still needed to assess the evolution of hepatic findings and the possible long-term sequelae of liver damage in patients recovering from COVID-19.

CONCLUSION

Even if COVID-19 is extensively reported as a disease that mainly affects the lungs, the viral infection may cause an involvement of abdominal parenchymal organs and the gastrointestinal tract, increasing the risk of both acute and long-term health problems, especially of liver parenchyma. The liver damage may be caused by different mechanisms, including direct hepatocytes involvement from the viral infection, indirect response to the systemic inflammatory status, or hepatotoxicity due to drugs used to manage the infection. In this setting, the diagnostic imaging workup plays a crucial role for early detection of liver manifestations and assessment of long-term complications.

US should be considered as the main diagnostic option for the first evaluation of liver, biliary tree, and vascular district, in patients with abdominal symptoms, or with altered blood test, while abdominal contrast enhanced CT seems to be the most useful diagnostic tool for the overall abdominal assessment offering useful information regarding not only the liver itself, but also other parenchymal organs and vascular system. Finally, MRI should be considered the tool that better clarifies liver alterations in patients with COVID infection deemed indeterminate on US and CT.

It's important to underline that the main limitation in this field which should still be considered is the difficulty to understand the main COVID-19 pathological mechanisms and their related consequences. Further studies should be more focused on the evaluation of COVID-19 patients, in particular those with liver involvement, to quickly address the diagnosis and the best management possible.

A comprehensive knowledge of COVID-19 hepatic involvement assessed through the different diagnostic imaging modalities can help clinicians in addressing the correct treatment and long-term management of the disease.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Ippolito D designed the research; Maino C, Vernuccio F, Cannella R, Inchingolo R, Dezio M, Faletti R, Bonaffini PA, Gatti M and Sironi S performed the research; Maino C, Vernuccio F and Cannella R analyzed the data; Ippolito D, Maino C, Vernuccio F, Cannella R, Inchingolo R, Dezio M, Faletti R, Bonaffini PA and Gatti M wrote the paper.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Authors declare no conflict of interests for this article.



Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Italy

ORCID number: Davide Ippolito 0000-0002-2696-7047; Cesare Maino 0000-0002-5742-802X; Federica Vernuccio 0000-0003-0350-1794; Roberto Cannella 0000-0002-3808-0785; Riccardo Inchingolo 0000-0002-0253-5936; Michele Dezio 0000-0001-6491-4969; Riccardo Faletti 0000-0002-8865-8637; Pietro Andrea Bonaffini 0000-0001-5335-9429; Marco Gatti 0000-0001-8168-5280; Sandro Sironi 0000-0002-4469-5073.

S-Editor: Zhang H L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Zhang H

REFERENCES

- World Health Organization. Health Emergency Dashboard. [cited 7 September 2022]. Available from: https://score.tools.who.int/tools/survey-populations-and-health-risks/tool/world-health-organization-health-emergencydashboard-117/
- 2 Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, Zhang L, Fan G, Xu J, Gu X, Cheng Z, Yu T, Xia J, Wei Y, Wu W, Xie X, Yin W, Li H, Liu M, Xiao Y, Gao H, Guo L, Xie J, Wang G, Jiang R, Gao Z, Jin Q, Wang J, Cao B. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet 2020; 395: 497-506 [PMID: 31986264 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5]
- 3 Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang WH, Ou CQ, He JX, Liu L, Shan H, Lei CL, Hui DSC, Du B, Li LJ, Zeng G, Yuen KY, Chen RC, Tang CL, Wang T, Chen PY, Xiang J, Li SY, Wang JL, Liang ZJ, Peng YX, Wei L, Liu Y, Hu YH, Peng P, Wang JM, Liu JY, Chen Z, Li G, Zheng ZJ, Qiu SQ, Luo J, Ye CJ, Zhu SY, Zhong NS; China Medical Treatment Expert Group for Covid-19. Clinical Characteristics of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med 2020; 382: 1708-1720 [PMID: 32109013 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2002032]
- Lechien JR, Chiesa-Estomba CM, De Siati DR, Horoi M, Le Bon SD, Rodriguez A, Dequanter D, Blecic S, El Afia F, 4 Distinguin L, Chekkoury-Idrissi Y, Hans S, Delgado IL, Calvo-Henriquez C, Lavigne P, Falanga C, Barillari MR, Cammaroto G, Khalife M, Leich P, Souchay C, Rossi C, Journe F, Hsieh J, Edjlali M, Carlier R, Ris L, Lovato A, De Filippis C, Coppee F, Fakhry N, Ayad T, Saussez S. Olfactory and gustatory dysfunctions as a clinical presentation of mildto-moderate forms of the coronavirus disease (COVID-19): a multicenter European study. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2020; 277: 2251-2261 [PMID: 32253535 DOI: 10.1007/s00405-020-05965-1]
- Cummings MJ, Baldwin MR, Abrams D, Jacobson SD, Meyer BJ, Balough EM, Aaron JG, Claassen J, Rabbani LE, 5 Hastie J, Hochman BR, Salazar-Schicchi J, Yip NH, Brodie D, O'Donnell MR. Epidemiology, clinical course, and outcomes of critically ill adults with COVID-19 in New York City: a prospective cohort study. Lancet 2020; 395: 1763-1770 [PMID: 32442528 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31189-2]
- Vernuccio F, Cannella R, Bartolotta TV, Galia M, Tang A, Brancatelli G. Advances in liver US, CT, and MRI: moving toward the future. Eur Radiol Exp 2021; 5: 52 [PMID: 34873633 DOI: 10.1186/s41747-021-00250-0]
- 7 Dietrich CF, Bamber J, Berzigotti A, Bota S, Cantisani V, Castera L, Cosgrove D, Ferraioli G, Friedrich-Rust M, Gilja OH, Goertz RS, Karlas T, de Knegt R, de Ledinghen V, Piscaglia F, Procopet B, Saftoiu A, Sidhu PS, Sporea I, Thiele M. EFSUMB Guidelines and Recommendations on the Clinical Use of Liver Ultrasound Elastography, Update 2017 (Long Version). Ultraschall Med 2017; 38: e16-e47 [PMID: 28407655 DOI: 10.1055/s-0043-103952]
- Ding Y, Marin D, Vernuccio F, Gonzalez F, Williamson HV, Becker HC, Patel BN, Solomon J, Ramirez-Giraldo JC, Samei E, Nelson RC, Meyer M. Variability of quantitative measurements of metastatic liver lesions: a multi-radiation-doselevel and multi-reader comparison. Abdom Radiol (NY) 2021; 46: 226-236 [PMID: 32524151 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-020-02601-8
- 9 Collaku E, Simonini R, Balbi M, Bonaffini PA, Valle C, Morzenti C, Faseli RF, Ferrari A, Ippolito D, Marra P, Barbui T, Sironi S. Superb Microvascular Imaging (SMI) Compared with Color Doppler Ultrasound for the Assessment of Hepatic Artery in Pediatric Liver Transplants: A Feasibility Study. Diagnostics (Basel) 2022; 12 [PMID: 35741286 DOI: 10.3390/diagnostics12061476]
- 10 Effenberger M, Grander C, Fritsche G, Bellmann-Weiler R, Hartig F, Wildner S, Seiwald S, Adolph TE, Zoller H, Weiss G, Tilg H. Liver stiffness by transient elastography accompanies illness severity in COVID-19. BMJ Open Gastroenterol 2020; 7 [PMID: 32665398 DOI: 10.1136/bmjgast-2020-000445]
- 11 Kambadakone AR, Fung A, Gupta RT, Hope TA, Fowler KJ, Lyshchik A, Ganesan K, Yaghmai V, Guimaraes AR, Sahani DV, Miller FH. LI-RADS technical requirements for CT, MRI, and contrast-enhanced ultrasound. Abdom Radiol (NY) 2018; 43: 56-74 [PMID: 28940042 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-017-1325-y]
- 12 Westwood M, Joore M, Grutters J, Redekop K, Armstrong N, Lee K, Gloy V, Raatz H, Misso K, Severens J, Kleijnen J. Contrast-enhanced ultrasound using SonoVue® (sulphur hexafluoride microbubbles) compared with contrast-enhanced computed tomography and contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging for the characterisation of focal liver lesions and detection of liver metastases: a systematic review and cost-effectiveness analysis. Health Technol Assess 2013; 17: 1-243 [PMID: 23611316 DOI: 10.3310/hta17160]



- 13 Bansal S, Gui J, Merrill C, Wong JK, Burak KW, Wilson SR. Contrast-enhanced US in Local Ablative Therapy and Secondary Surveillance for Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Radiographics 2019; 39: 1302-1322 [PMID: 31348734 DOI: 10.1148/rg.2019180205
- 14 Dietrich CF, Nolsøe CP, Barr RG, Berzigotti A, Burns PN, Cantisani V, Chammas MC, Chaubal N, Choi BI, Clevert DA, Cui X, Dong Y, D'Onofrio M, Fowlkes JB, Gilja OH, Huang P, Ignee A, Jenssen C, Kono Y, Kudo M, Lassau N, Lee WJ, Lee JY, Liang P, Lim A, Lyshchik A, Meloni MF, Correas JM, Minami Y, Moriyasu F, Nicolau C, Piscaglia F, Saftoiu A, Sidhu PS, Sporea I, Torzilli G, Xie X, Zheng R. Guidelines and Good Clinical Practice Recommendations for Contrast-Enhanced Ultrasound (CEUS) in the Liver-Update 2020 WFUMB in Cooperation with EFSUMB, AFSUMB, AIUM, and FLAUS. Ultrasound Med Biol 2020; 46: 2579-2604 [PMID: 32713788 DOI: 10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2020.04.030]
- 15 Roberts LR, Sirlin CB, Zaiem F, Almasri J, Prokop LJ, Heimbach JK, Murad MH, Mohammed K. Imaging for the diagnosis of hepatocellular carcinoma: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepatology 2018; 67: 401-421 [PMID: 28859233 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29487]
- Tsurusaki M, Sofue K, Hori M, Sasaki K, Ishii K, Murakami T, Kudo M. Dual-Energy Computed Tomography of the 16 Liver: Uses in Clinical Practices and Applications. Diagnostics (Basel) 2021; 11 [PMID: 33499201 DOI: 10.3390/diagnostics11020161
- Luersen GF, Bhosale P, Szklaruk J. State-of-the-art cross-sectional liver imaging: beyond lesion detection and 17 characterization. J Hepatocell Carcinoma 2015; 2: 101-117 [PMID: 27508199 DOI: 10.2147/JHC.S85201]
- Shah A, Tang A, Santillan C, Sirlin C. Cirrhotic liver: What's that nodule? J Magn Reson Imaging 2016; 43: 281-294 18 [PMID: 25996905 DOI: 10.1002/jmri.24937]
- Gore RM, Pickhardt PJ, Mortele KJ, Fishman EK, Horowitz JM, Fimmel CJ, Talamonti MS, Berland LL, Pandharipande 19 PV. Management of Incidental Liver Lesions on CT: A White Paper of the ACR Incidental Findings Committee. J Am Coll Radiol 2017; 14: 1429-1437 [PMID: 28927870 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacr.2017.07.018]
- 20 Kalor A, Girometti R, Maheshwari E, Kierans AS, Pugliesi RA, Buros C, Furlan A. Update on MR Contrast Agents for Liver Imaging: What to Use and When. Radiol Clin North Am 2022; 60: 679-694 [PMID: 35989037 DOI: 10.1016/j.rcl.2022.04.005]
- 21 Neri E, Bali MA, Ba-Ssalamah A, Boraschi P, Brancatelli G, Alves FC, Grazioli L, Helmberger T, Lee JM, Manfredi R, Martì-Bonmatì L, Matos C, Merkle EM, Op De Beeck B, Schima W, Skehan S, Vilgrain V, Zech C, Bartolozzi C. ESGAR consensus statement on liver MR imaging and clinical use of liver-specific contrast agents. Eur Radiol 2016; 26: 921-931 [PMID: 26194455 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-015-3900-3]
- 22 Qayyum A. Diffusion-weighted imaging in the abdomen and pelvis: concepts and applications. Radiographics 2009; 29: 1797-1810 [PMID: 19959522 DOI: 10.1148/rg.296095521]
- 23 Griffin N, Charles-Edwards G, Grant LA. Magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography: the ABC of MRCP. Insights Imaging 2012; 3: 11-21 [PMID: 22695995 DOI: 10.1007/s13244-011-0129-9]
- 24 Zarifian A, Zamiri Bidary M, Arekhi S, Rafiee M, Gholamalizadeh H, Amiriani A, Ghaderi MS, Khadem-Rezaiyan M, Amini M, Ganji A. Gastrointestinal and hepatic abnormalities in patients with confirmed COVID-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Virol 2021; 93: 336-350 [PMID: 32681674 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.26314]
- Ji D, Qin E, Xu J, Zhang D, Cheng G, Wang Y, Lau G. Non-alcoholic fatty liver diseases in patients with COVID-19: A 25 retrospective study. J Hepatol 2020; 73: 451-453 [PMID: 32278005 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.03.044]
- 26 Gatti M, Calandri M, Biondo A, Geninatti C, Piatti C, Ruggirello I, Santonocito A, Varello S, Bergamasco L, Bironzo P, Boccuzzi A, Brazzi L, Caironi P, Cardinale L, Cavallo R, Riccardini F, Limerutti G, Veltri A, Fonio P, Faletti R. Emergency room comprehensive assessment of demographic, radiological, laboratory and clinical data of patients with COVID-19: determination of its prognostic value for in-hospital mortality. Intern Emerg Med 2022; 17: 205-214 [PMID: 33683539 DOI: 10.1007/s11739-021-02669-0]
- 27 Wu J, Song S, Cao HC, Li LJ. Liver diseases in COVID-19: Etiology, treatment and prognosis. World J Gastroenterol 2020; 26: 2286-2293 [PMID: 32476793 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v26.i19.2286]
- 28 Abdelmohsen MA, Alkandari BM, Gupta VK, ElBeheiry AA. Diagnostic value of abdominal sonography in confirmed COVID-19 intensive care patients. Egypt J Radiol Nucl Med 2020; 51: 198 [DOI: 10.1186/s43055-020-00317-9]
- 29 Spogis J, Hagen F, Thaiss WM, Hoffmann T, Malek N, Nikolaou K, Berg CP, Singer S, Bösmüller H, Kreth F, Kaufmann S. Sonographic findings in coronavirus disease-19 associated liver damage. PLoS One 2021; 16: e0244781 [PMID: 33606703 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0244781]
- Radzina M, Putrins DS, Micena A, Vanaga I, Kolesova O, Platkajis A, Viksna L. Post-COVID-19 Liver Injury: 30 Comprehensive Imaging With Multiparametric Ultrasound. J Ultrasound Med 2022; 41: 935-949 [PMID: 34241914 DOI: 10.1002/jum.15778
- 31 Riestra-Candelaria BL, Rodriguez-Mojica W, Jorge JC. Anatomical criteria to measure the adult right liver lobe by ultrasound. Sonography 2018; 5: 181-186 [PMID: 30713828 DOI: 10.1002/sono.12162]
- Kopec AK, Abrahams SR, Thornton S, Palumbo JS, Mullins ES, Divanovic S, Weiler H, Owens AP 3rd, Mackman N, 32 Goss A, van Ryn J, Luyendyk JP, Flick MJ. Thrombin promotes diet-induced obesity through fibrin-driven inflammation. J Clin Invest 2017; 127: 3152-3166 [PMID: 28737512 DOI: 10.1172/JCI92744]
- Ferraioli G, Soares Monteiro LB. Ultrasound-based techniques for the diagnosis of liver steatosis. World J Gastroenterol 33 2019; 25: 6053-6062 [PMID: 31686762 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v25.i40.6053]
- 34 Hernaez R, Lazo M, Bonekamp S, Kamel I, Brancati FL, Guallar E, Clark JM. Diagnostic accuracy and reliability of ultrasonography for the detection of fatty liver: a meta-analysis. Hepatology 2011; 54: 1082-1090 [PMID: 21618575 DOI: 10.1002/hep.24452]
- 35 Lei P, Zhang L, Han P, Zheng C, Tong Q, Shang H, Yang F, Hu Y, Li X, Song Y. Liver injury in patients with COVID-19: clinical profiles, CT findings, the correlation of the severity with liver injury. Hepatol Int 2020; 14: 733-742 [PMID: 32886333 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-020-10087-1]
- Gul Y, Kilicarslan G, Cilengir AH, Balaban M, Gul E. The Relationship of Liver and Pancreas Density With Chest Computed Tomography Score Progression and Laboratory Findings in Patients With COVID-19. J Comput Assist Tomogr 2022; 46: 848-853 [PMID: 35830381 DOI: 10.1097/RCT.00000000001354]



- 37 Marjot T, Eberhardt CS, Boettler T, Belli LS, Berenguer M, Buti M, Jalan R, Mondelli MU, Moreau R, Shouval D, Berg T, Cornberg M. Impact of COVID-19 on the liver and on the care of patients with chronic liver disease, hepatobiliary cancer, and liver transplantation: An updated EASL position paper. J Hepatol 2022; 77: 1161-1197 [PMID: 35868584 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2022.07.008]
- Singh A, Hussain S, Antony B. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and clinical outcomes in patients with COVID-19: A 38 comprehensive systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Metab Syndr 2021; 15: 813-822 [PMID: 33862417 DOI: 10.1016/j.dsx.2021.03.019]
- Ghoneim S, Butt MU, Hamid O, Shah A, Asaad I. The incidence of COVID-19 in patients with metabolic syndrome and 39 non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: A population-based study. Metabol Open 2020; 8: 100057 [PMID: 32924000 DOI: 10.1016/j.metop.2020.100057
- Roca-Fernández A, Dennis A, Nicholls R, McGonigle J, Kelly M, Banerjee R, Banerjee A, Sanyal AJ. Hepatic Steatosis, 40 Rather Than Underlying Obesity, Increases the Risk of Infection and Hospitalization for COVID-19. Front Med (Lausanne) 2021; 8: 636637 [PMID: 33855033 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2021.636637]
- Singh S, Khan A. Clinical Characteristics and Outcomes of Coronavirus Disease 2019 Among Patients With Preexisting 41 Liver Disease in the United States: A Multicenter Research Network Study. Gastroenterology 2020; 159: 768-771.e3 [PMID: 32376408 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.04.064]
- Zhang C, Shi L, Wang FS. Liver injury in COVID-19: management and challenges. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 42 5: 428-430 [PMID: 32145190 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(20)30057-1]
- Lo Bianco G, Di Pietro S, Mazzuca E, Imburgia A, Tarantino L, Accurso G, Benenati V, Vernuccio F, Bucolo C, Salomone S, Riolo M. Multidisciplinary Approach to the Diagnosis and In-Hospital Management of COVID-19 Infection: A Narrative Review. Front Pharmacol 2020; 11: 572168 [PMID: 33362541 DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2020.572168]
- 44 Bongiovanni M, Zago T. Acute hepatitis caused by asymptomatic COVID-19 infection. J Infect 2021; 82: e25-e26 [PMID: 32891635 DOI: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.09.001]
- 45 Bangash MN, Patel J, Parekh D. COVID-19 and the liver: little cause for concern. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 5: 529-530 [PMID: 32203680 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(20)30084-4]
- 46 Phipps MM, Barraza LH, LaSota ED, Sobieszczyk ME, Pereira MR, Zheng EX, Fox AN, Zucker J, Verna EC. Acute Liver Injury in COVID-19: Prevalence and Association with Clinical Outcomes in a Large U.S. Cohort. Hepatology 2020; 72: 807-817 [PMID: 32473607 DOI: 10.1002/hep.31404]
- 47 Xu L, Liu J, Lu M, Yang D, Zheng X. Liver injury during highly pathogenic human coronavirus infections. Liver Int 2020; 40: 998-1004 [PMID: 32170806 DOI: 10.1111/liv.14435]
- Peiris S, Mesa H, Aysola A, Manivel J, Toledo J, Borges-Sa M, Aldighieri S, Reveiz L. Pathological findings in organs and 48 tissues of patients with COVID-19: A systematic review. PLoS One 2021; 16: e0250708 [PMID: 33909679 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0250708]
- Vernuccio F, Lombardo FP, Cannella R, Panzuto F, Giambelluca D, Arzanauskaite M, Midiri M, Cabassa P. 49 Thromboembolic complications of COVID-19: the combined effect of a pro-coagulant pattern and an endothelial thromboinflammatory syndrome. Clin Radiol 2020; 75: 804-810 [PMID: 32829885 DOI: 10.1016/j.crad.2020.07.019]
- Téllez L, Martín Mateos RM. COVID-19 and liver disease: An update. Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 43: 472-480 [PMID: 50 32727662 DOI: 10.1016/j.gastrohep.2020.06.006]
- Bhayana R, Som A, Li MD, Carey DE, Anderson MA, Blake MA, Catalano O, Gee MS, Hahn PF, Harisinghani M, 51 Kilcoyne A, Lee SI, Mojtahed A, Pandharipande PV, Pierce TT, Rosman DA, Saini S, Samir AE, Simeone JF, Gervais DA, Velmahos G, Misdraji J, Kambadakone A. Abdominal Imaging Findings in COVID-19: Preliminary Observations. Radiology 2020; 297: E207-E215 [PMID: 32391742 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2020201908]
- Balaja WR 3rd, Jacob S, Hamidpour S, Masoud A. COVID-19 Presenting as Acute Icteric Hepatitis. Cureus 2021; 13: 52 e16359 [PMID: 34395136 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.16359]
- 53 Lopes N, Vernuccio F, Costantino C, Imburgia C, Gregoretti C, Salomone S, Drago F, Lo Bianco G. An Italian Guidance Model for the Management of Suspected or Confirmed COVID-19 Patients in the Primary Care Setting. Front Public Health 2020; 8: 572042 [PMID: 33330317 DOI: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.572042]
- 54 Abubakar AR, Sani IH, Godman B, Kumar S, Islam S, Jahan I, Haque M. Systematic Review on the Therapeutic Options for COVID-19: Clinical Evidence of Drug Efficacy and Implications. Infect Drug Resist 2020; 13: 4673-4695 [PMID: 33402839 DOI: 10.2147/IDR.S289037]
- 55 Fan Z, Chen L, Li J, Cheng X, Yang J, Tian C, Zhang Y, Huang S, Liu Z, Cheng J. Clinical Features of COVID-19-Related Liver Functional Abnormality. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 18: 1561-1566 [PMID: 32283325 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2020.04.002]
- 56 Grein J, Ohmagari N, Shin D, Diaz G, Asperges E, Castagna A, Feldt T, Green G, Green ML, Lescure FX, Nicastri E, Oda R, Yo K, Quiros-Roldan E, Studemeister A, Redinski J, Ahmed S, Bernett J, Chelliah D, Chen D, Chihara S, Cohen SH, Cunningham J, D'Arminio Monforte A, Ismail S, Kato H, Lapadula G, L'Her E, Maeno T, Majumder S, Massari M, Mora-Rillo M, Mutoh Y, Nguyen D, Verweij E, Zoufaly A, Osinusi AO, DeZure A, Zhao Y, Zhong L, Chokkalingam A, Elboudwarej E, Telep L, Timbs L, Henne I, Sellers S, Cao H, Tan SK, Winterbourne L, Desai P, Mera R, Gaggar A, Myers RP, Brainard DM, Childs R, Flanigan T. Compassionate Use of Remdesivir for Patients with Severe Covid-19. N Engl J Med 2020; 382: 2327-2336 [PMID: 32275812 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2007016]
- 57 Muhović D, Bojović J, Bulatović A, Vukčević B, Ratković M, Lazović R, Smolović B. First case of drug-induced liver injury associated with the use of tocilizumab in a patient with COVID-19. Liver Int 2020; 40: 1901-1905 [PMID: 32478465 DOI: 10.1111/liv.14516]
- Yamazaki S, Suzuki T, Sayama M, Nakada TA, Igari H, Ishii I. Suspected cholestatic liver injury induced by favipiravir in 58 a patient with COVID-19. J Infect Chemother 2021; 27: 390-392 [PMID: 33402301 DOI: 10.1016/j.jiac.2020.12.021]
- Teschke R, Méndez-Sánchez N, Eickhoff A. Liver Injury in COVID-19 Patients with Drugs as Causatives: A Systematic Review of 996 DILI Cases Published 2020/2021 Based on RUCAM as Causality Assessment Method. Int J Mol Sci 2022; 23 [PMID: 35563242 DOI: 10.3390/ijms23094828]
- Sodeifian F, Seyedalhosseini ZS, Kian N, Eftekhari M, Najari S, Mirsaeidi M, Farsi Y, Nasiri MJ. Drug-Induced Liver



Injury in COVID-19 Patients: A Systematic Review. Front Med (Lausanne) 2021; 8: 731436 [PMID: 34616757 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2021.731436]

- Xu Z, Shi L, Wang Y, Zhang J, Huang L, Zhang C, Liu S, Zhao P, Liu H, Zhu L, Tai Y, Bai C, Gao T, Song J, Xia P, Dong 61 J, Zhao J, Wang FS. Pathological findings of COVID-19 associated with acute respiratory distress syndrome. Lancet Respir Med 2020; 8: 420-422 [PMID: 32085846 DOI: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30076-X]
- Pessayre D, Fromenty B, Berson A, Robin MA, Lettéron P, Moreau R, Mansouri A. Central role of mitochondria in drug-62 induced liver injury. Drug Metab Rev 2012; 44: 34-87 [PMID: 21892896 DOI: 10.3109/03602532.2011.604086]
- El-Ghiaty MA, Shoieb SM, El-Kadi AOS. Cytochrome P450-mediated drug interactions in COVID-19 patients: Current 63 findings and possible mechanisms. Med Hypotheses 2020; 144: 110033 [PMID: 32758877 DOI: 10.1016/j.mehy.2020.110033]
- 64 Delgado A, Stewart S, Urroz M, Rodríguez A, Borobia AM, Akatbach-Bousaid I, González-Muñoz M, Ramírez E. Characterisation of Drug-Induced Liver Injury in Patients with COVID-19 Detected by a Proactive Pharmacovigilance Program from Laboratory Signals. J Clin Med 2021; 10 [PMID: 34640458 DOI: 10.3390/jcm10194432]
- Venitt S, Bartsch H, Becking G, Fuchs RP, Hofnung M, Malaveille C, Matsushima T, Rajewsky MR, Roberfroid M, Rosenkranz HS. Short-term assays to predict carcinogenicity. Short-term assays using bacteria. IARC Sci Publ 1986; 143-161 [PMID: 3305342 DOI: 10.1016/j.aohep.2020.09.011]
- Dioguardi Burgio M, Bruno O, Agnello F, Torrisi C, Vernuccio F, Cabibbo G, Soresi M, Petta S, Calamia M, Papia G, 66 Gambino A, Ricceri V, Midiri M, Lagalla R, Brancatelli G. The cheating liver: imaging of focal steatosis and fatty sparing. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016; 10: 671-678 [PMID: 27027652 DOI: 10.1586/17474124.2016.1169919]
- Iba T, Levy JH, Levi M, Thachil J. Coagulopathy in COVID-19. J Thromb Haemost 2020; 18: 2103-2109 [PMID: 67 32558075 DOI: 10.1111/jth.14975]
- Cui S, Chen S, Li X, Liu S, Wang F. Prevalence of venous thromboembolism in patients with severe novel coronavirus 68 pneumonia. J Thromb Haemost 2020; 18: 1421-1424 [PMID: 32271988 DOI: 10.1111/jth.14830]
- 69 Intagliata NM, Caldwell SH, Tripodi A. Diagnosis, Development, and Treatment of Portal Vein Thrombosis in Patients With and Without Cirrhosis. Gastroenterology 2019; 156: 1582-1599.e1 [PMID: 30771355 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.01.265
- 70 Rajani R, Björnsson E, Bergquist A, Danielsson A, Gustavsson A, Grip O, Melin T, Sangfelt P, Wallerstedt S, Almer S. The epidemiology and clinical features of portal vein thrombosis: a multicentre study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2010; 32: 1154-1162 [PMID: 21039677 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2010.04454.x]
- Patel KP, Patel PA, Vunnam RR, Hewlett AT, Jain R, Jing R, Vunnam SR. Gastrointestinal, hepatobiliary, and pancreatic 71 manifestations of COVID-19. J Clin Virol 2020; 128: 104386 [PMID: 32388469 DOI: 10.1016/j.jev.2020.104386]
- 72 Díaz LA, Idalsoaga F, Cannistra M, Candia R, Cabrera D, Barrera F, Soza A, Graham R, Riquelme A, Arrese M, Leise MD, Arab JP. High prevalence of hepatic steatosis and vascular thrombosis in COVID-19: A systematic review and metaanalysis of autopsy data. World J Gastroenterol 2020; 26: 7693-7706 [PMID: 33505145 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v26.i48.7693]
- Kheyrandish S, Rastgar A, Arab-Zozani M, Sarab GA. Portal Vein Thrombosis Might Develop by COVID-19 Infection or 73 Vaccination: A Systematic Review of Case-Report Studies. Front Med (Lausanne) 2021; 8: 794599 [PMID: 34970570 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2021.794599]
- Jha RC, Khera SS, Kalaria AD. Portal Vein Thrombosis: Imaging the Spectrum of Disease With an Emphasis on MRI Features. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2018; 211: 14-24 [PMID: 29792748 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.18.19548]
- 75 Primignani M. Portal vein thrombosis, revisited. Dig Liver Dis 2010; 42: 163-170 [PMID: 19766546 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2009.08.003
- Laissy JP, Trillaud H, Douek P. MR angiography: noninvasive vascular imaging of the abdomen. Abdom Imaging 2002; 76 27: 488-506 [PMID: 12172987 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-001-0063-2]
- Hunyady P, Streller L, Rüther DF, Groba SR, Bettinger D, Fitting D, Hamesch K, Marquardt JU, Mücke VT, Finkelmeier F, Sekandarzad A, Wengenmayer T, Bounidane A, Weiss F, Peiffer KH, Schlevogt B, Zeuzem S, Waidmann O, Hollenbach M, Kirstein MM, Kluwe J, Kütting F, Mücke MM. Secondary sclerosing cholangitis following COVID-19 disease: a multicenter retrospective study. Clin Infect Dis 2022 [PMID: 35809032 DOI: 10.1093/cid/ciac565]
- Gelbmann CM, Rümmele P, Wimmer M, Hofstädter F, Göhlmann B, Endlicher E, Kullmann F, Langgartner J, 78 Schölmerich J. Ischemic-like cholangiopathy with secondary sclerosing cholangitis in critically ill patients. Am J Gastroenterol 2007; 102: 1221-1229 [PMID: 17531010 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2007.01118.x]
- Bütikofer S, Lenggenhager D, Wendel Garcia PD, Maggio EM, Haberecker M, Reiner CS, Brüllmann G, Buehler PK, 79 Gubler C, Müllhaupt B, Jüngst C, Morell B. Secondary sclerosing cholangitis as cause of persistent jaundice in patients with severe COVID-19. Liver Int 2021; 41: 2404-2417 [PMID: 34018314 DOI: 10.1111/liv.14971]
- 80 Shih AR, Hatipoglu D, Wilechansky R, Goiffon R, Deshpande V, Misdraji J, Chung RT. Persistent Cholestatic Injury and Secondary Sclerosing Cholangitis in COVID-19 Patients. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2022; 146: 1184-1193 [PMID: 35657750 DOI: 10.5858/arpa.2021-0605-SA]
- Keta-Cov research group. Intravenous ketamine and progressive cholangiopathy in COVID-19 patients. J Hepatol 2021; 81 74: 1243-1244 [PMID: 33617925 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.02.007]
- Edwards K, Allison M, Ghuman S. Secondary sclerosing cholangitis in critically ill patients: a rare disease precipitated by 82 severe SARS-CoV-2 infection. BMJ Case Rep 2020; 13 [PMID: 33168538 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2020-237984]
- Hartl L, Haslinger K, Angerer M, Semmler G, Schneeweiss-Gleixner M, Jachs M, Simbrunner B, Bauer DJM, Eigenbauer 83 E, Strassl R, Breuer M, Kimberger O, Laxar D, Lampichler K, Halilbasic E, Stättermayer AF, Ba-Ssalamah A, Mandorfer M, Scheiner B, Reiberger T, Trauner M. Progressive cholestasis and associated sclerosing cholangitis are frequent complications of COVID-19 in patients with chronic liver disease. Hepatology 2022; 76: 1563-1575 [PMID: 35596929 DOI: 10.1002/hep.32582]
- 84 Ippolito D, Vernuccio F, Maino C, Cannella R, Giandola T, Ragusi M, Bigiogera V, Capodaglio C, Sironi S. Multiorgan Involvement in SARS-CoV-2 Infection: The Role of the Radiologist from Head to Toe. Diagnostics (Basel) 2022; 12 [PMID: 35626344 DOI: 10.3390/diagnostics12051188]
- Tafreshi S, Whiteside I, Levine I, D'Agostino C. A case of secondary sclerosing cholangitis due to COVID-19. Clin 85



Imaging 2021; 80: 239-242 [PMID: 34364072 DOI: 10.1016/j.clinimag.2021.07.017]

- 86 Ghafoor S, Germann M, Jüngst C, Müllhaupt B, Reiner CS, Stocker D. Imaging features of COVID-19-associated secondary sclerosing cholangitis on magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography: a retrospective analysis. Insights Imaging 2022; 13: 128 [PMID: 35939241 DOI: 10.1186/s13244-022-01266-9]
- Balaphas A, Gkoufa K, Meyer J, Peloso A, Bornand A, McKee TA, Toso C, Popeskou SG. COVID-19 can mimic acute 87 cholecystitis and is associated with the presence of viral RNA in the gallbladder wall. J Hepatol 2020; 73: 1566-1568 [PMID: 32890595 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.08.020]
- Futagami H, Sato H, Yoshida R, Yasui K, Yagi T, Fujiwara T. Acute acalculous cholecystitis caused by SARS-CoV-2 88 infection: A case report and literature review. Int J Surg Case Rep 2022; 90: 106731 [PMID: 34976597 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijscr.2021.106731]
- 89 Mattone E, Sofia M, Schembari E, Palumbo V, Bonaccorso R, Randazzo V, La Greca G, Iacobello C, Russello D, Latteri S. Acute acalculous cholecystitis on a COVID-19 patient: a case report. Ann Med Surg (Lond) 2020; 58: 73-75 [PMID: 32895611 DOI: 10.1016/j.amsu.2020.08.027]
- Caruso D, Zerunian M, Pucciarelli F, Lucertini E, Bracci B, Polidori T, Guido G, Polici M, Rucci C, Iannicelli E, Laghi A. 90 Imaging of abdominal complications of COVID-19 infection. BJR Open 2021; 2: 20200052 [PMID: 34381937 DOI: 10.1259/bjro.20200052]
- 91 Vadvala HV, Shan A, Fishman EK, Gawande RS. CT angiography of abdomen and pelvis in critically ill COVID-19 patients: imaging findings and correlation with the CT chest score. Abdom Radiol (NY) 2021; 46: 3490-3500 [PMID: 34115186 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-021-03164-y]



WÜ

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 February 7; 29(5): 851-866

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.851

Basic Study

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Saccharomyces cerevisiae prevents postoperative recurrence of Crohn's disease modeled by ileocecal resection in HLA-B27 transgenic rats

Caroline Valibouze, Silvia Speca, Caroline Dubuquoy, Florian Mourey, Lena M'Ba, Lucil Schneider, Marie Titecat, Benoît Foligné, Michaël Genin, Christel Neut, Philippe Zerbib, Pierre Desreumaux

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Ding JX, China; Fabbri N, Italy

Received: September 25, 2022 Peer-review started: September 25, 2022

First decision: November 5, 2022 Revised: November 16, 2022 Accepted: December 13, 2022 Article in press: December 13, 2022 Published online: February 7, 2023



Caroline Valibouze, Lena M'Ba, Lucil Schneider, Philippe Zerbib, Department of Digestive Surgery and Transplantation, Lille University Hospital, Lille 59037, France

Caroline Valibouze, Silvia Speca, Marie Titecat, Benoît Foligné, Christel Neut, Philippe Zerbib, Pierre Desreumaux, U1286 - INFINITE - Institute for Translational Research in Inflammation, Univ. Lille, Inserm, CHU Lille, Lille 59000, France

Caroline Dubuquoy, Intestinal Biotech Development, Lille 59045, France

Florian Mourey, Department of Research and Applications, Gnosis by Lesaffre, Lesaffre Group, Marcq-en-Baroeul 59700, France

Michaël Genin, ULR 2694 - METRICS: Évaluation des Technologies de Santé et des Pratiques Médicales, University of Lille, Lille University Hospital, Lille 59000, France

Pierre Desreumaux, Department of Hepato-Gastroenterology, Lille University Hospital, Lille 59037, France

Corresponding author: Caroline Valibouze, MD, Surgeon, Department of Digestive Surgery and Transplantation, Lille University Hospital, Rue Michel Polonovski, Lille 59037, France. caroline.valibouze@chu-lille.fr

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Postoperative recurrence (POR) after ileocecal resection (ICR) affects most Crohn's disease patients within 3-5 years after surgery. Adherent-invasive Escherichia coli (AIEC) typified by the LF82 strain are pathobionts that are frequently detected in POR of Crohn's disease and have a potential role in the early stages of the disease pathogenesis. Saccharomyces cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 is a probiotic yeast reported to inhibit AIEC adhesion to intestinal epithelial cells and to favor their elimination from the gut.

AIM

To evaluate the efficacy of CNCM I-3856 in preventing POR induced by LF82 in an HLA-B27 transgenic (TgB27) rat model.



METHODS

Sixty-four rats [strain F344, 38 TgB27, 26 control non-Tg (nTg)] underwent an ICR at the 12th wk (W12) of life and were sacrificed at the 18th wk (W18) of life. TgB27 rats were challenged daily with oral administration of LF82 (10° colony forming units (CFUs)/day (d), n = 8), PBS (n = 5), CNCM I-3856 (10° CFUs/d, n = 7) or a combination of LF82 and CNCM I-3856 (n = 18). nTg rats receiving LF82 (*n* = 5), PBS (*n* = 5), CNCM I-3856 (*n* = 7) or CNCM I-3856 and LF82 (*n* = 9) under the same conditions were used as controls. POR was analyzed using macroscopic (from 0 to 4) and histologic (from 0 to 6) scores. Luminal LF82 quantifications were performed weekly for each animal. Adherent LF82 and inflammatory/regulatory cytokines were quantified in biopsies at W12 and W18. Data are expressed as the median with the interquartile range.

RESULTS

nTg animals did not develop POR. A total of 7/8 (87%) of the TgB27 rats receiving LF82 alone had POR (macroscopic score \geq 2), which was significantly prevented by CNCM I-3856 administration [6/18 (33%) TgB27 rats, P = 0.01]. Macroscopic lesions were located 2 cm above the anastomosis in the TgB27 rats receiving LF82 alone and consisted of ulcerations with a score of 3.5 (2 - 4). Seven out of 18 TgB27 rats (39%) receiving CNCM I-3856 and LF82 had no macroscopic lesions. Compared to untreated TgB27 animals receiving LF82 alone, coadministration of CNCM I-3856 and LF82 significantly reduced the macroscopic [3.5 (2 - 4) vs 1 (0 - 3), P = 0.002] and histological lesions by more than 50% [4.5 (3.3 - 5.8) vs 2 (1.3 - 3), P = 0.003]. The levels of adherent LF82 were correlated with anastomotic macroscopic scores in TgB27 rats (r = 0.49, P = 0.006), with a higher risk of POR in animals having high levels of luminal LF82 (71.4% vs 25%, P = 0.02). Administration of CNCM I-3856 significantly reduced the levels of luminal and adherent LF82, increased the production of interleukin (IL)-10 and decreased the production of IL-23 and IL-17 in TgB27 rats.

CONCLUSION

In a reliable model of POR induced by LF82 in TgB27 rats, CNCM I-3856 prevents macroscopic POR by decreasing LF82 infection and gut inflammation.

Key Words: Crohn's disease; Recurrence; Escherichia coli; Probiotic; Saccharomyces cerevisiae; Colorectal surgery

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Gut dysbiosis plays a main role in the postoperative recurrence (POR) of Crohn's disease (CD). CD dysbiosis is characterized by a lower microbiota diversity with an increase in pathogenic species. Among them, adherent-invasive Escherichia coli (AIEC) has been linked to POR. Saccharomyces cerevisiae (S. cerevisiae) CNCM I-3856 is a probiotic yeast that specifically targets AIEC by preventing the bacterial adhesion process and inhibiting its persistence within the bowel. This study confirmed the capacity of S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 to prevent AIEC-induced POR by decreasing the infection in a transgenic HLA-B27 rat model of POR after ileocecal resection.

Citation: Valibouze C, Speca S, Dubuquoy C, Mourey F, M'Ba L, Schneider L, Titecat M, Foligné B, Genin M, Neut C, Zerbib P, Desreumaux P. Saccharomyces cerevisiae prevents postoperative recurrence of Crohn's disease modeled by ileocecal resection in HLA-B27 transgenic rats. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(5): 851-866 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i5/851.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.851

INTRODUCTION

Crohn's disease (CD) is a complex chronic inflammatory bowel disease that requires surgical resection of macroscopic lesions in approximately 30%-50% of patients in their lifetime[1]. Unfortunately, surgery is not curative, and endoscopic recurrence at the anastomotic site occurs in up to 70% of patients in the first year after surgery, followed by clinical recurrence a few years later[2]. Postoperative management of these patients is crucial to identify those at highest risk of recurrence to begin rapid prophylactic treatments targeting mainly tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α)[3], interleukins 12/23 and α 4 β 7 integrins on leukocytes[4]. Given the high rate of recurrence after intestinal resection for CD and the cost and potential adverse effects of biologic therapies used in prophylaxis, there is a clear need to identify the mechanisms leading to postoperative recurrence (POR), to develop noninvasive methods predicting



recurrence and to propose new evidence-based therapeutic strategies.

The physiopathology sustaining POR of CD remains partially unknown. Abnormal interactions between the mucosal/mesenteric immune system and the intestinal microbiota favored by surgical techniques and environmental factors are pivotal hallmarks in POR dynamics[5]. Recently, ileal transcriptome analyses of CD patients found a gene signature of POR characterized by an upregulation of the interleukin (IL)-23 and IL-17 pathways together with abnormal JAK/STAT activation[6]. Numerous changes in the microbial composition and a reduction in species diversity have been observed in the intestinal flora of CD patients^[7], and a few studies have identified an intestinal microbial signature associated with POR. Recolonization of the neoterminal ileum by Escherichia coli (E. coli), Bacteroides, and Fusobacteriaceae and the depletion of Streptococcaceae, Actinomycineae and Faecalibacterium are associated with endoscopic recurrence of CD[8]. Among these microorganisms, adherent-invasive E. coli (AIEC) isolated more than 20 years ago by Darfeuille-Michaud et al[9] from the ileal mucosa of a patient with CD[10] remains one of the most prominent and influential strains associated with CD. AIEC are pathobionts found in approximately 30% of CD patients and in 10% of healthy controls[11]. They are not strictly pathogenic bacteria, and their influence on CD physiopathology remains incompletely understood. However, AIEC is associated with the early stages of CD and is predictive of endoscopic POR at 6 mo[12], reinforcing the need for interventional studies targeting these bacteria to better understand their direct impact on mucosal inflammation and to find new opportunities to treat CD patients.

Several therapeutic strategies, including the use of antibiotics[13], pre/probiotics[14] and fecal microbiota transplantation[15], have been proposed to target the intestinal flora in CD. Due to side effects or limited efficacy, their routine utilization cannot be recommended [16,17]. Other strategies to inhibit adhesion or to specifically erase AIEC using FimH blockers[18,19] or specific bacteriophages[20, 21] are ongoing and seem more promising in preclinical studies. In this context, Saccharomyces cerevisiae (S. cerevisiae) CNCM I-3856 is a probiotic yeast with good tolerance and beneficial effects on gastrointestinal symptoms[22,23] that has been shown to agglutinate the LF82 AIEC strain and to prevent its adhesion to intestinal epithelial cells in vitro, favoring LF82 elimination from the gut of mice [24]. Among the thousands of strains belonging to the AIEC family and identified from European and USA isolates, LF82 remains the most studied reference strain that can both adhere to and invade epithelial cells and, moreover, survive and replicate within macrophages without inducing cellular death[25,26].

In the present study, we developed a new animal model of POR of CD occurring 6 wk after ileocecal resection (ICR) in HLA-B27 transgenic (Tg) rats[27,28] infected by the LF82 AIEC strain[29] to better evaluate the causal role of LF82 on the early steps of CD lesions and the effectiveness of a rationally selected S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 probiotic to prevent recurrence of the disease.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

HLA-B27 transgenic (Tg) and nontransgenic (nTg) control Fisher rats (strain F344) were provided by Professor M. Breban (Cochin Institute, INSERM U1016, Paris, France). Sixty-four rats were maintained in a specific pathogen-free facility at the Institut Pasteur (Lille, France) and were fed a standard diet with free access to water. Animals were maintained at a constant temperature with a 12-hour light/dark cycle. Intragastric gavage administration was carried out with conscious animals using straight gavage needles appropriate for the animal size. Surgery was performed under general anesthesia, and postoperative analgesia by opioid treatment was provided. All animals were euthanized by cervical dislocation under general anesthesia. Experiments were realized according to the European directive 2016/63/UE enforced by the decree n°2013-118 and authorized by the departmental ethics committee (No. CEEA 01292-01).

AIEC LF82 and S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 strains

The streptomycin-kanamycin-resistant AIEC strain LF82 isolated from an ileal biopsy of a patient with CD was provided by Professor Nicolas Barnich (Clermont-Auvergne University, France) and used as an AIEC reference strain[30]. Bacteria were routinely grown at 37 °C in Brain-Heart broth or on Drigalski agar plates. The dry S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 yeast strain was provided by Lesaffre International (Marcq-en-Baroeul, France). The LF82 and S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 strains were rehydrated at room temperature in PBS (pH = 7.2, $2 \times 10^{\circ}$ colony forming units (CFUs)/mL) before gavage.

Experimental design

ICR with end-to-end anastomosis was performed at 12 wk (W) of life (W12) in 64 rats (38 Tg, 26 nTg) (Figure 1). ICR was performed blindly by two operators (Caroline Dubuquoy and Caroline Valibouze) in Tg and nTg animals. Tg rats were challenged daily by oral gavage in the morning with PBS (n = 5), S. *cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 alone (10° CFUs/day (d)) (n = 7), LF82 alone (10° CFUs/d) in the afternoon (n = 7) 8), or the combination of S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 (10^{9} CFUs/d) and LF82 (10^{9} CFUs/d) (n = 18) given





Figure 1 Study design. HLA-B27 transgenic rats (Tg) and wild-type rats (nTg) were randomized to receive phosphate buffered saline (n = 10), Saccharomyces cerevisiae (S. cerevisiae) CNCM I-3856 (n = 14), adherent-invasive Escherichia coli strain LF82 (n = 13), or S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 and LF82 (n = 27) by oral gavage from week (W) 10 or 11 to W18. Ileocecal resection was performed at W12, and animals were sacrificed at W18. Streptomycin (dotted line) was given on the last 3 d of W10 in all rats. Luminal (arrows) and/or adherent (dotted arrows) LF82 was quantified weekly during the 8-wk study. CFU: Colony-forming unit; PBS: Phosphate buffered saline; ICR: lleocecal resection; d: Day.

> in the morning and in the afternoon, respectively. Age-matched nTg rats receiving PBS (n = 5), S. *cerevisiae* CNCMI-3856 alone (n = 7), LF82 alone (n = 5), or the combination of S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 and LF82 (n = 9) under the same conditions were used as controls. LF82 was administered from W11 to W18, and S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 was similarly administered from W10 to W18 in Tg and nTg rats. Streptomycin was given in drinking water at 0.5 mg/mL for the last 3 d of W10 in Tg and control animals. The rats were followed during the eight-week procedure for weight changes (% of change compared to initial body weight at W11), diarrhea and the presence of macroscopic bloody stools and were killed at W18.

Macroscopic and histologic lesions

At W18, the whole intestine was excised and photographed. Anastomotic macroscopic lesions (± 2 cm above anastomosis) were assessed blindly using a macroscopic grading scale adapted from the Rutgeerts score ranging from 0 to 4 (Figure 2)[2]. By analogy with endoscopic recurrence after surgery in patients with CD (25), POR was defined by a macroscopic score of \geq 2 corresponding to the presence of ulcerations ± stenosis. The results were expressed as the median with the interquartile range (IQR).

Transparietal biopsies of anastomotic areas were collected during surgery at W12 and W18. Tissues were fixed in 4% buffered formaldehyde, embedded in paraffin and stained by May-Grunwald Giemsa for scoring (from 0 to 6) using the adapted score of Geboes (Table 1)[31]. Identical areas of each section of the different biopsy specimens were examined at 10× magnification by two blinded observers familiar with the scoring system (Caroline Dubuquoy and Caroline Valibouze). Anastomotic histologic scores were expressed as the median score with IQR when an interobserver coefficient of variation < 15% was obtained.

Luminal and adherent quantification of LF82

Feces (10 - 600 mg) were collected weekly from W11 to W18 for each animal after abdominal massage for the quantification of luminal LF82. Mucosal anastomotic swabs (10 - 100 mg) were performed at W12 during surgery and at sacrifice (W18) in all animals for the quantification of anastomotic adherent LF82. Fresh feces and swabs were collected in 1.5 mL of sterile cysteinated Ringer's solution. After serial dilutions, samples were incubated for 24 - 48 h at 37 °C in Drigalski agar containing 100 µg/mL streptomycin to select and quantify LF82 expressed as log10 CFUs per gram of feces. The results are expressed as the median with the IQR.

mRNA quantification in anastomotic biopsies at W12 and W18

Anastomotic biopsies were frozen at -80 °C, and total RNA was extracted using a Nucleospin RNA kit (Macherey Nagel). After RNAse inactivation, genomic DNA was suppressed from the samples by DNAse treatment, and total RNA was extracted in RNAse-free water. The RNA content was measured using a NanoDrop Spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA). Retrotranscription of total RNA was achieved using a High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Random primers, RT buffer and reverse transcriptase were added to $1 \mu g$ of



Table 1 Anastomotic histologic score (0-6)			
Score	Histologic lesions		
0	None		
1	Inflammatory infiltrate and mucosal erosions < 30% of the section		
2	30% < inflammatory infiltrate and mucosal erosions < 70% of the section		
3	Inflammatory infiltrate and mucosal erosions > 70% of the section		
4	Mucosal ulceration < 30% of the section		
5	30% < mucosal ulceration < 70% of the section		
6	Mucosal ulceration > 70% of the section		



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.851 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Anastomotic macroscopic score (0-4).

total RNA, and the samples were incubated for 10 min at 25 °C, then 2 h at 37 °C and finally 5 min at 85 °C in the Gene AmpPCR System 9700 automaton (Thermos Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA). All kits were used according to the manufacturers' protocols. IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF α , interferon (IFN) γ , IL-17, IL-23 and IL-10 were quantified by quantitative polymerase chain reaction (PCR) in real time for 40 cycles in the StepOnePlus[™] Real Time PCR system (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA) using SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific). qPCR signal quantification was expressed relative to the expression of β -actin as the reference gene. The results are expressed as the median with IQR.

Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as the median with IQR. Comparisons were performed using the nonparametric Mann-Whitney test for unmatched data and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test for matched data. Pearson's chi-square test was used for contingency analysis. The correlation between macroscopic scores and the number of LF82 was tested using Spearman's test. To classify animals with low or high quantities of LF82, a cutoff value was determined using the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. The risk of recurrence for low and high producers was compared using Pearson's chi-square test. All statistical tests were two-tailed and considered statistically significant if P < 0.05. Statistical analyses were conducted using the GraphPad Prism 5.00 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA) software package for PCR and Xlstat 2020.1 version for the ROC curve.

RESULTS

Effect of S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 on clinical signs

No mortality, diarrhea or bloody stools were observed in any animals receiving PBS, LF82 alone, S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 alone or S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 and LF82 during the 8-wk observation study.



A similar pattern of weight evolution was observed in nTg (Figure 3A) and Tg animals (Figure 3B), with significant weight loss occurring one week after surgery followed by a weight recovery phase. More important weight loss was transiently observed at W13 in Tg rats receiving LF82 *vs S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 and LF82 (95.7, IQR: 92 - 97 *vs* 85.4, IQR: 81 - 94, P = 0.007). The global weight changes assessed by the relative difference in weight variation between W11 and W18 were similar in the 4 groups of Tg and nTg animals.

Effect of S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 on macroscopic anastomotic lesions and POR

No intestinal lesions were present at W12 in any animal. No macroscopic lesions (or therefore POR) were observed at W18 in control nTg animals receiving PBS, *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 alone, LF82 alone, or *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 and LF82 (Figure 4A). In contrast, anastomotic macroscopic lesions corresponding mainly to edema and ulcerations on more than 20% of the anastomotic area without stenosis were observed in Tg rats receiving LF82 (3.5, IQR: 2 - 4), leading to 87.5% POR in this group of animals (Figure 4A and B). Compared to untreated Tg rats receiving LF82 (3.5, IQR: 2 - 4), coadministration of *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 and LF82 significantly reduced the macroscopic score (1, IQR: 0 - 2, P = 0.002) and POR (87.5% vs 33.3%, P = 0.01) by more than 60% (Figure 4A and B). Anastomotic macroscopic lesions were similar in Tg rats receiving PBS or *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 alone or *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 and LF82, without a difference compared to those of control nTg animals (Figure 4A).

Effect of S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 on anastomotic histologic lesions

No histologic lesions were present at W12 in any animal (data not shown). At W18, no significant and only mild histologic lesions characterized by neutrophil infiltration not exceeding 30% of lamina propria cells were observed in control nTg animals receiving either PBS, LF82 alone, *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 alone or *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 and LF82 (Figure 5). In contrast, erosions and mucosal ulcerations associated with moderate neutrophil infiltration were observed at W18 in Tg rats receiving LF82 (4.5, IQR: 3.3 - 5.8) (Figure 5). Compared to untreated Tg animals receiving LF82, coadministration of *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 and LF82 significantly reduced the histological lesions by more than 50% (4.5, IQR: 3.3 - 5.8 vs 2, IQR: 1.3-3, P = 0.003) (Figure 5). No significant lesions were observed in Tg rats receiving PBS or *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 alone, which was not different from the findings in control nTg animals (Figure 5).

Effect of CNCM I-3856 on luminal and adherent LF82 Levels (W12-W18)

At W12, *i.e.*, one week after the beginning of LF82 administration (10° CFUs/d), the quantities of luminal (Figure 6A) and adherent (Figure 7A) LF82 were similar in Tg and nTg rats receiving LF82 alone or *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 and LF82. The levels of luminal (4.4, IQR: 2.5 - 5.2 vs 3.4, IQR: 1.7 - 5.5) and adherent (2.7, IQR: 2.4 - 3 vs 3.1, IQR: 2.3 - 5) LF82 remained similar between W12 and W18 in Tg rats receiving LF82 alone (Figures 6 and 7), while a significant decrease in luminal (4.6, IQR: 3.5 - 5.2 vs 1.8, IQR: 1.7 - 2.3, *P* = 0.0002) and adherent (3.1, IQR: 2.5 - 3.6 vs 2.5, IQR: 2.3 - 2.6, *P* = 0.0005) LF82 was observed between W12 and W18 in paired Tg animals receiving *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 and LF82 (Figures 6 and 7).

In addition, the global persistence of viable luminal LF82 after surgery and during the last 5 wk of the study was significantly higher in the stools of Tg rats receiving LF82 alone (0.22, IQR: 2.071e-008 - 0.7) compared to Tg rats receiving *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 and LF82 (-0.6, IQR: -0.7 - 0.3, P = 0.0004) (Figure 8).

Correlation between LF82 Levels and macroscopic lesions in Tg rats

A correlation was found between the levels of adherent LF82 and the scores of anastomotic macroscopic lesions observed at W18 in Tg animals receiving LF82 alone or in combination with *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 (r = 0.49, P = 0.006) (Figure 9A). These levels of anastomotic adherent LF82 were correlated at W12 (r = 0.81, P = 0.02) and W18 (r = 0.79, P = 0.03) with the levels of luminal LF82 in paired Tg animals receiving LF82 alone (Figure 9B and C). Next, we analyzed whether luminal LF82 Levels at W14 may be predictive of POR in the 26 Tg rats receiving LF82 alone (n = 8) or in combination with *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 (n = 18). Using a cutoff value of 2.262 Log10 CFUs of luminal LF82 per gram of stool determined by the ROC curve, 14 animals at W14 were classified as highly infected by LF82, and 12 were classified as mildly infected (Figure 10A). POR was significantly more frequent in the highly infected Tg rats than in the mildly infected Tg rats (71.4% *vs* 25%, P = 0.02) (Figure 10B). A value of 2.262 Log10 CFUs luminal LF82 per gram of stool at W14 had an 80% sensitivity, 69.2% specificity, 71.4% positive predictive value and 75% negative predictive value for POR.

Anastomotic cytokine mRNA quantification

The levels of IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF α and IFN γ mRNA were variable and similar in all Tg and nTg animals at W12 and W18, regardless of the presence of POR, LF82 administration or treatment with *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 (data not shown).



Figure 3 Body weight evolution. A: Evolution of weight changes compared to body weight at W11 in nontransgenic (nTg) rats; B: Evolution of weight changes compared to body weight at W11 in transgenic (Tg) rats. ^bP < 0.01. LF82: Adherent-invasive *Escherichia coli* strain LF82; CNCM I-3856: *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856; PBS: Phosphate buffered saline.





DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.851 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 4 Anastomotic macroscopic lesions and postoperative recurrence at sacrifice. A: Anastomotic macroscopic scores in the different groups of HLA-B27 transgenic (Tg) rats and wild-type (nTg) rats at sacrifice; B: % postoperative recurrence (anastomotic macroscopic score \geq 2) at sacrifice in HLA-B27 Tg rats. ^aP < 0.05, ^bP < 0.01. LF82: Adherent-invasive *Escherichia coli* strain LF82; CNCM I-3856: *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856; PBS: Phosphate buffered saline.

Concerning IL-10 mRNA levels, the only significant difference found by paired analysis in the different groups of animals revealed higher levels of IL-10 mRNA at W18 compared to W12 in animals receiving *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856. In the Tg groups, administration of *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 with or without the coadministration of LF82 induced a significant increase in IL-10 production between surgery and sacrifice $(2.5 \times 10^5, IQR: 1.7 \times 10^5 - 2.6 \times 10^5 vs 4.9 \times 10^5, IQR: 3.3 \times 10^5 - 9 \times 10^5, P = 0.017 and 2.6 \times 10^5, IQR: 1.5 \times 10^5 - 3.9 \times 10^5 vs 7.4 \times 10^5, IQR: 5.3 \times 10^5 - 0.4 \times 10^5, P = 0.031$, respectively), while similar IL-10 Levels were found in animals receiving LF82 alone (Figure 11A-C).

Concerning IL-23 mRNA levels, a significant increase was observed at W18 in Tg animals receiving LF82 alone in comparison to the groups of rats treated with *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 with or without administration of LF82 (P = 0.04 and P = 0.006, respectively) (Figure 12A). Additionally, using a paired t test, a significant increase in inflammatory IL-23 production was observed between surgery and sacrifice in the Tg group receiving LF82 alone (2.2×10^4 , IQR: $1.8 \times 10^4 - 8 \times 10^4$ vs 26.9×10^4 , IQR: $6.1 \times 10^4 - 6 \times 10^4$, P = 0.008), while no significant difference was observed in the Tg groups treated with *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 with or without administration of LF82 (Figure 12B-D).

Analysis of IL-17 mRNA levels found significantly higher rates at W18 in Tg rats receiving LF82 in comparison with the Tg group receiving *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 and LF82 (2.7×10^4 , IQR: 0.8×10^4 - 9, 5×10^4 vs 0.4×10^4 , IQR: 0.2×10^4 - 0.6 $\times 10^4$, *P* = 0.015) (Figure 13).

Valibouze C et al. Saccharomyces cerevisiae prevents CD recurrence



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.851 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.







DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.851 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 6 Levels of luminal adherent-invasive Escherichia coli LF82 at surgery and sacrifice. A: Luminal levels of adherent-invasive Escherichia coli strain LF82 at surgery [week (W) 12] and sacrifice (W18) in the different groups of HLA-B27 transgenic (Tg) rats and wild-type (nTg) rats; B: Luminal levels of LF82 at W12 and W18 in paired Tg rats receiving LF82 alone; C: Luminal levels of LF82 at W12 and W18 in paired Tg rats receiving Saccharomyces cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 and LF82. ^bP < 0.01, ^cP < 0.001. CFU: Colony-forming unit; log10: Decimal logarithm.

DISCUSSION

The role of the intestinal microbiota composition and diversity in POR of CD is important. Among intestinal microorganisms potentially involved in POR, many studies support the roles of AIEC in early



Zaishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 7 Levels of anastomotic adherent adherent-invasive Escherichia coli LF82 at surgery and sacrifice. A: Adherent levels of adherentinvasive Escherichia coli strain LF82 at surgery [week (W) 12] and sacrifice (W18) in the different groups of HLA-B27 transgenic (Tg) rats and wild-type (nTg) rats; B: Adherent levels of LF82 at W12 and W18 in paired Tg rats receiving LF82 alone; C: Adherent levels of LF82 at W12 and W18 in paired Tg rats receiving Saccharomyces cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 and LF82. °P < 0.001. CFU: Colony-forming unit; log10: Decimal logarithm.



Figure 8 Evolution of the levels of luminal adherent-invasive Escherichia coli LF82 after surgery. A: Weekly evaluation of the luminal LF82 Levels after surgery in HLA-B27 transgenic (Tg) rats and wild-type (nTg) rats receiving adherent-invasive Escherichia coli strain LF82 alone or Saccharomyces cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 and LF82; B: Global persistence of viable luminal LF82 after surgery and during the last 5 wk of the study in Tg rats receiving LF82 alone or CNCM I-3856 and LF82. P < 0.001. CFU: Colony-forming unit; log10: Decimal logarithm.

> ileal lesions of CD and particularly in endoscopic POR occurring 6 mo after CD-related ileocolonic resection[12]. In the present study, we show that the probiotic S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 prevents LF82induced POR occurring 6 wk after ICR in susceptible HLA-B27 Tg rats. In our model, oral administration of the LF82 AIEC strain induced POR in 85% of HLA-B27 Tg rats raised in a controlled pathogenfree facility. The lesions developed in a concentration-dependent manner to the amount of adherent LF82; moreover, they shared many similarities with CD lesions, including erosions and ulcers that could lead to stenosis, transparietal neutrophil infiltration, and a shift in cytokine profiles toward the IL-23/IL-17 axis. The goal of the postoperative management of CD is to identify patients at highest risk of recurrence to begin prophylactic treatment with biotherapies[8]. In our study, a high fecal concentration





Figure 9 Correlation between anastomotic macroscopic scores and adherent and luminal adherent-invasive Escherichia coli LF82 levels. A: Adherent levels of adherent-invasive Escherichia coli strain LF82 at sacrifice [week (W) 18] were correlated with anastomotic macroscopic scores at sacrifice in paired transgenic (Tg) animals receiving LF82 alone or in combination with Saccharomyces cerevisiae CNCM I-3856; B: At surgery (W12), the levels of adherent LF82 were correlated with luminal LF82 Levels in paired Tg animals receiving LF82 alone; C: At W18, the levels of adherent LF82 were correlated with luminal LF82 Levels in paired Tg animals receiving LF82 alone. ^aP < 0.05, ^bP < 0.01. CFU: Colony-forming unit; log10: Decimal logarithm.



Figure 10 Prognostic value of luminal adherent-invasive Escherichia coli LF82 levels in postoperative recurrence. A: Correlation between luminal adherent-invasive Escherichia coli strain LF82 Levels at week 14 and the risk of postoperative (POR) recurrence at W18 in transgenic (Tg) animals receiving LF82 alone or Saccharomyces cerevisiae (S. cerevisiae) CNCM I-3856 and LF82; B: Higher frequency of POR in highly infected (HI) Tg animals receiving LF82 alone or S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 and LF82 as defined by a cutoff value of 2.262 Log₁₀ CFUs (colony-forming units) of luminal LF82 per gram of stool at W14 in comparison with mildly infected (MI) Tg rats (71.4% vs 25%, P = 0.02). *P < 0.05. CFU: Colony-forming unit; log10: Decimal logarithm.

of LF82 had a 70% positive predictive value for POR occurring 4 wk later. The utility of this noninvasive diagnostic biomarker for predicting POR should be considered in future clinical studies evaluating the postoperative management of CD patients.

S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856[22] is a probiotic yeast that has already been evaluated in large-scale clinical studies showing the safety and efficacy of this strain for abdominal pain management in patients with irritable bowel syndrome [22,32-34]. In the present study, daily oral administration of S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 at 10° CFU/d was perfectly tolerated and reduced the severity and frequency of POR by more than 60% in HLA-B27 Tg rats. Moreover, an absence of LF82-induced POR without any macroscopic lesions was observed in 40% of transgenic animals treated preventively with S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856. To our knowledge, this is the first time that a probiotic treatment showed such efficacy in preventing POR in a rodent preclinical model of POR of CD.

Different mechanisms of action may be involved in the therapeutic preventive effect of S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 against POR. Specific fractions of β 6-glucan and α 4-glucan expressed by S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 represent the strongest anti-adhesive yeast cell wall components against AIEC adhesion [24,35]. In our study, prevention of LF82-induced POR by S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 was associated with a significant decrease in adherent LF82 in the intestinal mucosa of animals together with a decrease in the persistence of luminal LF82, demonstrating the ability of S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 to decolonize AIEC from the gut of rats. Additional preclinical studies will be performed in our model using specific soluble glucan fractions of S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 to avoid the constraints of a live probiotic and to optimize the therapeutic efficacy. Another possible mechanism by which S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856



Figure 11 Interleukin-10 mRNA expression in the anastomotic mucosa. A: Interleukin (IL)-10 mRNA expression between surgery (week (W) 12) and sacrifice (W18) in paired Tg rats receiving adherent-invasive *Escherichia coli* strain LF82 alone; B: IL-10 mRNA expression between W12 and W18 in paired Tg rats receiving *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (S. cerevisiae) CNCM I-3856 and LF82; C: IL-10 mRNA expression between W12 and W18 in paired Tg rats receiving S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 alone. ^aP < 0.05. β -act: β -actin.



Figure 12 Interleukin-23 mRNA expression in the anastomotic mucosa. A: Expression of interleukin (IL)-23 mRNA in the perianastomotic mucosa in all transgenic (Tg) and nontransgenic (nTg) groups at sacrifice; B: IL-23 mRNA expression between surgery [week (W) 12] and sacrifice (W18) in paired Tg rats receiving adherent-invasive *Escherichia coli* strain LF82 alone; C: IL-23 mRNA expression between W12 and W18 in paired Tg rats receiving coadministration of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (*S. cerevisiae*) CNCM I-3856 and LF82; D: IL-23 mRNA expression between W12 and W18 in paired Tg rats receiving *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 alone. ^aP < 0.05, ^bP < 0.01. β-act: β-actin; PBS: Phosphate buffered saline.

prevents POR resides in its immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory capacities[36]. We observed that the administration of *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 significantly increased IL-10 production in the intestine of rats and restored the local upregulation of IL-17 and IL-23 associated with LF82-induced POR in transgenic animals. The capacity of *S. cerevisiae* to induce IL-10 production has already been highlighted *in vitro* in bone-marrow dendritic cells and in porcine jejunal epithelial cells[36,37]. In the gut, IL-10 is



Figure 13 Interleukin-17 mRNA expression in the anastomotic mucosa. A: Expression of interleukin (IL)-17 mRNA in the perianastomotic mucosa in all transgenic (Tg) and nontransgenic (nTg) groups at sacrifice; B: IL-17 mRNA expression between surgery [week (W) 12] and sacrifice (W18) in paired Tg rats receiving adherent-invasive *Escherichia coli* strain LF82 alone; C: IL-17 mRNA expression between W12 and W18 in paired Tg rats receiving coadministration of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (S. cerevisiae) CNCM I-3856 and LF82; D: IL-17 mRNA expression between W12 and W18 in paired Tg rats receiving S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 alone. ^aP < 0.05. β -act: β -actin; PBS: Phosphate buffered saline.

produced by leukocytes and intestinal epithelial cells and plays important roles in maintaining gut homeostasis and harmonizing the interaction between host immunity and luminal microorganisms[38]. In a previous study of 79 patients with CD undergoing a first ileocolectomy and ileocolonic anastomosis, we reported that a low ileal IL-10 mRNA concentration was predictive of endoscopic recurrence occurring 3 mo later[39]. Thus, the ability of *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 to induce the intestinal production of IL-10 could be a key factor in preventing POR in our model.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, our results identified *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 as a new and original candidate for the prevention of POR in selected AIEC-infected CD patients. In a reliable model of ICR in HLA-B27 Tg rats mimicking POR of CD, *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 was found to prevent macroscopic and histologic POR through a pathobiont AIEC-targeted mechanism and through its ability to induce intestinal IL-10 production. Given that the majority of patients with CD wish to have safe, natural, nonchemotherapeutic treatment, the *S. cerevisiae* CNCM I-3856 probiotic, which is already an alternative solution for the management of patients with irritable bowel syndrome because of its ability to alleviate abdominal pain and to improve quality of life, should represent a promising therapeutic solution in the management of postoperative CD.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

The presence of adherent-invasive Escherichia coli (AIEC) in intestinal flora is associated with postoperative recurrence (POR) of crohn's disease (CD). Saccharomyces cerevisiae (S. cerevisiae) CNCM I-3856 is a safe and effective probiotic yeast that has already been evaluated in randomized placebocontrolled studies in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. Preclinical studies demonstrate the capacity of S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 to agglutinate invasive Escherichia coli strains and to prevent their adhesion to intestinal epithelial cells, favoring AIEC elimination from the gut of mice.

Research motivation

To demonstrate that S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 should be considered as a postoperative prophylactic medical therapy in CD patients harboring AIEC bacteria.

Research objectives

To evaluate the beneficial effect of S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 and its mechanisms of action in preventing AIEC-induced POR in an HLA-B27 transgenic (TgB27) rat model of CD.

Research methods

TgB27 and control rats underwent an ileocecal resection at the 12th wk of life and sacrificed 6 wk later to assess POR using macroscopic and histological scores and quantification of mucosal inflammatory/ regulatory cytokines. Animals were challenged daily with an oral administration of AIEC and were treated orally with S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 (10º colony forming units/day). Luminal and adherent AIEC were regularly quantified throughout the duration of the study.

Research results

Eighty-seven percent of TgB27 rats developed POR characterized by anastomotic macroscopic ulcerations, transparietal neutrophil infiltration and a shift in the cytokine profile toward the interleukin (IL)-17/IL-23 axis. Oral administration of S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 reduced this POR by more than 60%, increased AIEC elimination from the gut, induced intestinal IL-10 production and restored the local upregulation of IL-17/IL-23. A high concentration of AIEC quantified in the stool of rats after surgery had a 70% positive predictive value for POR occurring 4 wk later.

Research conclusions

Ileocecal resection in TgB27 rats is a novel, useful, reliable model mimicking POR of CD and aided the discovery of new therapeutic targets. Oral administration of S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 safely prevented POR of CD through AIEC decolonization and immunomodulatory/anti-inflammatory capacities.

Research perspectives

The probiotic S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856, which is already an alternative solution for the management of patients with irritable bowel syndrome to improve abdominal pain and quality of life, should represent a promising prophylactic natural nonchemotherapeutic solution in the management of postoperative CD. Monitoring AIEC levels in stool after surgery for CD should be considered as a companion test to identify patients at high risk of POR and to monitor treatment response.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank the Foundation DigestScience for its help in the breeding of the HLA-B27 transgenic animals and Lesaffre Company for the provision of S. cerevisiae CNCM I-3856.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Desreumaux P, Dubuquoy C and Valibouze C designed the study; Valibouze C, Dubuquoy C, M'Ba L, Schneider L and Neut C acquired the data; Genin M supervised the statistical analysis; all authors interpreted the data; Valibouze C and Desreumaux P drafted the article; All authors critically reviewed the manuscript and approved the final version for submission.

Institutional review board statement: Experiments were realized at the Institute Pasteur of Lille, according to the European directive 2016/63/UE enforced by decree No. 2013-118 under the number D 59 350 009.

Institutional animal care and use committee statement: Animal experiments were authorized by the departmental



ethics committee (No. CEEA 01292-01).

Conflict-of-interest statement: Mourey F is an employee of Lesaffre. Desreumaux P reports personal fees from Abbvie, personal fees from Abbott, personal fees from Amgen, personal fees from Biocodex, personal fees from Biofortis, personal fees from Biogen, personal fees from Biokuris, personal fees from Ferring, personal fees from Fresenius, personal fees from Janssen, personal fees from Kitozyme, personal fees from Lesaffre, personal fees from MSD, personal fees from Norgine, personal fees from Pfizer, personal fees from Sandoz, personal fees from Shire, personal fees from Takeda, personal fees from Tillotts, and personal fees from UCB, outside of the submitted work. In addition, Dr. Desreumaux has a patent (WO2009103884) issued. All other authors have nothing to disclose.

Data sharing statement: The dataset is available from the corresponding author at caroline.valibouze@chu-lille.fr.

ARRIVE guidelines statement: The authors read the ARRIVE guidelines, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the ARRIVE guidelines.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: France

ORCID number: Caroline Valibouze 0000-0002-2198-1392; Silvia Speca 0000-0001-8494-3329; Caroline Dubuquoy 0000-0003-1584-3601; Florian Mourey 0000-0002-0826-9632; Lena M'Ba 0000-0002-9564-9472; Lucil Schneider 0000-0001-7486-5099; Marie Titecat 0000-0002-5860-0936; Benoît Foligné 0000-0001-9263-9706; Michaël Genin 0000-0002-9098-7528; Christel Neut 0000-0002-2036-6152; Philippe Zerbib 0000-0002-6466-0716; Pierre Desreumaux 0000-0002-6127-5281.

S-Editor: Liu GL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yu HG

REFERENCES

- 1 Bouguen G, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Surgery for adult Crohn's disease: what is the actual risk? Gut 2011; 60: 1178-1181 [PMID: 21610273 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2010.234617]
- 2 Rutgeerts P, Geboes K, Vantrappen G, Beyls J, Kerremans R, Hiele M. Predictability of the postoperative course of Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 1990; 99: 956-963 [PMID: 2394349 DOI: 10.1016/0016-5085(90)90613-6]
- 3 Shah RS, Click BH. Medical therapies for postoperative Crohn's disease. Therap Adv Gastroenterol 2021; 14: 1756284821993581 [PMID: 33643440 DOI: 10.1177/1756284821993581]
- 4 Mañosa M, Fernández-Clotet A, Nos P, Martín-Arranz MD, Manceñido N, Carbajo A, Hinojosa E, Hernández-Camba A, Muñoz-Pérez R, Boscá-Watts M, Calvo M, Sierra-Ausín M, Sánchez-Rodríguez E, Barreiro-de Acosta M, Núñez-Alonso A, Zabana Y, Márquez L, Gisbert JP, Guardiola J, Sáinz E, Delgado-Guillena P, Busquets D, van Domselaar M, Girona E, Lorente R, Casas-Deza D, Huguet JM, Maestro S, Cabello MJ, Castro J, Iborra M, Cañete F, Calafat M, Domènech E; ENEIDA registry by GETECCU. Ustekinumab and vedolizumab for the prevention of postoperative recurrence of Crohn's disease: Results from the ENEIDA registry. Dig Liver Dis 2022 [PMID: 35948459 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2022.07.013]
- 5 Chaim FHM, Negreiros LMV, Steigleder KM, Siqueira NSN, Genaro LM, Oliveira PSP, Martinez CAR, Ayrizono MLS, Fagundes JJ, Leal RF. Aspects Towards the Anastomotic Healing in Crohn's Disease: Clinical Approach and Current Gaps in Research. Front Surg 2022; 9: 882625 [PMID: 35813046 DOI: 10.3389/fsurg.2022.882625]
- Ngollo M, Perez K, Hammoudi N, Gorelik Y, Delord M, Auzolle C, Bottois H, Cazals-Hatem D, Bezault M, Nancey S, 6 Nachury M, Treton X, Fumery M, Buisson A, Barnich N, Seksik P; REMIND Study Group Investigators , Shen-Orr SS, Le Bourhis L, Allez M. Identification of Gene Expression Profiles Associated with an Increased Risk of Post-Operative Recurrence in Crohn's Disease. J Crohns Colitis 2022; 16: 1269-1280 [PMID: 35143619 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjac021]
- 7 Caparrós E, Wiest R, Scharl M, Rogler G, Gutiérrez Casbas A, Yilmaz B, Wawrzyniak M, Francés R. Dysbiotic microbiota interactions in Crohn's disease. Gut Microbes 2021; 13: 1949096 [PMID: 34313550 DOI: 10.1080/19490976.2021.1949096
- Battat R, Sandborn WJ. Advances in the Comprehensive Management of Postoperative Crohn's Disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 20: 1436-1449 [PMID: 33819666 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2021.03.048]
- Darfeuille-Michaud A, Boudeau J, Bulois P, Neut C, Glasser AL, Barnich N, Bringer MA, Swidsinski A, Beaugerie L, Colombel JF. High prevalence of adherent-invasive Escherichia coli associated with ileal mucosa in Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 2004; 127: 412-421 [PMID: 15300573 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2004.04.061]
- 10 Nadalian B, Yadegar A, Houri H, Olfatifar M, Shahrokh S, Asadzadeh Aghdaei H, Suzuki H, Zali MR. Prevalence of the pathobiont adherent-invasive Escherichia coli and inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 36: 852-863 [PMID: 32929762 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.15260]
- Kamali Dolatabadi R, Feizi A, Halaji M, Fazeli H, Adibi P. The Prevalence of Adherent-Invasive Escherichia coli and Its 11



Association With Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front Med (Lausanne) 2021; 8: 730243 [PMID: 34926490 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2021.730243]

- 12 Buisson A, Sokol H, Hammoudi N, Nancey S, Treton X, Nachury M, Fumery M, Hébuterne X, Rodrigues M, Hugot JP, Boschetti G, Stefanescu C, Wils P, Seksik P, Le Bourhis L, Bezault M, Sauvanet P, Pereira B, Allez M, Barnich N; Remind study group. Role of adherent and invasive Escherichia coli in Crohn's disease: lessons from the postoperative recurrence model. Gut 2022 [PMID: 35361684 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2021-325971]
- 13 Elhag DA, Kumar M, Saadaoui M, Akobeng AK, Al-Mudahka F, Elawad M, Al Khodor S. Inflammatory Bowel Disease Treatments and Predictive Biomarkers of Therapeutic Response. Int J Mol Sci 2022; 23 [PMID: 35805965 DOI: 10.3390/ijms23136966]
- 14 Mishra J, Stubbs M, Kuang L, Vara N, Kumar P, Kumar N. Inflammatory Bowel Disease Therapeutics: A Focus on Probiotic Engineering. Mediators Inflamm 2022; 2022: 9621668 [PMID: 35082553 DOI: 10.1155/2022/9621668]
- 15 Borody TJ, Dolai S, Gunaratne AW, Clancy RL. Targeting the microbiome in Crohn's disease. Expert Rev Clin Immunol 2022; 18: 873-877 [PMID: 35731859 DOI: 10.1080/1744666X.2022.2093186]
- Di Sario A, Sassaroli P, Daretti L, Annulli G, Schiada L, Falcioni G, Bendia E, Antuono S, Benedetti A. Postoperative 16 Recurrence of Crohn's Disease: Pathophysiology, Diagnosis and Treatment. Curr Pharm Biotechnol 2017; 18: 979-988 [PMID: 29453848 DOI: 10.2174/1389201019666180216152805]
- Bourreille A, Cadiot G, Le Dreau G, Laharie D, Beaugerie L, Dupas JL, Marteau P, Rampal P, Moyse D, Saleh A, Le Guern ME, Galmiche JP; FLORABEST Study Group. Saccharomyces boulardii does not prevent relapse of Crohn's disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013; 11: 982-987 [PMID: 23466709 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2013.02.021]
- 18 Chevalier G, Laveissière A, Desachy G, Barnich N, Sivignon A, Maresca M, Nicoletti C, Di Pasquale E, Martinez-Medina M, Simpson KW, Yajnik V, Sokol H; MOBIDIC Study Investigators, Plassais J, Strozzi F, Cervino A, Morra R, Bonny C. Blockage of bacterial FimH prevents mucosal inflammation associated with Crohn's disease. Microbiome 2021; 9: 176 [PMID: 34425887 DOI: 10.1186/s40168-021-01135-5]
- 19 Reinisch W, Hébuterne X, Buisson A, Schreiber S, Desreumaux P, Primas C, Paillarse JM, Chevalier G, Bonny C. Safety, pharmacokinetic, and pharmacodynamic study of sibofimloc, a novel FimH blocker in patients with active Crohn's disease. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 37: 832-840 [PMID: 35266174 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.15828]
- 20 Galtier M, De Sordi L, Sivignon A, de Vallée A, Maura D, Neut C, Rahmouni O, Wannerberger K, Darfeuille-Michaud A, Desreumaux P, Barnich N, Debarbieux L. Bacteriophages Targeting Adherent Invasive Escherichia coli Strains as a Promising New Treatment for Crohn's Disease. J Crohns Colitis 2017; 11: 840-847 [PMID: 28130329 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjw224]
- Titécat M, Rousseaux C, Dubuquoy C, Foligné B, Rahmouni O, Mahieux S, Desreumaux P, Woolston J, Sulakvelidze A, 21 Wannerberger K, Neut C. Safety and Efficacy of an AIEC-targeted Bacteriophage Cocktail in a Mice Colitis Model. J Crohns Colitis 2022; 16: 1617-1627 [PMID: 35997152 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjac064]
- 22 Mourey F, Decherf A, Jeanne JF, Clément-Ziza M, Grisoni ML, Machuron F, Legrain-Raspaud S, Bourreille A, Desreumaux P. Saccharomyces cerevisiae I-3856 in irritable bowel syndrome with predominant constipation. World J Gastroenterol 2022; 28: 2509-2522 [PMID: 35979259 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i22.2509]
- Cayzeele-Decherf A, Pélerin F, Leuillet S, Douillard B, Housez B, Cazaubiel M, Jacobson GK, Jüsten P, Desreumaux P. 23 Saccharomyces cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 in irritable bowel syndrome: An individual subject meta-analysis. World J Gastroenterol 2017; 23: 336-344 [PMID: 28127207 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i2.336]
- Sivignon A, de Vallée A, Barnich N, Denizot J, Darcha C, Pignède G, Vandekerckove P, Darfeuille-Michaud A. 24 Saccharomyces cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 prevents colitis induced by AIEC bacteria in the transgenic mouse model mimicking Crohn's disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2015; 21: 276-286 [PMID: 25569734 DOI: 10.1097/MIB.00000000000280
- Martinez-Medina M, Aldeguer X, Lopez-Siles M, González-Huix F, López-Oliu C, Dahbi G, Blanco JE, Blanco J, Garcia-Gil LJ, Darfeuille-Michaud A. Molecular diversity of Escherichia coli in the human gut: new ecological evidence supporting the role of adherent-invasive E. coli (AIEC) in Crohn's disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2009; 15: 872-882 [PMID: 19235912 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.20860]
- 26 Darfeuille-Michaud A, Neut C, Barnich N, Lederman E, Di Martino P, Desreumaux P, Gambiez L, Joly B, Cortot A, Colombel JF. Presence of adherent Escherichia coli strains in ileal mucosa of patients with Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 1998; 115: 1405-1413 [PMID: 9834268 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5085(98)70019-8]
- 27 Blondeaux A, Speca S, Valibouze C, Lambin T, Dubuquoy C, Titecat M, Blanquart H, Neut C, Genin M, Zerbib P, Foligne B, Desreumaux P. Sa1539: Tofacitinib treatment prevents post-operative recurrence of crohn's disease modeled by ileocecal resection in HLA-B27 transgenic rats. Gastroenterology 2022; 162: S-406 [DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5085(22)60966-1]
- 28 Chau A, Lucil S, Chater C, Speca S, Djouina M, Dubuquoy C, Koriche D, Dubuquoy L, Neut C, Pruvot FR, Desreumaux P, Zerbib P, Pariente B. 1053 - Hla B27 Transgenic Rat: A New Animal Model of Ileitis Post Surgery Reproducing Inflammatory Disease. Gastroenterology 2018; 154: S-199 [DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5085(18)31068-0]
- 29 Valibouze C, Speca S, Lambin T, Dubuquoy C, Dubuquoy L, M'Ba L, Schneider L, Rousseaux C, Ballet N, Decherf A, Titecat M, Foligne B, Desreumaux P, Neut C, Zerbib P. Su1807 - Post-Operative Recurrence After Ileo-Caecal Resection for Crohn's Disease: Towards an Anti-Adherent Invasive Escherichia Coli (AIEC) Strategy with Rationaly Selected Saccharomyces Cerevisiae Probiotic. Gastroenterology 2019; 156: S-620 [DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5085(19)38444-6]
- Boudeau J, Glasser AL, Masseret E, Joly B, Darfeuille-Michaud A. Invasive ability of an Escherichia coli strain isolated from the ileal mucosa of a patient with Crohn's disease. Infect Immun 1999; 67: 4499-4509 [PMID: 10456892 DOI: 10.1128/IAI.67.9.4499-4509.1999
- 31 D'Haens GR, Geboes K, Peeters M, Baert F, Penninckx F, Rutgeerts P. Early lesions of recurrent Crohn's disease caused by infusion of intestinal contents in excluded ileum. Gastroenterology 1998; 114: 262-267 [PMID: 9453485 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5085(98)70476-7
- 32 Pineton de Chambrun G, Neut C, Chau A, Cazaubiel M, Pelerin F, Justen P, Desreumaux P. A randomized clinical trial of Saccharomyces cerevisiae versus placebo in the irritable bowel syndrome. Dig Liver Dis 2015; 47: 119-124 [PMID: 25488056 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2014.11.007]



- 33 Spiller R, Pélerin F, Cayzeele Decherf A, Maudet C, Housez B, Cazaubiel M, Jüsten P. Randomized double blind placebocontrolled trial of Saccharomyces cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 in irritable bowel syndrome: improvement in abdominal pain and bloating in those with predominant constipation. United European Gastroenterol J 2016; 4: 353-362 [PMID: 27403301 DOI: 10.1177/2050640615602571]
- 34 Gayathri R, Aruna T, Malar S, Shilpa B, Dhanasekar KR. Efficacy of Saccharomyces cerevisiae CNCM I-3856 as an addon therapy for irritable bowel syndrome. Int J Colorectal Dis 2020; 35: 139-145 [PMID: 31807856 DOI: 10.1007/s00384-019-03462-4]
- Sivignon A, Yu SY, Ballet N, Vandekerckove P, Barnich N, Guerardel Y. Heteropolysaccharides from S. cerevisiae show 35 anti-adhesive properties against E. coli associated with Crohn's disease. Carbohydr Polym 2021; 271: 118415 [PMID: 34364556 DOI: 10.1016/j.carbpol.2021.118415]
- 36 Liu Y, Chang J, Wang P, Yin QQ, Huang WW, Liu CQ, Bai XX, Zhu Q, Gao TZ, Zhou P. Effects of Saccharomyces cerevisiae on alleviating cytotoxicity of porcine jejunal epithelia cells induced by deoxynivalenol. AMB Express 2019; 9: 137 [PMID: 31482249 DOI: 10.1186/s13568-019-0863-9]
- Sokol H, Leducq V, Aschard H, Pham HP, Jegou S, Landman C, Cohen D, Liguori G, Bourrier A, Nion-Larmurier I, 37 Cosnes J, Seksik P, Langella P, Skurnik D, Richard ML, Beaugerie L. Fungal microbiota dysbiosis in IBD. Gut 2017; 66: 1039-1048 [PMID: 26843508 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-310746]
- 38 Nguyen HD, Aljamaei HM, Stadnyk AW. The Production and Function of Endogenous Interleukin-10 in Intestinal Epithelial Cells and Gut Homeostasis. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 12: 1343-1352 [PMID: 34271223 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2021.07.005]
- 39 Meresse B, Rutgeerts P, Malchow H, Dubucquoi S, Dessaint JP, Cohard M, Colombel JF, Desreumaux P. Low ileal interleukin 10 concentrations are predictive of endoscopic recurrence in patients with Crohn's disease. Gut 2002; 50: 25-28 [PMID: 11772962 DOI: 10.1136/gut.50.1.25]



WJG

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 February 7; 29(5): 867-878

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.867

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study Impact of endothelial nitric oxide synthase activation on accelerated liver regeneration in a rat ALPPS model

Hitoshi Masuo, Akira Shimizu, Hiroaki Motoyama, Koji Kubota, Tsuyoshi Notake, Takahiro Yoshizawa, Kiyotaka Hosoda, Koya Yasukawa, Akira Kobayashi, Yuji Soejima

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B, B, B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: A JD, China; Kordzaia D, Georgia; Tan W, China; Xiao LK, China

Received: October 29, 2022 Peer-review started: October 29, 2022 First decision: November 30, 2022 Revised: December 7, 2022 Accepted: January 11, 2023 Article in press: January 11, 2023 Published online: February 7, 2023



Hitoshi Masuo, Akira Shimizu, Hiroaki Motoyama, Koji Kubota, Tsuyoshi Notake, Takahiro Yoshizawa, Kiyotaka Hosoda, Koya Yasukawa, Akira Kobayashi, Yuji Soejima, Division of Gastroenterological, Hepato-Biliary-Pancreatic, Transplantation and Pediatric Surgery, Department of Surgery, Shinshu University School of Medicine, Matsumoto 390-8621, Japan

Corresponding author: Akira Shimizu, MD, PhD, Associate Professor, Division of Gastroenterological, Hepato-Biliary-Pancreatic, Transplantation and Pediatric Surgery, Department of Surgery, Shinshu University School of Medicine, 3-1-1, Asahi, Matsumoto 390-8621, Japan. ashimizu@shinshu-u.ac.jp

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Although the associating liver partition and portal vein ligation for staged hepatectomy (ALPPS) induces more rapid liver regeneration than portal vein embolization, the mechanism remains unclear.

AIM

To assess the influence of inflammatory cytokines and endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) activation on liver regeneration in ALPPS.

METHODS

The future liver remnant/body weight (FLR/BW) ratio, hepatocyte proliferation, inflammatory cytokine expression, and activation of the Akt-eNOS pathway were evaluated in rat ALPPS and portal vein ligation (PVL) models. Hepatocyte proliferation was assessed based on Ki-67 expression, which was confirmed using immunohistochemistry. The serum concentrations of inflammatory cytokines were measured using enzyme linked immune-solvent assays. The Akt-eNOS pathway was assessed using western blotting. To explore the role of inflammatory cytokines and NO, Kupffer cell inhibitor gadolinium chloride (GdCl₃), NOS inhibitor N-nitro-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME), and NO enhancer molsidomine were administered intraperitoneally.

RESULTS

The ALPPS group showed significant FLR regeneration (FLR/BW: 1.60% ± 0.08%, P < 0.05) compared with that observed in the PVL group (1.33% ± 0.11%) 48 h after surgery. In the ALPPS group, serum interleukin-6 expression was suppre-



ssed using GdCl₃ to the same extent as that in the PVL group. However, the FLR/BW ratio and Ki-67 labeling index were significantly higher in the ALPPS group administered $GdCl_3$ (1.72% ± 0.19%, P < 0.05; 22.25% ± 1.30%, P < 0.05) than in the PVL group (1.33% ± 0.11% and 12.78% ± 1.55%, respectively). Phospho-Akt Ser⁴⁷³ and phospho-eNOS Ser¹¹⁷⁷ levels were enhanced in the ALPPS group compared with those in the PVL group. There was no difference between the ALPPS group treated with L-NAME and the PVL group in the FLR/BW ratio and Ki-67 labeling index. In the PVL group treated with molsidomine, the FLR/BW ratio and Ki-67 labeling index increased to the same level as in the ALPPS group.

CONCLUSION

Early induction of inflammatory cytokines may not be pivotal for accelerated FLR regeneration after ALPPS, whereas Akt-eNOS pathway activation may contribute to accelerated regeneration of the FLR.

Key Words: Hepatectomy; Nitric oxide; Liver regeneration; Cytokines; NG-Nitroarginine methyl ester; Molsidomine

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: In extended hepatectomy for hepatobiliary tumors, adequate future liver remnant (FLR) is essential to prevent postoperative liver failure. Portal vein embolization (PVE) and associated liver partition and portal vein ligation for staged hepatectomy (ALPPS) are performed to increase the FLR. Although ALPPS induces more rapid liver regeneration than PVE, the mechanism remains unclear. In this study, we compared ALPPS with portal vein ligation (PVL) in a rat model and found that activation of the Akt-endothelial nitric oxide synthase pathway promotes liver regeneration. The combination of PVL and nitric oxide-producing agents may induce liver regeneration comparable to ALPPS in a non-invasive manner.

Citation: Masuo H, Shimizu A, Motoyama H, Kubota K, Notake T, Yoshizawa T, Hosoda K, Yasukawa K, Kobayashi A, Soejima Y. Impact of endothelial nitric oxide synthase activation on accelerated liver regeneration in a rat ALPPS model. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(5): 867-878 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i5/867.htm

DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.867

INTRODUCTION

Hepatectomy is the most curative treatment for hepatobiliary carcinoma[1,2]. Extended hepatectomy is occasionally performed to achieve R0 surgical margins. However, postoperative liver failure may occur in these cases because of an inadequate volume of the future liver remnant (FLR)[3,4]. To resolve this issue, portal vein embolization (PVE) is widely performed before major hepatectomy to obtain a sufficient FLR volume[5,6]. Although PVE results in a 10%-45% increase in FLR, it requires a waiting period of 2-8 wk[6-8]. Hepatectomy cannot be performed in some cases because of tumor progression, inadequate volume increase, or both in the FLR, even after PVE. Therefore, the resection rate after PVE has been reported as only 70% [7,8]. Furthermore, it has been reported that hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is nourished by abnormal vessels in the hepatic artery (HA). Thus, PVE may reduce blood flow in the portal vein and increase blood flow in the HA of the liver to be resected, which may result in rapid progression of HCC[9]. As described above, PVE has limited indications and therapeutic effects. Therefore, the development of new surgical or therapeutic methods is desired to promote further liver regeneration in the short term.

As an alternative to PVE, associating liver partition and portal vein ligation for staged hepatectomy (ALPPS) was reported in 2012[6]. This method enables the FLR to increase by 70%-80% within 10 d[6]. ALPPS promotes a much faster increase of FLR than PVE[6,9], but the mechanism of this rapid liver regeneration remains unclear. Although increases in inflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin-6 (IL-6), which is an inducer in the early stage of liver regeneration, have been reported as a cause of rapid liver regeneration[10-13], it remains controversial[14]. However, in previous studies on the mechanism of liver regeneration after liver resection and portal vein ligation (PVL), shear stress caused by blood viscosity, blood flow velocity, and endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) activation, followed by NO induction, has been reported to promote liver regeneration[15,16]. This study aimed to explore the mechanism of promoting liver regeneration in ALPPS and investigate the involvement of inflammatory



cytokines and eNOS activation using PVL and ALPPS rat models.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Eight-week-old male Wistar rats (CLEA Japan, Kanagawa, Japan) weighing 230-300 g were used in this study. The animals were housed in wood-chip-bedded cages in an air-conditioned room $(24 \pm 1 \text{ °C})$ with a 12 h light/dark cycle under specific pathogen free condition. There were no diet restrictions. Based on national and institutional regulations and guidelines, all procedures for animal experiments were reviewed by the Committee for Animal Experiments and approved by the President of Shinshu University (Approval numbers 270018 and 019067).

Surgical procedures and study design

Rats were divided into two groups, PVL and ALPPS, and examined 72 h after surgery. A midline laparotomy was performed under isoflurane-induced anesthesia. In the PVL model, the portal vein branches to the caudate lobe, left lobe, left side of the median lobe, and right lobes were ligated with 7-0 silk (Figure 1A). In the ALPPS model, in addition to PVL, liver parenchymal transection between the right lobe and the left side of the middle lobe was performed based on the gross morphology and demarcation line after PVL. The Glisson flowing into the left side of the median lobe was ligated with 7-0 nylon (Figure 1B). Little bleeding occurred during the liver parenchymal transection because the parenchyma on either side of the dissection line was ligated with 6-0 Prolene before parenchymal transection to control intraoperative bleeding. The abdomen was then closed in layers.

The rats were sacrificed to collect blood samples and liver tissue from the right side of the median lobe (RML) at 1, 4, 6, 24, 48, and 72 h after surgery (n = 5 for each group per time point). Blood samples were collected from the inferior vena cava at the time of liver removal and centrifuged at 2600 × g for 5 min. The serum was stored at -80 °C. Liver tissue samples were frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C. The remaining liver tissue was fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde.

The weight of the FLR, that is, the RML, and body weight (BW) were measured before surgery and at 24, 48, and 72 h after surgery. The BW (FLR/BW) ratio (%) was used as the liver regeneration index. In western blotting analysis and volumetric blood flow analysis, the PVL and ALPPS groups were compared based on the control group, in which only open and closed abdomens were performed.

ELISAs of serum inflammatory cytokines and hepatocyte growth factor

Serum concentrations of IL-6, tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) were measured at 1, 4, 6, and 24 h after surgery using ELISA kits (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, United States). IL-6 concentration in the RML tissue was also quantified 1 h after surgery.

Immunohistochemistry

The liver tissues were fixed with paraformaldehyde and embedded in paraffin. After deparaffinization, antigen retrieval, and quenching of endogenous peroxidases, the sections were incubated overnight at 4 °C with a mouse monoclonal anti-Ki-67 antibody (1:200 dilution; Dako, Glostrup, Denmark; 1:200 dilution, Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom), followed by incubation for 30 min at room temperature with a peroxidase-labeled anti-mouse antibody (Histofine Simplestain Max PO; Nichirei). The sections were immersed in diaminobenzidine solution for visualization and counterstained with hematoxylin. To evaluate hepatocyte proliferation 48 h after surgery, the average percentage of Ki-67-positive cells to total hepatocytes in three random high-power fields was used as the Ki-67 labeling index.

Kupffer cell inhibition in the ALPPS model

To explore the role of inflammatory cytokines in liver regeneration, the Kupffer cell inhibitor gadolinium chloride (GdCl₃; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, United States) was used. Another set of animals was used for the Kupffer cell inhibition experiments. We prepared an ALPPS model for GdCl₃ administration (n = 3). GdCl₃ (10 mg/kg) was administered intraperitoneally 24 h before surgery. In the control group, physiological saline was administered. All rats were sacrificed 48 h after surgery to obtain liver samples.

NOS inhibition in the ALPPS model and NO enhancement in the PVL model

To explore the role of NO in liver regeneration, the NOS inhibitor NG-nitro-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME; Sigma-Aldrich) and the NO enhancer molsidomine (Cayman Chemical, MI, United States) were used. Another set of animals was used for the NOS inhibition and NO enhancement experiments. We prepared the ALPPS model for L-NAME administration, the PVL model for molsidomine administration, and the corresponding control PVL and ALPPS models (n = 5 for each group). L-NAME (100 mg/kg) or molsidomine (10 mg/kg) was administered intraperitoneally 24 h before and during surgery. In each control group, physiological saline was administered. All rats were sacrificed 24, 48, and 72 h




Figure 1 Schema of experimental models. A: Portal vein ligation (PVL) group. Portal vein branches were ligated, other than the right median lobe; B: Associating liver partition and PVL for staged hepatectomy group. In addition to ligating the portal vein as performed in the PVL group, the median lobe was transected, and the left Glisson was ligated; C: Macroscopic findings after operations in each group. ALPPS: Associating liver partition and portal vein ligation; RML: Right median lobe; LML: Left median lobe; LLL: Left lateral lobe; RL: Right lobe; CL: Caudate lobe; POD: Postoperative day.

after surgery to obtain liver samples.

Western blot analysis

The RML tissue proteins were collected at 1, 4, and 6 h after surgery using radioimmunoprecipitation assay lysis buffer (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., CA, United States). The protein concentration was measured using the bicinchoninic acid assay method. Samples of 10 µg proteins from FLRs of PVL and ALPPS models were separated on 4%-12% NuPAGE Gels and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes. After blocking with 5% dry skim milk for 1 h, the membranes were incubated with primary antibodies overnight at 4 °C, followed by incubation with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies for 1 h. The blots were developed with ECL Select western blotting Detection Reagent (Amersham, GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Chicago, IL, United States) and photographed using a Molecular Imager ChemiDoc XRS device (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc., Hercules, CA, United States). The density of the bands in the immunoblots was analyzed using Image Lab Software (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc.). The results are expressed as a percentage of the β -actin internal control. The anti-human antibodies used were rabbit monoclonal antibodies against p-Akt (Ser 473) (cat. no. 4060), p-eNOS (Ser1177) (Cat. no. 9570), p-eNOS (Thr495) (Cat. no. 9574), total eNOS (Cat. no. 32027) (Cell Signaling Technology, Inc., Danvers, MA, United States), and mouse monoclonal antibody against β-actin (Cat. no. A5441; Sigma-Aldrich). Anti-β-actin antibody was used at a 1:3000 dilution, and the other antibodies were used at a 1:1000 dilution.

Volumetric blood flow analysis

Before the estimation of volumetric blood flow in the HA and PV of the FLR, blood velocity and vascular diameter (r) were measured using ultrasonography (Vevo2100, Primetech, Tokyo, Japan). Volumetric blood flow was estimated from the blood velocity and vascular cross-sectional area (πr^2) (volumetric blood flow = blood velocity × πr^2) in mm³ per second.

Statistical analysis

The collected data were evaluated statistically using the JMP software, version 13.2 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, United States). Data are expressed as mean \pm SD. Statistical analysis was performed using an unpaired student's *t*-test. Statistical significance was defined as *P* < 0.05.

Zaishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

RESULTS

Differences in liver regeneration in PVL and ALPPS models

The FLR/BW ratio increased over time in both groups. At 48 h after surgery, the FLR/BW ratio in the ALPPS group was significantly higher (1.60% \pm 0.08%, *P* < 0.05) than that in the PVL group (1.33% \pm 0.11%) (Figures 1C and 2A). However, no significant difference was observed between the two groups at 24 and 72 h after surgery. The Ki-67 labeling index of the RML at 48 h after surgery was significantly increased in the ALPPS group (22.1% \pm 4.01%, P < 0.05) compared with that in the PVL group (12.8% \pm 1.73%), which was consistent with the FLR/BW ratio (Figures 2B and 2C).

Association between serum inflammatory cytokines and liver regeneration

The serum concentrations of IL-6, TNF- α , and HGF in RML were measured at 1, 4, 6, and 24 h after surgery. Serum IL-6 and TNF- α levels increased in both groups after surgery compared with the levels before surgery. However, no difference was found in the two groups at 1, 4, and 6 h after surgery. At 24 h after surgery, IL-6 and TNF- α concentrations were significantly higher in the ALPPS group (25.91 ± 6.05 pg/mL, $P < 0.05 \text{ and } 1.52 \pm 0.68 \text{ pg/mL}$, P < 0.05) compared with that in the PVL group (4.11 ± 3.99 pg/mL and 0.54 ± 0.38 pg/mL). Serum HGF concentration at 1 h after surgery was significantly higher in the ALPPS group ($68.86 \pm 4.89 \text{ ng/mL}$, P < 0.05) compared with that in the PVL group (55.34 ± 9.97 ng/mL). However, no significant difference was observed in serum HGF concentration at 4, 6, and 24 h (Figures 3A-C).

Liver regeneration in the ALPPS model under the suppression of IL-6 using GdCl₃

To evaluate the effect of IL-6 on liver regeneration, ALPPS rats were administered $GdCl_{3}$ which suppressed the activation of Kupffer cells in the liver. In the GdCl₃-ALPPS group, the IL-6 concentrations in serum (40.3 ± 11.3 pg/mL, P < 0.05) and the RML tissue (3.27 ± 0.54 ng/TP 1 g, P < 0.05) 1 h after surgery were significantly decreased compared with the concentrations in the corresponding groups without administration of GdCl₃ (Figures 4A and 4B). However, there was no significant difference in the FLR/BW ratio or Ki-67 labeling index at 48 h after surgery in the ALPPS group with or without administration of GdCl₃ (Figures 4C and 4D).

Short-term postoperative liver regeneration induced by eNOS

Phosphorylation of Akt and eNOS in RML tissue at 1, 4, and 6 h after surgery was evaluated using western blotting (Figure 5A). Phospho-Akt Ser⁴⁷³ and phospho-eNOS Ser¹¹⁷⁷ levels increased in the ALPPS group compared with those in the PVL group. The quantitative measurement revealed that the phosphorylation levels of eNOS Ser¹¹⁷⁷ in the ALPPS group was significantly higher than that in the PVL group at 1 and 4 h after surgery. However, there was no significant difference at 6 h after surgery (Figure 5B).

L-NAME, an NOS inhibitor, was administered to rats to examine whether suppression of eNOS affected liver regeneration. The FLR/BW ratio and Ki-67 labeling index at 48 h after surgery in the L-NAME-ALPPS group were significantly lower than those in the ALPPS group without L-NAME administration and were comparable to those in the PVL group (Figures 6A and 6B).

Additionally, molsidomine, which induces eNOS activation, was administered to the rats to examine whether eNOS activation affects liver regeneration. The FLR/BW ratio and Ki-67 labeling index at 48 h after surgery in the molsidomine-administered PVL (molsidomine-PVL) group were significantly higher than those in the PVL group without molsidomine administration and comparable with those in the ALPPS group (Figures 6C and 6D). However, there was no significant difference in the long-term FLR/BW ratio on a postoperative day 7 between the PVL, ALPPS, and molsidomine-administered PVL groups (data not shown).

Increased HA blood flow in the ALPPS model

PV flow in the PVL and ALPPS groups was significantly faster than that in the control group; however, there was no significant difference in PV flow between the PVL and ALPPS groups (180.1 \pm 54.4, 216.6 \pm 71.4 mm³/s) (Figure 7A). HA flow in the PVL group was significantly slower than that in the control group without surgical intervention (1.73 \pm 1.14 vs 3.66 \pm 0.74 mm³/s, P < 0.05), whereas that in the ALPPS group was significantly faster ($11.32 \pm 2.40 \text{ mm}^3$ /s, P < 0.05) than that in control and PVL groups (Figure 7B). The total blood flow, that is, the sum of PV and HA, was not significantly different between the PVL and ALPPS groups (Figure 7C).

DISCUSSION

Hepatectomy is the most curative treatment for HCC and intraductal cholangiocarcinoma[1,2]. Additionally, major hepatectomy is the standard operative procedure for perihilar cholangiocarcinoma [17,18]. Extended hepatectomy may be required, depending on the location of the cancer. Postoperative





DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.867 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Changes in the right side of the median lobe weight to body weight ratio and Ki-67 index after surgery. A: Future liver remnant/body weight ratio up to 72 h after surgery; B: Immunohistochemistry of Ki-67 at 48 h after the operation; C: Ki-67 labeling index at 48 h after the surgery. Values are expressed as the mean \pm SD; n = 5 for each group; aP < 0.05; NS: Not significant; RML/BW: Right side of the median lobe weight/body weight; PVL: Portal vein ligation; ALPPS: Associating liver partition and portal vein ligation for staged hepatectomy.

liver failure that results from insufficient residual liver volume is a fatal complication of hepatectomy. PVE and ALPPS were developed with the aim of pre-operative liver enlargement to avoid postoperative liver failure[5,6,18]. ALPPS leads to the rapid regeneration of FLR compared with PVE, although high mortality (90-d mortality of 9%) and morbidity (grade IIIb of 40% in the Clavien-Dindo classification) are limitations[19]. Elucidation of the mechanism of rapid liver regeneration after ALPPS may contribute to improving surgical outcomes for patients who undergo extended hepatectomy for hepatobiliary malignancies and to the development of novel alternative treatments that provide effective and safe regeneration of the FLR.

In this study, we obtained two crucial findings regarding the mechanism of liver regeneration in ALPPS. First, the induction of inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6, might not be pivotal for the rapid regeneration of FLR after ALPPS in the early phase. Second, activation of the Akt-eNOS pathway may be an important factor in promoting liver regeneration after ALPPS.

The mechanism of liver regeneration has been studied in animal models of partial hepatectomy. The regeneration process is distinctive, complex, and well-coordinated and depends on the interactions of several signaling pathways, cytokines, and growth factors. Additionally, endocrine hormones, such as norepinephrine, growth hormone, insulin, and thyroid hormones, have been reported to influence these pathways and factors[20-22]. Since Schnitzbauer *et al*[6] reported ALPPS in 2012, there have been several reports to elucidate the major factors in liver regeneration of ALPPS, which promote rapid liver regeneration compared with PVL[10-13,23]. Activation of downstream signals, such as c-Jun N-terminal kinase-Indian hedgehog signaling from stellate cells by inflammatory cytokines[24], activation of the Janus kinase 2/signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 pathway *via* regenerating islet-derived $3\alpha/3\beta$, and hypoxia-induced stabilization of hypoxia-inducible factor- α subunits by hypoxia[14,25,26], have been reported as major factors. However, the mechanism of liver regeneration in ALPPS has not yet been completely elucidated.

Previous studies have reported that the peak of cell proliferation is 48 h after surgery, and inflammatory cytokines and their downstream signal enhancement cause liver regeneration in ALPPS[11,12, 23]. Although the peak liver regeneration in this study was consistent with previous studies, the relationship between the early induction of inflammatory cytokines and liver regeneration was not consistent. In this study, serum concentrations of inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6 and TNF- α , in the short term (1, 4, and 6 h) after surgery did not differ between the ALPPS and PVL groups. However, the ALPPS group showed a greater increase in FLR and a higher Ki-67 labeling index than in the PVL group. Additionally, suppression of inflammatory cytokines using GdCl₃ did not suppress liver



Figure 3 Expression of inflammatory cytokines and hepatocyte growth factor in serum and right side of the median lobe tissue. A: Serum interleukin-6 concentrations at 1, 4, 6, and 24 h after surgery; B: Tumor necrosis factor- α concentrations at 1, 4, 6, and 24 h after surgery; C: Hepatocyte growth factor concentration at 1, 4, 6, and 24 h after surgery. Values are expressed as the mean \pm SD; *n* = 5 for each group; ^a*P* < 0.05; NS: Not significant; PVL: Portal vein ligation; ALPPS: Associating liver partition and portal vein ligation for staged hepatectomy; IL: Interleukin; TNF: Tumor necrosis factor; HGF: Hepatocyte growth factor.

regeneration. These results suggest that the induction of inflammatory cytokines in the early phase after ALLPS is not necessarily a major factor in accelerating liver regeneration. The reason why no difference was observed in the expression of inflammatory cytokines may be the site of liver resection, setting of FLR, or differences in animal models. The timing of specimen collection may have influenced the results, as specimens collected 24 h after surgery had higher concentrations in the ALPPS group.

Activation of eNOS and NO induction have been reported to be a mechanism of liver regeneration other than inflammatory cytokines[15,16]. In this study, we focused on the effect of eNOS activation on liver regeneration after PVL and ALPPS. Evaluation of eNOS activation in the liver tissue showed that eNOS Ser¹¹⁷⁷ phosphorylation was significantly increased in the ALPPS model at 1 and 4 h after surgery. Thus, the FLR/BW ratio and Ki-67 labeling index in the ALPPS model were increased compared with those in the PVL model. Furthermore, the activation of Akt, which is upstream of eNOS, was observed, suggesting that the Akt-eNOS pathway contributes to the mechanism of liver regeneration in ALPPS. The administration of L-NAME, which suppresses NO, inhibits liver regeneration. The administration of molsidomine, which activates eNOS, promotes liver regeneration. Molsidomine is a nitrate drug used as a coronary vasodilator for the treatment of angina pectoris; its intermediate metabolite, SIN-1 (ionidamine chlorohydrate) produces NO[27]. When endothelial cells are stimulated by shear stress or vascular endothelial growth factor, phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) is activated and PIP3 is produced, which activates the PI3K-Akt pathway and activates downstream signals such as eNOS[28,29]. An increase in shear stress, which has been reported to cause NO production[30], is due to hemodynamic changes in the residual liver caused by hepatectomy, which is expected to affect liver regeneration in ALPPS. To evaluate the effect of increased shear stress on liver regeneration, we examined the blood flow exchange after PVL and ALPPS. Contrary to our expectations, there was no difference in PV or total blood flow, which might be associated with shear stress, between the PVL and ALPPS groups; however, HA flow in the ALPPS group was significantly higher than that in the PVL and control groups. Therefore, the difference in oxygenation of the FLR, rather than the shear stress between ALPPS and PVL, might be associated with the difference in liver regeneration. However, Schadde et al[25] reported that hypoxia due to reduced HA flow in the FLR promotes hepatic regeneration in patients who underwent ALPPS and in the rat ALPPS model. However, in their study, HA flow was evaluated





Figure 4 Interleukin-6 expression and liver regeneration in the gadolinium chloride model. A: The serum concentration of interleukin (IL)-6 at 1 h after surgery; B: IL-6 concentration in right side of the median lobe tissue at 1 h after surgery; C: Future liver remnant/body weight ratio at 48 h after surgery; D: Ki-67 labeling index. Values are expressed as mean \pm SD; n = 3 or 5 for each group; ^aP < 0.05; NS: Not significant; PVL: Portal vein ligation; ALPPS: Associating liver partition and portal vein ligation for staged hepatectomy; IL: Interleukin; RML: Right median lobe; FLR/BW: Future liver remnant/body weight; CdCl₃: Gadolinium chloride.



Figure 5 Western blotting of Akt-endothelial nitric oxide synthase pathway-related proteins. A: Western blotting was used to evaluate the expression of phosphorylated Akt and endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) in right side of the median lobe at 1, 4, and 6 h after surgery in portal vein ligation (PVL) and associating liver partition and portal vein ligation for staged hepatectomy (ALPPS) groups; B: Comparison of the expression of P-Akt Ser⁴⁷³ and P-eNOS Ser¹¹⁷⁷ in PVL and ALPPS groups (quantification of western blots, n = 5 for each group). Values are expressed as the mean \pm SD; n = 5 for each group; ^aP < 0.05; NS: Not significant; eNOS: Endothelial nitric oxide synthase; PVL: Portal vein ligation; ALPPS: Associating liver partition and portal vein ligation for staged hepatectomy.

only in patients who underwent ALPPS, and this evaluation was not compared with that in patients who underwent PVE. Furthermore, the transition of HA flow before and after ALPPS has not been evaluated in a rat model. In the rat ALPPS model, liver transection between the right and left median lobes with ligation of the Glisson of the left median lobe caused a necrotic change in the left median lobe, which is synonymous with liver resection of the left median lobe considering hemodynamics. These results suggest that both hemodynamic changes and differences in oxygenation of the FLR affect regeneration rates in the ALPPS and PVL models. The increased HA flow to the RML observed in the

Jaishideng®



Figure 6 Changes in liver regeneration and cell proliferation due to drug administration. A: Future liver remnant/body weight (FLR/BW) ratio in the N-nitro-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME)-administered associating liver partition and portal vein ligation for staged hepatectomy (ALPPS) group; B: Ki-67 labeling index in the L-NAME-administered ALPPS group; C: FLR/BW ratio in the molsidomine-administered portal vein ligation (PVL) group; D: Ki-67 labeling index in the molsidomine-administered PVL group; n = 5 for each group; $a^{P} < 0.05$; NS: Not significant; PVL: Portal vein ligation; ALPPS: Associating liver partition and portal vein ligation for staged hepatectomy; FLR/BW: Future liver remnant/body weight; L-NAME: N-nitro-arginine methyl ester.



Figure 7 Evaluation of hepatic artery and portal vein volumetric blood flow in the future liver remnant after surgery. A: Portal vein (PV) flow in control, PV ligation (PVL), and associating liver partition and portal vein ligation for staged hepatectomy (ALPPS) groups; B: Hepatic artery flow in control, PVL, and ALPPS groups; C: Total blood flow in control, PVL, and ALPPS groups. Values are expressed as the mean \pm SD; *n* = 4 for each group; ^a*P* < 0.05; NS: Not significant; PVL: Portal vein ligation; ALPPS: Associating liver partition and portal vein ligation for staged hepatectomy; HA: Hepatic artery.

ALPPS group may have been due to a hepatic arterial buffer response derived from collateral blood flow blockage by hepatectomy. In contrast, the reason for the observed decrease in HA flow to the RML in the PVL group might be the effect of HA influx from the RML to the left median lobe (LML) *via* collateral circulation after the PV blockade to the LML.

This study had some limitations. First, because we observed short-term changes in rat models, it is unknown whether NO activation promotes clinically meaningful liver regeneration in humans. Second, the mechanism underlying the activation of the Akt-eNOS pathway is unclear and requires further investigation that includes real-time monitoring of oxygenation in the FLR. Despite these shortcomings, we believe that our results are of interest because few reports have focused on the relationship between eNOS activation and liver regeneration after ALPPS.

CONCLUSION

The activation of the Akt-eNOS pathway in ALPPS may be an important factor in promoting early liver regeneration. If a combination of NO-producing agents and PVL or PVE enables liver regeneration within a short time after surgery, it may be an alternative to ALPPS and is expected to be applied clinically as a less invasive procedure.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Associating liver partition and portal vein ligation for staged hepatectomy (ALPPS) has already been clinically applied in various countries. Although it has been reported that ALPPS offers faster and larger liver regeneration compared to portal vein embolization (PVE), the mechanism of this phenomenon is still unclear.

Research motivation

The aim of this study was to investigate the underlying mechanism of rapid liver regeneration after ALPPS focusing on inflammatory cytokines and endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) activation.

Research objectives

Activation of eNOS was considered one of key points on mechanism of rapid liver regeneration after ALPPS.

Research methods

Liver regeneration was compared between the rat portal vein ligation (PVL) model and the rat ALPPS model. In addition, impact of administration of gadolinium chloride (GdCl₂, Kupffer cell inhibitor), NGnitro-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME, NOS inhibitor), and molsidomine (NO enhancer) on liver regeneration after PVL and/or ALPPS.

Research results

Administration of GdCl₃ before ALPPS provided no significant negative influence of liver regeneration after ALPPS. Administration of L-NAME before ALPPS suppressed liver regeneration after ALPPS, while administration of molsidomine before PVL accerelated liver regeneration after PVL as well as ALPPS.

Research conclusions

ALPPS is an alternative to PVE for reducing posthepatectomy liver failure after major hepatectomy.

Research perspectives

Combination of NO-producing agents and less invasive procedure can be an alternative to ALPPS procedure in the future.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Masuo H, Motoyama H, Yoshizawa T, Hosoda K, and Yasukawa K contributed to the acquisition and analysis of experimental data and drafting of the manuscript; Shimizu A, Kubota K, Notake T, Kobayashi A, and Soejima Y contributed to the conception and design of the study and made critical revisions related to the important intellectual content of the manuscript; and all authors have provided final approval for the version of the manuscript for submission.

Supported by the JSPS KAKENHI, JP17K10664.

Institutional animal care and use committee statement: Based on national and institutional regulations and guidelines, all procedures for animal experiments were reviewed by the Committee for Animal Experiments and approved by the President of Shinshu University (Approval numbers 270018 and 019067).

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.



Data sharing statement: The datasets used and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

ARRIVE guidelines statement: The authors have read the ARRIVE guidelines, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the ARRIVE guidelines.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Japan

ORCID number: Hitoshi Masuo 0000-0003-2930-7156; Akira Shimizu 0000-0002-5015-1697; Hiroaki Motoyama 0000-0003-0882-2626; Koji Kubota 0000-0003-0164-7685; Tsuyoshi Notake 0000-0002-2277-5347; Takahiro Yoshizawa 0000-0001-7624-9257; Kiyotaka Hosoda 0000-0001-6928-3676; Koya Yasukawa 0000-0002-3643-0921; Akira Kobayashi 0000-0002-9161-0159; Yuji Soejima 0000-0001-5539-9280.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang JJ

REFERENCES

- Orcutt ST, Anaya DA. Liver Resection and Surgical Strategies for Management of Primary Liver Cancer. Cancer Control 1 2018; 25: 1073274817744621 [PMID: 29327594 DOI: 10.1177/1073274817744621]
- Mavros MN, Economopoulos KP, Alexiou VG, Pawlik TM. Treatment and Prognosis for Patients With Intrahepatic Cholangiocarcinoma: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Surg 2014; 149: 565-574 [PMID: 24718873 DOI: 10.1001/jamasurg.2013.5137
- 3 Clavien PA, Oberkofler CE, Raptis DA, Lehmann K, Rickenbacher A, El-Badry AM. What is critical for liver surgery and partial liver transplantation: size or quality? *Hepatology* 2010; **52**: 715-729 [PMID: 20683967 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23713]
- 4 Clavien PA, Petrowsky H, DeOliveira ML, Graf R. Strategies for safer liver surgery and partial liver transplantation. N Engl J Med 2007; 356: 1545-1559 [PMID: 17429086 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra065156]
- 5 Makuuchi M, Thai BL, Takayasu K, Takayama T, Kosuge T, Gunvén P, Yamazaki S, Hasegawa H, Ozaki H. Preoperative portal embolization to increase safety of major hepatectomy for hilar bile duct carcinoma: a preliminary report. Surgery 1990; 107: 521-527 [PMID: 2333592]
- Schnitzbauer AA, Lang SA, Goessmann H, Nadalin S, Baumgart J, Farkas SA, Fichtner-Feigl S, Lorf T, Goralcyk A, 6 Hörbelt R, Kroemer A, Loss M, Rümmele P, Scherer MN, Padberg W, Königsrainer A, Lang H, Obed A, Schlitt HJ. Right portal vein ligation combined with in situ splitting induces rapid left lateral liver lobe hypertrophy enabling 2-staged extended right hepatic resection in small-for-size settings. Ann Surg 2012; 255: 405-414 [PMID: 22330038 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e31824856f5
- Abulkhir A, Limongelli P, Healey AJ, Damrah O, Tait P, Jackson J, Habib N, Jiao LR. Preoperative portal vein 7 embolization for major liver resection: a meta-analysis. Ann Surg 2008; 247: 49-57 [PMID: 18156923 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e31815f6e5b
- Liu H, Zhu S. Present status and future perspectives of preoperative portal vein embolization. Am J Surg 2009; 197: 686-690 [PMID: 19249737 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2008.04.022]
- Knoefel WT, Gabor I, Rehders A, Alexander A, Krausch M, Schulte am Esch J, Fürst G, Topp SA. In situ liver transection with portal vein ligation for rapid growth of the future liver remnant in two-stage liver resection. Br J Surg 2013; 100: 388-394 [PMID: 23124776 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.8955]
- 10 Schlegel A, Lesurtel M, Melloul E, Limani P, Tschuor C, Graf R, Humar B, Clavien PA. ALPPS: from human to mice highlighting accelerated and novel mechanisms of liver regeneration. Ann Surg 2014; 260: 839-46; discussion 846 [PMID: 25379855 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000000949]
- 11 Yao L, Li C, Ge X, Wang H, Xu K, Zhang A, Dong J. Establishment of a rat model of portal vein ligation combined with in situ splitting. PLoS One 2014; 9: e105511 [PMID: 25144490 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0105511]
- Shi H, Yang G, Zheng T, Wang J, Li L, Liang Y, Xie C, Yin D, Sun B, Sun J, Wang H, Pan S, Jiang H, Lau W, Liu L. A 12 preliminary study of ALPPS procedure in a rat model. Sci Rep 2015; 5: 17567 [PMID: 26631552 DOI: 10.1038/srep17567]
- García-Pérez R, Revilla-Nuin B, Martínez CM, Bernabé-García A, Baroja Mazo A, Parrilla Paricio P. Associated Liver 13 Partition and Portal Vein Ligation (ALPPS) vs Selective Portal Vein Ligation (PVL) for Staged Hepatectomy in a Rat Model. Similar Regenerative Response? PLoS One 2015; 10: e0144096 [PMID: 26630386 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0144096
- 14 Otsuka N, Yoshioka M, Abe Y, Nakagawa Y, Uchinami H, Yamamoto Y. Reg3α and Reg3β Expressions Followed by JAK2/STAT3 Activation Play a Pivotal Role in the Acceleration of Liver Hypertrophy in a Rat ALPPS Model. Int J Mol Sci 2020; 21 [PMID: 32517345 DOI: 10.3390/ijms21114077]
- 15 Schoen JM, Wang HH, Minuk GY, Lautt WW. Shear stress-induced nitric oxide release triggers the liver regeneration



cascade. Nitric Oxide 2001; 5: 453-464 [PMID: 11587560 DOI: 10.1006/niox.2001.0373]

- 16 Mei Y, Thevananther S. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase is a key mediator of hepatocyte proliferation in response to partial hepatectomy in mice. Hepatology 2011; 54: 1777-1789 [PMID: 21748771 DOI: 10.1002/hep.24560]
- 17 Furusawa N, Kobayashi A, Yokoyama T, Shimizu A, Motoyama H, Miyagawa S. Surgical treatment of 144 cases of hilar cholangiocarcinoma without liver-related mortality. World J Surg 2014; 38: 1164-1176 [PMID: 24305942 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-013-2394-x
- Kawasaki S, Imamura H, Kobayashi A, Noike T, Miwa S, Miyagawa S. Results of surgical resection for patients with hilar 18 bile duct cancer: application of extended hepatectomy after biliary drainage and hemihepatic portal vein embolization. Ann Surg 2003; 238: 84-92 [PMID: 12832969 DOI: 10.1097/01.Sla.0000074984.83031.02]
- 19 Schadde E, Raptis DA, Schnitzbauer AA, Ardiles V, Tschuor C, Lesurtel M, Abdalla EK, Hernandez-Alejandro R, Jovine E, Machado M, Malago M, Robles-Campos R, Petrowsky H, Santibanes ED, Clavien PA. Prediction of Mortality After ALPPS Stage-1: An Analysis of 320 Patients From the International ALPPS Registry. Ann Surg 2015; 262: 780-5; discussion 785 [PMID: 26583666 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000001450]
- 20 Michalopoulos GK. Hepatostat: Liver regeneration and normal liver tissue maintenance. Hepatology 2017; 65: 1384-1392 [PMID: 27997988 DOI: 10.1002/hep.28988]
- 21 Abu Rmilah A, Zhou W, Nelson E, Lin L, Amiot B, Nyberg SL. Understanding the marvels behind liver regeneration. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol 2019; 8: e340 [PMID: 30924280 DOI: 10.1002/wdev.340]
- 22 Abu Rmilah AA, Zhou W, Nyberg SL. Hormonal Contribution to Liver Regeneration. Mayo Clin Proc Innov Qual Outcomes 2020; 4: 315-338 [PMID: 32542223 DOI: 10.1016/j.mayocpiqo.2020.02.001]
- 23 Dhar DK, Mohammad GH, Vyas S, Broering DC, Malago M. A novel rat model of liver regeneration: possible role of cytokine induced neutrophil chemoattractant-1 in augmented liver regeneration. Ann Surg Innov Res 2015; 9: 11 [PMID: 26535054 DOI: 10.1186/s13022-015-0020-3]
- Langiewicz M, Graf R, Humar B, Clavien PA. JNK1 induces hedgehog signaling from stellate cells to accelerate liver 24 regeneration in mice. J Hepatol 2018; 69: 666-675 [PMID: 29709677 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.04.017]
- Schadde E, Tsatsaris C, Swiderska-Syn M, Breitenstein S, Urner M, Schimmer R, Booy C, Z'graggen BR, Wenger RH, 25 Spahn DR, Hertl M, Knechtle S, Diehl AM, Schläpfer M, Beck-Schimmer B. Hypoxia of the growing liver accelerates regeneration. Surgery 2017; 161: 666-679 [PMID: 27436690 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2016.05.018]
- Dirscherl K, Schläpfer M, Roth Z'graggen B, Wenger RH, Booy C, Flury-Frei R, Fatzer R, Aloman C, Bartosch B, Parent 26 R, Kurtcuoglu V, de Zélicourt D, Spahn DR, Beck Schimmer B, Schadde E. Hypoxia sensing by hepatic stellate cells leads to VEGF-dependent angiogenesis and may contribute to accelerated liver regeneration. Sci Rep 2020; 10: 4392 [PMID: 32152325 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-60709-9]
- 27 Rosenkranz B, Winkelmann BR, Parnham MJ. Clinical pharmacokinetics of molsidomine. Clin Pharmacokinet 1996; 30: 372-384 [PMID: 8743336 DOI: 10.2165/00003088-199630050-00004]
- 28 Dimmeler S, Fleming I, Fisslthaler B, Hermann C, Busse R, Zeiher AM. Activation of nitric oxide synthase in endothelial cells by Akt-dependent phosphorylation. Nature 1999; 399: 601-605 [PMID: 10376603 DOI: 10.1038/21224]
- Fulton D, Gratton JP, McCabe TJ, Fontana J, Fujio Y, Walsh K, Franke TF, Papapetropoulos A, Sessa WC. Regulation of 29 endothelium-derived nitric oxide production by the protein kinase Akt. Nature 1999; 399: 597-601 [PMID: 10376602 DOI: 10.1038/21218
- Kelm M, Feelisch M, Deussen A, Strauer BE, Schrader J. Release of endothelium derived nitric oxide in relation to 30 pressure and flow. Cardiovasc Res 1991; 25: 831-836 [PMID: 1747876 DOI: 10.1093/cvr/25.10.831]



WÛ

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 February 7; 29(5): 879-889

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.879

Retrospective Study

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Convolutional neural network-based segmentation network applied to image recognition of angiodysplasias lesion under capsule endoscopy

Ye Chu, Fang Huang, Min Gao, Duo-Wu Zou, Jie Zhong, Wei Wu, Qi Wang, Xiao-Nan Shen, Ting-Ting Gong, Yuan-Yi Li, Li-Fu Wang

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review:

Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Garcia-Pola M, Spain; Morya AK, India

Received: September 25, 2022 Peer-review started: September 25, 2022 First decision: October 18, 2022 Revised: November 26, 2022 Accepted: January 11, 2023 Article in press: January 11, 2023 Published online: February 7, 2023



Ye Chu, Duo-Wu Zou, Jie Zhong, Wei Wu, Qi Wang, Xiao-Nan Shen, Ting-Ting Gong, Li-Fu Wang, Department of Gastroenterology, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Ruijin Hospital, Shanghai 200025, China

Fang Huang, Min Gao, Yuan-Yi Li, Technology Platform Department, Jinshan Science & Technology (Group) Co., Ltd., Chongqing 401120, China

Corresponding author: Li-Fu Wang, MD, PhD, Chief Physician, Professor, Department of Gastroenterology, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Ruijin Hospital, No. 197 Ruijin Er Road, Shanghai 200025, China. lifuwang@sjtu.edu.cn

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Small intestinal vascular malformations (angiodysplasias) are common causes of small intestinal bleeding. While capsule endoscopy has become the primary diagnostic method for angiodysplasia, manual reading of the entire gastrointestinal tract is time-consuming and requires a heavy workload, which affects the accuracy of diagnosis.

AIM

To evaluate whether artificial intelligence can assist the diagnosis and increase the detection rate of angiodysplasias in the small intestine, achieve automatic disease detection, and shorten the capsule endoscopy (CE) reading time.

METHODS

A convolutional neural network semantic segmentation model with a feature fusion method, which automatically recognizes the category of vascular dysplasia under CE and draws the lesion contour, thus improving the efficiency and accuracy of identifying small intestinal vascular malformation lesions, was proposed. Resnet-50 was used as the skeleton network to design the fusion mechanism, fuse the shallow and depth features, and classify the images at the pixel level to achieve the segmentation and recognition of vascular dysplasia. The training set and test set were constructed and compared with PSPNet, Deeplab3+, and UperNet.



RESULTS

The test set constructed in the study achieved satisfactory results, where pixel accuracy was 99%, mean intersection over union was 0.69, negative predictive value was 98.74%, and positive predictive value was 94.27%. The model parameter was 46.38 M, the float calculation was 467.2 G, and the time length to segment and recognize a picture was 0.6 s.

CONCLUSION

Constructing a segmentation network based on deep learning to segment and recognize angiodysplasias lesions is an effective and feasible method for diagnosing angiodysplasias lesions.

Key Words: Artificial intelligence; Image segmentation; Capsule endoscopy; Angiodysplasias

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Small intestinal vascular malformation (vascular dysplasia) is a common cause of small intestinal bleeding. Herein, we proposed a semantic recognition segmentation network to recognize small intestinal vascular malformation lesions. This method can assist doctors in identifying lesions, improving the detection rate of intestinal vascular dysplasia, realizing automatic disease detection, and shortening the capsule endoscopy reading time.

Citation: Chu Y, Huang F, Gao M, Zou DW, Zhong J, Wu W, Wang Q, Shen XN, Gong TT, Li YY, Wang LF. Convolutional neural network-based segmentation network applied to image recognition of angiodysplasias lesion under capsule endoscopy. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(5): 879-889 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i5/879.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.879

INTRODUCTION

Small intestinal vascular malformations (angiodysplasias) are common causes of small intestinal bleeding[1,2]. Angiodysplasias are degenerative lesions that manifest as abnormalities of arteries, veins, or capillaries of the original normal blood vessels. Occasionally, the term angiodysplasias include various synonymous disease concepts, such as angioectasia (AE), Dieulafoy's lesion (DL), and arteriovenous malformation. According to the Yano-Yamamoto classification, small bowel vascular lesions are classified into four types under endoscopy[3]. AE includes small erythemas and can be defined as type 1a: punctuate (< 1 mm), or type 1b: patchy (a few mm). They are characterized by thin, dilated, and tortuous veins lacking smooth muscle layers, which explain their weakness and tendency to bleed. Typically, DLs consist of small mucosal defects and can be classified as type 2a: punctuate lesions with pulsatile bleeding or type 2b: pulsatile red protrusions without surrounding venous dilatation[4]. Some arteriovenous malformations and pulsatile red protrusions with dilated peripheral veins are defined as type 3. Congenital intestinal arteriovenous malformations manifest as polypoid or cluster type [5,6] and are classified as type 4. Nevertheless, the Yano-Yamamoto classification cannot fully reflect the histopathological findings.

Capsule endoscopy (CE) is a painless and well-tolerated approach that can achieve complete visualization of the small intestine [7]. It captures images for > 8 h[8]. Previous studies have demonstrated the probability of CE diagnosis of angiodysplasias was 30%-70%, and > 50% of obscure gastrointestinal bleeding patients have angiodysplasias[9-11]. The detection rate of CE was reported to be higher than other diagnostic methods, such as small bowel computed tomography, mesenteric angiography, and enteroscopy. Therefore, using CE as a first-line inspection tool for the diagnosis of angiodysplasias is recommended[12]. Nonetheless, CE has some limitations, and only 69% of angiodysplasias can be diagnosed by gastroenterologists^[13]. Less relevant lesions, such as erosions or tiny red spots, are regarded as negative results; however, distinguishing highly relevant lesions from less relevant lesions could be challenging. In addition, the diagnostic efficiency of CE decreases when the presence of bile pigments, food residues, or bubbles affects the observation of the intestinal mucosa. The doctor's manual reading of the entire gastrointestinal tract is time-consuming, and the heavy workload affects the accuracy of the diagnosis. Therefore, making diagnosis of angiodysplasias solely based on CE is challenging.

The detection rate of angiodysplasias in the small intestine can be increased by using artificial intelligence (AI) to assess the effect of automatic diagnosis, which has been successfully applied for the recognition and diagnosis of gastrointestinal endoscopic images[14]. AI assists in the recognition and diagnosis of CE images, eliminates errors in manual reading, reduces the workload of doctors, and



improves diagnosis efficiency. The clinical application of AI-based deep learning technology in wireless CE has been a research focus, which has gained increasing interest in the past two years [15-32]. Several studies[15,23-26] have used deep learning to identify ulcers from CE data. Pogorelov et al[27] used the color texture features to detect small intestinal bleeding in CE data. Blanes-Vidal et al[28] constructed a classification network to identify intestinal polyp lesions in CE data. Kundu et al^[29] and Hajabdollahi et al[30] identified small bowel bleeding in CE data using a classification neural network. Obscure gastrointestinal bleeding is the main indication for small intestinal CE, and the potential risk of bleeding from vascular malformations is high[14]. Therefore, we focused on AI-assisted recognition technology for angiodysplasias in the present study. Hitherto, there are few semantic segmentation networks based on deep learning to segment and recognize angiodysplasias lesions in CE, which prompted us to introduce a segmentation model in the study. Compared with the classification model and target detection model in deep learning, the segmentation model based on deep learning can more accurately locate the focus of small intestinal vascular malformation, better assist doctors in diagnosing small intestinal vascular malformation, and improve the accuracy and efficiency of doctors' diagnosis.

Currently, significant progress has been made in semantic segmentation in the field of deep learning. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first paper that proposed using a semantic segmentation network to solve the pixel-level small intestinal vascular malformation focus recognition and location. Resnet-50 was used as the skeleton network, and the fusion mechanism based on shallow features and deep features was introduced so that the segmentation model could accurately locate the location and category of lesions. Shallow features can perceive the texture details of lesions, while deep features can perceive the semantic information between lesions. By combining these two features to segment the image, the phenomenon where the lesion area is divided into uncorrelated small areas is reduced, the pixel accuracy (PA) is improved, and the missed detection rate of the lesion is reduced. This paper introduced the proposed network structure in detail and compared three common segmentation models, *i.e.*, PSPNet[31], Deeplabv3+[32], and UperNet[33]. The obtained results confirmed that the model proposed in this paper had high-performance indicators.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

ResNet was introduced in 2015 and won first place in the classification task of the ImageNet competition on account of being "simple and practical". Afterward, many methods, which were based on ResNet50 or ResNet101, have been widely used in detection, segmentation, recognition, and other fields. This method makes a reference (X) for the input of each layer, learning to form residual functions rather than learning some functions without reference (X). This residual function is easier to optimize and can greatly deepen the number of network layers. Moreover, the extracted image features have strong robustness. ResNet50 is faster than ResNet100. Therefore, ResNet50 is selected as the skeleton network of the semantic segmentation network in this paper. Based on the fusion of shallow and deep features, Resnet-50 was used as the skeleton network to construct an improved convolutional neural network (CNN) segmentation network model that automatically recognizes the type of angiodysplasias under CE and draws the outline of the lesion in the study. The present study aimed to assist doctors in diagnosing angiodysplasias lesions with CE.

The model proposed in this study was composed of three sub-units, i.e., down-sampling, upsampling, and classifier. CE small intestine data were used as input in the module, and the final output was image lesion category information and lesion boundary information.

Research data set

In order to train and evaluate the segmentation model, 378 patients with angiodysplasias who underwent OMOM CE (China Chongqing Kingsoft Technology Co., Ltd) at the Ruijin Hospital between January 2014 and December 2020 were recruited in this study. The sampling frequency of OMOM capsules of 2fps, the working time of > 12 h, and the apex field of view of 150° were used to diagnose the patients. A total of 12403 pictures were identified with an image resolution of 256 × 240. The patient data were anonymized, any personal identification information was omitted, and examination information (such as examination date and patient name) was deleted from the original image. All patients provided written informed consent, and the ethics committee approved the study [the certification number was (2017) provisional ethics review No. 138]. The annotated data were marked by an experienced endoscopy group that included three experts from Ruijin Hospital Affiliated to Shanghai Jiao Tong University. The average age of the experts was 35 years, and their average CE reading experience was 5 years, with an average of 150 CE cases each year. The five types of lesions of vascular malformation were annotated, and 12403 image data and 12403 annotated mask image data were generated. The data sample map is shown in Figure 1.

This project used the image data of 178 cases as the training set and the remaining 200 cases as the test set. The training set was divided into training and verification data at a ratio of 7:3 during the training process. The test set contained 1500 images without lesions and 1500 images with lesions. The training set and test set image data are summarized in Table 1.



Table 1 Details of the training set data and test set data									
Lesion type	l seien membelen:	Number of pictures/pieces							
	Lesion morphology	Training set	Test set						
Telangiectasia	Red cluster	838	38						
	Red spider nevus	162	4						
Venous dilatation	Red branched	752	38						
	Blue branched	2583	1088						
Vein tumor	Blue cluster	3058	332						



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.879 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Sample image of training data. The left three columns are the original image of the capsule, and the right three columns are the manual annotation results.

Data preprocessing

The training data were preprocessed to meet the requirements of the deep learning model. The preprocessing steps of the model constructed in the study were as follows: (1) Resizing the image to 256×240 × 3; (2) using enhancement methods (rotation, flip, and tilt) on the resized image; and (3) normalizing all images. In order to train a deep learning model, the dataset was split. The dataset image was randomly divided into two parts: 70% for training and 30% for verification.

Segmentation network details

The network structure proposed in this study is shown in Figure 2. The construction of the network model was inspired by the UperNet model. ResNet-50 was used as the skeleton network. The fusion mechanism of shallow features and deep features were introduced. Subsequently, the feature with the same size as the original image was obtained through the down-sampling operation. Finally, the classifier was connected to realize the pixel-level segmentation task of the image.

Based on the new semantic segmentation recognition network framework, a single end-to-end network could be trained to capture and analyze the semantic information of the CE small intestine



data. In order to fuse the shallow features and deep feature information, the last feature mapping set output by each stage in ResNet was expressed as C1, C2, C3, and C4, and the two-by-two fusion of features were utilized as down-sampling operation input, where the down-sampling rates were 4, 8, 16, and 32, respectively. The texture features of the lesion were captured at the highest layer, and the pixellevel segmentation of the lesion was completed based on the lowest layer features.

The last down-sampling operation generated a feature map with the same resolution as the original image, with a size of 256 × 240. After the feature was operated by Flatten, a classifier composed of a fully connected layer was connected to complete the segmentation and recognition tasks of the capsule data.

In order to assess the fusion of features of different scales, bilinear interpolation was used to adjust them according to the size, after which a non-evolutionary layer was applied to fuse the features of different levels and reduce the channel size. All non-classifier convolutional layers underwent batch normalization Relu operations after output. The learning rate of the current iteration was equivalent to the initial learning rate multiplied by (1-iter/max-iter_size)power, and the initial learning rate and power were set to 0.02 and 0.9, respectively.

RESULTS

Evaluation index

The performance of the segmentation model of angiodysplasias lesions in CE was evaluated based on the following indicators: Positive predictive value (PPV), negative predictive value (NPV), mean intersection over union (mIOU), and PA. PPV and NPV were calculated using formulae 1 and 2, respectively.

$$PPV = \frac{TP}{TP + FP} \quad (1)$$
$$NPV = \frac{TN}{TN + FN} \quad (2)$$

Where true positive (TP) and true negative (TN) are the true number of positive samples and the true number of negative samples, respectively; FP and FN are false positives and false negatives, respectively. IOU and mIOU calculation formulae are shown as formulae 3 and 4, respectively.

$$OU = \frac{\text{Target area} \cap \text{Prediction area}}{\text{Target area} \cup \text{Prediction area}}$$
(3)
$$mIOU = \frac{1}{k+1} \sum_{i=0}^{k} \frac{P_{ii}}{\sum_{j=0}^{k} P_{ij} + \sum_{j=0}^{k} P_{ji} - P_{ii}}$$
(4)

Supposedly, there were K+1 categories (including an empty category or background) in semantic segmentation, which indicated that class i is predicted as i, and class j is predicted as j. The PA is calculated by formula 5.

$$PA = \frac{\sum_{i=0}^{k} P_{ii}}{\sum_{i=0}^{k} \sum_{j=0}^{k} P_{ij}}$$
 (5)

Experimental design

Python 3 is a good deep-learning programming language that supports multiple deep-learning frameworks. The model was implemented using Python 3 and Torch framework. The training server has a graphics processing unit. All images were first passed to the image data generation class in Pytorch, and the preprocessing operations were performed, including enhancement, resize, and normalization operations. Then, the generated images were sent to the model to start the training. The layers in the backbone network ResNet-50 used pre-trained weights on ImageNet. An optimizer (SGD) was used to train the model, after which a weight decay of 0.0001 and a momentum of 0.9 were applied. Each model ran approximately 25000 Epochs; each Epoch iterated eight times, and the batch size was 8. In the model training process, the loss change, PA index, and mIOU changes were detected (Figure 3).

Comparison results of multiple models

On a test set consisting of 3000 image data, the following test indicators were compared on the four models: PPV, NPV, mean IOU, PA, parameter quantity, float calculation quantity, and duration. The results are shown in Table 2.

Based on the method of fusion of shallow and deep features, the CNN segmentation network model was improved and optimized, and the segmentation and recognition of five types of angiodysplasias lesions, *i.e.*, blue branch, blue cluster, red branch, red cluster, and red spider nevus, were realized. This method fully uses the shallow and deep features extracted from the skeleton network to perceive the global information and lesion texture information of the small intestine capsule image data as a whole. Thus, it significantly improves the PPV and NPV of the segmentation model in the angiodysplasias lesion image. In order to obtain the highest PPV, the NPV has to be the highest. The unified perception of the global and local information of the small intestine capsule data was completed through a CNN,



Table 2 Comparison of model accuracy									
Network type	PPV (%)	NPV (%)	mIOU	PA (%)	Parameter (M)	Float calculation amount (G)	Time (s)		
PSPNet	85.14	98.62	0.64	98	51.43	829.10	0.9		
DeeplabV3+	45.07	99.75	0.59	89	59.34	397.00	0.95		
UperNet	92.55	95.69	0.69	98	126.08	34.94	0.9		
Our model	94.27	98.74	0.69	99	46.38	467.2	0.6		

PPV: Positive predictive value; NPV: Negative predictive value; mIOU: Mean intersection over union; PA: Pixel accuracy.



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.879 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Network structure diagram. This figure shows the structure of semantic segmentation network, in which the first two modules are shallow and deep feature fusion, the third module is pixel classifier, and finally the network output results.



Figure 3 Change process of loss, pixel accuracy and mean intersection over union. A: Comparation of the pixel accuracy (PA) values of each model during training. The abscissa represents the number of training iterations, and the ordinate represents the value of PA; B: Comparation of the mean intersection over union (mIOU) values of each model during training. The abscissa represents the number of training iterations, and the ordinate represents the value of PA; B: Comparation of the mean intersection over union (mIOU) values of each model during training. The abscissa represents the number of training iterations, and the ordinate represents the value of mIOU; C: Comparation of the loss value of each model in the training process. The abscissa represents the number of training iterations, and the ordinate represents the loss value. PA: Pixel accuracy; mIOU: Mean intersection over union.



Figure 4 Five rows from top to bottom: blue branch, blue lumpy, red branch, red lumpy and red spider nevus. The first column on the left is the original image, the middle four columns are the results of the current excellent segmentation network, and the last column is the results of the model we proposed.

> which reduced the number of network model parameters, the number of float calculations, and the inference time of the deep learning model. Furthermore, a comparative experiment was designed and compared to the current advanced segmentation network models: PSPNet, DeeplabV3+, and UperNet. Our model showed that the NPV reached the highest 98.74% when the PPV was the highest.

> The comparison of the segmentation and recognition effects of the four models on the vascular aberration lesions of the CE small intestine data is shown in Figure 4. The model proposed in the study was similar to that of the expert's annotation results.

> Compared with relevant literature, Leenhardt et al[19] applied technology for segmentation, achieving the highest level of lesion detection, with an NPV value of 96%. However, the algorithm presented in this paper had some advantages in the test set. Also, our NPV value was 98%.

DISCUSSION

The classification network and the target detection network are the mainstream network structure that combines the deep learning model and the CE diagnosis method. In the present study, we introduced the segmentation network in deep learning, segmented and identified the angiodysplasias lesions, and completed the pixel-level segmentation task of the angiodysplasias lesions. The semantic segmentation network model had clinical practicality application as assessed using the training and test sets in comparative experiments.

The segmentation networks have been obviously developed in the field of deep learning. PSPNet uses the prior knowledge of the global feature layer to understand the semantics of various scenes, combined with the deep supervision loss to develop an effective optimization strategy on ResNet and embed difficult-to-analyze scene information features into the functional connectivity networks prediction framework to establish a pyramid. The pooling module aggregates the contextual information in different regions and improves the ability to obtain global information. This system was used for scene analysis and semantic segmentation and was 83% accurate on the COCO data set. The DeepLabV3+ model was based on an encoder-decoder structure, which improved the accuracy and saved the inference time; an accuracy rate of 89% was obtained in the COCO dataset. UperNet used



unified perception analysis to build a network with a hierarchical structure to ensure that multiple levels were resolved at visual concepts, learn the differentiated data in various image datasets, achieve joint reasoning, and explore the rich visual knowledge in the images. Finally, 79.98%-PA was obtained on the ADE20K data set. UperNet used a unified perception analysis module from scenes, objects, parts, materials, and textures to simultaneously analyze the multilevel visual concepts of images, such that many objects could be segmented and recognized, and the rate of missed objects could be reduced. The CE small intestine image data has a simple scene and fewer semantic levels. The use of large segmentation network models would cause over-fitting in training and high computational complexity. This study was inspired by UperNet and optimized basic CNN segmentation network, which led to the creation of a network model suitable for the segmentation and recognition of angiodysplasias with CE.

On the other hand, a case-based dataset encompassing typical vascular malformation images, atypical angiodysplasias images, and normal images was constructed, including pictures with poor intestinal cleanliness. According to the color and morphology of the angiodysplasias lesions in the cases, the five types of angiodysplasias lesions were summarized as blue branched, blue cluster, red branched, red cluster, and red spider nevus. The dataset constructed in this study verified the clinical applicability of the semantic segmentation model. Thus, the dataset was essential in diagnosing CE small bowel vascular malformation based on the deep learning model.

CONCLUSION

The deep learning model constructed in this study showed high PPV and NPV for the segmentation and recognition of angiodysplasias lesions. In the future, it could be used to assist capsule endoscopists in the real-time diagnosis of angiodysplasias lesions. Deep learning does not require prior knowledge, as it can directly learn the most predictive features from image data, as well as segment and recognize the image. The larger the amount of data, the higher the advantages of deep learning and the higher the recognition accuracy. AI facilitates grassroots' CE to obtain the same diagnosis effect as senior experts. However, the current uneven distribution of medical resources and the technical level of grassroots CE are the driving forces for the development of AI. In conclusion, the segmentation model based on deep learning can assist doctors in identifying the lesions of small intestinal vascular malformations.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Small intestinal vascular malformations (angiodysplasias) commonly cause small intestinal bleeding. Therefore, capsule endoscopy has become the primary diagnostic method for angiodysplasias. Nevertheless, manual reading of the entire gastrointestinal tract is a time-consuming heavy workload, which affects the accuracy of diagnosis.

Research motivation

The doctor's manual reading of the entire gastrointestinal tract is time-consuming, and the heavy workload affects the accuracy of the diagnosis. Also, significant progress has been made in semantic segmentation in the field of deep learning.

Research objectives

This study aimed to assist in the diagnosis and increase the detection rate of angiodysplasias in the small intestine, achieve automatic disease detection, and shorten the capsule endoscopy (CE) reading time.

Research methods

A convolutional neural network semantic segmentation model with feature fusion automatically recognizes the category of vascular dysplasia under CE and draws the lesion contour, thus improving the efficiency and accuracy of identifying small intestinal vascular malformation lesions, was proposed.

Research results

The test set constructed in the study achieved satisfactory results: pixel accuracy was 99%, mean intersection over union was 0.69, negative predictive value was 98.74%, and positive predictive value was 94.27%. The model parameter was 46.38 M, the float calculation was 467.2 G, and the time needed to segment and recognize a picture was 0.6 s.

Research conclusions

Constructing a segmentation network based on deep learning to segment and recognize angiodysplasias



lesions is an effective and feasible method for diagnosing angiodysplasias lesions.

Research perspectives

The model detects the small intestinal malformation lesions in the capsule endoscopy image data and draws the lesion area through segmentation.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Chu Y read and reviewed capsule endoscopy imagines, and participated in the design, writing, and revision of the manuscript; Huang F performed AI algorithm research, designed the segmentation recognition protocol, and verified the algorithm; Gao M organized the experimental results, visualized the experiment, and wrote the draft of the paper; Zou DW designed and revised the protocol of the paper; Zhong J reviewed capsule endoscopy images; Wu W and Wang Q participated in the reading of CE and preparation of the material; Shen XN and Gong TT partial writing of the manuscript; Li YY contributed to the coding and debugging of interface between algorithm and software; Wang LF designed and modified the protocol of the paper.

Supported by the Chongqing Technological Innovation and Application Development Project, Key Technologies and Applications of Cross Media Analysis and Reasoning, No. cstc2019jscx-zdztzxX0037.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by the Ruijin Hospital Ethics Committee, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine [the certification number was (2017) provisional ethics review No. 138].

Informed consent statement: The informed consent statement was waived by the Ruijin Hospital Ethics Committee.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Data sharing statement: Technical appendix, statistical code, and dataset available from the corresponding author at lifuwang@sjtu.edu.cn. Participants gave informed consent for data sharing.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Ye Chu 0000-0002-9204-9498; Fang Huang 0000-0002-8758-8534; Min Gao 0000-0002-4969-2488; Duo-Wu Zou 0000-0002-2461-5304; Jie Zhong 0000-0003-2919-1771; Wei Wu 0000 0001 7842 9032; Qi Wang 0000-0002-8437-8224; Xiao-Nan Shen 0000-0002-4169-3355; Ting-Ting Gong 0000-0003-1298-787X; Yuan-Yi Li 0000-0002-3180-7398; Li-Fu Wang 0000-0001-5172-9932.

S-Editor: Zhang H L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhang H

REFERENCES

- 1 Leighton JA, Triester SL, Sharma VK. Capsule endoscopy: a meta-analysis for use with obscure gastrointestinal bleeding and Crohn's disease. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am 2006; 16: 229-250 [PMID: 16644453 DOI: 10.1016/j.giec.2006.03.004]
- Sakai E, Endo H, Taniguchi L, Hata Y, Ezuka A, Nagase H, Yamada E, Ohkubo H, Higurashi T, Sekino Y, Koide T, Iida 2 H, Hosono K, Nonaka T, Takahashi H, Inamori M, Maeda S, Nakajima A. Factors predicting the presence of small bowel lesions in patients with obscure gastrointestinal bleeding. Dig Endosc 2013; 25: 412-420 [PMID: 23368528 DOI: 10.1111/den.12002]
- Yano T, Yamamoto H, Sunada K, Miyata T, Iwamoto M, Hayashi Y, Arashiro M, Sugano K. Endoscopic classification of vascular lesions of the small intestine (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc 2008; 67: 169-172 [PMID: 18155439 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2007.08.005]
- Nguyen DC, Jackson CS. The Dieulafoy's Lesion: An Update on Evaluation, Diagnosis, and Management. J Clin Gastroenterol 2015; 49: 541-549 [PMID: 25887110 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.00000000000321]
- Chung CS, Chen KC, Chou YH, Chen KH. Emergent single-balloon enteroscopy for overt bleeding of small intestinal vascular malformation. World J Gastroenterol 2018; 24: 157-160 [PMID: 29358892 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i1.157]
- Molina AL, Jester T, Nogueira J, CaJacob N. Small intestine polypoid arteriovenous malformation: a stepwise approach to diagnosis in a paediatric case. BMJ Case Rep 2018; 2018: bcr2018224536 [PMID: 30042105 DOI:



10.1136/bcr-2018-224536]

- 7 Iddan G, Meron G, Glukhovsky A, Swain P. Wireless capsule endoscopy. Nature 2000; 405: 417 [PMID: 10839527 DOI: 10.1038/35013140]
- 8 Rondonotti E, Spada C, Adler S, May A, Despott EJ, Koulaouzidis A, Panter S, Domagk D, Fernandez-Urien I, Rahmi G, Riccioni ME, van Hooft JE, Hassan C, Pennazio M. Small-bowel capsule endoscopy and device-assisted enteroscopy for diagnosis and treatment of small-bowel disorders: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Technical Review. Endoscopy 2018; 50: 423-446 [PMID: 29539652 DOI: 10.1055/a-0576-0566]
- Liao Z, Gao R, Xu C, Li ZS. Indications and detection, completion, and retention rates of small-bowel capsule endoscopy: 9 a systematic review. Gastrointest Endosc 2010; 71: 280-286 [PMID: 20152309 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2009.09.031]
- 10 Lecleire S, Iwanicki-Caron I, Di-Fiore A, Elie C, Alhameedi R, Ramirez S, Hervé S, Ben-Soussan E, Ducrotté P, Antonietti M. Yield and impact of emergency capsule enteroscopy in severe obscure-overt gastrointestinal bleeding. Endoscopy 2012; 44: 337-342 [PMID: 22389234 DOI: 10.1055/s-0031-1291614]
- ASGE Technology Committee, Wang A, Banerjee S, Barth BA, Bhat YM, Chauhan S, Gottlieb KT, Konda V, Maple JT, 11 Murad F, Pfau PR, Pleskow DK, Siddiqui UD, Tokar JL, Rodriguez SA. Wireless capsule endoscopy. Gastrointest Endosc 2013; 78: 805-815 [PMID: 24119509 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.06.026]
- 12 Pennazio M, Spada C, Eliakim R, Keuchel M, May A, Mulder CJ, Rondonotti E, Adler SN, Albert J, Baltes P, Barbaro F, Cellier C, Charton JP, Delvaux M, Despott EJ, Domagk D, Klein A, McAlindon M, Rosa B, Rowse G, Sanders DS, Saurin JC, Sidhu R, Dumonceau JM, Hassan C, Gralnek IM. Small-bowel capsule endoscopy and device-assisted enteroscopy for diagnosis and treatment of small-bowel disorders: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Clinical Guideline. Endoscopy 2015; 47: 352-376 [PMID: 25826168 DOI: 10.1055/s-0034-1391855]
- Zheng Y, Hawkins L, Wolff J, Goloubeva O, Goldberg E. Detection of lesions during capsule endoscopy: physician performance is disappointing. Am J Gastroenterol 2012; 107: 554-560 [PMID: 22233695 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2011.461]
- 14 Leenhardt R, Vasseur P, Li C, Saurin JC, Rahmi G, Cholet F, Becq A, Marteau P, Histace A, Dray X; CAD-CAP Database Working Group. A neural network algorithm for detection of GI angiectasia during small-bowel capsule endoscopy. Gastrointest Endosc 2019; 89: 189-194 [PMID: 30017868 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2018.06.036]
- 15 Wang S, Xing Y, Zhang L, Gao H, Zhang H. Deep Convolutional Neural Network for Ulcer Recognition in Wireless Capsule Endoscopy: Experimental Feasibility and Optimization. Comput Math Methods Med 2019; 2019: 7546215 [PMID: 31641370 DOI: 10.1155/2019/7546215]
- 16 Korman LY, Delvaux M, Gay G, Hagenmuller F, Keuchel M, Friedman S, Weinstein M, Shetzline M, Cave D, de Franchis R. Capsule endoscopy structured terminology (CEST): proposal of a standardized and structured terminology for reporting capsule endoscopy procedures. Endoscopy 2005; 37: 951-959 [PMID: 16189767 DOI: 10.1055/s-2005-870329]
- Gulati S, Emmanuel A, Patel M, Williams S, Haji A, Hayee B, Neumann H. Artificial intelligence in luminal endoscopy. 17 Ther Adv Gastrointest Endosc 2020; 13: 2631774520935220 [PMID: 32637935 DOI: 10.1177/2631774520935220]
- 18 Molder A, Balaban DV, Jinga M, Molder CC. Current Evidence on Computer-Aided Diagnosis of Celiac Disease: Systematic Review. Front Pharmacol 2020; 11: 341 [PMID: 32372947 DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2020.00341]
- 19 Leenhardt R, Li C, Le Mouel JP, Rahmi G, Saurin JC, Cholet F, Boureille A, Amiot X, Delvaux M, Duburque C, Leandri C, Gérard R, Lecleire S, Mesli F, Nion-Larmurier I, Romain O, Sacher-Huvelin S, Simon-Shane C, Vanbiervliet G, Marteau P, Histace A, Dray X. CAD-CAP: a 25,000-image database serving the development of artificial intelligence for capsule endoscopy. Endosc Int Open 2020; 8: E415-E420 [PMID: 32118115 DOI: 10.1055/a-1035-9088]
- Bianchi F, Masaracchia A, Shojaei Barjuei E, Menciassi A, Arezzo A, Koulaouzidis A, Stoyanov D, Dario P, Ciuti G. Localization strategies for robotic endoscopic capsules: a review. Expert Rev Med Devices 2019; 16: 381-403 [PMID: 31056968 DOI: 10.1080/17434440.2019.1608182]
- 21 Min JK, Kwak MS, Cha JM. Overview of Deep Learning in Gastrointestinal Endoscopy. Gut Liver 2019; 13: 388-393 [PMID: 30630221 DOI: 10.5009/gnl18384]
- 22 Hwang Y, Park J, Lim YJ, Chun HJ. Application of Artificial Intelligence in Capsule Endoscopy: Where Are We Now? Clin Endosc 2018; 51: 547-551 [PMID: 30508880 DOI: 10.5946/ce.2018.173]
- 23 Alaskar H, Hussain A, Al-Aseem N, Liatsis P, Al-Jumeily D. Application of Convolutional Neural Networks for Automated Ulcer Detection in Wireless Capsule Endoscopy Images. Sensors (Basel) 2019; 19 [PMID: 30871162 DOI: 10.3390/s19061265]
- 24 Wang S, Xing Y, Zhang L, Gao H, Zhang H. A systematic evaluation and optimization of automatic detection of ulcers in wireless capsule endoscopy on a large dataset using deep convolutional neural networks. Phys Med Biol 2019; 64: 235014 [PMID: 31645019 DOI: 10.1088/1361-6560/ab5086]
- 25 Fan S, Xu L, Fan Y, Wei K, Li L. Computer-aided detection of small intestinal ulcer and erosion in wireless capsule endoscopy images. Phys Med Biol 2018; 63: 165001 [PMID: 30033931 DOI: 10.1088/1361-6560/aad51c]
- 26 Aoki T, Yamada A, Aoyama K, Saito H, Tsuboi A, Nakada A, Niikura R, Fujishiro M, Oka S, Ishihara S, Matsuda T, Tanaka S, Koike K, Tada T. Automatic detection of erosions and ulcerations in wireless capsule endoscopy images based on a deep convolutional neural network. Gastrointest Endosc 2019; 89: 357-363.e2 [PMID: 30670179 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2018.10.027]
- Pogorelov K, Suman S, Azmadi Hussin F, Saeed Malik A, Ostroukhova O, Riegler M, Halvorsen P, Hooi Ho S, Goh KL. 27 Bleeding detection in wireless capsule endoscopy videos - Color versus texture features. J Appl Clin Med Phys 2019; 20: 141-154 [PMID: 31251460 DOI: 10.1002/acm2.12662]
- 28 Blanes-Vidal V, Baatrup G, Nadimi ES. Addressing priority challenges in the detection and assessment of colorectal polyps from capsule endoscopy and colonoscopy in colorectal cancer screening using machine learning. Acta Oncol 2019; 58: S29-S36 [PMID: 30836800 DOI: 10.1080/0284186X.2019.1584404]
- 29 Kundu AK, Fattah SA, Rizve MN. An Automatic Bleeding Frame and Region Detection Scheme for Wireless Capsule Endoscopy Videos Based on Interplane Intensity Variation Profile in Normalized RGB Color Space. J Healthc Eng 2018; 2018: 9423062 [PMID: 29682270 DOI: 10.1155/2018/9423062]
- Hajabdollahi M, Esfandiarpoor R, Najarian K, Karimi N, Samavi S, Reza Soroushmehr SM. Low Complexity CNN Structure for Automatic Bleeding Zone Detection in Wireless Capsule Endoscopy Imaging. Annu Int Conf IEEE Eng Med



Biol Soc 2019; 2019: 7227-7230 [PMID: 31947501 DOI: 10.1109/EMBC.2019.8857751]

- 31 Zhao H, Shi J, Qi X, Wang X, Jia J. Pyramid Scene Parsing Network. 2017 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR). Honolulu, HI, USA, 2017: 6230-6239 [DOI: 10.1109/CVPR.2017.660]
- 32 Chen LC, Zhu Y, Papandreou G, Schroff F, Adam H. Encoder-Decoder with Atrous Separable Convolution for Semantic Image Segmentation. In: Ferrari V, Hebert M, Sminchisescu C, Weiss Y. Computer Vision - ECCV 2018. 2018: 833-851, Springer, Cham [DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-01234-2_49]
- 33 Xiao T, Liu Y, Zhou B, Jiang Y, Sun J. Unified Perceptual Parsing for Scene Understanding. In: Ferrari V, Hebert M, Sminchisescu C, Weiss Y. Computer Vision - ECCV 2018. 2018: 432-448, Springer, Cham [DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-01228-1_26]



WJG

World Journal of *Gastroenterology*

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 February 7; 29(5): 890-903

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.890

Clinical Trials Study

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Efficacy of dexamethasone and N-acetylcysteine combination in preventing post-embolization syndrome after transarterial chemoembolization in hepatocellular carcinoma

Nitipon Simasingha, Wasu Tanasoontrarat, Torpong Claimon, Supatsri Sethasine

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Spiliopoulos S, Greece; Xu X, China

Received: October 24, 2022 Peer-review started: October 24, 2022 First decision: December 12, 2022 Revised: December 17, 2022 Accepted: January 16, 2023 Article in press: January 16, 2023 Published online: February 7, 2023



Nitipon Simasingha, Supatsri Sethasine, Department of Internal Medicine, Navamindradhiraj University, Bangkok 10300, Thailand

Wasu Tanasoontrarat, Torpong Claimon, Department of Radiology, Navamindradhiraj University, Bangkok 10300, Thailand

Corresponding author: Supatsri Sethasine, MD, Associate Professor, Chief Doctor, Department of Internal Medicine, Navamindradhiraj University, Vajira Hospital Dusit Thailand, Bangkok 10300, Thailand. supatsri@nmu.ac.th

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Conventional transarterial chemoembolization (cTACE) is the current standard treatment for intermediate-stage hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Postembolization syndrome (PES) is complex clinical syndrome that presents as fever, abdominal pain, nausea, and vomiting. Either dexamethasone (DEXA) or Nacetylcysteine (NAC) is used to prevent PES; however, the synergistic effect of their combined therapy for preventing PES and liver decompensation has not been determined.

AIM

To evaluate the efficacy of DEXA and NAC combination in preventing PES and liver decompensation after cTACE.

METHODS

Patients with Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer stage A or B HCC who were scheduled for TACE were prospectively enrolled. All patients were randomly stratified to receive NAC and DEXA or placebo. The dual therapy (NAC + DEXA) group received intravenous administration of 10 mg DEXA every 12 h, NAC 24 h prior to cTACE (150 mg/kg/h for 1 h followed by 12.5 mg/kg/h for 4 h), and a continuous infusion of 6.25 mg/h NAC plus 4 mg DEXA every 12 h for 48 h after cTACE. The placebo group received an infusion of 5% glucose solution until 48 h after procedure. PES was defined by South West Oncology Group toxicity code grading of more than 2 that was calculated using incidence of fever, nausea, vomiting, and pain.

RESULTS

One-hundred patients were enrolled with 50 patients in each group. Incidence of PES was significantly lower in the NAC + DEXA group compared with in the placebo group (6% vs 80%; P < 0.001). Multivariate analysis showed that the dual treatment is a protective strategic therapy against PES development [odds ratio (OR) = 0.04; 95% confidence interval (CI): 0.01-0.20; P < 0.001). Seven (14%) patients in the placebo group, but none in the NAC + DEXA group, developed post-TACE liver decompensation. A dynamic change in Albumin-Bilirubin score of more than 0.5 point was found to be a risk factor for post-TACE liver decompensation (OR = 42.77; 95% CI: 1.01-1810; P = 0.049).

CONCLUSION

Intravenous NAC + DEXA administration ameliorated the occurrence of PES event after cTACE in patients with intermediate-stage HCC.

Key Words: Hepatocellular carcinoma; Post-embolization syndrome; Transarterial chemoembolization; Liver decompensation

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Conventional transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) is the current standard treatment for intermediate-stage hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). A combination of N-acetylcysteine and dexamethasone ameliorated the occurrence of post-embolization syndrome event after TACE in patients with intermediate-stage HCC. A dynamic change in Albumin-Bilirubin score of more than 0.5 point was found to be a risk factor for post-TACE liver decompensation.

Citation: Simasingha N, Tanasoontrarat W, Claimon T, Sethasine S. Efficacy of dexamethasone and Nacetylcysteine combination in preventing post-embolization syndrome after transarterial chemoembolization in hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(5): 890-903

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i5/890.htm

DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.890

INTRODUCTION

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is a major-public health concern and the fourth common cause of cancer-related deaths worldwide[1]. In Thailand, HCC is the second most common tumor type and the most common cause of cancer-related death. Without treatment, patients with HCC have a one-year overall survival rate of less than 20%. Conventional transarterial chemoembolization (cTACE) has been established as a standard treatment for HCC with Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer (BCLC) stage B. Systemic reviews and meta-analyses have demonstrated that cTACE therapy improved the survival of patient at this stage. HCC patients who underwent super-selective TACE had a 5-year survival rate of 40%-48%. cTACE involves embolization of vessel supply to tumors, causing ischemia in not only tumor cells but also normal hepatocytes, along with targeted chemotherapy; the systemic effects of chemotherapeutic agents result in the occurrence of post-embolization syndrome (PES)[2-5].

PES is a complex clinical syndrome manifested as fever, abdominal pain, nausea, and vomiting[6,7] with a South West Oncology Group (SWOG) score > 2[7]. PES is self-limited and either resolves within 24 h or exhibits sustained symptoms for up to two weeks based on various factors such as tumor size, tumor numbers, dosage of chemotherapy, and performance status of the patient[6,8,9]. Management of PES mainly includes supportive treatment such as with analgesic, antiemetic, and antipyretic administration [9,10]. Depending on its pathogenesis, PES may be related to systemic inflammation, resulting in toxic and ischemic effects on tumor cells and hepatocytes[9]. Steroids and antioxidants may play an important role in the prevention and treatment of PES. Dexamethasone (DEXA) and prednisolone are recommended by the National Comprehensive Cancer Network as effective medications for preventing chemotherapy-induced nausea/vomiting. Moreover, a few randomized control trials have demonstrated the effect of DEXA in terms of PES prevention [11-14]. N-acetylcysteine (NAC), an established glutathione precursor and a potent antioxidant, was found to ameliorate ischemic liver injury by improving the systemic hemodynamic parameter and tissue oxygen delivery in animal models[14-16]. Further, a pilot study reported that NAC can reduce the incidence of PES after cTACE but cannot reduce that of post-TACE liver decompensation[17]. Currently, there are no standard prevention guidelines for PES. Our study aims to evaluate the dual effect of DEXA and NAC therapy in preventing



PES or liver decompensation after cTACE in patients with HCC.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design

A randomized, double blind, placebo-controlled trial was conducted at the Gastroenterology and Liver Unit, Vajira Hospital, Navamindradhiraj University, Bangkok, Thailand from November 2020 to January 2022.

Study population

Eligible patients were those aged 18-80 years with diagnosed early- or intermediate-stage HCC, according to BCLC classification, and had a good performance status, defined by the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. Diagnosis of HCC was based on either histological or radiological typical hallmark criteria according to the American Association for the Study of Liver Disease[18] and European Association for the Study of the Liver[19]. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Decompensated liver cirrhosis (Child-Pugh score \geq 9) or cirrhosis with main portal vein invasion; (2) Congestive heart failure and/or respiratory failure; (3) Severe comorbid illness, such as end-stage renal disease, persistent poorly-controlled diabetes mellitus or hemoglobin A1C \geq 8.5, uncontrolled hypertension (systolic blood pressure \geq 180 mmHg or diastolic blood pressure \geq 120 mmHg), with a life expectancy of < 6 mo; (4) Severe allergy or anaphylaxis/anaphylactoid to NAC; (5) Pregnancy; and (6) History of non-steroid anti-inflammatory drugs, steroids, or NAC use within 21 d of trial initiation. All enrolled patients agreed on receiving cTACE treatment and provided informed consent before participating in the study.

Sample size calculation

Based on previous results, the incidence of PES among patients with HCC after receiving cTACE was > 60% [12]. Superiority of the DEXA regimen over the control regimen was defined as a 25% decrease in PES. Intravenous DEXA was hypothesized to reduce the incidence of PES by 20%. This study used a two-tailed test that calculated the requirement of at least 44 patients in each group to obtain a *P* value < 0.05 with alpha and beta errors of 5% and 20%, respectively.

Ethical approval

The study protocol conforms to the ethical guidelines of the 1975 Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Faculty of Medicine, Vajira Hospital (COA 051/2564).

Randomized strategy and intervention

All patients were admitted at least 24 h before the prescheduled cTACE procedure and were randomly (1:1) assigned to either NAC-DEXA or placebo group. The randomization sequence was computergenerated in blocks of four and stratified according to Child-Pugh classification (class A or B). All patients were blinded to the treatment assignment. Both groups underwent therapy initiation 24 h prior to the procedure. The specific dosage of the NAC-DEXA protocol was based on a previously reported recommended dosage[11,17]. The NAC-DEXA group received intravenous infusion of 5% dextrose with NAC, with an initial loading dose of 150 mg/kg/h over 1 h followed by 12.5 mg/kg/h for 4 h and 10 mg of intravenous DEXA every 12 h; this was followed by continuous intravenous infusion of 6.25 mg/kg/h NAC and 4 mg of intravenous DEXA every 12 h for the remaining 48 h post-TACE. The placebo group received 5% glucose in normal saline for 48 h at an infusion rate of 60 mL/h post-TACE (as shown in Supplementary Figure 1). If mild-to-moderate allergic symptoms developed (*e.g.*, urticarial rash or bronchospasm), treatment was temporarily stopped for 1 h and intravenous antihistamine was immediately administered; treatment was resumed after the symptoms subsided. If severe allergic or anaphylactoid reaction occurred, treatment was permanently stopped, and the patient was treated according to standard protocol for severe allergic reaction. cTACE was performed by two interventional radiologists (Tanasoontrarat W and Claimon T) who were blinded to the randomization assignment. Pre-procedure single intravenous dose of ceftriaxone (1 g) or amoxicillin-clavulanic acid (1.2 g) along with single intravenous dose of ondansetron (8 mg) was administered to all patients. The femoral artery was catheterized under local anesthesia. A thorough angiographic examination was performed to locate all of the tumor-feeding arteries. An emulsion of lipiodol (2.5-15 mL) and chemotherapeutic agent (mitomycin, 5-20 mg) was infused into the feeders at an optimal dose determined by the interventional radiologist to be sufficient for tumor control. Thereafter, gelatin sponge particles were injected through the tumor-feeding branch. Selective cTACE was defined as occlusion of the segmental or subsegmental arterial feeder.

Post-procedural assessment

After completion of the procedure, all patients were admitted in the hospital for at least 72 h. During



hospitalization period, the following parameters were recorded: Symptoms (nausea, vomiting, fever, abdominal pain, and anorexia), vital signs, and other adverse events. Laboratory parameters, including liver function test, erythrocyte sedimentation rate, and C-reactive protein, were assessed at 24 and 48 h post-procedure. Hemoculture, urinalysis, complete blood count, and chest X-ray were performed if body temperature was > 38 °C.

Outcome measurement

The primary outcome was the development of PES after TACE within 48 h. In the present study, PES was identified using three different definitions: (1) SWOG toxicity coding score characterized by fever, nausea, vomiting, and/or abdominal pain within 48 h post-procedure, defined as calculated sum score more than two point (Supplementary Table 1)[7]; (2) Criteria defined by Ogasawara et al[11] in a randomized double-blind control study of DEXA, based on Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) [version 5 (Supplementary Table 2) with symptoms other than those of grade I]; and (3) Criteria defined by Siramolpiwat et al[17] in a randomized controlled trial of single NAC dose (temperature \geq 38.5 °C and 3-fold higher alanine transaminase level from baseline within 48 h postprocedure). The secondary outcome was the development of post-TACE liver decompensation, defined as an increase in Child-Pugh score of more than two points or newly developed decompensating events, such as ascites, hepatic encephalopathy, or serum total bilirubin > 2 mg/dL. Other cumulative adverse events (classified by CTCAE) and length of hospital stay were compared between the two groups. In patients with suspected infection or > 38 °C body temperature, laboratory testing and septic work-up were performed; moreover, these patients were treated with empirical antibiotic therapy until fever subsided or hemoculture was negative. All patients were followed up after 7 d to evaluate other postprocedure events.

Statistical analysis

Continuous data are presented as mean with standard deviation (SD) or median with range. Student's t test or the Mann-Whitney U test was performed to compare between two groups. For categorical data, Chi-square test or Fisher's exact test was applied. Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05. For analysis of factors that impact PES development, a logistic regression analysis was performed. Data are reported as odds ratio (OR) with 95% confidence interval (CI). All serious adverse events were reported to the Institutional Review Board of the Faculty of Medicine, Vajira Hospital, Navamindradhiraj University.

RESULTS

Patient characteristics

A total of 124 patients with HCC were screened from November 2020 to January 2022. Eighteen patients who refused to participate in this study, four patients who progressed to Child-Pugh class C, and two patients with main portal vein thrombosis were excluded. The remaining 100 patients who underwent TACE randomly received NAC-DEXA (n = 50) or placebo (n = 50) treatment. Figure 1 illustrates a flow chart of patients enrolled in this study. The mean age of patients was 60.6 years, with a male predominance (89%). The prevalence of comorbid diabetes was not different between the NAC-DEXA and placebo groups (34% vs 32%, P = 0.83). All patients exhibited cirrhosis, the majority of which with an etiology of chronic hepatitis B and alcoholic cirrhosis, followed by chronic hepatitis C, and a minority showing non-alcoholic steatohepatitis etiology. Most patients (83%) were classified as Child-Pugh class A, with no difference in mean Child-Pugh scores between the two groups (5.5 ± 0.8 in NAC-DEXA vs 5.5 ± 0.9 in placebo). Almost all patients (91%) were in BCLC stage B. Nine patient in BCLC stage A were justified for TACE as it would serve as a bridging therapy before curative treatment. Nearly half of the patients exhibited alpha fetoprotein (AFP) level > 200; however, the distribution of AFP level was not statically significant in both groups. Per tumor characteristics, no difference in the median tumor diameter between the two groups (NAC-DEXA, 5.5 cm; range 1.4-19 cm vs placebo, 7.95 cm; range 1.4-17.2 cm; P = 0.39) was observed. More than 50% of patients in both groups had multiple nodules (Table 1). Approximately 34% of the patients underwent their first TACE session. The type of chemotherapy and the volume of lipiodol did not differ between the two groups. Level of embolization was selected based on tumor position. In the same TACE episode, more than one-third (36%) of patients in the NAC-DEXA group had embolization of more than two branches.

Primary outcome

According to the various pre-defined criteria mention above, PES was detected in 43% of the patients. Most patients with PES had fever (93.0%) and nausea (72.1%), while only five (11.6%) patients had abdominal pain. The occurrence of PES after TACE was significantly lower in the NAC-DEXA group than in the placebo group in all PES-defining criteria (SWOG score more than 2 point, 6% vs 80%; Siramolpiwat *et al*[17] criteria, 2% vs 54%; and Ogasawara *et al*[11] criteria, 10 % vs 84 %; all P < 0.001) as shown in Figure 2A. The NAC-DEXA group had a lower mean SWOG PES score than the placebo group



Table 1 Baseline characteristics of patients with intermediate-stage hepatocellular carcinoma								
	N-acetylcysteine + dexamethasone	Placebo	P value					
Sex								
Male	44 (88%)	45 (90%)	0.75					
Age (mean ± SD)	60.8 ± 10.52	60.46 ± 11.27	0.88					
Underlying disease								
Diabetic mellitus	17 (34%)	16 (32%)	0.83					
Hypertension	22 (14%)	28 (56%)	0.23					
Dyslipidemia	14 (28%)	18 (36%)	0.40					
CKD	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	0.56					
HIV	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1.00					
Tumor characteristic								
Size								
Median (range)	5.5 (1.4-19)	7.95 (1.4-17.2)	0.39					
> 3 cm	40 (80%)	42 (84%)	0.65					
Number								
Median (range)	2 (1-10)	2 (1-10)	0.21					
1	23 (46%)	17 (34%)	0.56					
≥2	27 (54%)	33(66%)						
Etiology								
Hepatitis B	23 (46%)	28 (56%)	0.31					
Hepatitis C	15 (30%)	12 (24%)	0.50					
Alcoholic	22 (44%)	20 (40%)	0.67					
Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis	3 (6%)	4 (8%)	0.70					
Staging								
BCLC-A	6 (12%)	3 (6%)	0.23					
BCLC-B	44 (88%)	47 (94%)						
Child-Pugh Score								
A (5-6)	40 (80%)	43 (86%)	0.42					
B (7-8)	10 (20%)	7 (14%)						
ALBI score (mean ± SD)	-2.61 ± 0.58	-2.54 ± 0.53	0.54					
Alpha fetoprotein (ng/mL)								
< 20	18 (36%)	19 (38%)	0.50					
20-200	14 (28%)	9 (18%)						
201-1000	10 (20%)	9 (18%)						
> 1000	8 (16%)	13 (26%)						
Episode of TACE								
1	16 (32%)	18 (36%)	0.67					
2-5	34 (68%)	32 (64%)						
Embolization agents								
Mitomycin (mg)								
5-10	1 (2%)	3 (6%)	0.07					
10.1-15	20 (40%)	10 (20%)						



15.1-20	29 (58%)	37 (74%)	
Lipiodol (mL)			
< 5	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	0.47
5-10	13 (26%)	8 (16%)	
> 10	36 (72%)	41 (82%)	
Level of embolization			
Left hepatic artery	17 (34%)	14 (28%)	0.51
Right hepatic artery	46 (92%)	44 (88%)	0.50
Middle hepatic artery	5 (10%)	3 (6%)	0.46
≥ 2 major branches	18 (36%)	8 (16%)	0.02

ALBI: Albumin-bilirubin; BCLC: Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer; CKD: Chronic kidney disease; HIV: Human immunodeficiency virus; SD: Standard deviation; TACE: Transarterial chemoembolization.



Figure 1 Flow chart of patient screened, recruited, and analyzed in the study (consort diagram). HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; NAC: Nacetylcysteine; DEXA: Dexamethasone.

> $(0.38 \pm 1.1 vs 4.04 \pm 2.2; P < 0.001)$. Baseline characteristic comparison of patients with or without PES after TACE is shown in Table 2. The PES group had a higher proportion of patients with large tumor size (> 5 cm) (67.4% vs 47.4%; P = 0.045) and massive tumor burden (up to 12 criteria; 48.8% vs 26.3%; P = 0.02). Neither volume of embolizing agents nor level of vessels embolization influenced PES occurrence. Nevertheless, most (86%) patients in the PES group underwent TACE with single vessel embolization technique.

Secondary outcomes

Interestingly, post-TACE liver decompensation occurred only in the placebo group (14% vs 0%; P < 0.006). All cases were accompanied by PES. A higher proportion of patients with baseline Child-Pugh class B was observed in the post-TACE liver decompensation group, but no statistical significance was found (28.6% vs 16.1%, P = 0.39). A higher proportion of patients with abnormal liver function test, except albumin levels, was observed in the liver decompensation group. Neither tumor burden nor number of cTACE episodes influenced the occurrence of post-TACE liver decompensation. Multiple vessel embolization was performed for more patients in the post-TACE liver decompensation group compared with the group without liver decompensation (57.1% vs 28%, P = 0.02). A shorter median duration of hospital stay was observed in the NAC-DEXA group (4 vs 6 d; P < 0.001) as seen in Figure 2B. Most patients with PES were febrile, requiring empirical antibiotics therapy that was provided until negative hemoculture was obtained; this was the main reason for increased duration of hospitalization. Acute kidney injury was observed in three patients with baseline chronic kidney disease. All of them showed improved creatinine level and glomerular infiltration rate and received standard intravenous fluids at a rate of 60 mL/h from 24 h pre-TACE till 48 h post-TACE.



Table 2 Comparison between patients based on the occurrence of post-embolization syndrome and liver decompensation after conventional transarterial chemoembolization

	PES after cTACE		Quelue	Liver decompens	Duchus		
	Yes (<i>n</i> = 43)	No (<i>n</i> = 57)	- P value	Yes (<i>n</i> = 7)	No (<i>n</i> = 93)	- P value	
Male	40 (93%)	49 (86%)	0.26	7 (100%)	82 (88.2%)	0.34	
Age (mean ± SD)	60.72 ± 11.11	60.56 ± 10.74	0.26	63.57 ± 7.91	60.41 ± 11.04	0.35	
Child-Pugh score	5.35 ± 0.69	5.61 ± 0.9	0.09	5.86 ± 0.9	5.47 ± 0.82	0.24	
A (5-6)	40 (93%)	43 (75.4%)	0.02	5 (71.4%)	78 (83.9%)	0.4	
B (7-8)	3 (7%)	14 (24.6%)	0.02	2 (28.6%)	15 (16.1%)	0.4	
ALBI (median; IQR)	-2.72 (-3.05, -2.29)	-2.65 (-2.93, -2.2)	0.47	-1.95 (-2.74, -1.77)	-2.69 (-3.04, -2.29)	0.09	
MELD (mean ± SD)	11.67 ± 3.54	12.05 ± 3.78	0.61	12.71 ± 3.86	11.83 ± 3.66	0.54	
Staging							
BCLC-A	3 (7%)	6 (10.5%)	0.54	1 (14.3%)	8 (8.6%)	0.61	
BCLC-B	40 (93%)	51 (89.5%)	0.54	6 (85.7%) 85 (91.4%)		0.61	
Tumor characteristics							
$AFP \ge 200 \text{ ng/mL}$	17 (39.5%)	27 (47.4%)	0.44	3 (42.9%)	28 (30.1%)	0.48	
Median (range)	9.6 (4,13.2)	5 (3.2,10)	0.05	5.7 (3.2,15)	7 (3.2,13)	0.8	
Large tumor ≥ 5 cm	29 (67.4%)	27 (47.4%)	0.045	4 (57.1%)	52 (55.9%)	0.95	
Number							
1	18 (41.9%)	22 (38.6%)	0.74	4 (57.1%)	36 (38.7%)	0.34	
≥2	25 (58.1%)	35 (61.4%)		3 (42.9%)	57 (61.3%)		
Size plus number							
Up to 7	32 (74.4%)	37 (64.9%)	0.31	4 (57.1%)	65 (69.9%)	0.48	
Up to 12	21 (48.8%)	15 (26.3%)	0.02	3 (42.9%)	33 (35.5%)	0.7	
cTACE episode							
1	15 (34.9%)	19 (33.3%)	0.87	4 (57.1%)	30 (32.3%)	0.18	
≥ 2 (2-5)	28 (65.1%)	38 (66.7%)		3 (42.9%)	63 (67.7%)		
Embolization agent							
Mitomycin (mg)							
< 10	2 (4.7%)	2 (3.5%)	0.44	0 (0%)	4 (4.3%)	0.51	
10-15	10 (23.3%)	20 (35.1%)		1 (14.3%)	29 (31.2%)		
15.1-20	31 (72.1%)	35 (61.4%)		6 (85.7%)	60 (64.5%)		
Lipiodol (mL)							
< 5	1 (2.3%)	1 (1.8%)	0.32	0 (0%)	2 (2.2%)	0.82	
5-10	6 (14%)	15 (26.3%)		1 (14.3%)	20 (21.5%)		
> 10	36 (83.7%)	41 (71.9%)		6 (85.7%)	71 (76.3%)		
Level of embolization							
Left hepatic artery	10 (23.3%)	18 (31.6%)	0.36	3 (42.9%)	28 (30.1%)	0.32	
Right hepatic artery	38 (88.4%)	44 (77.2%)	0.15	7 (100%)	83 (89.2%)	0.37	
Middle hepatic artery	1 (2.3%)	7 (12.3%)	0.07	0 (0%)	8 (8.6%)	0.43	
1 vessel	37 (86%)	34 (59.6%)	0.004	3 (42.9%)	67 (72%)	0.25	
≥2 vessels	6 (14%)	23 (40.4%)	0.007	4 (57.1%)	26(28%)	0.02	
Baseline laboratory							



(median; IQR)						
Hct (%)	36.8 (32.3, 40.3)	35 (32.6, 38.9)	0.33	39.8 (36.6, 40.6)	35.2 (32.2, 39)	0.04
WBC (× 10 ⁹ /L)	5.83 (4.50, 7.18)	5.48 (4.13, 6.97)	0.18	5.49 (4.14, 6.08)	5.58 (4.29, 7.07)	0.57
Platelet (× $10^9/L$)	186 (125, 241)	144 (103, 204)	0.09	105 (65, 226)	171 (117, 230)	0.39
PTT (s)	12.9 (12.3, 13.8)	13.5 (12.7, 14.7)	0.02	13 (12.1, 13.2)	13.1 (12.4, 14.2)	0.34
AST (U/L)	51 (35, 102)	47 (37, 79)	0.78	163 (102, 169)	49 (36, 77)	0.003
ALT (U/L)	35 (20, 80)	33 (21, 51)	0.29	106 (80, 139)	31 (20, 51)	< 0.001
ALP (U/L)	124 (104, 290)	120 (93, 153)	0.211	290 (121, 386)	120 (94, 169)	0.111
Albumin (g/dL)	4 (3.6, 4.2)	3.9 (3.5, 4.2)	0.569	3.7 (3.2, 4.1)	3.9 (3.6, 4.2)	0.360
Total bilirubin (mg/dL)	0.59 (0.39, 1)	0.69 (0.51, 1.3)	0.163	1.59 (0.82, 2.11)	0.59 (0.42, 1.01)	0.005
Direct bilirubin (mg/dL)	0.35 (0.24, 0.65)	0.39 (0.26, 0.78)	0.415	0.91 (0.49, 1.76)	0.35 (0.24, 0.65)	0.004
Presence of PES, <i>n</i> (%)	-	-	-	7 (100%)	36 (38.7%)	0.002
Fever	40 (93.0%)	5 (8.8%)	< 0.001	7 (100%)	38 (40.9%)	0.002
Vomit	25 (58.1%)	2 (3.5%)	< 0.001	3 (42.9%)	24 (25.8%)	0.327
Pain	5 (11.6%)	0 (0.0%)	0.008	0 (0.0%)	5 (5.37%)	0.529
Anorexia	21 (48.8%)	2 (3.5%)	< 0.001	4 (57.1%)	17 (18.3%)	0.015

AFP: Alpha fetoprotein; ALBI: Albumin-bilirubin; ALP: Alkaline phosphatase; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; BCLC: Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer; cTACE: Conventional transarterial chemoembolization; Hct: Hematocrit; IQR: Interquartile range; MELD: Model of endstage liver disease; PES: Post-embolization syndrome; PTT: Prothrombin time; SD: Standard deviation; WBC: White blood cell.

Predictors of PES

In univariate analysis of tumor volume, calculated increase in Albumin-Bilirubin (ALBI) score of more than 0.5 and a dynamic change in liver function (more than 20-fold and 1.5-fold increase from baseline in transaminase and bilirubin levels, respectively) within 48 h post-TACE were associated with the development of PES. Multivariate analysis showed that only intravenous NAC-DEXA pre-procedure could reduce the incidence of PES (OR = 0.04; 95%CI: 0.01-0.2; *P* < 0.001) (Table 3).

Predictors of liver decompensation

In univariate analysis, an occurrence of PES after TACE with an SWOG score > 4, more than 0.5 point increase in ALBI score, and a 1.5-fold increase from baseline in bilirubin level were associated with the development of liver decompensation (Table 3). In multivariate analysis, only a dynamic change in ALBI score > 0.5 point was considered an important risk for occurrence of liver decompensation with an OR of 42.77 (95%CI: 1.01-1810; *P* = 0.049).

Safety

Only two patients in the NAC-DEXA group developed a minor allergic skin reaction; in which, we disrupted treatment immediately. Six hours after drug discontinuation and administration of antiallergic medication, the symptoms resolved. Subsequently, both patients completed the NAC-DEXA protocol with a lower infusion rate. No serious adverse event was reported in the NAC-DEXA group (Figure 2C). One patient in the placebo group died within 90 d post-procedure due to severe sepsis with liver decompensation. Although most patients were febrile post-TACE procedure, none contracted intrahospital secondary bacterial infection. The incidence of hyperglycemia did not differ between the NAC-DEXA and placebo groups (34% vs 32%, P = 0.83). Only three patients experienced grade 3 CTCAE hyperglycemia that was managed with antidiabetic therapy. According to changes in the liver function test at 48 h post-TACE, the 3-fold increase in total bilirubin level from baseline, but not transaminase, was more pronounced in the placebo group compared with that in the NAC-DEXA group (58 % *vs* 18 %, *P* = 0.006; Supplementary Table 3).

DISCUSSION

Pathogenesis of PES is conceivably related to multiple factors, such as direct toxic effects of chemotherapeutic agents and release of inflammatory cytokines related to tumor cell necrosis or ischemic hypoxic injury of normal hepatocytes[13,17,20]. The incidence of PES after TACE, per previous reports, ranges



Parameter	PES after cTACE					Liver decompensation after cTACE						
	Crude OR	95%CI	P value	aOR	95%CI	P value	Crude OR	95%CI	P value	aOR	95%CI	P value
NAC + DEXA	0.02	0-0.06	< 0.01	0.04	0.01-0.2	< 0.01	0	0-1	1.00	0	0-1	1.00
Size + number up to 12	1.09	1-1.19	0.04	1.08	0.92-1.27	0.33	0.99	0.84-1.16	0.88	-	-	-
AST rise > 20 folds in 48 h	1.51	1.09-2.09	0.01	1.35	0.72-2.52	0.35	1.7	0.95-3.03	0.07	1.3	0.56-3.02	0.54
ALBI change > 0.5	7.58	1.96-29.36	0.003	3.03	0.39-23.67	0.29	122.52	5.6-2681	0.002	42.77	1.01-1810	0.049
Total bilirubin rising > 1.5 folds	3.83	1.8-8.14	< 0.01	1.43	0.42-4.87	0.57	2.79	1.23-6.31	0.01	1.46	0.52-4.1	0.48
South west oncology grading > 4	1	0-1	0.99	-	-	-	1.43	1.04-1.96	0.03	0.94	0.51-1.76	0.86

ALBI: Albumin-bilirubin; aOR: Adjusted odds ratio; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; CI: Confidence interval; DEXA: Dexamethasone; NAC: N-acetylcysteine; OR: Odds ratio; PES: Post-embolization syndrome; TACE: Transarterial chemoembolization.

widely (45%-83%). Studies that did not provide a strategic prophylaxis for PES reported an incidence of up to 80%. The incidence of PES in the present study was 43%. PES was verified by the occurrence of symptoms such as fever, nausea, vomiting, and abdominal pain, using SWOG toxicity code score of more than two point[7]. Fever is the most common symptom exhibiting a heterogeneity of prevalence (11.6%-74%), followed by nausea (11.6%-80.6%) and vomiting (16.2%-58.9%)[6,9,12,13,21]; in this study, the reported prevalence is 90%, 66%, and 54% for fever, nausea, and vomiting, respectively. Amelioration of nausea and vomiting by ondansetron premedication (8 mg) and selection of the less adverse chemotherapeutic events-causing agent, mitomycin C, may explain the lower incidence of nausea/vomiting in the present study than that in previous studies. Despite the application of superselective single vessel embolization technique by radio-intervention at our center, a large tumor burden and a trend of higher mitomycin dose (> 10 mg) was observed and may have affected both tumor and normal liver cell necrosis, resulting in a higher PES occurrence.

NAC not only lowers free-radical levels, attributed to its antioxidant properties, but also acts as an indirect antioxidant by increasing the glutathione level and anti-inflammatory effect[22]. Therefore, many gastrointestinal guidelines recommend NAC for the treatment of alcoholic hepatitis[23], acetaminophen overdose[24], and non-acetaminophen acute liver failure[25]. Other favorable effects could be linked to its hepatoprotective activity. Interestingly, Siramolpiwat *et al*[17] demonstrated this protective effect; intravenous NAC minimized PES compared with the placebo group even though criteria for PES diagnosis was defined as only occurrence of fever and elevated serum alanine transaminase, without reference to clinical symptoms.

The beneficial effects of DEXA were presumably attributed to its antiemetic and inflammation dampening properties. Kogut *et al*[26] demonstrated that patients receiving prophylactic DEXA tended to require lower doses of antiemetic agents than those who do not. Ogasawara *et al*[11] reported that intravenous administration of a combination of DEXA and antiemetics (total 36 mg) for 3 d ameliorated PES by 52.5%. Recently, a randomized controlled trial by Sainamthip *et al*[12] demonstrated that a single





dose of intravenous DEXA (8 mg) can prevent PES, achieving a negative PES rate of 63.3%.

We decided to maximize the protective effect of DEXA and NAC in prevention of PES by combining the two, with intravenous administration of DEXA (cumulative dose of 36 mg) and NAC 24 h before and continuous infusion until 48 h after cTACE. Interestingly, our study found that pre-TACE therapy with NAC-DEXA regimen led to a lower PES occurrence of less than 10%, which is the lowest incidence compared with those reported in previous publications (24.6% in a NAC study[17] and 37%-47% in DEXA studies[11,12]. The synergistic effect of NAC and DEXA can diminish systemic inflammatory response and ischemic hepatitis[27-29]. Hence, this study emphasizes the advantage of NAC-DEXA combination due to its synergistic PES-reducing effect.

Post-TACE liver decompensation is one of the most important complications and is associated with significant morbidity and mortality[21,30]. It is characterized by an increase in Child-Pugh score of more than 2 points, $\ge 2 \text{ mg/dL}$ rise in serum total bilirubin level, newly developed ascites, or hepatic encephalopathy within two weeks post-procedure. In the present study, seven patients developed post-TACE



liver decompensation. Previous studies reported that portal vein thrombosis, poor baseline liver status, high serum AFP, and PES were associated with this complication[17,27,28]. Correspondingly, all patients with liver decompensation in our study had concurrent PES. In patients who underwent post-TACE without any prophylaxis treatment, we observed a lower incidence (14%) of liver decompensation compared with those in previous reports (13.4%-17.3%)[28,29]; the lower incidence in our study is attributed to the fact that a majority of patients had good liver reserve with Child-Pugh class A. Because all eligible cTACE patients in the present study fulfilled BCLC staging criteria, neither Child-Pugh nor Model for End-Stage Liver Disease score influenced the outcome. Further, more than half of our decompensated patients received cTACE intervention with multiple vessel embolization technique, which may have compromised the vessels; however, owing to the small sample size in this group, further studies are warranted.

ALBI score is the only objective parameter to stratify patients into different grades and is used to predict the prognosis of all HCC stages. This new model outperforms the Child-Pugh score for evaluation of liver function reserve. In a previous study, evaluation of baseline ALBI score in HCC patients who underwent cTACE not only predicted survival but also estimated liver decompensation and liver failure[31]. In our study, the mean pre-treatment ALBI score was not significantly different between the NAC-DEXA and placebo groups. Our findings indicate that the proportion of preserved liver, defined by ALBI grade 1, was comparable between the two groups. Moreover, all patients who developed post-TACE liver decompensation had a baseline ALBI grade 1 or 2 with a mean pretreatment ALBI score of -2.57. The increase in ALBI score was hypothesized to be a novel non-invasive tool for earlier prediction of post-TACE liver decompensation than Child-Pugh score. Our study demonstrated that a dynamic increase in ALBI score of more than 0.5 point had a marked impact on liver decompensation. Thus, the application of dynamic increase in ALBI score, but not albumin level, for a prediction of early post-TACE liver decompensation requires further research.

Limitation

Our study had some limitations. First, we did not perform dose optimization for DEXA and NAC in order to minimize PES. Second, this dual treatment was not compared with single DEXA. The dynamic changes in cytokine levels due to this dual treatment is an interesting topic for further study.

CONCLUSION

A combination of DEXA and NAC can not only maximize the reduction in PES incidence but also shorten hospitalization period in HCC patients undergoing cTACE procedure. Dynamic alterations in ALBI score, but not CPS, may predict liver decompensation.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) is the current standard treatment for intermediate-stage hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Post-embolization syndrome (PES) is a complex clinical syndrome which may occur after conventional TACE (cTACE). Either N-acetylcysteine (NAC) or dexamethasone (DEXA) is used to prevent PES.

Research motivation

The synergistic effect of the combined therapy for preventing PES and liver decompensation has not been determined.

Research objectives

The aim of this study was to evaluate the efficacy of NAC and DEXA combination in preventing PES and liver decompensation after cTACE.

Research methods

A single-center randomized controlled clinical trial.

Research results

Our study provides clinical evidence that intravenous NAC plus DEXA administration ameliorates the occurrence of post-TACE PES in patients with intermediate-stage HCC. Interestingly, we found that a dynamic change in Albumin-Bilirubin (ALBI) score was a risk factor for post-TACE liver decompensation.



Research conclusions

A combination of NAC and DEXA ameliorated the occurrence of PES after cTACE in patients with intermediate-stage HCC.

Research perspectives

The application of dynamic increase in ALBI score for a prediction of early post-TACE liver decompensation requires further research.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Dr Chadakarn Phaloprakarn for the scientific advice and Miss Kanokwan Sansuk for the reference format.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Simasingha N and Sethasine S contributed to the conception and design of the study, data collection, and statistical analysis, and data interpretation; Tanasoontrarat W and Claimon T conducted TACE; Sethasine S contributed to drafting of the article and critical revision of the manuscript; and all authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Supported by the Navamindradhiraj University Research Fund and the Faculty of Medicine Vajira Hospital, Navamindradhiraj University, 93/2564.

Institutional review board statement: The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Faculty of Medicine, Vajira Hospital (COA 051/2564).

Clinical trial registration statement: The trial was registered at Thai Clinical Trial Registry, registration number TCTR20220412008

Informed consent statement: All participants provided informed written consent prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: The data used in the current study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

CONSORT 2010 statement: The authors have read the CONSORT 2010 statement, and the manuscript was prepared according to the CONSORT 2010 statement.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Thailand

ORCID number: Nitipon Simasingha 0000-0002-7883-3294; Wasu Tanasoontrarat 0000-0003-1698-4465; Torpong Claimon 0000-0002-6613-2650; Supatsri Sethasine 0000-0002-7637-3669.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang JJ

REFERENCES

- Forner A, Reig M, Bruix J. Hepatocellular carcinoma. Lancet 2018; 391: 1301-1314 [PMID: 29307467 DOI: 1 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30010-2]
- 2 Somboon K, Siramolpiwat S, Vilaichone RK. Epidemiology and survival of hepatocellular carcinoma in the central region of Thailand. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2014; 15: 3567-3570 [PMID: 24870758 DOI: 10.7314/apjcp.2014.15.8.3567]
- 3 Wigmore SJ, Redhead DN, Thomson BN, Currie EJ, Parks RW, Madhavan KK, Garden OJ. Postchemoembolisation syndrome--tumour necrosis or hepatocyte injury? Br J Cancer 2003; 89: 1423-1427 [PMID: 14562011 DOI:



10.1038/si.bic.6601329]

- 4 Tasneem AA, Abbas Z, Luck NH, Hassan SM, Faiq SM. Adverse events following transarterial chemoembolization for hepatocellular carcinoma and factors predicting such events. J Pak Med Assoc 2013; 63: 239-244 [PMID: 23894903]
- Blackburn H, West S. Management of Postembolization Syndrome Following Hepatic Transarterial Chemoembolization 5 for Primary or Metastatic Liver Cancer. Cancer Nurs 2016; 39: E1-E18 [PMID: 26484962 DOI: 10.1097/NCC.00000000000302]
- Li CP, Chao Y, Chen LT, Lee RC, Lee WP, Yuan JN, Yen SH, Lee SD. Fever after transcatheter arterial 6 chemoembolization for hepatocellular carcinoma: incidence and risk factor analysis. Scand J Gastroenterol 2008; 43: 992-999 [PMID: 19086281 DOI: 10.1080/00365520801971744]
- 7 Green S, Weiss GR. Southwest Oncology Group standard response criteria, endpoint definitions and toxicity criteria. Invest New Drugs 1992; 10: 239-253 [PMID: 1487397 DOI: 10.1007/BF00944177]
- Dalal R, McGee RG, Riordan SM, Webster AC. Probiotics for people with hepatic encephalopathy. Cochrane Database 8 Syst Rev 2017; 2: CD008716 [PMID: 28230908 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD008716.pub3]
- He JJ, Yin XX, Wang T, Chen MY, Li XL, Yang XJ, Shao HY. Factors influencing postembolization syndrome in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma undergoing first transcatheter arterial chemoembolization. J Cancer Res Ther 2021; 17: 777-783 [PMID: 34269313 DOI: 10.4103/jcrt.jcrt_132_21]
- 10 Hesketh PJ, Kris MG, Basch E, Bohlke K, Barbour SY, Clark-Snow RA, Danso MA, Dennis K, Dupuis LL, Dusetzina SB, Eng C, Feyer PC, Jordan K, Noonan K, Sparacio D, Somerfield MR, Lyman GH. Antiemetics: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline Update. J Clin Oncol 2017; 35: 3240-3261 [PMID: 28759346 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2017.74.4789]
- 11 Ogasawara S, Chiba T, Ooka Y, Kanogawa N, Motoyama T, Suzuki E, Tawada A, Nagai K, Nakagawa T, Sugawara T, Hanaoka H, Kanai F, Yokosuka O. A randomized placebo-controlled trial of prophylactic dexamethasone for transcatheter arterial chemoembolization. Hepatology 2018; 67: 575-585 [PMID: 28746788 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29403]
- 12 Sainamthip P, Kongphanich C, Prasongsook N, Chirapongsathorn S. Single dose dexamethasone prophylaxis of postembolisation syndrome after chemoembolisation in hepatocellular carcinoma patient: A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. World J Clin Cases 2021; 9: 9059-9069 [PMID: 34786388 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v9.i30.9059]
- 13 Yang H, Seon J, Sung PS, Oh JS, Lee HL, Jang B, Chun HJ, Jang JW, Bae SH, Choi JY, Yoon SK. Dexamethasone Prophylaxis to Alleviate Postembolization Syndrome after Transarterial Chemoembolization for Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Randomized, Double-Blinded, Placebo-Controlled Study. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2017; 28: 1503-1511.e2 [PMID: 28941589 DOI: 10.1016/j.jvir.2017.07.021]
- 14 Sun Y, Pu LY, Lu L, Wang XH, Zhang F, Rao JH. N-acetylcysteine attenuates reactive-oxygen-species-mediated endoplasmic reticulum stress during liver ischemia-reperfusion injury. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 15289-15298 [PMID: 25386077 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i41.15289]
- Wang C, Chen K, Xia Y, Dai W, Wang F, Shen M, Cheng P, Wang J, Lu J, Zhang Y, Yang J, Zhu R, Zhang H, Li J, Zheng 15 Y, Zhou Y, Guo C. N-acetylcysteine attenuates ischemia-reperfusion-induced apoptosis and autophagy in mouse liver via regulation of the ROS/JNK/Bcl-2 pathway. PLoS One 2014; 9: e108855 [PMID: 25264893 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0108855]
- 16 Hsieh CC, Hsieh SC, Chiu JH, Wu YL. Protective Effects of N-acetylcysteine and a Prostaglandin E1 Analog, Alprostadil, Against Hepatic Ischemia: Reperfusion Injury in Rats. J Tradit Complement Med 2014; 4: 64-71 [PMID: 24872935 DOI: 10.4103/2225-4110.124351]
- 17 Siramolpiwat S, Punjachaipornpon T, Pornthisarn B, Vilaichone RK, Chonprasertsuk S, Tangaroonsanti A, Bhanthumkomol P, Phumyen A, Yasiri A, Kaewmanee M. N-Acetylcysteine Prevents Post-embolization Syndrome in Patients with Hepatocellular Carcinoma Following Transarterial Chemoembolization. Dig Dis Sci 2019; 64: 3337-3345 [PMID: 31073737 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-019-05652-0]
- 18 Marrero JA, Kulik LM, Sirlin CB, Zhu AX, Finn RS, Abecassis MM, Roberts LR, Heimbach JK. Diagnosis, Staging, and Management of Hepatocellular Carcinoma: 2018 Practice Guidance by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatology 2018; 68: 723-750 [PMID: 29624699 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29913]
- 19 European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: Management of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 2018; 69: 182-236 [PMID: 29628281 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.03.019]
- 20 Chan AO, Yuen MF, Hui CK, Tso WK, Lai CL. A prospective study regarding the complications of transcatheter intraarterial lipiodol chemoembolization in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer 2002; 94: 1747-1752 [PMID: 11920537 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.10407]
- Leung DA, Goin JE, Sickles C, Raskay BJ, Soulen MC. Determinants of postembolization syndrome after hepatic 21 chemoembolization. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2001; 12: 321-326 [PMID: 11287509 DOI: 10.1016/s1051-0443(07)61911-3]
- Tenório MCDS, Graciliano NG, Moura FA, Oliveira ACM, Goulart MOF. N-Acetylcysteine (NAC): Impacts on Human 22 Health. Antioxidants (Basel) 2021; 10 [PMID: 34208683 DOI: 10.3390/antiox10060967]
- 23 Nguyen-Khac E, Thevenot T, Piquet MA, Benferhat S, Goria O, Chatelain D, Tramier B, Dewaele F, Ghrib S, Rudler M, Carbonell N, Tossou H, Bental A, Bernard-Chabert B, Dupas JL; AAH-NAC Study Group. Glucocorticoids plus Nacetylcysteine in severe alcoholic hepatitis. N Engl J Med 2011; 365: 1781-1789 [PMID: 22070475 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1101214]
- Prescott LF, Critchley JA. The treatment of acetaminophen poisoning. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 1983; 23: 87-101 24 [PMID: 6347057 DOI: 10.1146/annurev.pa.23.040183.000511]
- Lee WM, Hynan LS, Rossaro L, Fontana RJ, Stravitz RT, Larson AM, Davern TJ 2nd, Murray NG, McCashland T, Reisch 25 JS, Robuck PR; Acute Liver Failure Study Group. Intravenous N-acetylcysteine improves transplant-free survival in early stage non-acetaminophen acute liver failure. Gastroenterology 2009; 137: 856-864, 864.e1 [PMID: 19524577 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.06.006
- Kogut MJ, Chewning RH, Harris WP, Hippe DS, Padia SA. Postembolization syndrome after hepatic transarterial 26 chemoembolization: effect of prophylactic steroids on postprocedure medication requirements. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2013; 24: 326-331 [PMID: 23380736 DOI: 10.1016/j.jvir.2012.11.019]



- Garwood ER, Fidelman N, Hoch SE, Kerlan RK Jr, Yao FY. Morbidity and mortality following transarterial liver 27 chemoembolization in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma and synthetic hepatic dysfunction. Liver Transpl 2013; 19: 164-173 [PMID: 23008091 DOI: 10.1002/lt.23552]
- Huang YS, Chiang JH, Wu JC, Chang FY, Lee SD. Risk of hepatic failure after transcatheter arterial chemoembolization 28 for hepatocellular carcinoma: predictive value of the monoethylglycinexylidide test. Am J Gastroenterol 2002; 97: 1223-1227 [PMID: 12014732 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2002.05709.x]
- Hsin IF, Hsu CY, Huang HC, Huang YH, Lin HC, Lee RC, Chiang JH, Lee FY, Huo TI, Lee SD. Liver failure after 29 transarterial chemoembolization for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma and ascites: incidence, risk factors, and prognostic prediction. J Clin Gastroenterol 2011; 45: 556-562 [PMID: 21666547 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.0b013e318210ff17]
- 30 Min YW, Kim J, Kim S, Sung YK, Lee JH, Gwak GY, Paik YH, Choi MS, Koh KC, Paik SW, Yoo BC. Risk factors and a predictive model for acute hepatic failure after transcatheter arterial chemoembolization in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Liver Int 2013; 33: 197-202 [PMID: 23295052 DOI: 10.1111/liv.12023]
- 31 Hansmann J, Evers MJ, Bui JT, Lokken RP, Lipnik AJ, Gaba RC, Ray CE Jr. Albumin-Bilirubin and Platelet-Albumin-Bilirubin Grades Accurately Predict Overall Survival in High-Risk Patients Undergoing Conventional Transarterial Chemoembolization for Hepatocellular Carcinoma. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2017; 28: 1224-1231.e2 [PMID: 28688815 DOI: 10.1016/j.jvir.2017.05.020]



WÜ

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 February 7; 29(5): 904-907

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.904

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

Timing of biliary decompression for acute cholangitis

Jian Yang, Ying Liu, Shi Liu

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Isogai M, Japan; Kimura Y, Japan

Received: November 16, 2022 Peer-review started: November 16. 2022

First decision: January 2, 2023 Revised: January 3, 2023 Accepted: January 16, 2023 Article in press: January 16, 2023 Published online: February 7, 2023



Jian Yang, Shi Liu, Central Laboratory, The Third Affiliated Hospital, Qiqihar Medical University, Qiqihar 161000, Heilongjiang Province, China

Ying Liu, Department of Medical Oncology, The Third Affiliated Hospital, Qiqihar Medical University, Qiqihar 161000, Heilongjiang Province, China

Corresponding author: Shi Liu, PhD, Chief Physician, Central Laboratory, The Third Affiliated Hospital, Qiqihar Medical University, No. 27 Taishun Street, Tiefeng, Qiqihar 161000, Heilongjiang Province, China. shiliu2199@163.com

Abstract

Severe acute cholangitis (AC) exacerbates the risk of death because of the rapid progression of the disease. The optimal timing of biliary decompression (BD) as a necessary intervention in patients with severe AC is controversial. A recently report titled "Timing of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography in the treatment of acute cholangitis of different severity" in the World Journal of Gastroenterology that the optimal time of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography for treating patients with severe AC is \leq 48 but not \leq 24 h, providing clinical evidence for selecting the optimal time for implementation of BD. Here, we discuss the controversy over the optimal timing of BD for AC based on guidelines and clinical evidence, and consider that more high-level clinical researches are urgent needed to benefit the management of patients with different severity of AC.

Key Words: Acute cholangitis; Biliary decompression; Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography; Severity; Optimal time; Clinical evidence

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Severe acute cholangitis (AC) exacerbates the risk of death because of the rapid progression of the disease. The optimal timing of biliary decompression (BD) as an intervention for severe AC is controversial. The purpose of this letter is to highlight the controversy surrounding the existing clinical evidence regarding BD for the treatment of AC of varying severity and to suggest that clinical studies providing higher levels of evidence will improve the therapeutic benefits.

Citation: Yang J, Liu Y, Liu S. Timing of biliary decompression for acute cholangitis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2023; 29(5): 904-907

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i5/904.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i5.904

TO THE EDITOR

Acute cholangitis (AC) originates as an infection of the extrahepatic biliary system and is usually characterized by rapid progression leading to systemic sepsis. The morality rate of severe AC may reach 30% [1]. In most cases, biliary decompression (BD) is necessary to treat patients with severe AC, regardless of the treatment modality chosen [endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP), percutaneous transhepatic biliary drainage, or stone removal][2]. However, the optimal time at which to implement BD to obtain the maximum therapeutic benefit for patients with AC remains uncertain.

We recently became extremely interested in a retrospective study by Huang *et al*[3] published in the October 2022 issue of the *World Journal of Gastroenterology*. This was a high-quality observational study with a Newcastle-Ottawa Quality Assessment Scale score of 7 (3, 2, 2)[4]. It was independently assessed by two of our authors, and disagreements were resolved by a third author. Based on a retrospective analysis of 683 patients with AC, the conclusions drawn by the authors properly summarize the data in the study. The authors' data indicated that 30-d mortality in patients with AC was not significantly different between ERCP performed at > 24 and ≤ 24 h. However, patients with AC had lower 30-d mortality and a shorter length of stay when ERCP was performed at ≤ 48 h. Additionally, patients with grade III AC had lower 30-d mortality rates than patients with grade I and II AC, although they had higher intensive care unit admission rates and longer lengths of stay[3]. Huang *et al*[3] suggested that a ≤ 48-h duration from the patient's presentation to initiation of ERCP therapy, rather than a ≤ 24-h duration, provided the best survival benefit for patients with AC, especially for patients with grade III AC. This unique insight breaks with the traditional treatment concept that earlier performance of BD is associated with better outcomes in patients with severe AC. We thank Huang *et al*[3] for their study, which provides clinical evidence for the optimal timing of BD in patients with grade III AC.

The 2018 revised Tokyo guideline (TG18) currently serves as the most influential guideline for assessing AC severity. It delineates three grades of assessment of AC severity and indicates that the impact of the BD implementation time on the therapeutic benefit is significantly correlated with AC severity[5]. Therefore, we consider that the AC severity characterizes the urgency of the BD implementation time.

Reference Citation Analysis (RCA) (https://www.referencecitationanalysis.com/) is an artificial intelligence technology-based open multidisciplinary citation analysis database. We searched the RCA database for articles in cutting-edge fields in the last 3 years using the search terms "endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography", "biliary decompression", and "acute cholangitis". Recent guidelines and clinical evidence suggest that the optimal timing of BD implementation remains controversial. First, controversy regarding the timing of BD implementation in the guideline exists primarily for patients with grade II and III AC. The American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ASGE) 2021 guideline states that important outcome indicators for evaluating the survival benefit in patients with AC are 30-d mortality, inpatient mortality, length of stay, and organ failure[2]. The guideline also suggests that performance of ERCP at ≤ 48 h may be associated with lower 30-d mortality and a shorter length of stay^[2]. However, the ASGE 2021 guideline does not report the correlation between the time to BD implementation and AC severity because the available clinical evidence is insufficient[2]. TG18 states that BD in patients with grade II AC should be performed within 24 h, and although clinical data do not indicate the optimal time for BD in patients with grade III AC, urgent decompression (within 24 h) may improve the prognosis of patients with grade III AC[5]. The European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy 2019 guideline states that for patients with severe AC (grade III), implementation of BD is recommended within 12 h; for patients with moderate AC (grade II), it should be performed within 48 to 72 h[6]. Second, recent clinical studies have produced controversial results in terms of early implementation of BD for patients with grade III AC. In addition to the study by Huang et al[3] discussed herein (BD at \leq 48 but not \leq 24 h), another retrospective study by Lu *et al*[7] showed that BD is recommended at 24 h of admission for patients with grade III AC and within 12 h for those with AC accompanied by neurological or cardiovascular dysfunction. However, a study by Becq *et al*[8] using a propensity score matching approach indicated that the use of BD within 6h or 12 h of AC onset was not associated with better clinical outcomes, but possibly reduced readmission rates. Finally, the results of three recent systematic reviews and meta-analyses suggest that the controversy over the optimal timing of BD is mainly focused within 24 h and 48 h based on data analysis of superior outcomes within their respective time zones[9-11]. However, the three studies did not report that the optimal timing of BD affects survival outcomes in populations with different severities of AC (*i.e.*, grades I, II, and III)[9-11].

Zaishidene® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com
Based on the above-mentioned current controversies, we present the following future outlook. First, because of the controversy in the current guidelines and among recent clinical studies regarding the optimal timing of BD for patients with grade II and III AC, a multicenter prospective cohort study or randomized controlled trial should be conducted. Second, the medical community is called upon to pay attention to the clinical studies that have been reported and to perform systematic reviews and metaanalyses on the optimal time to implement BD for the treatment of patients with grade II and III AC.

In conclusion, a higher level of clinical evidence regarding the optimal time to implement BD in patients with different severities of AC is needed to improve the therapeutic benefit.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Yang J designed and wrote this report; Liu S gave guidance on article revision; Liu Y reviewed the literature and contributed to drafting the manuscript; All authors issued final approval for the version to be submitted.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Jian Yang 0000-0002-5282-1383; Ying Liu 0000-0002-7461-0691; Shi Liu 0000-0001-6959-6904.

S-Editor: Zhang H L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhang H

REFERENCES

- Lan Cheong Wah D, Christophi C, Muralidharan V. Acute cholangitis: current concepts. ANZ J Surg 2017; 87: 554-559 [PMID: 28337833 DOI: 10.1111/ans.13981]
- 2 Buxbaum JL, Buitrago C, Lee A, Elmunzer BJ, Riaz A, Ceppa EP, Al-Haddad M, Amateau SK, Calderwood AH, Fishman DS, Fujii-Lau LL, Jamil LH, Jue TL, Kwon RS, Law JK, Lee JK, Naveed M, Pawa S, Sawhney MS, Schilperoort H, Storm AC, Thosani NC, Qumseya BJ, Wani S. ASGE guideline on the management of cholangitis. Gastrointest Endosc 2021; 94: 207-221.e14 [PMID: 34023065 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2020.12.032]
- Huang YC, Wu CH, Lee MH, Wang SF, Tsou YK, Lin CH, Sung KF, Liu NJ. Timing of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography in the treatment of acute cholangitis of different severity. World J Gastroenterol 2022; 28: 5602-5613 [PMID: 36304084 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5602]
- Wells GA, Shea B, O'Connell D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, Tugwell P. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in meta-analyses. [cited 18 August 2022]. Available from: https://www.ohri.ca//programs/clinical epidemiology/oxford.asp
- Kiriyama S, Kozaka K, Takada T, Strasberg SM, Pitt HA, Gabata T, Hata J, Liau KH, Miura F, Horiguchi A, Liu KH, Su CH, Wada K, Jagannath P, Itoi T, Gouma DJ, Mori Y, Mukai S, Giménez ME, Huang WS, Kim MH, Okamoto K, Belli G, Dervenis C, Chan ACW, Lau WY, Endo I, Gomi H, Yoshida M, Mayumi T, Baron TH, de Santibañes E, Teoh AYB, Hwang TL, Ker CG, Chen MF, Han HS, Yoon YS, Choi IS, Yoon DS, Higuchi R, Kitano S, Inomata M, Deziel DJ, Jonas E, Hirata K, Sumiyama Y, Inui K, Yamamoto M. Tokyo Guidelines 2018: diagnostic criteria and severity grading of acute cholangitis (with videos). J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci 2018; 25: 17-30 [PMID: 29032610 DOI: 10.1002/jhbp.512]
- Manes G, Paspatis G, Aabakken L, Anderloni A, Arvanitakis M, Ah-Soune P, Barthet M, Domagk D, Dumonceau JM, Gigot JF, Hritz I, Karamanolis G, Laghi A, Mariani A, Paraskeva K, Pohl J, Ponchon T, Swahn F, Ter Steege RWF, Tringali A, Vezakis A, Williams EJ, van Hooft JE. Endoscopic management of common bile duct stones: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) guideline. Endoscopy 2019; 51: 472-491 [PMID: 30943551 DOI: 10.1055/a-0862-0346]
- Lu ZQ, Zhang HY, Su CF, Xing YY, Wang GX, Li CS. Optimal timing of biliary drainage based on the severity of acute 7 cholangitis: A single-center retrospective cohort study. World J Gastroenterol 2022; 28: 3934-3945 [PMID: 36157549 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i29.3934]
- Becq A, Chandnani M, Bartley A, Nuzzo A, Bilal M, Bharadwaj S, Cohen J, Gabr M, Berzin TM, Pleskow DK, Sawhney 8 MS. ERCP within 6 or 12 h for acute cholangitis: a propensity score-matched analysis. Surg Endosc 2022; 36: 2418-2429 [PMID: 33977378 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-021-08523-w]
- Du L, Cen M, Zheng X, Luo L, Siddiqui A, Kim JJ. Timing of Performing Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography and Inpatient Mortality in Acute Cholangitis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Clin



Transl Gastroenterol 2020; 11: e00158 [PMID: 32352721 DOI: 10.14309/ctg.00000000000158]

- 10 Iqbal U, Khara HS, Hu Y, Khan MA, Ovalle A, Siddique O, Sun H, Shellenberger MJ. Emergent versus urgent ERCP in acute cholangitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc 2020; 91: 753-760.e4 [PMID: 31628955 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2019.09.040]
- 11 Lyu Y, Wang B, Ye S, Cheng Y. Impact of the Timing of Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography for the Treatment of Acute Cholangitis: A Meta-analysis and Systematic Review. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech 2022; 32: 764-769 [PMID: 36223305 DOI: 10.1097/SLE.000000000001110]





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

